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DIXONS CARPHONE
WHAT WE DO

A LEADING OMNICHANNEL
RETAILER OF TECHNOLOGY
PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

Dixons Carphene plc is a leading
omnichannel retailer of technology
products and services, operating
through 829 stores and 16 websites in
7 countries. We Help Everyone Enjoy
Amazing Technology, however they
choose to shop with us.

[ ]

www.dixonscarphone.com/investors

For the latest news visit our website.

We are the market leader in the UK
and Ireland, throughout the Nordics
and in Gregce, employing 35,000
capable and committed colleagues
across the Group. By offering the best
range of products, credit and services
through digital-first omnichannel we
are huilding customer relationships
that are stickier and more valuahle
over time. This will benefit our
customers, our colleagues, our
shareholders and society.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Revenue

£10,344m
+2%

Free Cash flow

£438mM

+302%

[ 2019720 r1017om|  [2019/20 ] £109m

[2018/19 £10,433m| [ 2018/19 £153m |

Adjusted profit before tax Statutory profit before tax
+34%

O 2020/21 [ £39m
TR
[2018/13 (Pre-IFRS 16; (£259m)
[2018/18 (Pre-IFRS 16) " £330m |
Adjusted EPS Statutory EPS

10,70 Op
1
+60(:y 2020/2 Dp

(@) 2019/20  (13.9p)
2018/19 (Pre-IFRS 18) {26.8p}
670
| 2018/19 {Pre-IFRS 16} 23.2p ‘ See our Key Performance Indicators

OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

on pages 54 to 55.

Kept colleagues safe and provided
customers with vital technology
during the pandemic

Adapted quickly to overcome
challenges of multiple enforced
store closures

Strong trading across all markets;
share gains in every open channel

Electricals online sales growth
+103% to £4.7bn

Further development of colieague
tools and training; all invested in our
success through share-award schemes

New commitments to reach net zero
emissions by 2040 and to help end
digital poverty in the UK

Our Business
Model

8

Strategy
in Action

14

Performance
Review
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OVERVIEW
DUR VISION

E HELP EVERYONE
ENJOY AMAZING

ECHNOLOGY

e help customers choose, afford and enjoy amazing technology however they
hoose to shop with us.

gy incredibly fer purpose at the heart of what
sing and 0. using our e and
goes beyond , to bring te O everyone,
5 can choaose,

. e assets, colloa s, capabilities and
afford and enoy the right tech. The asse ollgagues, capabilities and

scale that we have means that no one is
better placed than Dixons Carphone to
help customers do all this.

DUR BUSINESS MODEL
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AFFORD N ENJOY
FOR LIFE

Ve help customers choose the right Customers find technology exciting We help customers make the most of
$ ciogy. across a huge range but confusing and expensive. We help their amazing tech through our unique
of products and through stores or yone afford the technolo services. We get the pro working.
onling. Our capable and committed keep it working, help customers make
and we ¢ the m Lt of it and at the end of
through t it. cle, trade inand r I [or

ely positioned to help
customers throughout their life,
25ing S0 we will drive relations
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Technology plays a more important role in our lives today than ever. We provide the vital technology
our customers need, to keep them connected with loved ones, their families fed, clean, healthy and
entertained, to work from home and home-school their children.

Our strategy sets out 1o build on our strengths to help everyone enjoy amazing technology.

Executing on these priorities will enable the Group to achieve an EBIT margin of at least 4.0% and to generate free cash flow of more

than £1bn over 2019/20 to 2023/24.

'=7) OMNICHANNEL

Qmnichannel is aur way of
bringing the strengths of all

our channels, stores and cnline,
to all our customers, however
they choose to shop.

=| Read more on page 14.

5)) CREDIT

Credit appeals to customers
as technolegy is exciting but
expensive, and credit makes
it more affordable by allowing
them to spread the cast.

Read more on page 20.

SERVICES

We are uniquely positioned to
provide services to our customers
to heip them enjoy technology for
life. We can provide this range

of services at scale in ways no
competitor can match.

) —ee e
Read more on page 18.

MOBILE

Mobile is essential technology
for custemers. We are on
track to restore mebile

to profitability and cash
generation.

E> Read more on page 21.

OUR VALUES

Our values unite us, helping us achieve our strategic objectives.

O,

We put our
customers first

We put the customer at the
heart of everything we do,

we are passionate about technology
and proud to sell it to customers to
help thern throughout their lives.

A

We win
together

We welcome diversity

and are always learning, growing,
developing, having fun and
celebrating our successes together
1o deliver as part of one business.

We are aligned to our vision,
clear and accountable on our goals
and are super helpful. We are all
owners and spend every pound

as if it is our own.

03
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THE IMPORTANCE OF TECHNOLOGY
TO OUR CUSTOMERS

THE AMAZING
TECHNOLOGY
WE SELL
PLAYS A VITAL
ROLE IN OUR
CUSTOMERS’
LIVES

Sales have been strong
in all markets as we
helped customers
choose, afford and enjoy
the vital technology
we sell to keep them
connected with foved
ones, their families
fed, clean, healthy and
entertained, to work
from home and home-
school their children.

CONNECTED
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HEALTHY

PRODUCTIVE

ENTERTAINED

05
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OUR BUSINESS

AT A GLANCE

DIXONS CARPHONE IS A LEADING OMNICHANNEL RETAILER
OF TECHNOLOGY PRODUCTS AND SERVICES, OPERATING
---THROUGH 829_STORES_AND 16 WEBSITES IN 7 COUNTRIES.

e W o

~ WE HELP EVERYONE ENJOY AMAZING TECHNOLOGY,
~ HOWEVER THEY CHOOSE TO SHOP WITHUS.

FURTHER
INFORMATION

Read more on our
strategy in the
'Strategy in Action’
section.

Read more
an page 14,

Our strategy

We are the market leader in the UK and
Ireland, throughout the Nordics and

in Greece, employing 35,000 capable and
committed colleagues across the Group.

Qur full range of services and support makes it easy
for our customers to discover, choose, afford and enjoy
the right technology for them, throughout their lives.
The Group's operations are supported by a sourcing
office in Hong Kong, state-of-the-art repair facilities and
an extensive distribution network enabling delivery to
stores and homes.

Qur brands include Currys PCWorld in the UK and
Ireland as well as Carphone Warehouse and iD Mobile
in the UK, where cur services are provided through
Team Kncwhow; Elkjep, Elgiganten and Gigantti in the
Nerdics; and Kotsovolos in Greece,

329

Stores

11.4m sq ft

Selling space

10

Websites

7

Countries

30,000

Colieagues

3/

Distribution Facilities
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UK and Ireland

Our main brands include:
= Gurrys PCWorld - Operates 214 stores across
the UK and keland

+ Carphone Warehouse — Operates within our
Currys PCWorld stores

+ Team Knowhow — Our service brand sets up or instals
over 2m products each year

= D Mobile is cur MYNO offering innovative and flexible
propositions.

BRANDS

The next 12 months will see Currys PCWorld, Carphone
Warehouse and Team Knowhow become one brand, Currys.

Stores Logistics facilities and space

314 24

Owver 3m sqg ft

Colleagues Market share

21,000 ~\

including 13,500 retail
colleagues and 5,500
service colleagues

REVENUE 2020721

£5,642m

Performance
Review
on page 56.

International

Our main brands include:

+ Elkjep and Eikjop Phonehouse — Norway

* Elgiganten and Elgiganten Phone House —
Sweden and Denmark

* Gigantti - Finland

* Infocare — Largest consumer electrical repair
company in Nordics

+ Kotsovolos - Grecce.

BRANDS

Stores Logistics facilities and space

515 o0

inclucing 180 Over 2m sq ft
franchise stores

Colleagues Nordics Market share

14,000

ncluding 6,500
retail colleagues

26.8%

4 702m

Performance
Review
on page 60.
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OUR BUSINESS
MODEL

Our business model is to help everyone to choose, afford and enjoy technology however they want

to shop.

COMPETITIVE STRENGTHS

MODERN OMNICHANNEL
NETWORK

Our network of over 800 stores are
primarily well located in retail parks,
well invested to provide an excellent
customer experience and aligned with
our online digital channels to provide
a true omnichannel experience.

LARGE AND FLEXIBLE
INFRASTRUCTURE

Our extensive infrastructure can be
flexed to support sales and provide
services in any channel and wherever
is most convenient for cur customers.

ESTABLISHED AND
WELL LOVED BRANDS

Each of our brands has a long history
as the customers' preferred brand in
all our markets.

Our move to a single brand in the UK&I
will make it even easier for customers to
see and experience us as number one.

STRONG SUPPLIER
RELATIONSHIPS

Our strong relationships with suppliers
enable us to provide the best range of
relevant products at unbeatable prices.

CAPABLE AND
COMMITTED GOLLEAGUES

Our colleagues are our greatest
advantage in helping customers
choose, afford and enjoy the
technology that is right for them.

WHAT WE DO

Q) cusTOMERS

©

ENJOY FOR LIFE [

We help customers make the most of thelr amaang tech through our

unique services, We get product working. keep it working, help L ’
customers make the most out of it and at the end of the Iecycle. o 6 eI
trade in and recycle products, We are uninuely positioned to o Q

help customers throughout therr Iife, and by doing so we \ Lo

drive relationships that are long lasting and more valuable . V

to our customers and 1o us. A Q\ o

GET IT WORKING

Installation and ssat up

KEEP IT WORKING

Protection and repair

MAKE MOST OUT OF IT

Connectivity and subscriptions !

END OF LIFE h
Trade in and recycle

®

AFFORD

Custormers find technology exciting but confusing and
expensive, We help everyone allord the technalogy they
need. We won't be beaten on price and we can spread
the cost of tech through the responsible use of crodit,

See our risk management See our performance review

46 56
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Customers are the heart of everything we do. Constant focus
on improving customer experience is key to achieving our
objectives and delivering value for all stakeholders.

\ /
"'-O/
CHOOSE

We help customers choose the right technology,
across a huge range of products and through
our stores or onling. Cur capable and committed
coleagues provide experl face-to face advice to
help custorners make the nght choice.

RIGHT PRODUCTS

| arge and relevant range of products including
more sustanable products in every market

EXPERT ADVICE

Our 35,000 huighly trancd, capable and
commitied colleagues provide expert adwice
1o help customers shop where and when
they want

OMNICHANNEL

We holp custamers choose the right technology,
from the best range of products and through
stores or orhng

SHOPLIVE

2477 live video shopping service

RIGHT PRICE AND PRICE MATCH
“We wor't be beaten on price”

GREDIT

Spread the cost of products using credit

See our sustainability approach

32

VALUE CREATION
FOR STAKEHOLDERS

SATISFYING OUR
CUSTOMERS

Customers need the amazing
technology we sell to keep connected,
healthy, productive and entertained.
Helping them choose from the vast
range of products and making sure they
can get the most out of it is at the heart
of what we do.

ENGAGING OUR
COLLEAGUES

We can enly keep our customers
happy if we have happy colleagues,
Paying colleagues fairly, building
skills for life and making all colleagues
shareholders are essential

to our long term success.

GENERATING GROWTH
FOR OUR SUPPLIERS

Qur scale and our stores provide an
omnichannel customer experience
that our suppliers can find nowhere
else, and because of that we have
strong relationships with all the major
manufacturers.

SUPPORTING OUR
ENVIRONMENT
AND COMMUNITIES

We care for the world around us.

We are proud to be a leading retail
repairer and recycler of tech in all our
markets. We will reduce our impact
on the globe while investing in our
communities and cause.

DELIVERING RETURNS
FOR OUR SHAREHOLDERS

Our business is cash generative and
we ensure sustainability of this cash
generation through careful capital
deployment.
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CHAIR’S
STATEMENT

DIXONS CARPHONE EXISTS
TO HELP EVERYONE ENJOY
AMAZING TECHNOLOGY

When we came into the year with all

of our UK stores shut by government
mandate, many commentators doubted
our business would survive and our share
price reflected the huge uncertainty and
challenges our business faced.

Thig meant making some difficult
decisions, including placing over 16,500
colleagues on furlough, suspending large
parts of our transformation programme
and cutting back on &all discretionary
costs, Our Board and senior management
took temporary pay cuts. No bonuses or
dividends were paid.

However, the pandemic underscored

how vital our products and services are to
keeping customers fed, clean. entertained
and connected across all the countries we
serve. We adapted fast to keep customers
and colleagues safe, do the right thing

for society, and secure the future of cur
business. We can now look forward to the
start of the 2021/22 financial year from a
position of strength and optimism that few
thought possible 12 months ago.

11

It is because of the
efforts of all of our
people that we exit

the year in a much
better position...

with our transformation
programme now back
up to speed.. .the
business can genuinely
look forward with

a lot of optimism.”

Lord Livingston of Parkhead
Chair of the Board
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Customers

With stares shut, our UK business moved
from being 25% cnline to 100% online
overnight. This allowed us to continue to
help our customers with the technclogy
they needed but this jarring change in
our operations created some customer
service problems that took a period to
resolve. We moved our contact centre
colleagues te home working, trained 700
colleagues 1o join ocur customer services
team and invested in the customer
experience, including spending £20m

in additional resources for contact
centres. By the year end, things had

got significantly better. Our call centre
answer rate improved hugely together
with customer service. Our Net Promoter
Score has improved back to pre-
pandemic levels. There is more to dg, but
inncvations such as zero contact order &
collect and Shoplive 24/7 video shopping
are loved by our customers and are a
great part of our omnichannel future.

We did not see the same degree of store
closures outside the UK except in Greece
and despite the challenges, we powered
ahead in the Nordics. A great innovation,
our Customer Club, grew spectacularly
and now has over 40% of Nordics
househalds signed up.

Colleagues

The rofe of our colleagues in thig
transformation has been and will be
critical. We are investing heavily in training
and support systems to help them serve
our customers even better.

We will invest nearly £25m over two years
in skills, wellbeing and reward programmes
for UK celteagues. During the year, some
600,000 hours of colleague learning were
consumed across the Group in technical
skills and customer service,

In October, we will increase by 9% the
minimum rate of pay for almost 12,000
hourly paid colleagues in the UK, taking
the rate up to that set by the Living
Wage Foundation.

Qur highly commended share award
scheme seeks to make all our colleagues
shareholders and allows them to both
contribute and share in the success of
our company.

GOVERNANGE ‘

FINANGIAL STATEMENTS ‘

{NVESTOR INFORMATION

Suppliers

We demonstrated our value to our
suppliers in this omnichannel world
through our scale, stores and colleague
expertise. Our strong relationships allow
us to provide a wide range at unbeatable
prices and exclusive technology products.
Cutside of the product area, | want to
thank some of our banks such as NatWest
and BNP Paribas who also demonstrated
real partnership throughout the pandemic.

Society

We are grateful for government support
received during the pandemic. It was
used as intended 1o preserve jobs and
we haven't made any Covid-related
redundancies. However, given our strong
financial position, we reimbursed all
gavernment support for the £73m of
furlough paid to UK and Ireland colleagues
in the year and also repaid £144m of VAT
deferral early, total payment of £217m.

Cur purpose, to help everyong enjoy
amazing technology, goes beyond
ensuring customers can choose, afford
and enjoy the right technclogy.

During the year, we pledged C1m to
help close the digital poverty gap and
tackled isolation ameng older people
whilst committing to further reducing
our environmental impact.

We launched our first ‘Go Greener’
marketing campaign and have
collaborated with The British Retall
Consortium on a Climate Action Roadmap
ic achieve Net Zero by 2040 — atarget
also set for the Group. We've introduced
our first electric vans as we move 1o
electric vehicles by 2030 as part of Climate
Group EV100. We have maintained our
FTSE4Good status, scored in the top
decile of 15S8's ESG Environment rating
and set out our first disclosures against
the Taskforce for Climate-related Financial
Disclosures Framework,

Our colleagues have a vital role to play
here, and we have introcduced two new
environmental metrics into our annual
bonus scorecard from FY2021/22 1o align
our ESG goals with our reward framework,

Shareholders

We appreciate the engagement and
support of our shareholders. Whilst we've
had to make some difficult decisions in
securing our future, we close the year with

a significantly strengthened balance sheet,
new debt facilities and remain on track

for our medium-term guidance of more
than £1bn of cumulative free cash flow
over FY2019/20 1o FY2023/24. In addition
| am pleased to report the resumption of
our dividend of 3.0p per shars for the full
2020/21 year.

Board

The Board has been a great source of
counsel and experience for both me and
the management team. | would like to thank
Jonny Mason, our Group Chief Financial
Officer, who will be leaving the company
this Summer. He leaves a business in a
muich better position than when he joined.
['would also like o welcome Bruce Marsh,
who will join in July, 1o the role.

Looking ahead

Ag part of our transformation, we
annaounced in May that we would re-brand
the various parts of our UK and Ireland
business to the much loved ‘Currys’

by October. We will alsc change the
corporate brand to Currys ple following
the AGM in September.

The Board also took the decision 1o
investigate the potential of a partial IPC

of our very successful Nordics business.
There was a lot of enthusiasm in the
Nordic market for an 1PQ, recognising
Elkjop's strong position across the region.
However, the Group's strong financial
position and the growth potential of the
business have led us to decide that full
ownership remains the best alternative.

Our management team led by Alex
Baldock has done a remarkable job in very
difficult circumstances. | am truly grateful
for their tenacity, innovation and care for
our colleagues. It is because of the efforts
of all of our people that we exit 2020/21
ina much better position. We now have

a true omnichannel business thatis 4
market lsader wherever it operates. With
our transformation programme back up to
speed and more than £150m cash at the
year end, the business can genuinaly ook
forward with a lot of optimism.

Lord Livingston of Parkhead
Chair of the Board
29 June 2021
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
STATEMENT

STRONG PERFORMANCE IN
A CHALLENGING YEAR

The last year has been extraordinary and challenging with
unprecedented national lockdowns and enforced store closures

in the UK, Ireland, Greece, Denmark and parts of Norway.

Throughout the pandermic our priorities
have been to keep our colleagues and
customers safe, and to help customers
with the vital technology they need to
keep them connected with loved ones,
their families fed, clean and entertained,
to work from home and to home-school
their children.

To do this, and restricted by enforced
store closures, we transformed our

operations and services almost overnight,

including operating our UK and Gresk

businesses as online-only retailers for
the first time in their history. We were
able to do so because of our hard work
pre-pandemic to build a stronger online
arm to our business. Our investments in
a bigger range, unbeatable prices, better
availability, improved delivery options
and performance, and a higher capacity
technology platform, all paid off. We
built o this with innovation during the
pandemic, intreducing zera-contact
one-hour order & collect and ShoplLive,
our 24/7 live video shopping service.

14

This has been an
extraordinary year
for our business
and society, and
our colleagues
have stepped up
magnificently to

the exceptional
pressures Covid-19
has presented.”

Alex Baldock
Chief Executive
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With heightened demand came
unprecedented disruption in customer
service, especially in customer support.
With the enforced closure of our contact
centres, we had to develop instant work-
from-home solutions, and recruit heavily,
incluging the transfer of over 700 store
colleagues who volunteered to help meet
demand. Their work has been rewarded
by the recovery of customer satisfaction to
flat (or better) year-on-year for the full year.

These actions, together with heightened
demand for technclogy, allowed us to
generate strong and sustained sales
growth in every market. We saw growth
in every major product category, but
computing was the standout performer
as people adjusted to home working,
learning and entertainment.

Despite the impact of the pandemic,
we're a stronger business than a year ago.
We've gained share in all cpen channels,
our online business has more than
doubled, we've gained millions of new
customers and our Mobile transformation
has been highly cash generative. Qur
sales and profits are up heaithily in the
year and our balance sheet position has
materially improved. From net debt of
£{204)m a year ago, we ended the year
with £169m of net cash alongside lower
pension and lease liabilities and new
financing facilities in place to April 2025,

We've also continued to streamiine and
simpiify the business, with difficult but
necessary actions taken to exit Carphone
Warehouse Ireland and Dixons Travel.

None of this would have been possible
without the outstanding commitment
and skill of our 35,000 colleagues.
They've shown remarkable resilience and
rescurcefulness in testing circumstances.
Capabie and committed colleagues are
at the heart of our agenda for a reason:
happy colleagues make for happy
customers, and we continue tc invest in
the skills, wellbeing, systems, tools and
processes to help colleagues do thair job
well. We're recognising their exceptional

GOVERNANGE ‘

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTOR INFORMATION 13

work through fair reward: we have
committed to increasing minimum hourly
wages for almost 12,000 UK colleagues
from October (to at least current real living
wage levels) and continue to make all
colleagues shareholders, having granted
share awards to an additional 7,000
colleagues during the year. Our colleagucs
have recognised all this progress in
sharply increased engagement scores.

We've remained mindful of our
responsibilities to all stakeholders. We've
increased support to our charity partners,
including a £1m donation to ‘Digital
Access For All' te tackle the digital divide.
We've paid all our suppliers and landlords,
made all pension contributions on time
and in full, and reimbursed all government
support for the £73m of furlough paid

to UK and Ireland colleagues during the
year. We're also restarting the payment

of dividend to sharehclders.

We believe that Covid-19 has structurally
increased the size of the technology
market. Hybrid working wilt become
normal, and in-home entertainment will
stay bigger. More time at home means
more usage, and more customers’
eyes have been opened to what new
technolegy can do, both of which point
to faster replacement. A larger instalied
base means more upgrades, repairs and
recycling and means more opportunity
1o sell complementary products and
services. Technology, in short, is
playing a bigger, more impaortant role

in many millions cf lives, and accounts
for an accordingly higher share of
wallet. We're not alone in this view: our
partners, some of the world's leading
technology suppliers, believe. as we
do, that technology is now an essential
(and sustainably larger) category for
consumers.

As the leading omnichannel retailer of
technology products and services in all
our markets, we are ideally positioned
to capitalise on this opportunity, and will
make sure we do so by continuing our

transformation. The coming year is the
final year of accelerated investment. It
will see a step change to our consumer
websites in the UK and Nordics, with a
radically easier and richer online customer
experience. We'll continue t¢ scale

up Shoplive, and improve our credit
offers across the Group. Inthe UK, we'll
be launching an exciting new mobile
proposition and we're moving to one
brand - Currys. Under this brand we'll
continue to make it easier for customers
to choose, afford and enjoy amazing
technology, however they want to shop.

The combination of a structural market
tailwind, our stores returning te fult
trading and the execution of these
transformational programmes mean we
also expect future market share gains,
providing stronger revenue growth
prospects for cur business over the
medium term.

Alongside this, we expect improvements in
our profitability to come through after this
year as we eliminate Mobile iosses and
complete the transition to One Business.
We see greater opportunities to create
more value in all cur markets, including

in the Nordics and the Group’s capital
position has already been significantly
strengthened. We've therefore decided

to keep our strong Nordics business as a
fully owned part of this Group and will not
be pursuing a partial IPO.

These results, and the plentiful progress
hehind them, demonstrate why I'm more
confident than ever that we're on the right
path to create a world class business for
colleagues, customers, shareholders and
society. § am privileged and excited to be
part of it.

Alex Baldock
Chief Executive
29 June 2021
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STRATEGY IN ACTION
OMNIGCHANNEL

Omnichannel is our way of bringing the strengths of all our
channels, stores and online, to all our customers, however

they may be shopping.

OMNICHANNEL =)

Our omnichannel capabilities have been tested as never before. We innovated and improved our offer
at unprecedented speed, driving our already large online business to grow significantly faster than

the market.

Across the Group, we landed multicls improvements to the
website, app and our stores to deliver a better experience for
customers. These enabled Electricals online sales to more than
double, resulting in additional sales of almost £2.4bn in the year.

We have achieved this through delivering cur plan for stronger
online growth we first set out in December 2018. Also, we
have grown our online range without compromising availability,
sharpened our pricing and made it easier to shop.

But it’s the combination of our stores and online working
together that customers value the mest. Customers in stores
can access our full range onling for delivery to their homes via
our Store Mode tablets. This allows every stors, whatever its size

STORE BENEFITS

Full range of services

* Face-to-face expert advice »

« Tech demos

and stock. to offer our full range to every customer. Meanwhile,
customers can order onling and collect instore, often within

an hour. Customers online can also use our in-store services
to get this tech working, keep it working {repair), trade it in.

and recycle it.

We now have strong foundations in omnichannel but there
is a lot more to go for here. We will continue to build on our
progress. as demonstrated by innovations like Shoplive.

This service brings the best of stores (face-to-face advice
from trusted experts) to customers online. Customers prefer
this to unassisted online sales and we like Shoplive as it

is an innovation competitors will struggle to copy at scale.

ONLINE BENEFITS
v 24x7 .
* Engaging content .
*  Fuli range of products

Convenient
Next day delivery

OMNICHANNEL: BEST OF BOTH

CUSTOMER IN-STORE

Store colleagues can offer customers
our full range, via tablets in store
(Store Mode). We are never out of stock.

CUSTOMER ONLINE

Customers can get their tech right now
as stores give quick and easy access
to products.

SHOPLIVE

Access to the same expert advice
conling as in storeg, via video chat.

LAUNCHED 1HR ORDER & COLLECT,

TRANSACTIONAL IN STORE TABLETS

Nordic 0&C Sales

+85%

UK Online in Store Sales

+/6%

CONTACTLESS PICK UP + VIRTUAL QUEUING

LAUNCHED SHOPLIVE

Colleagues supperting ShopLive customers

>2,800

UK 0&C Sales

+1129%
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Most customers prefer to shop both
online and in-store, this was true even
in the midst of a global pandemic.”

Mark Allsop
Chief Operating Officer

SHOPPING CHANNEL
PREFERRED BY UK CUSTOMERS
B Both Online and In-store

|:] In-store only

Online only

\\ \\\
20%
\

y
L

38%
Pre-Govid

42%

Source: Dixons Carphone Consumer
Insight Survey. Purchase channcl used in
L12M. Base: All L12M purchasers April 18
to Apnl 19 (n=10,376).

Electricals online sales

24 704m
+103%

N
N
40% N
LN

-

!

Mid-Covid

51%

Source: Dixons Carphone Consumer
Insight Survey Purchase channel

used in L12ZM. Base: All 12/
purchascrs Nov *19 1o Nov ‘20 (n=948).
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STRATEGY IN ACTION
OMNIGHANNEL CONTINUED

By making it easier for customers, we grow the revenue that is generated by customers shopping
across more than a single channel.

Progress in 2020/21

In the year, we provided customers an uninterrupted
online service even when shops were closed. This
generated online sales of £4.7bn, +103% vyear on year

We launched and rolled out Shoplive, our market leading
online live shopping service. We have trained over 2.800
colleagues, and carried out over 2.8m calls in the year.
See case study on page 17

Order & collect from store within one hour launched
including virtual queuing and contactless collection.

In the UK it was 30% of cnline sales when stores were
open (22% in 2019/20). In Nordics it grew to 41% of orders
{from 38% in 2019/20}

In the UK, Order Online In-Store’ sales, where our in-store
colleagues sell customers products from the online range,
grew by +76%, despite sales from this being zero in four
months of the year.

Winning online
Much of the growth we have generated is through getting the basics of retail right, we have extended our product ranges.
improved our availability, made sure we are on the money on price and improved the customer experience.

Future priorities
* New omnichannel website for Currys.co.uk that will drive an
easier shopping experience for our customers

s Grow Shoplive in all markets

+« Rolicut our "Next Generation Retail” platform to Nordic
customers, creating a more ssamless cmnichannel experience.

1

The next 12 months will see big improvements
in our websites, we are not anywhere close to
our potential yet.”

Andy Gamble
Ghief Technology Officer

Electricals online sales

4 704m

+103%

2020/21 £4,704m
2019120 £2318m
2018/19 £2,359m

EASY EXPERIENCE

Total SKUs: 18,000 {(+50% YY)
Small Box Online Orders: +154%

Nordics

More than 100.000 SKUs (including
marketplace) and still growing

Larger range Market leading
across the Group availability
UK UK

Number One for availability of stock
1hr order & collect from stores

Nordics

System changes for faster and
more flexible deliveries being
rolled out

Invested in price
Clear price promise:
You won't get it cheaper

UK
Price 97-102% vs competitors
{vs: 105% in 2018)

Nordics
Price <100%—-102% vs competitors

Investing in the
customer experience

UK

Delivery Customer Satisfaction:
85, +5pts vs 2018/20

Nordics

Delivery Customer Satisfaction:
86, +2pts vs 2019/20
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SHOPLIVE

24/7 live video shopping service

Shoplive puts instore experts in front of online customers in
a striking example of how online and stores can be stronger
together, for everyone’s benefit.

The customer can get expert advice they cannct get from
unassisted online competitors without leaving their sofa. The
colleague can keep selling, even when the store is guieter,
which is good for their earning power and sustains the viability
of their store. The colleague can also build skills in a way that
would be out of reach if they just served customaers walking
in off the street. Customers like it too, they are four times as
likely to buy something, spend over 50% more, have much
higher customer satisfaction scores, and are likelier to repeat
purchase than an unassisted online customer. The bigger
ShoplLive gets, the better it gets. The more customers and
colleagues on it. the more often customers are connected
with the right expert colleague. the better the service. the
higher the extra sales, the less spare capacity among store

11

If | visit a store for a technology purchase it
is for the staff expertise rather than the feel
and experience, so having that need met
without needing to travel from my home
offers significant benefits”

colleagues, and the more profitable it is. Retail Week
CUSTOMER BENEFITS COLLEAGUE BENEFITS BUSINESS BENEFITS
Face-to-face advice from expert National reach for their skills; Benefit vs onling unassisted:
colieagues online as well as in store. « can develop specialism e 4x conversion
More expert help: access to national *  higher earning opportunity *  >55% higher ATV

pool of specialists.

Trained colleagues

2,800

Customer rating

4.5/5

Supports store economics:
* increased job security

Use of in-store downtime to sell nationally:
colleague costs more efficient.

Supports store economics and national network.
Competition cannot match at scale:

* 20,000 expert colleagues; and

* 829 stages (stores); Network benefits
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STRATEGY IN ACTION

SERVICES

We are uniquely positioned to provide services to our customers
to help them enjoy technology for life. We can provide this range
of services at scale in ways no competitor can match.

SERVICES ©

We aim to grow the number of customers and proportion of sales that use our valued services.

Progress in 2020/21

*  We have helped customers make the most of
their amazing tech through our unique services

s 29% of UK sales had a Service attached, down over
10% from 2018/20 due 10 the impact of store closures

¢ |nthe UK, our 1,350-person repair team fixed over
1 million products, including nearly 350,000 computing
and vision repairs, over 370.000 mobile phones and
more than 280,000 white goods repairs, most of these

in customers’ homes

* Nordics Customer Club continues to grow, and we had
5.4m members at the end of the year. Club contributed

33% of sales, well up on the 23%

6 in 2019/20.

UK and Ireland Services

Future priorities
Increase proportion of orders that are 'right first time'

and speed up issue resolution

Use Customer Club data and insight this gives us t¢
improve personalised communication and strengthen

customer relationships

New omnichannel platform to make it easier t¢ offer,
and for customers o buy, services.

GET IT KEEP IT MAKE MOST END OF
WORKING WORKING QUTOFIT LIFE
Installation Protection Connectivity Re-use

* 16.6m big-box,
two-person deliveries

= @.4minstallations in
homes, +61% YoY

* 3.6m insurance and
warranty plans

* 1.1m ID Mobile
customers, +2% year
on year

* Nationwide switching
on broadband

* 50k customers
appliances diverted
for reuse

* =250k used/refurbished
products through resale

Set up
* 100,000 product set ups

Repair

* Furope's largest
electrical product
repair centre

¢ 1m repairs
* 270 in-home technicians

Lifestyle subscriptions

s Apple bundle of Apple
Music, Apple Arcade
and Apple News +
launched in UK

Recycle

+ =1m products collected
from customer’'s homes

* Number One retail
recycler of tech in the UK

e 43% of UK retail
electrical recycling
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| could not recommend Currys PCWorld highly
enough after this! A few of my friends are looking
for laptops and beyond doubt I'lf be suggesting

they purchase their laptops from here.”

Currys customer

Nordics customer club

We are continuing to join up the services
we offer with improved data to create
customers for life.

Our Nordics Customer Ciub continues to grow, and we had
5.4m members at the end of the year, These customers
have clear benafits such as permanent discount on some
products, early access or exclusive deals, extended buy and
Try periods and access 10 streaming services besides other
partnership benafits,

Clubr customers shap more frequently and are more
profitable to us. We will continue growing scale
and data in this important area.

Successful rollout in the Nordics
Number of custorner cluby members

2020/21 5.4m

Launched in Norway,
2019/20 3.2m | Denmark and Finland
in October 2019

2018/19 1.3mM Sweden only

>40%

Nordic households
are club members

Increase in number of
customer club members
in the Nordics

5.4m

from 3.2m
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STRATEGY IN ACTION
CREDIT

Credit appeals to customers as technology is

H : : : Over the last three
exciting but expensive, and credit makes it more years the adoption rate of
affordable by allowing them to spread the cost. credit in the UK has grown

two-fifths to

10.8%

GREDIT

We aim to grow the number of customers and proportion of sales that use our Credit solutions.

Progress in 2020/21 Future prigrities

+ UK credit adoption almost stable *  NMore flexible and tailored credit
despite store closures for most of propositions to be rolled out in UK . L .
the year. UK active credit customers +  Stimulating repeat spend and OUI’ Credlt prOpOSItlon 1S
over 1.4m, resulling in +8% growth Tisati i |
 Credt salos utilisation of available balances |Oved by CUStomerS and

] ) *  Optimising shopping journey to ,

+  UKorline adoption rate 10% and encourage higher take-up of credit. SUpD“erS- We expeCt
repeat credit sales +28% vs last year ,

¢ Naw partnerships with Ecster many |mprOVemenES
{in Sweden and Finland) and over the next year_

Santander (in Norway and Denmark).
David Buxton

UK Credit Director

Rise in UK Electricals credit customers

We are going with the flow of how customers want to buy as two thirds of customers already
use some form of credit to buy technology in the UK, We are building on strong foundations
in a responsible manner.

Credit appeals to to customers as technelogy is exciting but Active credit accounts in UK&I Electricals

expensive, and credit makes the amazing technology they
want more affordable: demanstrated by a +10ppts higher 2020/21 1,407
satisfaction score than for non-credit custorers. And credit is

goed for us. It gives customers a reascn to shop with us, then
shop more, and adoption of other services by credit customers 2019/20 1175
is aimost double that of cash customers. Credit fs good for
suppliers as well. All this produces stickier, more valuable
customer reiationships.

2018419 884
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STRATEGY IN ACTION
MOBILE

Mobile is central to our Vision — it is the most important product
to customers. We are responding to our challenges, with a clear
plan to restore mobile to profitability and cash generation.

MOBILE

Our aim is to transform UK Mobile into a profitable business while generating cash flow.

Progress in 2020/21 Future priorities

* Legacy contract with EE ana G2 * Launch of our new mobite offer
expired, significantly reducing the in FY 2021/22, this will be much
unprofitable volume commitments mare relevant for the needs
of the business of today's mobile customers

Waorking capital release from Mobile {see below)

business accelerated, with segmental  »  Streamlining of legacy cost base

free cash flow of £143m despite to eliminate operating losses
operating losses and restructuring o Complete transformation away
costs. Year-end network receivable from loss making legacy post-pay
balance now £239m (2019/20; £616m, with a net positive cash flow.

2818 £797m)

Standalone stores closed, business
transferred online and to 3-in-1 stores

Signed new terms with Three to extend
our iD Mobile MVNO.

41

We are excited about
our new Mobile offer.
We can offer something
unigue that customers
will value highly.”

Ed Connolly
Chief Commercial Officer

New Mobhile offer

Our new Mobile offer will put customers
back in control.

This year we will launch our new Mobile offer in the UK. This
will better reflect what customers want: flexibility, transparency
and value. It will include deals they can't find anywhere &lse,
nationwide face-to-face advice, the best range of handsets
from the biggest brands and a wide range of tariffs and
networks, underpinned by a market-beating price promise.

It will also be better for us, phones will be sold through the
same T systams as our other products, both reducing costs
and allowing mare flexible data sharing while the financing of
handsets will be done through third-party lenders and not our
own balance sheeat.

21
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GAPABLE AND COMMITTED
COLLEAGUES

OUR CAPABLE AND COMMITTED
COLLEAGUES — THE MAGIC INGREDIENT

Our ‘Capable and Committed Colleagues’ provide the magic ingredient in helping our customers
discover, choose and enjoy amazing technology. Expert face-to-face help is at the heart of why
customers shop with us, and that takes skilled and dedicated colleagues. Happy colleagues
make for happy customers, who make for happy shareholders.

2020 will forever be defined by the Covid-19 pandemic, with its
impact being felt throughout the world. The disruption caused by
the pandemic meant that all of cur operations in the UK, Ireland,
the Nordics and Greece had to adapt quickly. In the UK, for
instance, Covid-19 struck at a time when our transformation into a
digital first omnichannel business was already underway and we
were making great progress. However, as the UK went into its first
national lockdown in March. cur business was classified by the
UK Government as non-essential which meant that most of our
stores were only open (if at all) for click-and-ccllect and delivery.

totalling nearly £25m over two years. Technology is amazing.
We know that. It's why we help everyone enjoy it. But the magic
that happens is because of every one of our colleagues. When
we come tegether amazing things happen. It's that energy and
determination that make our colleagues amazing and help us
keep more customers for life,

During this unprecedented period, we continued to live
our values and do even more to:

As a result, over 16,500 colleagues were furloughed during the * pricritise the safety and wellbeing of our celleagues
year across the Group. s aftract the talent we need

As we adapted in response to the pandemic, these challenges * develop our colleagues and help them build skills for life
to our daily operations only served to reinforce our belief that our ¢ recognise and reward our pecple

colleagues are at the heart of our business and our omnichannsl
future. As a core pillar in our strategy, we believe that now, even
more than ever, Is the time to invest in our colleagues and our

*  build a culture of inclusion and diversity

* build a cutture of communication and engagement

culture. Alongside our commitment to increase the minimum *  enhance our colleague experience by standardising

hourly pay rate for our frontline UK colleagues. we are making a
series of investrments in skills, wellbeing and reward programmes,

and harmonising our systems, tools and processes.

PRIORITISE THE SAFETY AND
WELLBEING OF OUR COLLEAGUES

Safety

There remains no bigger pricrity than
colleague and customer safety. We have
spent £14m to implament extensive
hygiene and social distancing measures at
our facilities and stores to ensure our sites
are Covid-secure. We were also ane of the
first companies in the UK to roll out rapid
workforce testing. This has enabled our
colleagues to safely continue delivering
vital technology to customers.

In the UK and Irgland, we:

* introduced strict 2m scaial distancing,
with one-way systems and floor
markings to help this

set up sanitiser points and increased
frequency of cleaning

ensured the use of face coverings in
line with local rules and best practice

provided Personal Protective
Equipment (PPE) where appropriate

provided training and communication
to all colleagues and visitors on our
Covid safety measures

re-organised work spaces to

keep colleagues apart and set up
measures to reduce crowding in
stores and other locations

provided full pay or enhanced
company sick pay to our vulnerable
colleagues in customer-facing roles

and colleagues who were over 28
weeks' pregnant so they could shield
at home

provided full sick pay and support

to our colleagues who tested positive
or were displaying symptoms for
Covid-19 and needed to quaranting
deployed enhanced contact tracing
and deep cleaning processes in
response to any cutbreaks

introduced a more robust home/
remaote working assessment process

introduced lateral flow testing in

sftes and stores in areas experiencing
higher levels of high infection rates in
the community.




STRATEGIC REPORT

In Greece and the Nordics. we also
put the safety and wellbeing of cur
colleagues as their number cne priority
and introduced many new measures,
which included:

« 4500 tests conducted in our
buildings in Greece to help
reduce the risk of contamination

* use of plexi glass and/or tape in
the Nordics to create physical
barriers around customer-facing
tables/desks etc.

* proactive fever detecticn (either
completed manually or through
advanced thermographic cameras)
applied to all high-risk facilities
in Greece

* new shift patterns to reduce the
rigk of contarmination

*  new measures to protect colleagues
and customers such as strict
contactless processes, click and

collect, prepaid collection at store ete.

GOVERNANCE ‘

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTOR INFORMATION

We continue to remain focused on
suUpporting the business through the
Covid-18 pandemic, enabling our
business to operate safely and in
accordance with national restrictions.

Wellbeing

The wellbeing of our cclleagues continues
to be a core priority. In the UK and
Ireland, we:

¢ Jaunched a new cnline wellbeing
portal called "Wellbeing Corner’,
which offers support and resources
to help with mental. physical, financial
and environmental wellbeing. The site
has been visited by 16,000 colleagues
with 250,00C page views since its
launch at the end of November

» invested in training and accreditation
for 4560 Mental Health First Aiders and
trained 315 Mental Health Champions

* provided a six-month subscription
for all colleagues to the Calm app,
the leading app for sleep, meditation
and relaxation support

*  provided access for all colleagues
to the Aviva Digital GP App, which
enables colleagues 1o select from
a choice of NHS registered GPs

s |aunched the Aviva Wellness App
as part of our Wellbeing programme,
which allows colleagues to set up
perscnalised action plans tc help
develop and maintain good health
habits.

The Wellbeing of our collsagues in our
international businesses was aiso a critical
priority. For example, In Greece, the ‘Stay
Together’ initiative was designed tc share
tips for boosting morale and staying
productive white working from home.

In the Nordics, the team developed a
playbcok for how to work from home
and provided colleagues with weekly
online mental health training. They

also introduced team challenges
where teams should walk at least five
kilometres together and share pictures.

for us during lockdown.

We recruited 4,994 colleagues with 56% of these
hires aligned ta support our Peak period in Retail,

We have continued to build on the success of our
Tech Lovers Unite’ employer brand and leverage
our social channels to connect and engage with talent.

ATTRACT THE TALENT WE NEED

Attracting talent with the right knowledge, skills and mindset remained a core priority

We invested heavily in upgrading cur recruitment system this
year and this saw benefits realised for external applications,
hiring managers and internal job seekers too. The investment

allowed us to build a new internal careers site — 'Careers at

DC’ — which within a week of launch saw our visitors double
and the amount of time spent on the site triple.

23
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CAPABLE AND COMMITTED
COLLEAGUES CONTINUED

DEVELOP OUR COLLEAGUES AND
HELP THEM BUILD SKILLS FOR LIFE

In 2020, we have fuelled a movement of re-skilling and culture of learning for all colleagues.

In the UK and Ireland, we have:

provided nearly

200,000

hours of face-to-face learning

provided nearly

280,000

hours of online learning with

colieagues consuming 2.47 million online madules

provided over

470,000

hours of combined learning

UK AND IRELAND

1. Upskilling

2020 saw a major focus on building
selling capability using our LIFE
(Listen, Inspire & Find, Enjoy) seliing
conversational framework where
our colleagues:

¢ listen to our customers’ needs

s help customers find their
personalised solutions

s answer any guestions so our
customers can go and enjoy their
amazing technology.

By April 2021 over 6,000 colleagues
will have been trained in our new sales

s building knowledge, understanding

such as benefii-led selling and
story telling

*  buiid capability in product bundling
and making reccmmendations.
incorporating ways to pay and
our Services

* ingpire them with amazing technology

framework. The programme will improve
the capability of our colleagues to sell by:

and application of selling tachniques

+ build colleague confidence in selling
and engaging with customers

+ educate colleagues in the best use
of supporting tools and technalogy.

Within Supply Chain and Service
Operations, there has been a very
significant investment in technical
training and upskilling colleagues. 4.830
colleagues benefited from training,
which translated intc aver 41,000 hours.

2. Re-skilling and redeployment
The necessary changes in our business
model created cpportunities for our
colleagues to be redeployed across the
business to areas where there was the
greatest need. This enabled them to
learn new skills and benefit from new
experiences. We:

redeployed 700 colleagues to
support Contact Centres

* increased tha number of colleagues
who frained 1o be Shoplive enabled
from 20 in April 2020 to 2,800 by
January 2021.

3. Leadership Development

We have invested in building the
capability of existing leaders and
harnessed new ways of working which
emerged through the crisis to more
effectively operate together as ‘One
Business’. To suppart them lead during
such a time of upheaval, we:

* partnered with leading experts to
upskill our leaders virtually on critical
issues such as how o 'lead in a
time of crisis’ and ‘communicate
when it really mattered’. Eguaily, at
a time when the Black Lives Matter
campaign gathered momentum
externally, wa underlined the
importance of leadership in creating
an inclusive culture

* used the launch of our new
performance management approach
to align leadership objectives behind
our core strategic priorities.
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OUR LEADERSHIP PIPELINE

We have also made significant progress in developing our leadership talent pipeline through:

o aquarterly review of leadership talent in core ‘value
generating roles’
* regular diversity reviews, bringing our current pipelines into

clear focus with plans to promote an increase in diversity
across our most senior roles

* 3 strategic hiring programme designed to inject those
leadership capabilities reguired for our transformation

* investing in emerging talent and building a pipeling for
critical roles and managers of the future.

LEADERSHIP DEVELOPMENT IN OUR INTERNATIONAL BUSINESSES

The Nordics

In the Nordics, our commitment to leadership developrment
remains an enduring pricrity. We continued to run programmas
across our Leadership track (see below). As a result:

» 136 colleagues participated in cur Emerging Leaders
program in Sweden and Denmark
* 47 colleagues finished our Leading Others program in Sweden

» 19 colleagues participated in our Leading Functions pilot
which was 100% digital.

Leadership track

NEW AS A LEADER EMERGING LEADERS LEADING OTHERS LEADING LEADERS LEADING FUNCTIONS

¢ Prepare the transition
from individual
performer to
learning & team ¢ Integrate cross-
understanding + Build confidence and

¢ Introduction to the
leadership mindset

* Prepare for a
leadership role

in Elkjep « Build a cornmon
* Ensure understanding leadership
of management tools

leadership

In addition, cther programmes were run across the Nordics for
our leaders to help them lead during the pandemic and respond
to issues connected to Covid-19.

Colleagues in the Nordic business followed the pattern we

saw in the UK with an increase in online learning consumption.
Over 400 training programmes were offered through nearly 100
suUppliers and in-house training programs. In tetal, over 28,000
training hours have been completed from e-learnings alone,
and 829 of training was rated four stars or above by colleagues
(against a rating scale of one to five stars).

* Select and lead * Set vision and build
mianagers for towards the future
high performance * Balance trade-off

between the short

functional perspectives and long term

and processes and language provide technigues in decisions « Ablity to influence
* |ncrease parsonal tC improve team * Handle complexity by effective
effectiveness and sffectiveness and changes communication
performance * Integrate a growth  Foster a culture and collabeoration
mindset and focus of continuous « Align the organisation
on strength-basad improvement for strategy

implementation

ALL NEW LEADERS SALES LEADERS / LEADERS WITH PEOPLE | LEADERS WHO LEAD FUNCTIONAL LEADERS
SALES STAFF RESPONSIBILITIES OTHER LEADERS

Greece

Our colleagues in Greece demonstrated a deep thirst for
learning in 2020, consuming over 71,000 hours of learning
content in 2020.

A new Learning Experience Platform {'LXP') is due 1o launch
in May 2021. During 2020, we transferred the vast majority

of learning material into dynamic online ‘microlearn content’.
These microlearns will be automatically released to colleagues
based on their role and department. Colleagues will be
encouraged fo take advantage of the numerous resources
avallable to them through this system.

We continue to provide managers and leaders with ongoing
development opportunities, some of which are run in
colaboration with leading academics and business coaches
in Greece.

Cur commitment to building a future talent pipelineg in Greece
remains strong. For example, in 2019-2020, 35 people on
average were active on our apprenticeship programme.
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CAPABLE AND COMMITTED

COLLEAGUES CONTINUED

RECOGNISING AND REWARDING OUR PEOPLE

In May 2021, we announced that, from 1 October 2021, we plan to pay the Real Living Wage to all hourly
paid UK colleagues. This will result in an average increase of 9%.

Pay

Almost 12,000 hourly paid frontline
colleagues will benefit from the increase.
That's irrespective of age and aligned to
the current rates set by the Real Living
Wage foundation.

During the pandemic, we introduced
a supplementary appreciation benus
of £150 per pay period for colleagues
across Supply Chain. This recognised
those colleagues who continued to
attend their usual place of work,
despite facing rea! challenges which
have reguired significant home and
working life adjustments.

Despite it not being a requirement to
publish in April this year, we voluntarily
published our fourth annual Gender

Pay Report on 15 Aprit 2021. Our
combined Group data showed that our
comparative median hourly Gender

FPay Gap continues to track well below
the ONS national average (15.5%), and
continues to reduce (from 4.5% to 3.4%"),
Similarly, year on year the madian Gender
Bonus Gap decreased from 24.3% to
22.9%. You can read our report here
www.dixonscarphone.com

Pension

All UK and Ireland colleagues have access
to a defined contribution workplace
pension, and colleagues and their families
also benefit from a 10% discount in our
stores on our products and services. In
Greece, the Company's pension plan is a
private scheme that exceeds state pension
scheme requirements. Every employee
can participate with voluntary contributions
based on salary through payroll.

Share ownership

We believe every colleague should be a
sharehclder and invested in our success,
so after 12 months service, every
colleague below senior management level
is granted an award of at least £1,000
shares. In February 2019, we launched
our award-winning Colleague Shareholder
Scheme and we have continued to grant
awards to new participants throughout
2020/21, granting awards to a further
7,000 colleagues globally. In 2020/21

we also continued to offer cur UK and
Ireland colleagues the opportunity 1o build
a personal stake in the business through
our Sharesave Scheme.

Flexible Benefits

The flexibie benefits programme in the UK
includes private medical {(grade related)
eye care vouchers, dental plans, a cycle
to work programme, childcare vouchers
and many other benefits. The ‘Better

Me, Belter Team’ programme is available
for colleagues in Greece. This includes
prometing the mental and physical
wellness of colleagues through gym
discounts, fife management workshops
and provision of psychological support.

UK colleagues also have access to help
via Salary Finance, providing access

to affordable loans as well as tools and
tips on budgeting. All UK and Ireland
colleagues have access to a confidential
employee assistance programme.

© In addition to the otficial figures calculated using April 2020 pay data, we have also published a sot of
comparable figures based on March 2020 pay data. which give a more representative view of our organisation,
This 1s because almost 60% of our workforce, predominantly store collsagues in cur lower pay quartiles, wera
placed on furlough and therefore excluded from the April 2020 figures.

BUILD A CULTURE OF INCLUSION AND DIVERSITY

We're for everyone (we help everyone enjoy amazing technology, after all). And if our customers are
‘everyone’, so must our colleagues be.

For us, inclusion and diversity are strategic imperatives as well as
the right thing to do, so we're committed to becoming an even
maore inclusive company whera everyone belongs. We have:

careers/social channels and featuring in articles published by
Retail Week and the Retail Gazstte

encouraged and supported the formation of our Pride of

developed strong relationships with leading partners to
help us create a diverse and inclusive culture. Partnerships
include Business in the Community, Stonewall, Business
Disability Forurm, everywoman, and Be Inspired

created a Leadership Inclusion Forum to shape and champion
our inclusion agenda. This forum is chaired by our CEO

signed the Race at Work Charter, continued to publish our
Gender Pay Report, shared stories internally and externally
highlighting our commitment to inclusion through our

DC colleague diversity netwark — with aver 200 colleagues
now helping shape a more inclusive workplace for LGBTQ+
colleagues.

We remain committed to creating a culture of inclusion and
ensuring our colleagueas have a voice. In UK and Ireland, we
have 11 colleague forums representing colleagues from across
the organisation. in 2019, we created an International Forum
covering UK and Ireland, Greece, Hong Kong, Czech Republic
and the Nordlics.
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The table below outlines our Group level gender diversity position as at May 2021,

As at May 2021 Total Female Male

PLC Board 8 3 38% 5 62%
Executive Committee 9 2 22% 7 78%
Direct Reports of Executive Committee 61 18 30% 43 T0%
All Employees 35,046 10,860 31% 24,186 69%

T Figures nciude all permanent employees and fixed-torm contractors as at 1 May 2021

BUILD A CULTURE OF COMMUNICATION AND ENGAGEMENT

Our communications and engagement activity has played a vital role in keeping colleagues
energised, informed and connected during the pandemic. We have:

* continued to build on strong
engagement with our primary
communication channels (Workplace
and email), encouraging colleague .
feedback and two-way discussion

* ran live leadership/CEO Q8A and
Town Halls which have attracted
audiences of 4,000+ colleagues
at the height of lockdown

¢ hosted our first ever fully virtual Peak
Event, opening it up to all colleagues,
with 6,500+ colleagues engaged,
30,000 views of main plenary content
and 165,000 visits to supplier stands.
In the Nordics, the team created an
internal ‘TV show' where the senior

leaders shared and discussed the
strategic priorities. This replaced
‘Campus’, an annual leadership event

transitioned from an annual colleague
engagement survey to a more flexible
and continuous approach to colleague
listening acrass the Company. Our first
bi-annual 'On the Pulse” engagement
survey ran in October 2020 with our
end of year survey scheduled for May
2021, This new pulse survey came at
an important time for cur business as
we continued to face into the ongoing
pandemic, enabling us to take a
temperature check on colleague
mood and sentiment,

ENHANCE OUR COLLEAGUE EXPERIENCE BY
STANDARDISING AND HARMONISING OUR SYSTEMS,
TOOLS AND PROCESSES

We have made significant progress in creating a clearer, simpler and faster place to work for
our colleagues. Our ‘One Business’ commitment continued in 2020. We have:

* re-designed the way we organise ourselves internally to .
béecome even more customer-centric and work in a way

which is clearer, simpler and faster

+ completed the successful migration of colleagues t¢ a .

single Payroll solution

« standardised and harmonised terms and conditions for

Retail colleagues

harnessed technclogy to increase colleague self-service
capabilities and ensure centralised support with extended
opening hours acress the UK and Ireland

launched a new platform for delivery of a digital-first
cclleague experience — People Place - with integrated voice,
chat and autemated communications channels providing
smarter access to relevant information and policies and
proactive query handling.
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OUR STAKEHOLDERS
STAKEHOLDER MANAGEMENT

This report sets out our approach to stakeholder management - our s172(1) statement -
and references where the other non-financial information can be found.

SECTION 172(1) STATEMENT

Section 172(1) of the Companies Act 2006 requires gach Director to act in the way
he or she considers, in goaod faith, would be most likely to promote the success of
the Company for the benefit of its members as a whole and in doing so have regard
famongst other matters) to the:

What this means

The Board challenges what impacts any decision will have on

the Company's staksholder groups and ensuras that hoth the
mmediate implications and pessible cumulative outcomes are
cansidered,

(a) likely consequences
of any decisions in
the long term;

What this means

Capablc and Committed Colleagues, as the interface between
the Company and our cuslomers, are crtical to the long-term
success of the Company and the Board considers the needs
of colleagues and how any decision will impact them.

interests of
the company’s
employees;

need to foster the
company’s business
relationships with
suppliers, customers
and others;

impact of the
company’s operations
on the community
and environment;

desirability of the
company maintaining
a reputation for high
standards of business
conduct; and

need to act fairly as
hetween members
of the company.

What this means

The Board ensures that any decision is mads in the context of
the need 1o he a responsiale partner. to collaborate effectively
with suppliers and to maintain successful relatonships with
customers, The Board ensures the Gompany has strang
relationships with external stakeholders including its regulatars,
its banks and the external Auditor.

What this means

The Board considers how any decision will affecl stakeholders
that are external to the Groug together with any cnvironmental
implications.

What this means

The Board challenges whether any decision made s the
right thing to do' to cnsure the best possible autcome for all
stakeholders,

What this means

The Company's shareholders include institutional investors and
retall shareholders. In considering the impact decisions have
on shareholders, the Board takes this imto account and ensures
that all sharehclders have equal access to mformation and
engagement opportunities.

Our approach to

stakeholder management

There are different processes across
the business to ensure stakeholder
censiderations are embedded into

the Group’s decision-making. A clear
corporate governance structure is in
place which, together with the Group's
Delegated Authority Policy, ensures
that business decisions are made

by the appropriate people and in the
appropriate forum (in accordance with
the terms of reference of that forum).
The supporting documentation for
each Board and committee meeting
includes, for reference, a summary of
section 172(1) responsibilities immediately
after the meeting agenda. To ensure
that the impact on stakeholders is duly
considered, Board and committee
decision paper templates include
mandatory fields for papers’ authors to
include an impact assessment on each
stakeholder group.

The Board acknowledges that decisicns
made will not necessarily result in a
positive outcome for every stakeholder
group. By considering the Group’s
purpose, vision and values together with
its strategic priorities and having a process
in place for decisiocn-making, the Board
does, however, aim to make sure that

all decisions are considered and made
following reflection acress a broader
view of stakeholder considerations.

A table has been included in this report
to provide examples, for each of the
Company’s key stakeholder groups, of
the matters that the Board considered

This statement explains how the Board has embedded stakeholder considerations

across decision-making and, in particular, how diractors have had regard to the factors  during the year, including how decisions

included in section 172{1) in addition to cther factars relevant to any decision being made. were reached and provides examples
of stakeholder considerations that were
central to discussions and outcomes.

NON-FINANCIAL INFORMATION STATEMENT

We aim to comply with the Non-Financial Environmental matters

Reporting requirerments contained in sections {including impact of business on the environiment) Page 40
AMACA and 414CB of the Companiaes Act Colleagues Pages 22-27
2006. The requirements cf this disclosure are Social matters Pages 38 and 39
addressed within this section by means of Respect for human rights Pages 22-27, 36-37
cr(;ss rifelrencilﬂholrder to avoid duplication Anti-corruption and anti-bribery matters {including anti-slavery) Page 36
an ,to elp stakeho qefs u.nderstand our Description of our business model page Pages & and 9
position on key non-financial matters: - — ; X -

Details of the principal risks relating to non-financial matters Pages 46-52
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CASE STUDY: COVID-19

The Board and Executive Committee have
considered the interests of the Company’s
stakeholders throughout the Covid-19 pandemic.

Following the store closures in Greece, UK and Ireland,

the Board considered the implications for all stakeholders
including shareholders. One of the three immediate priorities
identified was to secure the future of the business. Securing
the leng-term sustainable future of the business for the benefit
of sharehoiders was the main consideration for a number of
important Board decisions. These included the removal of
almost all discretionary spend, measures to consarve cash
including the decision not tc pay a final dividend for 2020/21,
putting in place additional bank facilities and the decision t©
place UK colleagues onto furlough.

The Board concluded that the Group performed an important
function in supporting customers through the crisis by
providing them with vital goods, helping millions of people
sustain themselves in lockdown by keeping them connected,
heaithy and productive. The Board committed to ensure

that the online sales channel was kept operational during
each period of mandated shog closures, while ensuring
compliance with best practice heaith and safety guidance.
Stores were adapted for safe shopping including a front-
of-store trading concept and a zero-contact, 'Drive Thriy’
model. Measures such as an enhanced cleaning regime,
rigorous social distancing and safety screens for stores

were implemented. The sudden change to the UK business,
moving to 100% online and with contact centre colleagues
working from home, created customer service problems. The
Board challenged the management team on customer service
and call centre performance and monitored the issues closely
until significant improvements had been made.

The directors attended additional weekly update calls at the
height of the pandemic to keep them updated on the Group’s
response to Covid-19, including, importantly, on the wellbeing
of colleagues, the steps being taken to protect colleagues and
feadback received from colleagues. The Supply Chain team
has continued to monitor government guidance during the
year 1o ensure the safe operation of the supply chain. Measures
taken included changes to working hours and rotas to reduce
the number of colleagues on sites, physical adjustments to
sites and work areas to support social distancing, additional
cleaning and hygiene measures and the provision of personal
protective equipment. Sites were transformed to include floor
markings, barriers and one-way systems, hourly tannoy health
and safety reminders, maximum occupancy notices. extensive
site signage on handwashing and social distancing as well

as temperature checks at the start and end of driver shifts.
Certain installation services were temporarily discontinued, and
colleagues were advised not to carry out any activity unless
they were satisfied it was safe to do so.

The Board agreed that it was in the best interests of the long-
term sustainable success of the business to put the majority
of store colleagues and a number of support team colleagues
on the government Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme
during the Covid-19 pandemic. However, for those colleagues
that received a salary above the government furlough cap, the
Company decided to make up the difference to ensure that all
colleagues on furlough received 80% of their salary.

The Board considered the interests of the Group's
pensioners during the year as part of their strategic decisicn
making. The Beoard paid £47m towards the deficit reduction
in 2020/21 as agreed with the Pension Trustees prior to the
Covid-19 pandemic.

Ouring March 2020, the Board considered how best the
Company could support the wider community during the
Covid-19 lockdown. In considering whether or not 1o close
stores in all countries, the Board noted the critical role of
the business in providing vital goods to the public, and

in turn how trading would help millions of people sustain
the essential lockdown. In particular, the importance of
technciogy that facilitates connectivity with loved ones,
including mobile phones and tablets, essential housshold
items including fridges, cookers and washing machines,
and laptops and equipment for working from home and
home-schooling. The Board agreed that it was important to
help customers as an online-only retailer in those countries
where our stores could not remain open, subject always to
the requirement to keep colleagues and customers safe.
Measures included prioritising helping older and vulnerable
customers and reguests for tablets, mebile phones, laptops,
webcams, headsets and chargers for NHS Trusts and
hospitals to help patients to stay in touch with friends and
families. In addition, iD Mobile offered all existing customers
over 70 years cold free and unlimited minutes for the 12-
week isolation period advised by the government in the UK.
Stores in the Nordics put in place special opening hours for
vulnerable and at-risk pecple.

In the UK, the Company sent hundreds of free laptops, mobile
pheones, SIM cards and headsets to Age UK's Silver Line
helpline teams, tc help them maintain their vital support to
older people during the Covid-19 lockdown,

During the year the Commercial team collaborated effectively
with the Group's suppliers in helping our customers and
securing the future of the Group. The teams started work

to secure a supply of stock during the early stages of the
Covid-19 pandemic. Stock of key lines was increased as soon
as it became apparent that factories in China and the rest of
Asia might close. This ensured that the business was better
prepared to meet the sudden increase in customer demand
for laptops, refrigeration, gaming and home cffice. The strong
relationships in place with suppliers ensured resilience during
the disruption of supply chains caused by the crisis.
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OUR STAKEHOLDERS

STAKEHOLDER MANAGEMENT CONTINUED

HOW WE ENGAGE

STAKEHOLDER FOCUS

AND HOW THE BOARD IS KEPT INFORMED

OUR APPROACH TO ENGAGEMENT

OUR CUSTOMERS

* |n-store + Product availability * Tha Board receive weekly reporting on customer

s Online * Product range satisfaction metrics (however customers choose
. nalysis i rri ut to

¢ Shoplive « Proguct value and affordakility to shop) and root cause analysis i1s carmed o

* Customer app

» Customer care centres

*» Email

» Popst-sales survey

* Media including social media

Customer journey experience
Services and Credit
Advice and support

Choice of how fo purchase;
online or in-store

Seamless delivery experience
Sustainability and ethical sourcing

understand and resolve any concaming trends.
A Vioice of the Customer Dashboard 18 1n place
for UK and Ireland and the Nordics region has a
separate "Happy or Not® satisfaction measure.

OUR COLLEAGUES

* Internal communications; Executive
Committee member updates,
Workplace intranet, newsletters,
amalls, Townhall events, team
meetings, individual mestings
with line managers

* Colleague engagement surveys

+ Events —annual Peak event, campus
event for Nordics region, traning
al The Academy@Fort Duniop

* Colleague listening forums
* Inclusion and Diversity Forum

company culture and values
Reward

Benefits

Flexible working

Health and safety

Training and development

* New store-based colleagues joining the busiNess
in the United Kingdom attend a training event at
The Academy@Fort Dunlop centre before they
start work serving customers in stores. All of the
directors visited the training centre prior to the
Covid-19 pandemic to receive an insight into the
three-day training programme, A separate induction
programme 1s in place for corporate colleagues.
A central 'Pecple Place’ intranet site is available

to colleagues in the United Kingdom and provides
access to all HR policies and guidance and allows
colleagues to log any issues or questions and

a 'wellbeing corner’ Intranet site is available to
support colleagues.

OUR COMMUNITIES AND ENVIRONMENT

* Surveys and forums

+ Website, reports and media,
including social media

+ Engagement meetings and events
* Charity and supplier partnerships
* Multi-stakeholder collaborations

-

We Help Everyone Enjoy Amazing
Technology

Being a responsitle contributor to society
Being a good employer

Having sustainable business practices,
reducing impact to the environment and
taking climate action

* An Environment. Social and Governance ((ESG)
Committeg is in place to oversee all charitable
and ESG activities carrned out across the Group.
Representatives from all countries attend this
forum and provide updates. The ESG Committee i
attended by a Non-Executive Director of the Board,
Andrea Gisle Jocsen. is chaired by the General
Counsel and Company Secretary and reports into
the Executive Committee.

OUR SUPPLIERS AND PARTNERS

* Formal engagement strategy
including regular visits and meetings

= Supplier relaticnship
management team

= Supplier guestionnaires

¢ Due diligence process
for new suppliers

Strang customer demand
Good collaboration
Reliatility

Vajue

Health and safety
Comphance

Effective communicaticns

* The Board receives regular feedback on substantive
Supplier matters via the Group Chief Executive.

The Group Chief Executive participates in regular
mestings with the Group's largest suppliers and
receives regular updates on all supptiers from the
Chief Commercial Officer.

OUR SHAREHOLDERS

* Results announcements
and presentations

« Annual Report and Accounts

* Annual General Meetings

* Investor roadshows

* Shareholder mestings

= Company website

* Registrar contact

* Consultation with major
shareholders on key topics

Ensuring the long-term sustainable
future of the business

Financial and share price performance
Dividend policy

Current trading

Business strategy and vision

Diractor remuneration

Shareholder cormmunications and
engagement

Ervironment, Social and Governance issues

* The Board receives updates from the Investor
Relations team at every Board meeting. These
include updates on any matenal changes to the
compositien of the shareholder register. a summary
of investor interactions that have taken place during
the period as well as upcoming interactions and
a summary of investor questions recewed, and
topics discussed.
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OUR APPROACH TO ENGAGEMENT
AND HOW THE BOARD IS KEPT INFORMED CONTINUED

*

Verbatim customer feedback is captured from thousands of
customers each week to gain insights and help the business
better understand customer expectations and concerns. Maching
learning and Al solutions are used to quantify the sentiment of

the comments. 1his intormation 18 reviewed nternally and used to
generate improvements to the customer experience. The Board
continued to receive a synopsis of the results of this feedback
during the year and these insights into the customer experience
are considered by directors as part of Board decision-making.

Shoplive provides customers in treland, the UK and the Nordics an
in-store experience from their cwn homes via video link with expert
store colleagues. Shoplive enables customers to receive advice on
taptops, TVs, washing machines and refrigeration products to ensure
that custormers, including the most vulnerable, can benetit from

store colleagues’ expertise remotely. The Board has been receiving
regular updates on the demand for ShopLive and on those customer
satisfaction scores. The Board has considered the possible medium-
term and long-term impacts that Covid-19 might have on customer
shopping habits. The Board will keep under review customer demand
and feedback on ShopLive as one example of these changes and this
will provide important context for strategic discussions.

A central Intemational Colleague Forum is in place to unify the
long-term existing country forums into a single, listening and
engagement forum for all colleagues. Tony DeNunzia, the Deputy
Chair and Senior Independent Director, attends these forum
meetings with the Chief People Cficer, Paula Coughlan. Andrea
Gigle Jonsen, Independent Non-Executive Director, attends

the Nordics colleague forum meetings. The Board received an
update on Colleague Listening at a Board meeting in March 2021.
More details about the forum are available on page 28.

Regular colleague engagement 'Pulse’ surveys have been
conducted during the year and the Board receives reports

on the resulls and actions being taken in response.

The annual Peak event was held virtually during Novermber 2020 to
provide colleagues in the United Kingdom with strategic updates from
the Executive Committee members and to provide colleagues with
information and training.

Covid-19 has hindered the ability of directors to visit stores and meet
colleagues in person. These visits will resumea when possible.

A Colleague Shargholder Award scheme is in place to allow colleagues
o share in the success of the business. Further details of this scheme
are available in the Remuneration Report on page 100.

Board and committee paper authors include their contact details on
papers submitted to the directors and directors frequently contact
them directly when they have queries on papers or are interested to
recenve more detail.

Our Sustanable Business team manages the Company's charitable

partnerships including UK heading charity pariner Age UK.

The Company was one of three founding partners in the Digital
Foverty Alllance and agreed to donate £1 million to Digital Access
for All. helping disadvantaged teachers, pupils and parents without
access to technology at home.

The Company has joined the Climate Group's EV100 initiative,

a globally recognised movement for corporate action on more
sustainable transport options in particular electric vehiclas.

The Board recelved a comprehensive update on ESG in January 2021
and recaivas regular updates on sustainability, collaague matters and
charitable activities within the CEO report at Board meetings.

The Commercial team put in place a formal engagement strategy
with each large supplier. This strategy is customised in each case
but includes regular meetings and calls between the Group Chief
Executive Officer and his counterpart at the Supplier company and
between the Chisf Commerciat Officer and his counterpart. This

is supported by a team of colleagues engaging at feast every four
weeks to assess progress against agreed business plans.

A suite of policies and standards are in place to ensure that suppliers
and partners adhere to high etrwcal standards including prevention of
modern slavery and anti-bribery. More nformation on this is available
in the Sustainable Business report on page 386.

The Investor Relations team manages a programme of meetings
with the top 30 shareholders and many of these mestings are aiso
attended by at least one Board Director. For ather shareholders,
the primary point of contact is the Company's registrar. although
any matters can be escalated to either the Investor Relations or
Company Secretariat teams as appropriate.

Due to the heafth and safety impacts of Covid-19 and government
restrictions in place at the time. it was not possible tc allow
sharehalders to attend the Annual General Meeting 2020.
Shareholders were invited to subrmit questions instead and the
Chair of the Board responded to all of these in a video released

on the external website on the date of the Annual General Meeting.
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SUSTAINABLE BUSINESS
OUR APPROACH

Our vision, to help everyone enjoy amazing technology, has a powerful social purpose at its heart.
We believe in the power of technology to improve lives, help people stay connected, productive,
healthy and entertained. We're here to help everyone enjoy those benefits and with our scale and

expertise we are uniquely placed to do so. 0O

We are committed to operating a responsible business by understanding stakeholder United Nation SDGs

cxpectations and best practice and reflecting this in our business decisions, We report on the =

. e . . ead more about the 17 UN Sustanable
sustainability issues most relevant to D-:x.o.nsl Carphone and our value pham. We have Qeye\oped Development Goals (DG at:
the framework elow to report on key initiatives and our progress against these material issues. https://sdgs.un.org/goals

Material issues Achievements Link to related SDG

Capable and committed colleagues
OUR COLLEAGUES are our greatest advantage. We are 76 5

increasing cur focus on colleague

WE ARE PROUD OF OUR CAPABLE engagement o create a happier, Total number of trained Mental
AND COMMITTED COLLEAGUES healthier and more productive Health Champions and accredited
workforce, un\teq through our values Mental First Aiders

=l Read more on page 33. and culture, and with better access to

physical and mental health suppart.

We are a leader in extending the
OUR GUSTOMERS life of technology through repair. /l 04 k
recycling and reuse, We offer
WE HELP CUSTOMERS REDUCE customers products that help tonnes e-waste collected
THEIR ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT them save energy, reduce across our Group for reuse
waste and save water. ot recycling

>
Read more on page 34.

We work together with
OUR SUPPLIERS manufacturers and suppliers to ,I 7 l I |
offer customers mare sustainable !
WE ARE COLLABORATING WITH products and to ensure our products  Number of individual
SUPPLIERS AS A FORCE FOR GOOD are sourced responsibly. pieces of plastic
packaging removed
=l Read more on page 36,

We bring technology to
OUR COMMUNITIES everyone everyday. We partner Ell l r l
with charitable organisations
WE ARE A COMPANY FOR to bring the benefits of amazing pledged to The
EVERYONE technology to those who might Learning Foundation

otherwise be excluded. to combat digital poverty
=] Read more on page 38.

We will achieve net zero o
OUR ENVIRONMENT emissions by 2040, We are 4 /
reducing our impact on the O

WE ARE TAKING ACTION TO REDUCE environment rot only through the Reduction in Scope

OUR ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT energy and resources used by our 1 and 2 emissions against
operations, but also N our wider a 2019/20 baseline
Read maore on page 40. value chain.

We set clear targets and

OUH SHAREHOLDERS commitments and report cn

progress and performance dunng

WE MAKE IT EASY TO UNDERSTAND the year. We comply with relevant Qur score in ISS ESG

OUR PROGRESS extornal frameworks and initiatives, Environment in April 2021
inciuding the recommendations of

Read more on page 44. the Task Force on Climate-related

Financial Disclosures.
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WE ARE PROUD OF OUR CAPABLE
AND COMMITTED COLLEAGUES

Our colleagues are our greatest advantage and are critical and central to the success of our business
strategy and the realisation of our Vision. We prioritise their safety and wellbeing.

Health and Safety (H&S)

We work hard to make our colleagues
feel safe.

Since the onset of the Covid-19 pandemic
the H&S team have been directly involved
in nearly every part of the business,
providing cross-functional support to help
keep it operating, minimising disruption
for the business and creating Covid-18
safe environments for our colleagues

and customers.

The commitment to meet our obligations
for health, safety and welfare is set out

in the company’'s Health and Safety
Policy, which was reviewed last year and
approved by cur Group Chief Executive.

Our H&S Management System continues
1o be developed to ensure we manage
significant risks to colleagues, contractors,
customers and visitors to our locations.
Regular internal inspections in our retail
steres and audits across our supply chain,
contact centre and cerpeorate offices are
undertaken to verify compliance with
these standards.

H&S chijectives have been set for our
most senior managers and incorperated
into their annual performance targets and
have been cascaded down throughout the
management structure to ensure broader
colleague engagement with our wider
H&S agenda.

In the UK and Ireland we continue to
focus on celleague training, including:

* HA&S Induction — e-learning, which is
refreshed an an annual basis.

*  Covid-19 Safe Working - a
compulsory module for any colleague
that cannot work from home and
needs to attend one of our sites.

¢ Display screen equipment { DSE"
training and work-station assessments
- colleagues are requested to
complets these, whether working

from home or in their usual place of
work, and appropriate DSE-related
equipment is provided to facilitate
better work station set up.

¢ Driving assessments for new
employees and agency drivers with
regular refreshers. as well as reactive
and targeted assessments for anyone
involved in a road traffic accident.

« Face-to-face training on topics
including first aid, fire marshalling and
material handling equipment, as well
as refresher training to maintain core
competency in these areas.

Cwverall accident numbers have decreased
by 31% across all our locations, but
Reporting of Injurles, Diseases and
Dangercus Occurrences Regulations
('RIDDOR"} accidents have increased

{up 7% v 2019/20).

Renewed focus on manuat handling
accidents Is taking place to identify root
causes and this presents an opportunity
1o significantly reduce level of injury and
RIDDOR numbers through 2021/22. A
state-of-the-art training facility has been
built in our new Regional Distribution
Centre in Bolton providing opportunities
for colleagues to practice handling
products in a variety of simulated real-
world scenarios including van tail-lifts.
stairs, doorways and mock-up kitchens,
This academy will provide a blueprint for
other locations.

For road safety, our Operations
Procedures document has undergone a
revamp to reflect changes put in place
to improve road safety. Regular briefs
and mail drops have continued to remind
drivers of the importance of carrying out
daily vehicle checks, inspect essential
equipment and assess potential risks.
Furthermore, despite Covid-19 we have
utilised online meetings to aid us in
continuing to improve driver behaviour.

FURTHER
INFORMATION

>

Qur peaple are at the centre of who we are
because it makes us what we are. Read
more about our colleagues including:

* Safety and wellbeing of our
colleagues - ses page 22

* Attracting the talent we need -
see page 23

» Developing our colleagues and
help them build skills for life -
see page 24

+« Recognising and rewarding our
people — see page 26

* Building a culture of inclusion
and diversity - see page 26

* Building a culture of
communication and engagement
— see page 27

* Enhancing colleague experience
- see page 27

.

Gender Pay

Read our Gender Pay Report onling at
www.dixonscarphone.com
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SUSTAINABLE BUSINESS
OUR CUSTOMERS

WE HELP CUSTOMERS REDUCE
THEIR ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT

We recognise the pressing need to improve our use of resources and create circular business
models. We are a leader in extending the life of technology through repair, recycling and reuse
and we offer customers products that help them save energy, reduce waste and save water.

REUSE AND RECYGLING

©1./m

saved from our parts harvesting operation
in our Customer Repair Centre, reducing the
demand for new parts and lead time on repairs

1T million
checks and repairs by our UK Repair Centre, in

store or in customer homes, ensuring customers
can continue to enjoy their amazing technology

43%

of all e-waste collected by UK
retailers in 2020 was collected by us

Our ‘greener’ products

To help customers make more
sustainable purchasing decisions
and reduce their carbon footprint,
we introduced ‘Go Greener’ events
in store and online. Held in Autumn
and Spring, these events were designed
to promote the attributes of the products
and services we sell, with a focus on
saving energy, reducing waste and saving
water, with free recycling when buying
products from cur ‘Go Greener' range.

This year has also seen us adjust our
selling information in line with the new
requirements for Energy Labelling.

Packaging

We offer customers a free packaging
recycling service when we deliver and
unbox large household appliances,
resulting in thousands of tonnes of
packaging retrieved.

We are one of the largest recyclers of
polystyrene in the UK. recycling 12% of
all post-consumer polystyrene recycled

in the UK. To help more of our customers
recycle EPS (expanded polystyrene), we
are launching take-back trials at 14 stores
in the UK in 2021, Large appliances,

such as TVs, purchased directly from our
stores are commonly packed with EPS,
due to its outstanding impact protection,
low weight and versatility. EPS is 100%
recyclable, yet very few councils collect it
from households, with most ending up in
household waste. f successful, we will roll
out the service across all our UK stores
enabiing EPS to be recycled into items
such as insulation panels for home.

>

Plastics and packaging

Product recycling

Throughout our channels, we
encourage everyone to bring old
or unwanted tech into our stores
to be recycled or reused — whether
they bought it from us or not.

Store colleagues are trained to tell
customers about our collection and
recycling service. Customers shopping
online are prompted with the option of
having their old appliance collected for
recycling for a small fee.

We collect our customers' unwanted
electrical equipment and small electrical
appliances for recycling when we deliver
their new technology.

We also provide a free in-store take

back for all electronics and were the first
UK retailer to offer a free small e-waste
collection service as part of an existing
home delivery service. We are exploring
how to offer recycling from home through
our third-party delivery couriers, so
customers buying smaller items online
also have a convenient way to recycle
their old or unwanted tech.

Our award-winning waste management
programme for these items continues to
avolve, with 104,173 tonnes of e-waste
collected across our Group, a slight
increase on 2019. In the UK this means
we collect over 40% of the waste
alectricals collected by UK Retail.

[ ]

Reuse and recycling

Read more about how we are working with
our suppliers to reduce plastic and packaging
on page 37.

Find out more and see our reuse and recycling
programme in action on Www.cUurrys.co.uk
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WE ARE #1 AT SUSTAINABLY EXTENDING THE LIFE OF, AND RECYCLING, PRODUCTS
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Product repair

In the UK our 1,350-person repair
team processes and repairs over a
million products a year - including
over 350,000 computing and vision
repairs, over 370,000 mobile phones
and more than 280,000 white goods
repairs. In the Nordics we repair
over 900,000 products each year.

We are the leader in repairs of electronics
in Norway, and repairs are an important
focus area for us in the future. We have
launched spare part solutions in all Nordic
countries with several millicn spare parts
available on our online platform. We have
also established several in-store repair

locations this year. with several functioning
as regional workshops, Our technical
helpdesk assists our customers with
increasing product life and we launched
Elcare Extended warranty as a service for
all categories on all major product groups
in November 2021.

Product reuse

We seek opportunities for the reuse
of unwanted tech that is returned
to us. For example, items can he
used to help train new repair or
installation engineers or repaired
and refurbished to support local
causes and low-income families.

We partner with the Reuse Network
who support over 150 charities across
the UK. Through them, we helped 4,046
low income households save more than
£1m in 2020.

We also work with the UK's largest
independent recycler of e-waste and
provider of reuse, Environcom. to support
major UK charities with approximataly

£8 million worth of refurbished white
goods each year.

Through the ‘Second Home' programme
in our Kotsovolos stores, over 1,500
refurbished appliances have been
distributed to families in need since 2017.
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SUSTAINABLE BUSINESS
OUR SUPPLIERS

WE ARE COLLABORATING WITH OUR
SUPPLIERS AS A FORCE FOR GOOD

Our partnerships with suppliers make a big difference — they know their products best
and help us to bring amazing technology to life for our customers in meaningful ways.

Responsible sourcing standards
For customers to enjoy our amazing
technology, they need peace of mind
that we're sourcing responsibly. With
around 10,000 suppliers across the
globe, we strive to leverage our size
and unique capabilities to do good.

Our Standards for Responsible Sourcing
provide clear guidelines on the high
standards and common values we expect
from our suppliers; setting cut minimum
requiremeants acress human rights, labour,
environment, anti-corruption, integrity,
business ethics, data security and

social impact, which apply in addition

to compliance with all relevant national
and international legislation.

An Anti-bribery, Hospitality and Gifts
Policy is in place. The procedures in place
1o overses the anti-corruption and bribery
control environment are reviewed by the
Audit Committee on at least an annual
basis and most recently in June 2021,
The tull Policy is reviewed by the Board
periodically.

We are members of the Ethical Trading
Initiative ('ETI") which helps drive continucus
improvement, through the sharing of best
practice and collaboration. Cur Standards
for Responsible Sourcing ask suppliers

and their supply chains to work towards

full compliance with the ETI Base Code.

L1

Responsible Sourcing

Modern slavery

We fully support the government's
obiectives to eradicate all forms

of modern slavery and human
trafficking. The fact that modern
slavery still exists today is
abhorrent and eradication requires
collaboration and transparency.

Since the introduction of the UK Modern
Slavery Act we have increased our efforts
to help eradicate this issue through
initiatives that mitigate risk and identify
areas in need of more focus. All suppliers
receive our Modern Slavery Policy,

which sets out the actions to take if a
case of modem slavery is discovered

or suspected,

We are founder members of the Slave
Free Alliance, which is a best practice
membership scheme run by the modem
slavery charity, Hope for Justice. We are
leveraging their experience 1o review our
recruitment practices within our distribution
network in the UK and are working in
partnership with our waste and recycling
partners 1o risk assess their own suppliers.

-}

Modern Slavery

Our Responsible Sourcing Standards
are avallable on www.dixonscarphone.com

Qur Modern Slavery Statement is available on
www.dixonscarphone.com

Assessing and improving

ethical performance

A dedicated team help colleagues
making purchasing decisions,
ensuring our Standards are upheld
and considered alongside traditional
drivers such as price, product
features and stock availability. This
process is helping us to grow our
product range from ethically and
responsibly aware supply chains
and safeguard against risk. We also
conduct targeted training on the

ETI Base Code, and modern slavery.

Auditing and risk assessments are a
governing part of cur own label and
licensed brand supplier selection
process and ongoing relationships.

Suppliers must comply with our rigorous
terms and operational procedures,
implementing and enforcing effective
systems and controls to meet our minimum
standards in respect of health and safety,
wages, working hours, equal opportunities,
freedom of association, collective
bargaining and disciplinary proceduras.
Employing forced or child labour is strictly
against our terms of operation.

Ethical audits on our own label and
licenced brand suppliers are well-
astablished. Qur audit criteria are reviewed
ragularly to remain relevant. In 2020/21

we completed an in-depth review and
enhanced the criteria to enable us to
moenitor and drive improvernents in

areas such as gender equality in both
worker and management populations

at manufacturing sites.

If issues are identified from an audit, we
work with the supplier on a corrective
action plan. If it is not possible for the
supplier to improve their performance or
we do not see positive results, they will
not be approved, or they will be delisted.
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Supplier sustainability

All suppliers are encouraged

to support our goal in being a
sustainable business with many
already having made good progress.

Our branded suppliers continue to reduce
plastic packaging and innovate. For
example, HP are reusing ocean-bound
plastic in their products — plastic that has
not vet found its way into the ocean, is

not likely to be collected and found on the
ground within 50 kilometres of a waterway
or coastal area.

In 2020/21 we partnered with one of the
leading providers of business sustainability
ratings, EcoVadis, to enable us to measure
supplier performance across a wide

range of metrics and identify ways we can
champion positive activities, collaborate to
improve performance, reduce our Scope
3 emissions and benefit wider society.

>
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Plastics and packaging
Suppliers are key to helping us
address areas of public concern,
such as unnecessary plastic.

We have clear guidance for suppliers

to support the reduction of plastic
packaging. We engage with our own label
and licensed brand suppliers 1o identify
and implement improvements.

We have 140 products that are packaging
free or only essential plastic (where we
are yet to find a better solution 1o prevent
transit damage) remains. In 2020/21 we
removed 1.7m individual pieces of plastic
packaging, that equated to 27 tonnes

of plastic, including 16 tonnes in our
plastic packaging free ADX gaming range
and a further eight tonnas across our
headphones and mcbile accessorias,
The packaging now used is fully
recyclable at kerbside by our customers,

In the next 12 months we expect to see
more products become plastic packaging
free and see the amount of plastic used
reduced significantly. We are working

with suppliers of larger items such as
microwaves and refrigeration to create
solutions that find a balance between
reducing the environmental impact of
packaging and ensuring that our customers
receive their products free from damage.

We remain committed to making all the
plastic packaging we use on our own label
procucts reusable or recyclable by 2023.

>

Read more about how we are addressing
our emissions on pages 40-43 and 45.

Read more about how we are addressing our
customers' concerns about packaging on page 34.

Sector collaborations

We collaborate with our suppliers
and other external stakeholders as
a force for good, to advocate and
effect change.

We are members of a number of
crganisations such as the British Retall
Consortium {'BRC'), the Ethical Trading
Initiative ('ETI') and the government’s
All-Party Corporate Responsibility Group.

We support key sector initiatives such

as the BRC Taskforce on Climate Action
which launched a grecund-breaking
decarbonisation plan to help guide the
Hetail industry on the steps necessary to
accelerate progress to a Net Zero UK, ten
vears ahead of the government’s 2050
target. We were also the first electrical
retailer to sign up to EV100, a global
initiative bringing together forward looking
companies committed to accelerating
the transition to electric vehicles.

Working with suppliers

to support communities

Qur two-year partnership with Grundig
equipped community causes with new
kitchen technology. Through this supplier
collaboration, we donated a total of

300 cocking, laundry, refrigeration and
dishwashing appliances worth £145,0C00
to 150 food related charities, which were
nominated by our store colleagues across
the UK.
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SUSTAINABLE BUSINESS
OUR COMMUNITIES

WE ARE A COMPANY
FOR EVERYONE

We bring technology to everyone everday. We partner with charitable organisations to
bring the benefits of amazing technology to those who might otherwise be excluded.

PROVIDING DIGITAL AGCESS

1,000

premium refurbished laptops with an
estmated value of £280,000 were

denated to the charity Mailforce, through
a national campaign run by the Daily Mail

1,105

refurbished devices to community

causes, including Barnardo's, the Big Issue,

local councils and schools across the UK

271,000+

discounted devices sourced by
our business to business team
for the Good Things Foundation

Digital Access for All

At Dixons Carphone, we want
everyone to be able to enjoy equal
access to the benefits of technology.

We pride ourssives on the accessibility to
technology we provide through competitive
pricing, omnichannel and easy shopping,
and our affordable and responsible credit
cffering. But because our social purpose

is at the heart of what we do, we also
support causes that help everyone,

who might otherwise be excluded,

benefit from amazing technology too.

It is reported that nearly two million
chiidren, young people and their families
don't have adequate access to a suitable
device and / or cennectivity at home.
Anissue accentuated as Covid-19 saw
schools and colleges close.

In February 2021 we announced a
£1milion donation to The Learning
Foundation (registered charity number
1086306) to help progress their 'Digital
Access for All’ {('DAFA) initiative. To
cement our commitment to tackling the
digital divide, we became one of thres
Founding Partners of a new Digital Poverty
Alliance alongside DAFA and the Institute
of Engineering and Technology {1IET').
Cur aim is to tackle digital poverty in UK
within the next three 1o five years. starting
with education.

We began our support by equipping
1,000 teachers and teaching assistants
in the country's poorest communities
with the technology and support they
need to deliver high quality home-
scheoling to their pupils. These teachers
are helping us to form a community of
ideas and best practice.

Cur Kotsovelos business supported
Greece's National Digital Support
Programme for children and young

people by providing free €200 vouchers
for the purchase of a tablet, laptep, or
desktop for distance learning. This was
supported by special offers and a range
of suitable devices.

Kotsovolos launched their “Technology
without cbstacles’ programme to tackle
digital exclusion for people with disabilities.

Since 2008 Elkjep have conducted a
survey on digital exclusion in the Nordics
to measure people's attitudes, level

of knowledge and behaviour towards
technolegy and electronic products in
the home.

-

Tech Trouble

Find out more about Tech Trouble online at
https://elkjop-nordic.webflow.io/tech-
trouble-2020#Sprakgapet

44

With the support of Dixons Carphone
and DAFA we'll be able to benefit from
the most up to date technology which
will put us on an even playing fisld with
more affluent schools, and we'll be able
to achieve so much more.”

Jill Sweeney
Head Teacher at Aston Manor Academy,
Aston, Birmingham
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‘TECH CONNECTED’ WITH AGE UK

Age UK was chosen by colleagues in March 2020 as our corporate charity partner

for a two-year period, with the aim of helping digitally excluded older people benefit

from amazing technology and connecting them to those that love and need them.

We are aiming to raise £1,000,000 for Age UK's Tech
Connected programme. The programme aims to help older
people to build the skills to use technology to achieve their
goals; as well as providing older people with access to devices,
and the resources they need tc make the most of them.

In November 2020, cur support for Age UK during the Covid-19

parideic was shortlisted in the Nesponsible Netailer category
of the UK Retail Week Awards, which included sending
hundreds of faptops, headsets, phones and connectivity to
allow Age UK’s partner charity The Silver Line to operate
remotely and equip 500 vulnerable. isolated older people

with new tablets, connectivity and support.

11

The gift of the tablet is making
such a difference to my life.

It is giving me independence

for shopping, dealing with
appointments and generally to
recover some of my social life lost
to Covid-19. My grateful thanks.”

Anne, aged 90

14

Thanks to Dixons Carphone’s
donation of lapteps, headsets,
phones and connectivity, The Silver
Line Helpline could enable over 80
staff to work from home and answer
thousands of Helpline calis from
isolated and lonely older people
when they needed it the most.”

Laura, Age UK

To further support our customers
most in need, we also provided

174,897

customers aged 70+ with free
unlimited minutes through our
MVNO, iD Mobile, to help them keep
in touch with friends and family.

The Elkjgp Foundation
Established in 2017 to fight digital
exclusion, the Foundation works
to raise awareness, increase
knowledge, and enable access

to people who are falling behind
in the rapid development of
technology.

Using technology to connect. play
or learn should be gasy and fun,

but this is not always the case. This
is why our Elkjep Foundation in the
Nordics supports organisations and
asscciations with technology and
help — as well as financial resources.

In 2020/21, the Foundation
donated a total of

£156,492

Age UK Telephone Friendship
Volunteering is an impactful way to
strengthen community bonds and develop
colleagues' skills. In February 2021, we
invested in Age UK's Telephone Friendship
service to enable 100 colleagues to
support lonely older people through
telephone friendships.

‘Pennies’

We have ambitious plans to
raise money through customer
donations for Age UK. Working
in partnership with Pennies, an
award winning fintech charity,
we successfully rolled out their
‘digital charity box’ in all Currys
PCWorld stores in October 2020.

This digital collection service offers
customers in store the chance to
make a 25p charitable donation
when they pay by card or digital
wallet.

Despite stores closures,
our customers raised

05,000

for Age UK in 2020/21
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SUSTAINABLE BUSINESS
OUR ENVIRONMENT

WE ARE TAKING ACTION TO
REDUCE OUR ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT

We will achieve net zero emissions by 2040 by reducing our impact on the environment not only
through the energy and resources used by our operations, but also in our wider value chain.

Net zero

The climate crisis remains one of
the greatest threats to our planet
and we have a partin tackling it.

In July 2020. we collaborated with The
British Retail Consortium and other major
retailers on the development of a Climate
Action Roadmap to decarbonise the retall
industry and its supply chains. The plan
aims to bring the retail industry and fts
supply chains to Net Zero by 2040,

10 years ahead of the government.

Our own specific roadmap to net zero
emissions includes ambitious targets

to reduce our environmental impact —
and help customers reduce theirs.

Dixons Carphone commits to reduce
absclute Scope 1 and Scope 2 GHG
emissions by 50% by 2029/30 from a
2019/20 base year. Dixong Carphone
also commits to reduce absolute Scope
2 GHG emissions from purchased goods
and services and use of sold products
by 50% within the same timaframe.

Our Scope 3 emissions account for

over 9% of our total emissions. We wil
achieve reductions in these emissions
through a programme of activities
involving our suppliers, our manufacturers
and through colleague engagement.

The most material impacts are within
purchased goods and services and the
use of sold products.

Dixons Carphone has had its emissions
reduction targets approved by the Science
Based Targets initiative as consistent with
levels required to meet the goals of the
Faris Agreement.

>

Further information

For our energy and carbon data,
see pages 42 and 43.

For our TCFD disclosure, see page 45.

Energy reduction

We maintained our certification

of our Energy Management System
{'EnMS") in 2020/21 for our UK

and ROl portfolio and fleet.

While our UK focus is on reducing
diesel consumption we will also set
new energy efficiency targets to reduce
energy consumption to further support
cur emissions target. in line with the

British Retail Consortium's Climate Action
Roadmap, we have set a target 1o operate

100% LED coverage in all new buildings
by 2025,

Energy reduction initiatives:

o [N 2020, our new Bristol
Distribution Centre benefited from
a further investment of £380k to fit
LED lighting, which will mean over
30% of our UK retail portfolio will
use LED technology as the main
source of lighting.

e In October 2020, we opened our
new 330,000ft2 Bolton ERDC, an
EPC rated A building reflecting
our commitment to energy
efficiency. It achieved a "Very
Good' BREEAM rating, a leading
sustainability assessment method
for masterplanning projects,
infrastructure and buildings.

Renewahle energy sources

100% of our properties on the

UK Mainland and in the Nordics
{where we are responsible for supply
contract} are powered by renewable
electricity. The renewable energy

is certified by Renewable Energy
Guarantees of Origin (REGOs) and
independently verified.

We have four sites with Solar PV
installed, with a capacity of over 2MWp.
This includes Newark Distribution
Centre Buildings 1 and 2 and three
retail sites. These panels contribute

to our commitment to the reduction

of our location-based CO, emissions
by directly scurcing electricity from

a renewable energy infrastructure.

We continue to investigate practical
opportunities with landlords.

Ll

Qur Envircnmental Policy

Qur policy covers material issues including energy
consumption, carbon emissions, supply chain and
operational waste and is available on:
www.dixonscarphone.com
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Electric vehicles

In line with our commitment to
achieve 100% electric or alternative
fuel vehicles by 2030, we are trialling
the use of electric vans at four sites,
including our Bolton Customer
Services Centre and have 31 electric
vehicle charging points across

five sites.

From March to July 2020, a small trial

to fit solar panels on the roof of two 7.5t
vehicles was carried out to support vehicle
battery power. The trial resulted in savings
of 0.48 tonnes of CO, and a projected
annual cost saving of just under £500. We
are now exploring a proposal to fit solar
panels onto our new fleet for 2021/22 with
the aim of further reducing our fleet CO,
emissions through the transition away
from diesel powered engines.

1

Member of EV100

Find out more enline at:
www.theclimategroup.org/about-ev100
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Our waste

We have a target for zero operational waste to landfill in the UK and
Ireland by year end 2024/25 and have now met and exceeded our
interim target to divert 95% of this waste from landfill by 2022.

Recyclakles from our UK and Irefand
stores are backhauled to our national
recycling facility in Newark. From
there, consistent grades of cardboard,
plastic and expanded polystyrene are
channelled through regicnal Customer
Service Centre ('CSC') depats to

our recycling partners, minimising
transportation and ensuring the best
return for our material. We have met
our target to divert 95% of operational
waste from landfill by 2022.

In 2020, our UK operaticn generated
4% less waste year on year. Of the
13,897 tonnes we collected, 98.1%
was diverted for recycling, anaerobic
digestion or energy recovery. This
was up 10.5% on 2019 and driven by
a combination of stores being closed
and/or reduced services during Covid
lockdowns and improved wasts data
resulting from the consolidation of
waste management provider.

In lreland, 152 tonnes of waste were
generated by cur stores and CSC
during 2020, of which 29.8% was
recycled and 70.2% recovered,
with zero waste ending up in landfili.

>

Further information

Read more about how we are reducing the
envircnmental impact of packaging on pages
34 and 37.

Enabling colleagues to

reduce, reuse and recycle

All colleagues are actively
encouraged to recycle, and recycling
facilities are available at all sites. We
are always looking for sustainable

solutions for single use plastics, such

as bioplastic cutiery and innovations
including the replacement of
polystyrene clam-shell boxes with
biodegradable and compostable
bagasse boxes, which is a by-
preduct of sugar making.

1
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SUSTAINABLE BUSINESS

OUR ENVIRONMENT CONTINUED

Energy and GCarbon Reporting

Two successive Covid-19 lockdown
periods had a significant impact on
the operation of cur estate. Store
closures, changing operational hours,
energy efficiency interventions,
increased home working and less
business-related travel contributed to
a reduction in energy consumption.
Heating requirements during the year
resulted in increased natural gas and
heating oil consumption, however our
overall emissions reduced.

This section details the energy
consumption and greenhcuse gas
emissicns from the activities of Dixons
Carphone for the period 1 May 2020

10 30 April 2021, as required by the
Companies Act 2006 (Strategic Report
and Directors’ Report) Regulations
2013 ('the 2013 Regulaticns’) and the
Companies (Directors’ Report) and
Limited Liability Partnerships (Energy
and Carton Repart) Regulations 2018
{'the SECR Regulations’).

An operational control approach has
been used tc define the Greenhouse
Gas (GHG) emissions boundary. This
captures emissions associated with the

cperation of offices, retails, warehouses,

and distribution sites, plus transport;

company-owned, leased and employee-
owned vehicles used for business travel.

This includes emissions from the UK
and Offshore including the Republic of

Ireland, Greece, Sweden, Norway. Finland,
Denmark. There are no material omissions
from the mandatory Scope 1 and 2
emission reporting requirements.

This information was collected and
reported using the methodology in Defra's
updated greenhcuse gas reporting
guidance, Environmontal Reporting
Guidelines (ref. PB 13944), issued June
2019, Emissions have been calculated
using the 2020 conversion factors provided
by Department of Business, Energy and
Industrial Strategy for emissions in the UK
and Association of Issuing Bodies {AIB)
for overseas slectricity conversion factors,

Assurance was provided by Lucideon
which has verified the data for the current
reporting year 2020/21 only.

The company-wide kWh energy consumption for the reporting period 1 May 2020 - 30 April 2021, are as follows:

GLOBAL ENERGY CONSUMPTION

DIXONS CARPHONE: UK and UK and
Offshore Global Tetal Global Offshore Global Total
Energy consumption (kWh) 2020-21 2020-21 Change (%) 2019-20 2019-20
Transport lincluding Diesel, Pstrol, LPG) 54,936,222 61,599,577 -149% 63,377,377 71,261,546
Natural Gas 27,318,959 28,500,590 29% 20,301,590 221423565
Heating Oit 98,860 331,876 54% 214,868 214,868
Electricity 90,122,184 192,890,720 -199% 131,070,522 236,971,131
Total 172,476,225 283,322,763 -14% 214,964,357 330,589,900
Intensity {MWh / 1,000 ft?} 14.58 13.65 -164% 18.02 16.24
The GHG emissions for our business for the reporting period 1 May 2020 - 30 April 2021, are as follows:
EMISSIONS ON LOCATION BASIS™
DIXONS CARPHONE: Tonnes of Tonnes of
€O, e emitted COe emitted
Category 2020-21 Change {%) 2019-20
Emissions from combustion of fuel (Scope 1) 19,638 -1% 16,868
Emissions from the operation of facilities® (Scope 1) 1,314 50% 874
Emissionsg from purchase of slectricity!' (Scope 2) 36,817 -28% 51,131
Total 57,769 -20% 71,873
Intensity ratio: tCO,e / 1,000 ft* occupied floor area® 278 -21% 3.53
EMISSIONS ON MARKET BASIS™
DIXONS CARPHONE: Tonnes of Tonnes of
CO,e emitted CO.e emitted
Category 2020-21 Change (%) 2018-20
Emissions from combustion of fuel™ (Scope 1) 19,638 1% 19.868
Emissions from the operation of facilities” (Scope 1) 1,314 50% 874
Emissions from purchase of electricity” (Scope 2} 14,368 -11% 16,121
Total: 35,321 -4% 36,863
Intensity ratio: tCO,e / 1,000 ft* occupied floor area® 1.70 -6% 1.81
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EMISSIONS ON LOCATION BASIS Tonnes of Tonnes of
BY REGION: COe emitted CO,e emitted
Tonnes of Tonnes of per 1,000 ft? per 1,000 ft2

CO,e emitted COe emitted of floor area of floor area

Category 2020-21 Change (%%} 2019-20 2020-21 2019-20
UK and Offshore1{Scope 1 & 2) 39,951 -23% 51.866 3.38 4.35
Clobal (excluding UK and Offshore) (Gcope 1 & 2} 17,817 1190 20,006 21 237
Total: 57,769 -20% 71,873 2.78 3.53
Tonnes of Tonnes of

EMISSIONS ON MARKET BASIS CQO,e emitted  CO,e emitted
BY REGION: Tonnes of Tonnes of per 1,000 ft2 per 1,000 ft
CO_e emitted CO,e emitted of floor area of floor area

Category 2020-21 Change (%} 2019-20 2020-21 2019-20
UK and Offshore’™ (Scope 1 & 2} 20,058 -8% 21,762 170 1.82
Global (excluding UK and Offshore) (Scope 1 & 2} 15,263 1% 15101 1.71 179
Total: 35,321 -4% 38.863 1.70 1.81

Scope 3 emissions

The following table details Dixons Carphone's Scope 3 emissions. This data has not been externally verified. This data includes
ndirect GHG emissions across our value chain which account for over 90% of our total emissions. The most material impacts

are within purchased goods and services and the use of sold products. We will achieve reducticns in these emissions through
a programme of activities involving our suppliers, our manufacturers and through colleague engagement.

We have been able to use more primary data to calculate our Scope 3 emissions for 2020/21. Other notable changes include
emissions from the use of sold products decreasing due to grid greening and increased home working, store closures and less
business-related travel due to Covid-19 resulting in significant recuctions in emissions from business travel and employee commuting.

Tonnes of Tonnes of

CO,e emitted % change  CO.,e emitted

Category 2020-21 from baseline 20M9-20
Purchased goods and services 3,250,795 -24% 4.300,532
Fuel and energy-related emissions not included in Scope 1 or Scope 2 13,085 -18% 15,905
Upstream transportation and distribution 53,653 -68% 165,115
Waste generated in operations 2,588 166% 972
Businass travel 415 -85% 2754
Employee commuting 19,390 -29% 27275
Downstream transportation and distribution 16,904 -53% 35,806
Use of sold products 23,061,342 -32% 34,001,509
End-of-life treatment of sold products 9,990 1% 9,843
Total: 26,428,162 -31% 38,550,811

{1} Alocation-based method reflects the average emissions ntensity of grids on which energy consumphion occurs and a market-based method reflects emissions from
alectricity that companies have selected

{?) Qverall floor area of the [Jixons Carphone Pl 1s estimated to be 20./58.660f |

131 ‘Emissions from combustion of fuel', ncludes a propertion of private cars being used for business travel. which would be classiied as Scope 3, N keeping with
Drevious yoars,

14} The elecincity consurmption figure includes Scope 2 generation cmissions bul not Scope 3 transmeission and distribution losses.

15] Electricity and gas usage 1s based or suppher bills Manual gap filing was conducted for a small proportion of supplies in the UK and Ireland. using an average of
the consurnption year to date. This 18 because this report was due before some electrcity and gas bills had been provided by the suppliers. This report also ncludes

electricity consumption through supplies where the landlord procures the energy: this has been estimated aither based on the average energy consumption per floor
area for site type or using last year's data estimation. all these have been treated as non-green and therefore subject 1o the residual factor, due to lack of evidence

16] Refngerant data processing methadology and exclusions: Where refrigerant top -ups are reported. we assume this covers leakage across the estate under that
contractor's responsibility to reparr the leak and top -up the refrigerant. as such no estmation of leakage has been completad for units where No top-ups were carried out.

{7) The 2018/20 data has been recalculated and stated i this report, due to the determination that the man supply contract for the Nordic Region included green energy
The data for slectricity for 2019/20 has therefare not been verified
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SUSTAINABLE BUSINESS
OUR SHAREHOLDERS

WE MAKE IT EASY TO UNDERSTAND
OUR PROGRESS

Dixons Garphone is committed to operating a responsible and ethical business by understanding
stakeholder expectations and best practice and making sure this is reflected in our business decisions.

Our progress

In June 2020, our progress in
developing and reporting our
performance was recognised
with our repeated inclusion in
the FTSE4Good UK Index.

We continue to respond to the
Carbon Disclosure Project ({CDP’)
questionnaire on Climate Change,

demonstrating our continued
commitment to identifying.

related risks and opportunities

across the Group. In 2020, we

to aid continuous improvement.

Environment in April 2021.

assessing and managing climate-

maintained cur ‘B’ score and are
using the results of a gap analysis

We also scored in the top decile,
achieving a *1" score, for 1SS ESG

>

Further information

Read more about our principal risks on page 46.

Read our Tax Strategy online at
www.dixonscarphone.com

Governance and risk

Our Sustainability and Social Impact strategy is signed off by our
Group Chief Executive and approved by the Environmental, Social

and Governance ('ESG') Committee.

It is driven and delivered by cur
colleagues - subject matter experts

that are fully integrated across our
business. Their work is coordinated by
the Director of Group Sustainability and
overseen by the ESG Committee which
reports into the Executive Committeg and
compriges reprasentatives from all levels
across the business.

The business has a systematic approach
to ESG risk management. Our approach
has been benchmarked against

other leading crganisations, which
resulted in the development of a more
comprehensive ESG risk profile and risk
appetite statement.

This year a new principal risk relating to
Sustainabiiity was added to the Principal
Risk Register (see further details on

page 51) which is monitored by the ESG
Committee and the Executive Committee,
with the aim of better managing the broad
spectrum of ESG risks.

As part of our risk assessment
approach, we have continuad to

work with key internal stakeholders

to consider the long-term impacts of
climate change with the aim of analysing
emerging risks and opportunities. The
insights gained have been incorporated
into our revised ESG Risk Register.

This work is informing our business
continuity plans and has formed part of
our implementation of recommendations
by the Task Force on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures (TCFD").

As we progress on our transformation,
the ESG related targets on our annual
bonus scorecard will be enhanced by two
new environment targets from 2021/22,
with the aim of growing a customer base
that is confident we are on their side -
and on the side of society, inspiring more
super engaged colieagues, and building
a business investors feel good about
investing in.
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TASK FORCE ON CLIMATE-RELATED FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

We support the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures {'TCFD') and its recommendations. We are
committed to assessing the impacts of climate risks and opportunities across our operations and supply chains.
This is our first year of disclosure against the framework and we plan to further enhance our approach and reporting in advance

of legal requirements.

Governance

We have created a clear
communication line to the Board;
the ESG Committee reports to the
Executive Committee then Dixons
Carphone Board. Further, the Risk
Committee reports up to the Main
Operating Subsidiaries and then
the Dixons Carphone Board.

The ESG Committee, chaired by General
Counsel and Company Secretary Nigel
Paterson, reviews climate change related
issues in their meetings and submit
progress to the Risk Committee,
Executive Committee and Board.

We have assigned management level
responsibility for different climate-related
issues in the businass and climats-ralated
risks and opportunities are incorporated
into the ESG Risk Register.

Strategy

Our purpose, to help everyone
enjoy amazing technology, goes
beyond ensuring customers can
choose, afford and enjoy the right
technology. Addressing our climate
risks and opportunities is a part

of our Sustainability and Social
impact strategy.

We have responded to the CDP
questionnaire on climate change since
2016 and as part of this report identified
climate-related risks and cpportunities.
Wae have undertaken workshops to identity
short, medium and long term physical

and transitional climate-related risks

which have been reflected in our ESG

Risk Register. Our ESG Risk Register

is monitored by our ESG Committee.

We continue to invest in measures to
mitigate our climate change impact, and
as part of this we have sst new emissions
targets. We recognise the importance of
collaborative action; we have committed
our suppoert to EV100 and the British Retail
Consortium Climate Action Roadmap.

Risk management

Group risk assessment criteria
have been determined and the

net and gross risk profile. Priority
risks have been agreed by the ESG
Committee and Board and this
year a new principal risk relating
to Sustainability was added to the
Principal Risk Register.

We have an ESG Risk Register which
incorporates short, medium and long term
physical and transitional climate-related
risks identified this year.

We will continue to menitor changes to
risk (increase. decrease or no change),
assess climate change as a principal
risk within the business and assess
risk annually in the Annual Repert.

Metrics and Targets
We are committed tc delivering net zero
emissions by 2040,

Dixons Carphene has had its emissions
reduction targets approved by the
Science Based Targets initiative (' SBTIY)
as consistent with levels required to
meet the goals of the Paris Agreement.

The targets covering greenhouse gas
emissions from Dixons Carphong’s

operations (Scopes 1 and 2) are consistent

with reductions required to keep warming

to 1.5°C, the most ambitious goai of the
Paris Agreement. Dixcns Carphone’s
target for the emissions from its value
chain (Scope 3) meet the SBTi's criteria
for ambitious value chain goals, meaning
they are in line with current best practice.

We report on intensity metrics,
MWh/1000sgft for energy and MPG for
fleet vehicles and have set a target for zero
waste to landfill for commercial waste in
UK and freland.

Looking ahead

We plan to undertake climate scenario
analysis modelling for the priority risks

in low and high carbon scenarios and
assess business resilience under different
scenarios. We will also quantify exposure
to each risk event and incorporate this into
our business strategy.

We will engage and drive action through
our supply chain as well as raview our net
zerc emissions roadmap, including the
sequestration of CQ,.
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RISK MANAGEMENT
APPROACH

PRINCIPAL RISKS TO ACHIEVING
THE GROUP’S OBJECTIVES

The Group recognises that taking risks is an inherent part of doing business and that competitive
advantage can be gained through effectively managing risk. The Group has developed and continues
to evolve robust risk management processes, and risk management is integrated into business
decision-making. The Group’s approach to risk management is set out in the Gorporate Governance
Report on pages 73 to 86. The risks are linked to the strategic priorities on pages 14 to 21.

Our approach to horizon scanning and emerging risks
A successful company is led by an effective and entreprensurial  Our approach to undertaking horizon scanning is based on

board, whose role is to promote the long-term sustainable conducting both reviews of thought leadership and also through
success of the company, generating value for shareholders obtaining the views of key business stakeholders. The horizon
and contributing to wider society. scanning exercige is updated semi-annually to ensure that the

horizon is consistently scanned for developments and changes
that may impact the business. The Group Risk and Compliance
Committee is asked to review and discuss the horizon risks and
to form a view as to whether any of these should be considered
in the Principal Risk process or additional actions should be
factored into strategic planning for the business.

In order to promote sustainakle success, the business
continues 1o analyse the risks likely to emerge in the short,
medium and longer term that may impact the delivery of our
Strategy. To provide a view over the medium to longer term,
a horizon scanning appreach is required. This looks at future
complexity, challenges assumptions and review options for
future business planning.

During 2020/21 two new risks were added to the Principal Risk Register — Sustainability and People -
reflecting the key impertance of the effective management of these risks to the delivery of the Group’s strategy.

SUSTAINABILITY PEOPLE
Achieving our ambitions across the Sustainability Delivering Capable and Gommitted collagues requires
agenda will require the business to address many the business to invest in our people and HR processes.

challenges, amongst these is tackling climate change. ‘ ,
Our people risk covers three core areas; Leadership

To achieve real change businesses must address not only capabhility (including succession planning for business-critical
direct emissions within their operations but also work in roles); Workforce planning (including capacity, engagement
collazoration with all stakeholders within their value chains. and productivity and culture and values), and, compliance

i o o with legal and regulatory requirements.
For Dixonsg Carphone, over 90% of our indirect emissions

come from the purchase of goods and services and use We actively manage and mitigate these risks. We have a
of sold products, To suppert our commitment of Net Zero comprehensive programme designed to build leadership
by 2040, we have become the first UK company to adopt capability and annual Board and quarterly ExCo talent
the new Carbon Action Module from EcoVadis, one of the reviews providing oversight of succession planning.

leading providers of business sustainability ratings. We have placed a greater focus on wellceing to support our

This will increase transparency across our supply chain colleagues and live our values, we continue to deliver on our
and enable us to better measure aspects of our Scope 3 D&l strategy and act on insights gained through colleague
emissions, a necessary step in our Net Zero journay. It wil listening and 'On the Pulse’ surveys.

provide us the means to drive climate action at scale by
collecting and analysing suppliers’ critical emissions data.
We will use the data to work with suppliers to benchmark,
measure and. where needed, develop plans to reduce
carbon emissions.

Owversight is provided by the Remuneration Committee on
all director and ExCo compensation in alignment with our
Corporate Governance Code. An annual process is in place
t0 meet the FCA 'Fit and Proper' requirements.
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POTENTIAL IMPACTS

The Group continues to develop its risk management processes, fully integrating risk management
into business decision-making. The risk management process mirrors the operating model with
each business unit responsible for the ongoing identification, assessment and management of their
existing and emerging risks. The output of these assessments is ultimately aggregated to compile

an overall Group-level view of risk.

The Group’s approach to risk management is set out in more detail in the Corporate Gevernance Report on pages 73 to 86.
The risks are linked to the strategy on pages 14 to 21. The principal risks and uncertainties, together with their potential impacts
and changes in net risk since the last report, are set out in the tables below along with an illustration of what is being done to

mitigate them,
STRATEGIC RISKS
COovVID-19 Risk owner: Group Chief Executive
Risk level What is the risk? What is the impact? How we manage it Changes since
Low  Medium m Failure to adapt the » Reduced reverue * A range of intiatives grouped under last report

operations of the
Group to ensure the
safety of colleagues
and customers and

in compliance with
government guidetines.

Risk movement
Decreased

Link to strategy

POe®

Considered in the
Viability statement

v

and profitability
» Deteriorating cash flow

e Colleague / customer
iness or loss of life

three "Big Priorities’ - To Protect
Colleagues, Help Gustomers and
Secure Our Future

* For amore detalled review on

the response 1o Covid-19, refer
t0 pages 22, 23 and 28

This risk has decreased
due to the group
succassiully adapting
o operating in the
Covid environment

and wider measures to
control the pandamic.

DEPENDENGE ON KEY SUPPLIERS

Risk owner: Chief Commercial Officer

Whatis the risk?

The Group is
dependent on
relationships with
key suppliers to
source products
on which availability
may be limited.

Risk level

Risk movement
Stable

Link to strategy

PEe®

Considered in the
Viability statement

X

What is the impact?

» fnvestments by
suppliers scaled down

* Pricing and stock
availability terms could
worsen, leading 1o
deceasing sales /
reduced margin

* Reduced revenue
and profitability

+ Deteriorating cash flow

* Reduced market share

How we manage it

* Ensuring alignment of key
suppliers to the Group's strategy

» Continuing to leverage the scale of
operations to strengthen relationshios
with key suppliers and maintain a
good supply of scarce products

* Working with suppliers 1o ensure
availability of products through
Covid-19 crisis in arder to help
our customers

+ Broadening the range of suppliers
10 support extended range offerings

+ Ethical supply chain due diligence
over our supplier base

+ Control structures to ensure
appropriate Supplier Relationship
Management for GFR, GNFR
and OEM

Changes since
last report

This risk has remained
stable over 2020/273.

Link to strategy: Omnichannel Credit Services Mobile
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PRINCIPAL RISKS

AND UNCERTAINTIES CONTINUED

BUSINESS TRANSFORMATION

Risk owner: Chief Operating Officer

Risk level

Risk movement
Decreased

Link to strateqgy

Considered in the
Viability statement

X

What is the risk?

Failure 1o respond with
a business model that
enables the business
1o compete against

a broad range ot
competitors on service,
price and / or product
range.

Failure to optimise
Digital opportunities.

Failure to respond to
changes in consumer
preferences and
behaviours.

What is the impact?

* Reduced revenus
and profitability

= Deteriorating cash flow
* Reducod markot charc

How we manage it

* Continued strengthening of
digital expertise as part of
ormnichannal capatility

+ Transformation Management
Office established and delivering
key strategic objectives

* Future Mobile Strategy

* Development of customer
credit propositions

* Development of omnichannel
capabilities

* Enhancement of data
analytics capabilities

Changes since
last report

Significant progress
has been mads in

the delivery of the
Transformation
Programme and
consequantly

the overall risk is
decreasing as projects
are being completed.

REGULATORY RISKS

NON-COMPLIANCE WITH FINANCIAL GONDUGT AUTHORITY (‘FCA’)

AND OTHER FINANCIAL SERVICES REGULATION

Risk owner: Chief Commercial Officer

Risk level

Low Medium m

Risk movement
Stable

Link to strategy

Considered in the
Viability statement

v

Whatis the risk?

Failure to manage the
business of the Group
in compliance with
FCA regulaticn and
other financial services
regulation to which
the Group is subject
in anumper of areas
including the mobile
insurance cperations
of The Carphone
Warghouse Limited
and the consumer
credit activities of
D3G Retail Limited.

What is the impact?

* Enforcement action
by the regulator

* L0ss of autherisation
and inability to trade
regulated products

* Reputational damage
+ Financial penalties

= Reduced revenues
and profitability

* [eteriorating cash fiow

* Customer
compensation

L

How we manage it

Board oversight and risk
management structures monitor
compliance and ensure that the
Company’s culture puts good
customer outcomes first

Senior Manager and Certification
Regime and if required CBI/ other
regulators certification implemented

Regulatory Compliance Committee,
Product Governance and other
internal governance structures

Control structures to ensure
appropriate compliance

Comgliance mornitoring and internal
audit review of the operation

and effectiveness of compliance
standards and controls

Recruitment, remunseration and
training competency programmes
Conduct risk and control framawork,
including defined minimum control
standards

Changes since
last report

This risk has remained
stable over 2020/21.
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DATA PROTECTION Risk owner: Chief Operating Officer
Risk level What is the risk? What is the impact? How we manage it Changes since
low  Medum Major loss of customer, * Reputational damage  * The operation of a Data Managerment last report

colleague or business
Risk movement sensitive data.

Increased :
Adeqguacy of internal

systems, policy,
procedures and
processes to comply
with the requirements

Link to strategy

Gonsidered in the of EU General Data
Viability statement Protection Regulation

v (GDPR.

The risk temporartly
increased due to
home working but
with the introduction
of mitigating controls
hag reduced to the
leval prior 10 the
Covid-12 outhreak.

Function to ensure compliance
with GDFR compliant opérational
processes and controls

= Financial penalties

* Reduced revenue

and profitability
» The operation of a Data Protection

Office 1o ensure appropriate
governance and oversight on the
Group's data protection activities

» Deteriorating cash flow

* [ 085 of compatitive
advantage

* Customer .
compensaticn

Control activities operata over
management of customer and
employee data in accordance
with the Group's data protection
policy and processes

e Investrment in information security
safeguards and [T security controls
and monitoring

TECHNOLOGY RISKS

IT SYSTEMS AND INFRASTRUCTURE

Risk owner: Chief Operating Officer

Risk level What is the risk?

What is the impact? How we manage it Changes since

tow [N Hion

Risk movement
Stable

Link to strategy

Considered in the
Viability statement

X

A key systermn
becomes unavailable
for a period of time.

Reduced revenus
and proftability

Deteriorating cash flow

Loss of competitive
advantage

Restricted growth
and adaptability

Reputational damage

Ongoing [T transformation to
align IT infrastructure to Future
DC strategy

s PEAK planning and preparation

to ensure system stability and
availability over high-demand
periods

* |ndividual systern recovery plans

in place in the event of failure
which are tested regularly, with

full recovery infrastructure available
for critical systems

Long-term partnerships with

‘tier 1" application and infrastructure
providers established
Strengthening of Technology
leadership team

last report

Whilst the reliance

on IT systems and
infrastructure increased
during the period
where the LK and
Ireland business traded
on-line only, the cortrol
environment remamed
stable over the period.

Link to strategy: Omnichannel Credit Services

Mobile
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PRINCIPAL RISKS

AND UNCERTAINTIES CONTINUED

OPERATIONAL RISKS
INFORMATION SECURITY Risk owner: Chief Operating Officer
Risk level What is the risk? What is the impact? How we manage it Changes since

Low  Medium [T

Rlsk movement
Increased

Link to strategy

©e®@®

Considered in the
Viability statement

v

Vulnerability to
attack. matware, and
dvsuciated Cyloer risks,

s Reputational damage
* Financial penalties

* Reduced revenue
and profitability

¢ Deteriorating cash flow

* Customer
compensation

= | gss of competitive
advantage

* Investment in information
securty safeguards. IT security
controls, monitering, in-house
aexpertise and resources as part
of a managed information security
improvement plan

= [nformation security policy
and standards defined and
communicated

= Information Security and Data
Protection Committee comprising
senior management, set up
with responsibility for oversight,
co-ordination and monitoring of
information security policy and risk

s Infosec training and awareness
programmes for employees

+ Audit programme aver key suppliers’

information sacurity standards

= |ntroduction of enhanced security
tooling and operations

* (Ongoing programme of
penetration testing

last report

The move to heme
working oliiring
Covid-19 presented
additional challenges
but these were
successfully addressed
with the introduction of
mitigating controls. The
risk now remains at the
same level as prior to
the Covid-19 outbreak.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

Risk owner: Chief Supply Chain Officer

Risk level

Low Medium m

Risk movement
Stable

Link to strategy

EEee@

Considered in the
Viability statement

v

What is the risk?

Failure to effectively
protect customers and
/or colleagues and / or
contractors from injury
or loss of life.

What is the impact?

* Employes / customer
illness, injury or loss
of life

+ Reputational damage
* Fnancial penalties
« |egal action

How we manage it

= |Implementation of Covid-19
controls to protect colleague in the
workplace and customers in the
retail estate, including continuous
monitoring of changing government
regulation in all jurisdictions

* Group Health and Safety strategy

= Comprehensive Health and Safety
policies and standards supporting
continued improvament

« Health and Safsty management /
Governance Commitiee

» Operational Health and Safety teams

located across business units

* Risk assessment programme
covering retall, support centres,
distribution and home services

* Incident reporting tocol and process

= Health and Safety training and
development framework

* Health and Safety inspection
programme

* Audit programme including factory
audits for cwn brand products and
third-party supply chains

Changes since
last report

This risk has
remained unchanged
over 2020/21.
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BUSINESS CONTINUITY

Risk owner: Chief Operating Officer

Risk level
Low [0 Hioh

Risk movement
Stahle

Link to strategy

&©®

Considered in the
Viability statement

X

What is the risk?

A major iIncident
impacts the Group's
ability to trade and
business continuity
plans are not effective,
resulting in an
inadequate incident
response.

What is the impact?

* Reduced ravenue
and profitability

» Deteriorating cash flow

= [eputational damags

» | 0ss of competitive
advantage

How we manage it

* Business continuity and crisis
management pians in place and
tested for key business locafions

* Enablement of home working

for office-based and contact
centre colleagues

Disaster recovery plans in place
and tested for key T systems
and data centres

response to significant events

Maijor risks insured

Crisis team appointed to manage

Changes since
last report

This risk has
remained unchanged
over 2020/21.

PRODUCT SAFETY

Risk owner: Chief Supply Chain Officer

Risk level

Risk movement
Stable

Link to strategy

Considered in the
Viability statement

X

What is the risk?

Unsuitable procedures
and due diligence
regarding product
safety, particularly

in relation to OEM
sourced product. may
result in poor guality
or Linsafe products
provided to custorners
which pose risk to
customer health

and safety.

What is the impact?
* Financial penalties
» Beduced cash flow
* Reputational damage

How we manage it

= Factory Audits conducted
over OEM suppliers

= Technical Evaluation of OEM
preducts prior to production

Froduct inspection of OEM
products prior to shipment

* Monitoring of reported incidents
* Safety Governance reviews

conducted by internal by Technical

and Business Standards teams

to manage product recalls

Establish protocols and procedures

Changes since
last report

This risk has
remained unchanged
over 2020/21.

Risk owner: Strategy

SUSTAINABILITY and Corporate Affairs Director
Risk level What is the risk? What is the impact? How we manage it Changes since
Low  Medium Qur commitment * Reduced cash + Roadmap to Net Zero last report

Risk movement
New

Link to strategy

Considered in the
Viability statement

X

o sustainability
and being a good
corporate citizen is
either not delivered
or Not adequately
communicated to
or recognised by
customers and
investors.

flow as customers
shop elsewhere

» Beputational damage

* | 0ss of competitive
advantage

* Commitment to EV100
* Oversight from ES8G Committee

* ESG strategy which is
regularly revised

* Maintenance of a brand tracker

* Commitment to TGFD ahead
of mandatory compliance

Given the number of
intiatives, regulatory
requirements and
expectations of
stakeholders this
has been added as
a new principal risk
for 2020/21.

Link to strategy: Omnichannel Credit Services

Mabile
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PRINCIPAL RISKS

AND UNGERTAINTIES CONTINUED

FINANCGIAL RISKS
TAX LIABILITIES Risk owner: Chief Financial Officer
Risk level What is the risk? What is the impact? How we manage it Changes since

Low m High

Risk movement
Stable

Link to strategy

@ee®

Considered in the
Viability statement

v

last report

The Group remains
committed to achieving
a resolution with HMRC
in relation 1o open tax

+ Financial penalties * DBoard and internal committes
oversight that actively monitors
tax strategy implementation

Crystallisation of
potential tax exposuUres o« Aeducad cash flow
resulting from legacy
corporate transactions,
employee and sales

* MNeputational damage )
* Appropriate engagement of

third-party specialists to provide

taxes arising from
periodic tax audis
and investigations

independent advice where

deemed appropriate

enquiries. The risk
remains unchanged
over 2020/21.

across the various
jurisdictions in which
the Group operates.

PEOPLE RISKS
PEOPLE Risk owner: Chief People Officer
Risk level Whatis the risk? What is the impact? How we manage it Changes since

Low M High

Risk movement
New

Link to strategy

PEe®

Considered in the
Viability statement

X

last report

The challenge to satisfy
new working practices
and need to develop
new skills 1o achieve
our slrategy means
this has been added
as new principal risk
for 2020/21.

» Beduced revenue = Sirengthening leadership
and profitability capability and succession

Nat having the right
workforce capacity,

capability, and * Failure to achieve * Increasing colleague capability
colieague commitment  gyrareqic abjectives and engagement to deliver
necessary to deliver without strong against customer promise

on our siralegy. leadership and + Advancing the People Operations

capabie and Fix the Fundamentals Transformation

committed colleagues .
* Approach for remuneration and

incentives that supports a high-
performance culture, renforces
the right behaviours aligned to
our values and supports selling
responsibility to customers

Link to strategy: Omnichannel Credit Services Mobile
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Going concern is the basis of preparation of the financial statements that assumes an entity will
remain in operation for a period of at least 12 months from the date of approval of the financial
statements. The viability statement takes account of the company’s current position and principal
risks, stating whether there is a reasonable expectation that the company will be able to continue

in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over a longer term than the going concern period.

Going concern

A review of the Group's business activities,
together with the factors likely to affect its
future development, performance, and
position, are set cut within this Strategic
Report, including the risk management
section. The financial position of the
Group, its cash flows, liquidity position
and borrowing facilities are shown in

the balance sheat, cash flow statement
and accompanying notes to the Annual
Report and Accounts. The directors have
outlined the assessment approach for
going concarn in the accounting policy
disclosure in note 1 of the consolidated
financial statements. Following that review
the directors have cancluded that the
going concern basis remains appropriate.

Viability statement

In accordance with the UK Corporate
Governance Code, the directors have
assessed the viability of the Group over a
periocd longer than the 12 months covered
by the 'Going Concern' provision above.

The directors, in making the assessment
that three years was appropriate,
considered the current financial and
operational positicns cf the Group,

the potential impact of the risks and
uncertainties as outlined on pages 46

to 52 of the Strategic Report and the
uncertainty regarding the duraticn, extent
and ultimate impact of the Covid-19
pandemic plus the further mitigating
actions available 1o the Board. The Board
concluded that & period of three years was
appropriate for this assessment as this
period is covered by the Group's strategic
planning process, which is updated
annually, and reflects the period of the five
year strategic plan where there is greater
certainty of cash flows associated with the
Group's major revenue streams.

The strategic plan considers the forecast
revenue, EBITDA, working capital, cash
flows and funding requirements on a
business by business basis, which are
assessed in aggregate with reference

to the avallable borrowing facilities to

the Group over the assessment period
including seascnal cash flow and
borrowing requirements cn a menthly
basis and the financial covenants to
which those facilities need to comply. The
medel assessed by the directors has been
derived from the Board-approved annual
Group budget for 2021/22, and Board-
approved strategic plan for the remaining
two year pericd. These forecasts have
been subject to robust stress-testing,
modelling the Impact of a combination of
savere but plausible adverse scenarios
based on those principal risks facing the
Group, including specific consideration of
a range of impacts that could arise from
the continued Covid-1¢ pandemic. These
scenarios included more prolonged store
closures, transition from sales in stores to
onling, supply chain impact, and potential
recession in the markets we operate. As
part of this analysis, mitigating actions
withim the Group’s control have also been
considered. These forecast cash flows
indicate that there remains sufficient
headraom in the viability period for the
Group to operate within the committed
facilities and to comply with all relevant
banking covenants.

As well as focusing on the potentially
prolonged impact of Covid-19, these
scenarios also included other principal
risks such as regulation or information
security incidents and reduced forecast
profitability and cash fliow as a resuit in a
significant change in consumer behaviour.
The model assumes no further funding
facilities are required over and above
those currently committed to the Group
as disclosed in note 19 to the Annual
Report and Accounts.

Based on the resuits of this analysis,

the directors have an expectation that
the Group will be able to continue in
opsration and meet its liabilities as they
fail due over the three year period of their
assessment. In doing so, it Is recognised
that such future assessments are subject
to a level of uncertainty and as such
future outcomes cannot be guaranteed
or predicted with certainty.

FURTHER
INFORMATION

Going Goncern

For further information on Going Concern,
see note 1 to the financial statements.

>

Read more on page 148.
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KEY PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS

FINANCIAL

The Group's Key Performance Indicators and Alternative Performance Measures are used for performance analysis. KPIs are
for the pericd until 1 May 2021 are based on 52 weeks of trade (2019/20; 53 weeks). Definitions of measurement are given in
the glossary and definitions an pages 216 to 231, The Group's KPIs are set out below:

Electrical LFL Revenue growth

14%

Revenue

£10,344m

Free cash flow"®

£438m

2020/21 14% 2020/21 £10,344m 2020721 £438m

2018/20 | 2%
2018/19 3%

Rationale

L ike-for-like (LFL) revenue growth 1s the
revenue growth of the business. adjusted for
new and closed stores and other changes in
husiness. Like-for-like revenue growth enables
the performance of the Group to be measured
on a consistent year-on-year basis.

Performance in 2020/21

This year's high growth was due 1o a strong
performance across all markets. Online sales
were particularly strong, growing +103%.

®Eee®

[2019/20 R10170m | [2019/20 | 2109m
[201819 £10433m | 201819 | £153m
Rationale Rationale

The ability to grow revenue s an important
measurc of a brand's appeal to customears
and its competitive position.

Performance in 2020/21

Thie -1% growth wasg driven by strong like-for-
ke revenue growth in Electricals, offset by

store closures, the sharp decling in Maobile
revanug and ane less week of trading in the year.

GEE®

Free cash flow is defincd as cash generated
from operations less restructuring costs, finance
expense, lax palid and capital expenditure. It
excludes pension contributions and dividends.
The management of cash optimises resources
available for the Group to invest inits future
growth and to generate shareholder value.

Performance in 2020/21

The significant free cash flow was driven by
good profitability coupled with a large working
capital inflow due 1o the unwind of the mobile
network receivable.

e

Adjusted
Profit Before Tax™

£150m  £33m

2020/21 £156m
2018/20 £116m

Statutory Profit /
Loss Before Tax

Adjusted Earnings
Per Share™"

10.7p

2020/21 10.7p
2019/20 |6.7p

202021 [ £33m

2019/20 | (£140m}

| 2018/19 {Pre-IFRS 16) £3som | |

2018/18 (Pre-IFRS 16}

Statutory Earnings /
Loss Per Share

Up

2020/21 | Op

2019/20 | (13.9p)

(£258m) Lzmaﬁg {Pre-IFRS 18)

232p| [

2018/19 Pre-IFRS 16 | (26.8p)

Rationale

Continued growth of profit before tax represents a measure
of Group performance to exiernal investors and stakeholders

against our strategic pricrities

Performance in 2020/21

Onan adjusted and statutory basis, profit before tax was up durng
the year due 1o improved profitability in all Clectricals segments,

Ce®®

11y Alternative Performance Measure,

Rationale

Ihe level of growth in EPS provides a suitable measure of the financial health
of the Group and its ability 1o deliver returns 1o shareholders each vear,

Performance in 2020/21

Pee®

Increased Profit Before Tax combined with stable tax rate and share counts
drove the improved FPS performance in the year.

12) The Diractors consider free cash fliow to be a useful measure as. unlike statutory equivalents. it1s 3 good Inchcator of
cash generated from continung operations which 1s avallable to fund future growth or be distributed to shareholders.



STRATEGIC REPORT

NON-FINANCIAL

GOVERNANCE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTOR INFORMATION

Link to strategy: Omnichannel Credit Services Mobile

UK&I Electricals market shara

24, (%

2020721 24.7%

Nordics market share

20.8%

2020/21 26.8%

| 2019720 26.5% | | 2019/20 26.0% |
[2018/19 25.8% | | 2018/19 25.5% |
[2017/18 252% | [2017718 25.0% |
[2016117 25.1% | [201617 24.2% |
Rationale

Market share is the clearest indicator that the proposition we are delvering to customers is

maore appealing than the competition, Market share s defined as the Group's product sales

rclative to total consumer sales of technology products in each market.

Performance in 2020/21

The Group has been pleased wilh market share performance across the year. In the

Nordics we gained 0.8% of market share in a buoyant market. Enforced store closures

in UK and Ireland meant that our sales underperformed market but we have seen

large onlinc market share gains and overall share gains when stores have boen open.
GOe®

Net Promoter Score Colleague

(“NPS™) Engagement

2020/21 +65 2020/21 +68
| 201920 +68| [2019/20 +62 |
TQEJ{B? S - o +674W |7727018."1977 - o o +64_E
Rationale Rationale

Net Promoter Score - a rating used by the Group
{o measure customers’ ikelihood to recommend
its cperations. This is our best lead indicator of
future spend across the Group.

Performance in 2020/21
WNPS was flat in the UK but did imprave slightly in
the Nordics'.

@e®

Cur colleagues are the Group's mast impaoriant
assel and our "Pulsc” survey cnables our
colleagues to provide honest and open feedback
on what it 18 like to work at Dixans Carphone,

Performance in 2020/21

lnvestment in lraiming. wellpeing and reward
drove significant mprovements in colleaguc
engagement.

@ee®

Approval of Strategic Report
This Strategic Report was approved
by the Beard and signed on its
behalf by:

Alex Baldock
Group Chief Executive
29 June 2021

* The Group Customer NPS results for 2019420 and 2020/21 are not directly comparable because there was a change in both the K& channel and brand mix

between the two years.

The UK&I brand mix between Curry's PG World and Carphone was updated from 70%/30% [2019:20) to 90%/10% (2020/21) due to the closure of the Carphone

standalone stores,

Also, due to closure of steres during the pandenic the channel mix shifted between instors to online and so the channel mix was changed from 702 instere and

30% onling.
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW
2020/21

Group sales were +2% higher than last year, as +12% growth in our Electricals husiness was
offset by the anticipated decline in Mobile sales. Adjusted EBIT grew +22% as UK & Ireland
Electricals and Nordics grew profits, offset by a small decline in Greece and large operating
losses in UK & Ireland Mobile.

Segmental free cash flow more than tripled to £497m, because of large working capital inflow in UK & Ireland Mobile more than

offsctting the opcerating losses and restructuring costs. Total free cash flow was £438m which after pension and other payments
generated cash flow of £373m. improving the year end position 1o net cash of £169m.

Currency

2020721 2019/20 Reported neutral
Income statement £m £m % change % change
Revenue 10,344 10,170 2% 1%
Adjusted EBITDA 598 556 8% 7%
Adjusted EBITDA margin 5.8% 5.4% 40 bps 40 bps
Depreciation on right-of-use assets (200) (217}
Depreciation on other assets (79) 81
Amortisation {57) {44
Adjusted EBIT 262 214 22% 22%
Adjusted EBIT margin 2.5% 21% 40 bps
Interest on right-of-use assets (77) (80)
Finance income ¢} 10
Adjusted finance costs (35) (28)
Adjusted PBT 156 116 34% 34%
Adjusted PBT margin 1.5% 11% 40 bps 40 bps
Adjusted tax (33) (38}
Adjusted Profit after tax 123 78
Adjusted EPS 10.7p 6.7p
Statutory reconciliation
Adjusting items to EBITDA (89) (217}
Statutory EBITDA 509 339
Adjusting items to depreciation and amortisation (26) (25)
Statutory EBIT 147 28 625% 803%
EBIT Margin 1.4% 0.3)% 170 bps 170 bps
Adjusting items to finance costs (8) (14)
Statutory PBT 33 {140)
Adjusting iterns to tax - 17
Discontinued operations 12 {2
Profit / (loss) after tax 12 (163)

EPS - total 1.0p (14.1p
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Currency
2020/21 2019/20 Reported neutral
Gash flow £fm £m % change % change
Adjusted EBITDAR 611 596 3% 5%
Adjusted EBITOAR margin 5.9% 5.8% 10 bps 30 bps
Cash payments of leasing costs, debt and interest™ (288) {324
Other non-cash items in EBIT 15 27
Operating cash flow'" 338 299 13% 18%
Operating cash fiow margin 3.3% 29% 40 bps
Capital expenditure (122) (191) 36%
Adjusting items to cash flow " (173} 94) (84%
Free cash flow before working capital 43 14
Working capital 454 141
Segmental free cash flow 497 155 221% 232%
Cash tax paid (35) {20)
Cash interest paid (24) (26)
Free cash flow 438 109 302% 324%
Dividend - (78)
Purchase of own shares 13 (12)
Pension 47) {46)
Other (5) 5
Movement in net cash / (debt) 373 22)
Net cash / (debt} 169 {(204)

1) Cash payments of leasing costs, debt and interest have been revised to exclude non-trading stores. which is now meluded within adjusting items to cash flow.
As such, results for the year ended 2 May 2020 have been restated The non-trading stores relate to the remaining closed stores under the Currys PCWorld
3-I1n-1 and Carphone Warehouse programme announced in 2015416 and closed standalone UK Carphone Warehouse stores as anncunced on 17th March 2020,

Online Share of Business 2020/21 2019/20 YoY (%pts)
UK & Ireland Electricals 69% 35% +34%
International 28% 18% +10%
- Nordics 29% 19% +10%
- Gresce 21% 8% +13%
Electricals 49% 27% +22%
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW
2020/21 CONTINUED

UK AND IRELAND ELECTRIGALS

Currency
2020/21 2019/20 Reported neutral
Income statement £fm £m % change % change
Revenue 4,921 4,638 8% 8%
Adjusted EBITDA 393 344 14% 149%
Adjusted EBITDA margin 8.0% 7.6% 40 bps
Depreciation on right-ot-use assets (104} 111
Depreciation on other assets (42} (44)
Amortisation (38} (25)
Adjusted EBIT 209 164 27% 27%
Adjusted EBIT margin 4.2% 3.6% 60 bps
Adjusting items to EBIT (131} 45}
Statutory EBIT 78 119 (34)% (34)%
Statutory EBIT margin 1.6% 2.6% (100} bps
Cash flow
Adjusted EBITDAR 40 368 9%
Adjusted EBITDAR margin 8.1% 8.1% -bps
Cash payments of leasing costs, debt and interest”™ (1585) (170)
Other non-cash items in EBIT - 12
Operating cash flow!™" 246 210 17% 22%
Operating cash flow margin 5.0% 4.6% 40 bps
Capital expenditure (59) (106) 44%,
Adjusting items to cash flow'" (63) {48) (371%
Free cash flow before working capital 124 58
Working capitat 3 34
Segmental free cash flow 127 92 38% 36%

1) Cash payments of leasing costs, debt and interest have been revised to exclude non-trading stores. which 1s now iIncluded wathin adjusting items 10 cash flow
As such. results for the year ended 2 May 2020 have heen restated. The non lrading stores relate to the remaining closed stores under the Currys PCWorld
3-in-1 and Carphone Warehouse programme announced in 201516,

Sales increased +8%, as strong like-for-like growth was offset Across the year, all major categories grew with computing

by the impact of store closures and the impact of an additional sales the standout performer, growing +28% with especially
week of trading in the prior year. Like-for-like growth of +14% high growth in Apple products, laptops and gaming. Gonsumer
was driven by strong online sales growth which more than electricals sales were strong as sales of large TVs and smart
compensated for sales lost through temporary enforced store tech offset declines in Imaging and Audic preducts, despite very
closures and the almost complete loss of sales in Dixons Travel. strong growth in headphones. Major domestic appliance sales
which impacted like-for-like growth by 3ppts. In the vear, we were adversely impacted by the closure of stores but trends
closed eleven Currys PCWorld stores, including seven High since reopening have been encouraging in this category.

Street stores. We alse took the difficult but necessary decision

ki 219 ing the year as the store channel
to close our 35 Dixans Travel stores. The market grew +21% during the year © channe

declined {48)% and the online market aimost doubled. We lost
During the year, online sales grew +114% and comprised {1.7% of share due to the temporary enforced store closures,
69% of segmental sales, +34ppts higher than last vear, when not all competitor stores were required to close. Our online
market share grew +6.0ppts.
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Gross margin declined (230)bps (1H: {350)bps, 2H: (140)bps).
predominantly driven by the shift of sales to our lower gross
margin online business and the loss of higher gross margin
Dixons Travel sales. This decline improved in the second half of
the vear due to the easier base of compartson against the Covid
disrugtion at the end of last year and aided by order & collect
being available. The operating expense to sales ratio improved by
+300bps, with around +130bps of improvement coming from the
UK & Ireland business rates tax reliefs which lowered operating
costs by £682m (2018/20: £4m). The Group fully reimbursed all
government support for furtough money received for the year, so
it had no impact on cperating costs {(2018/20: £17m). In 2021/22
changes in the IT systems being procured will increase cperating
costs by c.£15m.

Adjusted EBIT increased +27% to £209m, from £164m in
2019/20,

In the period, adjusting items to EBIT totalled £{131)m. Impairment
losses of £(100)m were recognised due to the closure of Dixons
Travel, store impairments and write-off of IT assets. This primarily
related 1o software development costs, given a change in
strategic direction towards a best-in-class cloud-based solution
which will aim to achieve operational efficiencies and improve the
customer journey. Strategic change costs of £{21)m were due lo
restructuring of business. Amortisation of acquisition intangibles
totaled £(14)m. Alongside previously provided amounts these
had a cash impact of C{B3)m in the pericd. Statutery EBIT for the
year decreased by £41m to £78m.

2020721 2019/20

P&L Cash P&L Cash

Acquisition / disposal related items (14 - (14) -
Strategic change programmes {21) (51 {13 41
Data incident costs - ) - =)
Impairment losses and onerous contracts (100} (16) 18} -
Regulatory {1} - _ _
Other 5 5 - -
Total (131) 63) (45) 46)

The operating cash flow increased by +17% to £246m, mostly driven by the better profit outturn. Capital expenditure was £59m, with
significant areas of expenditure including supply chain investments in cur new distribution centres and IT investments. Expenditure
was down from last year due to the suspension of projects during the first UK lockdown. Adjusting items are dascribed above while
working capital inflow was small at £3m. In combination, this resuited in segmental free cash flow of £127m, £35m better than last year.
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW
2020/21 CONTINUED

NORDICS
Currency
2020/21 2019/20 Reported neutral
Income statement £m £m % change change
Revenue 4,186 3,573 17% 18%
Adjusted EBITDA 267 240 1% 11%
Adjusted EBITDA margin 6.4% 6.7% (30} bps
Depreciation on right-of-use assets (77) (74}
Depreciation on other assets (27) 25}
Amortisation (12) 15}
Adjusted EBIT 151 126 20% 20%
Adjusted EBIT margin 3.6% 3.5% 10 bps
Adjusting items to EBIT (12) 11}
Statutory EBIT 139 115 21% 23%
Statutory EBIT margin 3.3% 3.2% 10 bps
Cash flow
Adjusted EBITDAR 271 248 9%
Adjusted EBITDAR margin 6.5% 6.9% {40 bps
Cash payments c¢f leasing costs, debt and interest (100) Q1)
Other non-cash items in EBIT 5 5
Operating cash flow 176 162 9% 7%
Operating cash flow margin 4.2% 4.5% (30} bps
Capital expenditure {52) {63} 17%
Adjusting items 1o cash flow - - _
Free cash flow before working capital 124 99
Working capital 64 117
Segmental free cash flow 188 216 {13)% (11)%

Revenue grew by +15% on a currency neutral basis, and +17%
on a 52-week basis, with doubls digit growth in all markets.

This was driven by like-for-like growth of +16% and included
online growth of +74% as online sales grew to 28% of total sales,
+10ppts higher than last year. Our store sales were broadly fiat
in the second half of the year as robust trading in open stores
offset closures in Denmark and Norway. This resulted in overall
market share increasing +0.8ppts to 26.8%, with sbare gains

in every market except Denmark where sales were impacted

by temporary store closures. The fastest growing market was

Sweden where there has been no discernible impact on trading
from the entry of Amazon. During the year, we opened a net total
of six stores, five in Norway and one in Sweden.

Sales of laptops. smart TVs and gaming equipment saw
significant increases as people spent more time working, and
more leisure time, at home. Coffee machines saw very strong
growth as people made coffee at home, fitness wearables had
good growth due to public gym closures and people working
cut on their own, while domestic appliances including vacuum
cleaners were strong as customers kept homes clean.
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Gross margin declined (130)ops {1H: (70)bps, 2H (180ibps),
predominantly driven by the shift of sales towards the lower
gross margin online channel. The operating expense 10 salas
ratio improved by +130bps. due to operating leverage.

As aresult, adjusted EBIT increased £25m 1o £151m, from
£126m in 2019/20.

In the pericd, adjusting items to EBIT totalled £(12)m, this was
entirely due to the amortisation of acquisition intangibles and had
no cash impact. The statutory EBIT increased £24m to £139m.

The operating cash flow increased by 8% to £176m, driven by
the better profit outturn, Capital expenditure was £52m. with
significant areas of expenditure including our Next Generation
Retail platform and store refits. The total spend was down on last
year as some spend was held back at the start of the Covid-19
crisis. Working capital inflow of £64m was driven by timing of
year end payments that will largely reverse in 2021/22,
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW
2020/21 CONTINUED

GREECE
Currency
2020/21 2019/20 Reported neutral
Income statement £m £m % change % change
Revenue 516 470 10% 8%
Adjusied EBITDA 40 10 -% (3%
Adjusted EBITDA margin 7.8% 8.5% {70} bps
Depreciation on right-of-use assets (13} 13}
Depraciation on cther assets (6} (S}
Amartisation {2} {1}
Adjusted EBIT 19 gl {10)% 14)%
Adjusted EBIT margin 3.7% 4.5% (80} bps
Adjusting items to EBIT - {1}
Statutory EBIT 19 20 (5)% (10
Statutory EBIT margin 3.7% 4.3% (60) bps
Cash flow
Adjusted EBITDAR 42 42 -
Adjusted EBITDAR margin 81% 8.9% (80} bps
Cash payments of leasing costs, delt and interest (20} 15}
Other non-cash items in EBIT 2 1
Operating cash flow 24 28 (14Y% {11)%
Operating cash flow margin 4.7% 6.0% {130) bps
Capital expenditure (10} (15} 33%
Adjusting items to cash flow - - —%
Free cash flow before working capital 14 13
Working capital 25 (57)
Segmental free cash flow 39 44) 189% 184%

Revenue increased +8% on a currency neutral basis. with
like-for-like sales growth of +11%. Cnline sales grew +186%
and contributed 21% of sales, from 8% in 2019/20. Storas
were closed from 8 November until 11 January and again from
29 January until 5 April, and as a result, store sales declined

slightly during the year.

Sales were strong in all categories, except air conditioning which
saw slower sales due to the mild weather. Sales in computing and
telecom were particularly strong with the government’s digital
care inftiative, where low income students have been granted

a €200 coupon, boosting sales towards the end of the year.

Gross margin was down {300)bps over prior year (1H: (280bps,
2H: (460)bps) as a result of lower achieved product margin due
to channel and category mix, lower protection service and credit
income and additional costs of fulfiling online sales as well as

collection costs for consumer credit, Operating costs decreased
due to enforcement by government on landlords of a 40% rental
reduction for May, June, November and December and a further

100% reduction for January until April.

As a result, adjusted EBIT decreased (10)% to £19m, from £21m
in 2019/20. There were no adjusting items to EBIT in the current

year, resulting in statutory EBIT of £19m.

The operating cash flow was £24m, down from £28m in the
prior year. Capital expenditure was £10m, with significant areas
of expenditure including digital transformation and property.
Working capital inflow of £25m was driven by strong trading at

the end of the period.

In the year ahead we will enter Cyprus, an area with a population
of 1.1m. Two new stores will open in Nicosia and Limassol in

June, to complement cur online shop and call centre.
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UK & IRELAND MOBILE
Currency
2020/21 2019/20 Reported neutral
Income statement £m £m % change % change
Adjusted revenue 707 1,636 (57% (57)%
Statutory revenue 721 1,589 (55)1% (55)%
Adjusted EBITDA {102) 68) (50)% (50)%
Adjusted EBITDA margin (14.4)% 4.2)% (1,020} bps
Depreciation on rght-of-use assets (6) (19
Depreciation on other assets @ {7
Amortigation (5) 3)
Adjusted EBIT (117) 97) (2% {231%
Adjusted EBIT margin (16.5)% 5.9)% {1,060) bps
Adjusting items to EBIT 28 (185)
Statutory EBIT (89) (782 68% 68%
Statutory EBIT margin (12.3)% 17.77% 540 bps
Cash flow
Adjusted EBITDAR {103} (o141 (B61%
Adjusted EBITDAR margin {(14.6)% (3.8)% {1080} bps
Cash payments of leasing costs. debt and interest™ (13} 48)
Cther non-cash items in EBIT 8 9
Operating cash flow™ {(108) (101} {71% (2)%
Cperating cash flow margin (15.3)% (6.2)%% {910} bps
Capital expendilure (1) (7) 86%
Adjusting items to cash flow™" (110) {48} (129)%%
Free cash flow before working capital (219) (156}
Network debtor 391 133
Other working capital (29) (86)
Segmental free cash flow 143 {109) 231% 234%

(1} Cash payments of leasing costs. debt and interest have been revised to exclude non trading stores. which is now included within adjusting tems to cash flow. As such,
results for the year ended 2 May 2020 have been restated The non-trading stares relate to the Carphone Warehouse pregramime announced i 2015716 and closed

standalone UK Carphone Warshouse stores as announced on 17th March 2020.

Adjusted revenue decreased by (57)%, reflecting our decision in
March 2020 to close the small standalone Carphone Warehouse
stores in the UK and the negative impact from the enforced
closures of our larger stores in the UK due to Covid-19. In April
we made the decision to close our 68 Carphone Warshouse
stores in the Republic of Ireland. The statutory revenue decrease
was (55)% as there was a £14m positive impact on revenue and
EBIT from mobile network debtor revaluations, against a £(47)m
negative revaluation in the prior year.

Curing the year we ended our unprofitable legacy agreements
with 02 and EE, which included receiving £189m of outstanding
receivable from EE. We also renewed the contract with Three
on our ID Mobile MYNO which will mean the revenue is largely
accounted for as cash is received. This will impact sales and
profit by ¢.£15m in 2021/22 but will not change the cash flow.
After the year end, we agreed an exclusive multivear partnership
with Vodafone based on a new commercial framework focused
on driving great service, innovation, and loyalty.
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW
2020/21 CONTINUED

UK & IRELAND MOBILE CONTINUED

The decline in adjusted EBIT to a £(117)m loss reflects the lost
gross profit from lower sales, with sales transfer tc Currys
POWorld stores inhibited by unexpected closures, which

was not fully offset by cost savings in the vear.

Adjusting items were £28m positive as mobile network debtor
revaluations, settlements and release of previous provisions

more than offset impairments, which were mainly related
to closure of Carphone Warehouse Ireland. This resulted in
statutery EBIT loss of £(89)m, a significant improvement on
the £(282)m loss recorded last year.

Together with previcusly provided items the adjusting items
to cash flow were £(110)m in the period.

2020/21 2019/20

P&L Cash P&L Cash

Mabile network debtor revaluations 14 - {47) -
Acquisition / disposal related items - (2 {n

Strategic changs programmeas (20 {102) (107) (36)

Regulatory 8 4 {30) 12

Other 26 (2)
28 {110} {185} (48)

The operating cash flow decreased to £(108)m from £(101Im. Capital expenditure was almost nil. The network debtor reduced by
£(377)m, with the acceleration in part due 1o early repayment by EE. The difference to cash flow of £(14m is due to the revaluation in
the period. The year-end position was £239m, down from £1,057m three years ago. Other working capital outflow was £{29m driven

by net unwinding of stock and creditors.

As previously annclinced, the transition away from the loss-making traditional post-pay business will be delivered cash positive
overall, with the operating losses and restructuring costs more than funded by the unwind of the working capital position over time.

As described above, the UK & Ireland Mobile segment will be reported as part of a single UK & Ireland segment from 2021/22 onwards.
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Finance Costs

Interest on lease liabitities was £{77im, a slight decrease on prior
year due to lower capitalised leases, the cash impact of this
interest is included within segmental free cash flow.

The net adjusted finance income and finance costs were higher
than last year, as the improved debt position was offset by the
amortisation of new facilily arrangernienl fees and Lhe wiite off
of arrangement and extension fees on legacy facilities that were
replaced during refinancing. The net cash impact of these costs
was £(24ym, from £(26)m in the prior year. The finance costs on
the defined benefit pension scheme was an adjusting item and
declined in line with the assumptions used in the valuation of the
pension obligations.

2020/21 2019/20
Interest on tease liabilities (77) {80)
Finance income 6 10
Finance costs (35) (28)
Adjusted net finance costs (106) 98)
Finance costs on defined
benefit pension schemes (8) (14)
Net finance costs (114} (112)

Tax
The full year adjusted effective tax rate at 21% was lower than
the prior year rate of 33% due to provision releases relating to

uncertain tax positions for prior periods. The cash tax in the year
was Z35)m.

Cash flow Currency
Reported % neutral

2020/21 2019/20 change % change

Operating cash flow 338 299 13% 18%

Capital expenditure (122) 181 36%

Adjusting items to cash flow (173) (84 (84%

Free cash flow before working capital 43 14

Working capital and network commissions 454 141

Segmental free cash flow 497 155 221% 232%

Cash tax paid {35) =0

Cash interest paid (24) (26)

Free cash flow 438 109 302% 324%

Dividend - (78)

Net purchase of own shares {13) (12)

Pension (47) {48)

Other (5) 5

Movement in net debt 373 22

Opening net cash / {debt) (204) (182)

Closing net cash / (debt) 169 (204)

Segmental free cash flow was an inflow of £497m (2018/20: £155m) and interest and tax totalled £(59)m as described above,

resuilting in free cash flow of £438m (2019/20: £109m).

The Board decided not to pay a dividend during the year and no cash was returned to shareholders in the period. The employee
benefit trust acquired £13m of shares to satisfy share awards to colleagues.

Pension contributions of £47m were in-line with the prior year. Annual contribution will rise to £78m from 2021/22, as agreed with the

fund Trustees.

The closing net cash position was £1688m, compared 1o a net debt position of £(204)m at 2 May 2020. This included £35m of
restricted cash (2 May 2020: £32m). The average net cash for the year was £280m, compared to an average net debt position

of £(355)m in 2019/20.

This year, the Group has redefined net debt to comprise cash and cash equivalents and short-term deposits, less borrowings but
excluding leases previously designated as financing under I1AS 17, Including these in net cash / {debt) would have reduced the balance

by £76m to £94m (2 May 2020: £{284)m debt).
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Balance sheet
1 May 2021 2 May 2020
£m £m
Goodwill 2,851 2,803
Cther fixed assets 1,661 1,823
Nelwork conmmission receivables and contract assets 239 G616
Working capital (684) {645)
Net cash / (debt) 169 204
Lease liabilities (1,322) (1,439)
Pension (482) (550)
Deferred tax 100 g7
Provisions (85) (150)
Other (66) {71)
2,381 2,280

Goodwil increased in the period due to currency revaluation of
Nardics goodwill.

Other fixed assets dacreased by £{162)m as additions of £247¥m
were more than offset by amortisation and depreciation charge
of £(362)m and impairment of £(75)m related to right-of-use and

UK store assets, the closure of Carphone Warehouse Ireland and

Dixons Travel and the write-off of some intangible assets.

Network commission receivables and contract assets decreased

by £(377)m as the scale of our mobile business reduced and the

amount of new revenue capitalised was lower than the payments

received. This decrease was accelerated by EE paying all its
outstanding network receivable during the year.

At year-end, total working capital was £(684)m. Group inventory
was £1,178m, higher than prior year dug to unusually strong
sell-through of stock in the UK & Ireland and Nordics in the prior
year due to Covid-19. Over the year stock turn increased to 6.8
(2019/20; 6.1} due to strong trading and the growing portion of
sales fulfilled by our less stock intensive online business. Trade
receivables decreased by SB)mM to £294m (2019/20: £300mm).
Trade payables increased by £171m to £(1,420)m {2019/20
£41,249)m) due to timing of payments arcund year end in the
Nordics and one-off early supplier payments in 2012/20 in the
UK & Ireland due to Covid-19. At the year end, and since July
2020, the supplier financing facility utilisation was £nil (2 May
2020; £51m).

Other receivables dacreased by £(17)m compared to 2 May
2020 due to prepayment and accrued incomes decline with
reduced Mebile operation. Other payables were broadly stable
on prior year.

1 May 2021 2 May 2020
£m £m
Inventory 1,178 gro
Trade receivables 294 300
Trade payables (1,420) {1,249)
Trade working capital 52 21
Other receivables 192 209
Other payables (910) ({849)
Derivatives (18) 24
Working capital (684) 1645)
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Lease liagilities reduced mainly because of the closure of our
Carphong Warehouse standalone UK stores in March 2020, as
these non-trading leases continue to come to an end throeughout
the period. In addition to this, there has been a small decrease in
the average lease length outstanding across our store portfolio.

The IAS 19 accounting deficit of the defined benefit section of
the UK pension scheme amounted to £482m at 1 May 2021

2 May 2020: £550m). Contributions during the period under the
terms of the deficit reduction plan amounted to £47m 2019/20:
£46m). Pension contributions are tax deductible and there is a
£59m deferred tax asset associated with the pension liabilities
(2 May 2020: £53m).

The deficit decreased largely as a result of increases in the
discount rate applied to future liabilities in line with long term
bond yield returns, together with increased values of underlying
assets. This was partially offset by increases in inflation rate
assumptions reflecting changes In long term RPI expectations.

Deferred tax was broadly flat year-on-year.

Provisions primarily relate to reorganisation and property
provisions. In the period, the balance reduced by £{65m
primarily as a resuit of utilisation of provisions, mainly related to
Mokbile restructuring, offset by increases in provisions due to
the announced closure of the Carphone Warshouse Ireland and
Dixong Travel businesses.

Comprehensive income / changes in equity

Total equity for the Group increased from £2,280m to £2,381m
in the period, driven by the statutory profit of £12m, gain on
re-translation of overseas operations of £46m, actuarial gain
{net of taxation) on the defined benefit pension deficit for the UK
pension scheme of £43m and gains on investment revaluation
of £.8m offset by the hedging losses of £(16)m and other
movements of £8m.

Impact of IFRS 16

Accounts are presented using IFRS 16 accounting. To aid
understanding and comparability with previous pericds,
here we present the impact of IFRS 16 accounting.

2020/21 2019/20
Excluding Excluding
Reported IFRS 16 IFRS 16 Reported IFRS 16 IFRS 16

Adjusted EBIT
UK & Ireland Electricals 209 31) 178 164 {2 162
International 170 (15) 155 147 (11 136
- Nordics 151 1) 140 126 (10) 116
- Greece 19 4) 15 21 1) 20
Electricals 379 (46) 333 311 {13) 298
Adjusted EBIT margin 3.9% 3.5% 3.6% 2.9%
UK & Ireland Mobile 17 (3) (120) o7} {7 (104)
Adjusted EBIT 262 {49) 213 214 {20) 194
Adjusted EBIT margin 2.5% 21% 21% 1.9%
Finance costs (106) 71 (35) 98} 70 (28
Adjusted PBT 156 22 178 116 50 166
Adjusted PBT margin 1.5% 1.7% 1.1% 1.6%
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BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

Lord Livingston

of Parkhead

Chair of the Board
Appointed: December 2015,

Tony DeNunzio CBE

Deputy Chair and Senior
Independent Director

Appointed: December 2015,

Alex Baldock
Group Chief Executive

Appointed: April 2018,

©

Jonny Mason

Group Chief

Financial Officer
Appeinted: August 2018.

Jonny will step down from
the Board in July 2021.

CURRENT
EXTERNAL
ROLES

Member of the House of | ords,

Non-Cxecutive Director at S&P
Global Inc, a strategic advisory
Board member of Livingbrndge
and memper of the Advisory
Board of the 10.000 Black
Interns Foundation.

Chairman of the British Retail
Consortium, chairman of
Hermes UK, Senior Adviser at
Kohlberg, Kraws, Boberts &
Co L.P and a Non-Executive
Director of Pnmafrix SL.

None

None.

SKILLS AND
EXPERIENCE

Skills: lan is a chartered
accountant with over 20

years of major plc board

level expenence, Heis an
cxperienced Charman, CEO
and Non-Executive Director of
public isted companigs. ian
has a strong track record of
suceessiully growing complex
businesses and overseeing
transformation programmes.
He is a diligent, conscientious
Charr and is valued for both
his extensive Knowledge and
experience and his effective
leadarship of the Board.

Experience: |an was
Chairman of Man Group plc
from 2016 to 2019, Minister of
State for Trade and Investment
from 2013 to 2015 and Chef
Fxecutive Oificer at BT Group
ple fram 2008 ta 2013, Pnor
1o that he was Chisf Executive
Ctticer, BT Retal and Group
Chief Financiat Officer of

BT. He was Group Finance
Dircctor of Dixons Grougp ple
between 1996 and 2002,
having served In a number of
roles over more than a docade
with the Group.

Skills: Tony has extensive
experance in the Eurapean
retail and consumer goods
sectorg in finance, CEO and
Chairman roles

Experience: Tony was Non-
Executive Chairmar of Pets at
Home Group Plc from 2014 to
May 2020 and president and
Chief Frecutive Oflicer of Asda
/ Walmart UK from 2002 to
2005, having previausly served
as Chicf Financial Officer of
Asda Pl C. He started hig
career in the fast-moving
consumer goods sector with
financial positigns in Lnilever
PLC. L'Oréal and PepsiCo, Inc.
He was also previously Non-
Executive Director of Alliance
Boots GmbH. Chairman of
Maxeda Retail Group BV, and
Deputy Chairman and Seniar
Independant Director of MHI
Furniture Group ple (now
Howden Jainery Graup Pig).
Hc has alse been chairman

of the advisory board of
Manchester Business Schact
and was awarded a CBE for
services to retall in 2005.

Skills: Alex has an outstanding
track record in leading large,
complex cansumer-facing
businesses. He led Shop Direct
through one of UK Retail's
fastest, most far reaching

and most successful digital
transformations, delivering five
consecutive years of record
financial performance. with
strongly nsing sales and an
almost tenfold increase in
profits. Before that. he led the
successful transformation of

I ombard. Alex s partcularly
valued for his strategic clarity.
relentless execution and his
ability to Inspire individuals
around him.

Experience: Alex was Group
Chief Exscutive of Shop Nirect
from 2012 to 2018, Prior to that,
Alex was Managing Director of
| ombard (a division of Royal
Bank of Scotland), and was
Coammercial Director and
Corporate Director at Barclays
Bank. His earlier career
ncluded consullancy rales with
Bain & Company and Kalchas.

Skills: Jonny has an extensive
track record as chiet financial
officer n diverse businesses
and his business cxperience
in Scandinavia is particularly
valued by the Board. 1 la

has significant expenence

In overseeing strategic
programimes.

Experience: Jonny was Chict
Financial Officer of Halfords
plc from 2013 and was intenm
Chief Executive Officer
between Septernber 2017 and
January 2018, Priar to that,
Jonny was Chief Financial
Cfficer of Scand Standard

AB, Chief Financial Officer at
Qdeon and UCI Cinemas and
Finance Director of Sainsbury’s
Supermarkels. His early career
ncluded finance roles with
Shell and Hangon ple.

BOARD MEETING 12412 12712 12412 11712

ATTENDANCE Jonny was excused

8 Scheduled from one meeting due

4 Ad hoc to conflict of interest.

BOARD BOARD DIVERSITY BALANCE OF NON-EXECUTIVE

COMPOSITION )

0 BY GENDER THE BGARD DIRECTORS TENURE

HEFemale 3 37.5% M Execulive 2 25% WO-3years 1 17%
OMale 5 62.5% [ Non-Executive 6 75% [13-6Gyears 3 50%

ZiQver6 years 2 33%
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Andrea Gisle Joosen
Independent
Non-Executive Director

Appointed: August 2014
Bixons Retail Group
timited March 2013).
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Eileen Burbidge MBE

Independent
Non-Executive Director
Appointed: January 2019,

GOVERNANCE

o

Fiona McBain
Independent
Non-Executive Director
Appointed: March 2017.
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Gerry Murphy
Independent
Non-Executive Director
Appointed: Apnl 2014,

. Remuneration Committee (€) Committee Chair

O
Nigel Paterson
General Counsel and
Company Secretary
Appointed: April 2015.

Non-Executive Direcior of
ICA Gruppen AB, James
Hardie Industries ple and
Billerudkarsnas AB.

HM Treasury Spacial

Envoy for Fintech, Tech
Ambassador for the Mayor of
L ondon’s office. co-founder
of Passion Capital in 2011,
and a Director of several
Passion Capital portfalio
companies including

Monzo Bank Limited.

Chair of Scottish Mortgage
Investment Trust PLC, Non
Executrve Director of Direct
Iine Insurance Group plo
and Monzo Bank Limied.

Non-Executive board
member of the Degpartment
of Health and Social Care.

Norie.

Skills: Andrea has extensive
nternational business
experience in a vanety of
seclors ncluding marketing.
brand management.
business development and
consumer electronics.

Experience: Andred was
chair of Teknikmagasinet
AB, Non-Executive Directar
of Lighthouse Group, Ghief
Executive of Boxer TV
Access AR In Sweden and
managirg Director (Nordic
region} of Panasonic,
Chantelle AB and Twenticth
Century Fox. Her early
carecr Involved several
Serior marketing roles with
Procter & Gamble and
Johnson & Johnson,

Skills: bileen has a streng
technology tackground
and Is a leader in the
development of the UK's
ncreasingly renowned
Fintech industry. Eileen
brings a canstructiva,
challenging. and balanced
perspective to the Board
including a focus on
technology innovation,
value creation and an
mformed perspective

on the digital consumer.

Experience: Eileen has

a university degree in
computer sclience and since
a carger start i telecoms
at Verizon Wireless. she
has held various roles at
Apple, Sun Microsystems,
Operwave, PalmSource,
Skype and Yahoo! Fileen
was previously a member
of the Prime Mirster’s
Business Advisory Group
and chair of Tech Nation, a
UK Govarnment-supported
technology industry group.

Skills: Fiona 15 a chartered
accountant and has over
30 years' experience In
retall financial services,
bath in the industry and

as an auditor. She has

an outstanding record of
business leadership and

is an experienced CECQ
and Chair,

Experience: Fiona was
Vice-Charr of S8ave the
Children from 2012 to 2019
and lrusteg Director of the
Humanitarian Leadership
Academy from 2015 to 2018
Fiona was Chief Executive
Officer of Scottish Friendly
Group untll December 2016,
having joined the company
N 1998, She has worked

in the finance functions at
Prudential plc and Scottish
Amicable and earher in her
career, across a number

of industry sectors in the
UK and then in the US with
Arthur Young (now FY).

Skills: Gerry has extansive
audit and finance experience
N consumer Husiness, retail,
technology. media and
communicalions sectors.

Experience: Gerry was
a Non-Fxecutive Direclor
of Capital & Counties
Properties P C from 2015
to 2018 and the Senior
Independent Director
fram 2018 to 2020, Gerry
is a former Deloitte LLP
partner and was leader of
its Professional Fractices
Group with direct industry
experience in consumer
business, retail and
technelogy, media and
telscommunications. He
was a member of the
Delcitte Board and
Chairman of its Audnt
Committee for a number
of years and also Chairman
of the Audit & Assurance
Faculty of the Institute of
Charlered Accountants in
England and Walas.

Skills: Nigel is a salicitor
and has extenswe legal and
govarnance experence
and a strong background
n UK and international
telecommunications.

Experience: Nigel

held several senicr legal
rales at BT Group plo
including general counsel
of BT consumer, head of
competition and regulatory
law, and vice president and
chiet counsel for UK and
major transactions. Prior to
BT, Nigef was engaged as
legal counsel at ExxonMaobil
Inlernational Linited. He
traincd and qualified as

a solcitor with Linklalers

12112

12412

112
Fiona was absent from
one mesting due toiliness.

1212

12712

BOARD SKILLS AND EXPERIENCE

NUMBER OF BOARD MEMBERS

Strategy {development and implementation) n Risk management n Consumer Financial Services
General retailing experience n Regulatory Online retailing experience
Accounting, finance and audit B Marketing / advertising n Human Resources Management
Corporate transactions h Governance n

International H IT and technology n
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DIRECTORS’
REPORT

The Directors’ Report required by the Companies Act 2006 (the 'Act'), the corporate governance
statement as required by DTR 7.2 and the management report required by DTR 4.1 comprises

the Strategic Report on pages 1 to 67, the Corporate Governance Report on pages 73 to 86, together
with this Directors’ Report on pages 70 to 72. All information is incorporated by reference into this

Directors’ Report.

Directors

The names, biographies, committee memberships and dates
of appointment of each member of the Board are provided
on pages 68 and 68. Jonny Mason will step down from the
Board on 8 July 2021 and Bruce Marsh will be appointed as
an Executive Director and the Group Chief Financial Officer
from 12 July 2021,

The Board is permitted by its Articles of Association (‘Articles’,
to appoint new directors to fill a vacancy as long as the total
number of directors does not exceed the maximum limit of

15. The Articlas may bbe amended by special resolution of the
shareholders and require that any director appointed by the
Board stand for election at the following annual general meeting.
In accordance with the UK Corporate Governance Code

{the 'Code"), all directors submit themselves for election

or re-election on an annual basis.

The Remuneration Report provides details of applicable
service agreements for Executive Directors and terms of
appointment for Non-Executive Cirectors. All the directors
proposed by the Board for re-election are being unanimously
recommended for their skills, experience and the contribution
they bring to Beard deliberations.

During the year, no Director had any material interest in

any contract of significance to the Group'’s business. Their
interests in the shares of the Company, including those of any
connected persons, are outlined in the Remuneration Report.

The Board exercise all the powers of the Company subject to the
Articles, the Act and shareholder resolutions. A formal schedule
of matters reserved for the Board is in place and is available on
the Company's website at www.dixonscarphone.com.

Directors’ responsibilities

The Directors’ responsibilities for the financial statements
contained within this ARA and the directors’ confirmations
as required under DTR 4.1.12 are set out on page 130.

Directors’ indemnities and insurance

The Company has made qualifying third-party indemnity
provisions (as defined in the Act) for the benefit of its directors
during the year; these provisions remain in force at the date
of this Directors' Report.

In accordance with the Articles, and 1o the extent permitted
by law, the Company may indernnify its directors out of its
own funds to cover liailities incurred as a result of their office.

The Group holds directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
cover for any claim brought against directors or officers for
alleged wrongful acts in connection with their positions, to

the point where any culpability for wrongdoing is established.
The insurance provided does not extend to claims arising from
fraud or dishonesty.

Information required by Listing Rule 9.8.4R

Details of long-term incentive schemes as required by Listing
Rule 9.4.3R are lccated in the Directors’ Remuneration Report
on pages 100 to 129. There is no further information required
1o be disclosed under Listing Rule 8.8.4R.

Dividend

The Board did not pay an interim dividend during the year but
has proposad a full year dividend for the year ended 1 May 2021,
Details of dividends paid during the year are included in the
below table,

Year ended Year ended
1 May 2021 2 May 2020
Interim dmdend Nil 2.25p
Final dividend Nil Nil
Full year dividend 3.00p Nil
Total dividends 3.00p 2.25p

As at 29 June 2021 the Company's Employee Benefit Trust
{'EBT") held 26,028,451 shares. The right 1o receive the final
dividend for 2020/21 will be waived by the trustees of the EBT in
respect of the balance of shares held as at the dividend record
date in September 2021,

Colleague involvement

The Group has a robust communications programme in place
to provide colleagues with information on matters of concern

to them. This includes regular publications on the Group's
intranet, email updates from the Group Chief Executive and
regular meetings with line managers. The Executive Committee
team regularly communicates matters of current interest and
concern to colleagues. There are colleague forums in place in
UK and Ireland and an International Forum has bean established
representing all countries in the Groug as the centre of a
colleague listening framework to ensure that colleague feedback
is received effectively and consistently across all the countries
that the Group operates in. This forum supports various initiatives
and more details are available on page 28. Details of the
colleagues' invelvement in the Group’s share plans are disclosed
in the Remuneration Report on pages 100 to 129.



Employment of disabled people

The business is committed to providing equal opportunities in
recruitment, training, development and promotion. We encourage
applications from individuals with disabilities who can do the job
effectively and candidates will be considered for each role. All
efforts are made to retain disabled collsagues in cur employment
including making any rcasonabile re adjustments to their roles.
Every endeavour is made 1o find suitable alternative employment
and to re-train and support the career development of any
employee who becomes disabled while serving the Group.

information on greenhouse gas emissions

The information on greenhouse gas emissions that the Company
is required to disclose is set out in the Sustainable Business
Report on pages 42. This information is incorporated into this
Directors' Report by reference and is deemed to form part of
this Directors’ Report.

Political donations

No political donations were made by the Group during the period.

Capital structure

The Company's only class of share is ordinary shares. Detalils

of the movements in issued share capital during the year are
provided in note 23 to the Group financial statements. The voting
rights of the Company's shares are identical, with each share
carrying the right to ong vote. The Company hoids no shares

in Treasury.

Details of employee share schemes are provided in note 4 o
the Group financial statements. As at 1 May 2021, the Dixons
Carphone plc EBT held 20.5 milion shares. The EBT acguired
11,6 million shares by market purchase during the financial year.

Restrictions on transfer of securities of the Company
There are no specific restrictions on the size of a holding nor

on the transfer of shares, which are both governad by the
general provisions of the Articles and prevaiiing legislation.

The directors are not aware of any agreements between
holders of the Company's shares that may result in

restrictions on the transfer of securities or on voting rights.

No person has any special rights of control over the
Company’s share capital and all issued shares are fully paid.

Change of control — significant agreements

All of the Company’s share incentive scheme rules contain
provisions which may cause options and awards granted
under these schemes to vest and become exercisable in
the event of a change of control.

The Groug’s main committed borrowing facility has a change
of control clause whereby the participating banks can require
the Company to repay all cutstanding amounts under the
facility agreement in the event of a change of control. There
are a number of significant agreements which would allow
the counterparties to terminate or alter those arrangemeants
in the event of a change of control of the Company.

FINANGIAL STATEMENTS INVESTOR INFORMATION

These arrangements are commercially confidential, and their
disclosure could be sericusly prejudicial to the Company.

Furthermore, the directors are not aware of any agreemenis
between the Company and its directors or employees that
provide for compensation for loss of office or employment
in the event of a takeover bid.

Significant shareholdings

As at 1 May 2021, the Company had been natified of the following
voting interests in the ordinary share capital of the Company in
accordance with Chapter 5 of the FCA's DTR. Percentages are
shown as notified, calculated with reference to the Company's
disclosed share capital as at the date of the notification.

Number of Percentage of
Name shares share capital
RWC Asset Management LLP 62,906,333 541%
Wishbone Management LLP 41,500,000 5.25%
Tameside MBC re Greater
Manchester Pension Fund 58,722,740 5.03%
Lansdowne Partners 57,675,527 5.01%
Ruffer 62,845,115 5.00%
Majedie Asset Management 59,063.441 4.99%
D P JRoss 55.738.699 4.80%
Cobas Asset Management 47,366,831 4.06%
Sir Charles Dunstone CVO 14,440,134 1.24%

Following the year end, Madjedie Asset Management disclosed
to the Company a holding of 80,112,120 shares representing
5.15% of the Company's issued share capital.

On 29 June 2021, being the last practicable date prior to the
publication of this Annual Report and Accounts, no further
changes to the shareholdings reported above had been
notified to the Company in accordance with DTR 5.

Directors’ interests in the Company’s shares and the movements
thereof are detailed in the Remuneration Report on pages 100
to 129.

Issue of shares

In accordance with section 551 of the Act, the Articles and
within the limits prescribed by The Investment Association,
shareholders can authorise the directors to allot shares in

the Company up tc one third of the issued share capital of

the Company. Accordingly, at the AGM in 2020 shareholders
approved a resolution to give the directors authority to allot
shares up to an aggregate nominal value of £388,819. The
directors have no present intention to issue ordinary shares,
other than pursuant to obligations under employee share
schemes. This resolution remains valid until 2 November 2021
ar, if earlier, until the conclusion of the Company’'s AGM in 2021,
The Company will seek the usual renewal of this authority at the
2021 AGM.

n
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Purchase of own shares

Authority was given by the shareholders at the AGM in 2020 to
purchase a maximum of 116,645,844 shares, such authority
remaining valid until 2 November 2021 or, if earlier, until the
conclusion of the Company’'s AGM in 2021, The authority was
not exercised during the period or prior to the date of this Report.
The Company will seek the usual renewal of this authority at the
2021 AGM.

Use of financial instruments
Information about the use of financial instruments is given
in note 26 to the Group financial statements.

Past-balance sheet date events

Fvents after the balance sheet date are disclosad in note 34
to the Group financial statements.

Auditor

Each Director at the date of approval of this Annual Report and
Accounts confirms that:

* 50 far as the Director is aware, therg is no relevant audit
information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and

¢ the Director has taken all the steps that they cught to
have taken as a Director in order to make themself aware
of any relevant audit information and to establish that tha
Company's auditor is aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in
accordance with the provisions ¢f section 418 of the Act.

During the year, the Audit Committee managed the tender
process to appoint a new external Auditor for the 2022/23
financial year, KPMG LLP will be appeinted subject to
shareholder approval at the AGM 2022. Following the
recommendation of the Audit Committes that Deloitte LLFP
remain sffective, the Board is proposing that Delcitte be
reappointed at the AGM in 2021,

Certain information required to be included in this Directors’
Report may be found within the Strategic Report.

By Order of the Board

Nigel Paterson
Company Secretary
29 June 2021
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REPORT

Compliance with the UK Corporate Governance
Code 2018

The Board confirms that throughout the year ended 1 May
2021 and as at the date of this report, the Company applied
the principles of, and was fully compliant with the provisions
of the Code.

A copy of the Code is available from the website of the
Financial Reporting Council www.frc.org.uk.

Further information on how the Company has implemented
each of the Code provisions matters can be found as folicws:

Board leadership and company purpese Page 73
Dwision of responsibilities Page 77
Composition. succession and evaluation Page 79
Audit, risk and internal control Fage 52
Remuneration Page 86

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS INVESTOR INFORMATION

Chair of the Board statement

| am pleased to present the Corporate Governance report for
the year to 1 May 2021. The Board is respensible for the overall
leadership of the Group to ensure the long-term, sustainable
success of the business. This year, that has included the Board
providing oversight of the Company’s response to the Covid-19
crisis and the difficult decisions that the management team has
faced in progressing the long-term strategic transtormation plans
for the business in the face of the disruption caused by Covid-18.

This Corporate Governance report describes the governance
frammework that we have in place to ensure that the Board

is operating effectively and supporting and challenging
management to maintain high standards of corporate
governance across the Group. | believe that robust corperate
governance is the foundation to ensuring the long-term
sustainable success of a business and helps us deliver the right
outcomes for our shareholders, our customers, our colleagues,
our suppliers and cur communities.

The Board is fully compliant with all provisions of the Code.
This year we have structured this report by the Code provisions
to help show how we have applied these in each case.

BOARD LEADERSHIP
AND COMPANY PURPOSE

Role of the Board

The Board is responsible for overall leadership and promoeting
the long-term sustainable success of the Company, generating
value for shareholders and contributing to wider society.

The Board sets the Company strategy and oversees its
implementation within a framework of efficient and effective
controls that allow the key issues and risks facing the business
to be assessed and managed. The Board considers the
impact on, and the responsibility it has to, ali the Company’s
stakeholders as part of decision-making. The Board delegates
clearly defined responsibilities to its committees and the

terms of reference far these committees are available on the
Company's website at www.dixonscarphcne.com/investors.

The Company’s vision, purpose, values and strategy are
described in mare detail in the Strategic Repart on pages 1
to 67. The Board oversees the delivery of the strategy within
the context of the values and culture.

Culture

The directors are focused on monitoring culture in the business
and receive regular updates on the results of colleague ‘Pulse
surveys’. All non-executive directors have access to the
Company's intranet and corporate email addresses and receive
all communications sent to colleagues. In addition, the non-
executive directors frequently have direct contact with Executive
Committee members and their direct reports. Non-executive

directors are invited to Company events such as the annual Peak
event and visit key sites and stores. Unfortunately, these visits
have not been abie to take place during this financial year due

to Covid-19. There is representation from the non-executives on
each of the two colleague listening forums and the Inclusion and
Diversity Forum which further facllitates the Board monitoring of
corporate culture.

Corporate Governance Framework
The Dixens Carphone plc Board is supperted by four commitiess:

* Audit Committee — oversees the financial reporting, internal
controls and the relationship with the external auditor;

* Disclosure Committee - oversees the procedures and
contrals for the identification and disclosure of price sensitive
information;

s Nominations Committee — oversees the composition of
the Board and its committees and that a diverse pipeline is
in place for succession planning; and

* Remuneration Committee - oversees the remuneration
of the Executive Directors and senior management and the
structure of remuneration for the workforce,

These committees are each comprised of directors of the
Dixons Carphone plc Board, with the exception of the General
Counsel and Company Secretary who is a member of the
Disclosure Committee.
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The day to day management of the business is delegated o

the Group Chief Executive who is responsible for leading the
implementation of the strategy that has been approved by the
Board. The Group Chief Executive is supported by an Executive
Committee which consists of nine senior leaders in the business
and also by a wider Group Leadership Team of approximately
80 colleagues whao support the Executive Committee in driving
the management agenda. The Group Risk and Compliance
Committee comprises the members of the Executive Committee
and oversees the management of principal and emerging risks,
{see page 82 for further information), Audit, Risk and internal
Controls. The Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)
Committee reports into the Executive Committee. The ESG
Committea drives the sustainability, wellbeing and ethical impact
initiatives in the Group including consideration of the impacts of
climate change.,

Dixons Carphene plc is the ultimate beneficial owner of the
main operating subsidiaries in the Groug. In UK and ireland, the
Regulatory Compliance Committee overseas the management
of risks in relation to regulated products and the Product
Governance Committee oversees the development of, and

any subsequent material changes 1o, such products. Similar
governance framewoerks for regulated products are replicated
in the Internaticnal businesses.

Board reserved matters

The formal schedule of matters reserved for the decision of the
Board is considered by the directors on an annual basis. This
was last considered in January 2021 and the directors agreed
that the balance of matters reserved and matters delegated
remain appropriate. The matters reserved for Board decision are
avaiiable on the Company's website www.dixonscarphone.com
and these include:

e approval of published financial statements, dividend policy
and other disclosures requiring Board approval;

* declaration of interim and recommendation of final dividends;

» approval of budget and Group strategy and obiectives;

appointment and remuneration of directors, the Company
Secretary and other senior executives;

*» approval of major acquisitions and disposals;
approval of authority levels for expenditure;

o approval of certain Group policies: and

* approval of shareholder communications.

Key areas of focus for the Board during the year
s Strategy

e The Group's respense to Covid-19: keeping customers
and colleagues safe, helping customers and protecting
the future of the business

¢ Succession and leadership

* Financial and operational performance
*  Colleagues, values and culture

»  Business updates.

THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

DIXONS CARPHONE PLC BOARD

AUDIT COMMITTEE

DASCLOSURE COMMITTEE
NOMINATIGNS COMMITTEE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

s ESG COMMITTEE

GROUP RISK AND
GOMPLIANGE COMMITTEE
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BOARD ACTIVITIES
DURING 2020/21

STRATEGY . Three Year Plan * Customer Contact and Support Strategy update

* Project approval requests and e Reviewed the strategic plans for Credt,
progress updates Future Mobile Offer and Services
¢ K&l Commercial Trading deep dive * Considered partial listing of the Nordic business
* pdates on the management of the * Approved new banking facility arrangements
impacts of Brexit * Qversight of Group performance against strategy

and detrvery of transformatron prOJects

CIWID-IQ ¢ | ockdown scenarios — financial updates = F%e consrderatron ot strategic projects

. Busrmess response to Covid-19 updates fc’”OW'”Q Covid-19

F|NAN(;|A|_ AND . The Compa_ny 3 praliminary and interim * Dividend, treasury and tax strategles
OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE results. trading statements and the e Budget 2020/21

Annual Report
Y P e Capexilems

Going G d Viability Staterments .
* woing oneern and ViEbity » Share purchase and cash sweeping proposals

* Fair, balanced and understandable
assessment

¢ Appointment of new external Auditor
for 2022/23

GIJMMITTEE IIPDA'I'ES * Detailed summaries from each Committee Chair - Audlt Dlsctosure
Nomrnatron and Remuneratron tollowmg the relevamt Commrttee meetmge

OTHER STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

(:UST[]MEHS . Customer experience updates * Customer feedback and metrics

and msrghts
SHAREHOLDEHS . Annuat Generel Meetmg documents * Investor Relations updates
GOI_LEAG[IES * Annual health and satety review . Talent succession plannrng and Ieadersh D
s Colleagus Shareholdar Scheme award * Inclusion and diversity update
* Modern slavery update and statement * Colleague engagement and collsague listening
* 2019-21 people plan and priorities survey insights

* Company values and culture update = Peaple opsrations proposal

. Gender pay gap reportmg

GOVERNANCE AND RISK * Risk framework and internal control . Confhcts of Interest and new apporntments

review * Group Delegation of Authority Policy review
* Principal risks and uncertainties review « Committee Terms of Referance review
* Risk horizon scanning * Role descriptions of the Chair of the Board,
¢ Regulatory Compliance updates the Group Chief Executive and the Senior
e £5G updates Independent Director review

. Lrtrgatron amd d|sputes updates * Board effectiveness process
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Communication with investors

The Board supports the initiatives set out in the Code and the
UK Stewardship Code and encourages regular engagement
with both existing and potential institutional shareholders and
other stakeholders. The Board believes that it is important to
explain business developments and financial results to the
Company’s shareholders and to understand shareholder
concemns. The principal communication metheds used to
impart information to shareholders are news releases (including
results announcements), investor presentations and Company
publications. The Board receives a report from the investor
Relations tearmn at every scheduled meeting and this includes
a summeary of investor interactions during the period and a
synopsis of guestions and feedback from shareholders.

The Group Chief Executive has principal respoensibility for
investor relations. He is supporied by a dedicated investor
relations department that, amongst other matters, ensures there
i5 a full programme of regular dialogue with major institutional
shareholders and potential shareholders as well as with sell-side
analysts throughout the year. In all such dialogue, care is taken
to ensure that no price-sensitive information is released.

The Chair of the Board and non-executive directors are available
to meet with major shareholders as required, and the Chalr

of the Remuneration Committee communicates with major
shareholders on remuneration matters.

The Company is committed to fostering effective communication
with all members, be they institutional investors, private cr
employee shargholders. The Company communicates formally
1o its members when its fult year and half year results are
published, These results are posted on the corporate website,
as are other external annocuncements and press releases.

The AGM provides an opportunity for the Company to engage
with shareholders and for the Board to provide an account of
the progress mads by the business during the year, along with
a synopsis of current issues facing the business. Unfortunately,
it was not possible to allow shareholders to attend the meeting
held in September 2020 due to Covid-1€.

FURTHER
INFORMATION

Stakeholder engagement

Information on how our culture is embedded
in the way we engage with stakeholders
including our colleagues.

>

Read more on page 28.

Our stakeholders

The directors are fully aware of their responsibilities to promote
the success of the Company in accordance with section

172{1) of the Act. The Board considers the impact on, and the
responsibility it has to, all the Company's stakehclders as part
of decision-making. By considering the Company’s strategic
priorities and having processes in place for decision-making,
they do, however, aim to make sure that their decisions are
conslistent. The Group communicates with external stakeholders,
including industry bodies and regulators on the management of
risks and issues. Further information on our engagement with
stakeholders is available on pages 28 to 31.

Workforce

The Board remains committed to ensuring that it gives due
regard to the interests of all of its stakeholders, including
colieagues. Inits discussions, the Board has sought to
understand and consider the views of our colleagues. Further
details are available in the Capabie and Committee Colleagues
section on pages 22 to 27. Further information on workforce
policies and practices and how the Company invests in

and rewards colleagues is also availaile in the Capable and
Committed Colleagues section.

Authorisation of conflicts of interest

Each director has a duty under the Act to avoid a situation
where thay have or may have a conflict of interest. They are also
required to disclose 1o the Board any interest in a transaction or
arrangement that is under consideration by the Company. The
General Counsel and Company Secretary supports the directors
in identifying potential conflicts of interest and reporting them

to the Board. The Board is permitted by the Company’s articles
of association to authorise conflicts when appropriate. Potential
conflicts are approved by the Board, or by twe independent
directors if autherisation is needed quickly, and then reported to
the Board at its next meeting. A register of directors’ conflicts is
maintained. Directors are asked to confirm periodically that the
information on the register is correct. The Board is satisfied that
the Company’s procedurss to identify, authorise and manage
conflicts of interest have operated effectively during the year.



DIVISION OF
RESPONSIBILITIES

Board Structure

The Board is comprised of two executive directors, five
independent non-executive directors and the Chair of the
Board to limit the ability for any individual or small group to
dominate Board decision making. There is a clear divisicn
of responsibilities between the executive leadership of the
business and the leadership of the Board.

Director responsibilities

In accordance with the Code, there is a clear division of
responsibility between the Chair of the Board and the Group
Chief Executive. Role descriptions are in place for the Chair

of the Board, Group Chief Executive and Senior independent
Director and the Nominations Committee reviews and considers
these on an annual basis and recommends any changes to the
Board. The role descriptions were last approved by the Board
in January 2021 and are available on the Company’s website
www.dixonscarphone.com. The main responsibilities of the
different components of the Board are set out below.

Chair of the Board’s responsibilities
* overali Board effectiveness and leadership;

* Board culture, including the encouragement of
openness and debate and constructive relations
between the executive and non-executive directors;

* the appropriate balance of skills, experience and
knowledge on the Board;

s oversight of the induction, development. performance
evaluation, and succession planning of the Board;

* promoticn of diversity and equality of opportunity
across the Group,

* representation of all stakeholders’ interests; and

* promotion (with the support of the Company Secretary)
of the highest standards of corporate governance.

Group Chief Executive’s responsibilities
* formulation and proposal of the Group strategy
and delivery of the strategy approved by the Board;

*  delivery of Group financial performance;

* lsadership of the Group and senior management
including effective performance and succession planning;

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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representation of the Company 1o key stakeholders;

communication of Company culture and ensuring operational
practices drive appropriate behaviours;

communication to the Board of views of the workforce;

promotion of diversity and equality of cpportunity across
the Group;

identification of business development opportunities;

management of Group Risk profile and ensuring intermal
controls and risk mitigation measures are in place;

ensuring compliant managemeant of the Group's
business; and

oversight of the operational and support functions.

Senior Independent Director’s responsibilities

available to communicate with shareholders:
annual appraisal of the performance of the Chair of the Boarg,

oversight of an orderly succession for the position of Chalr of
the Board;

support the Chair of the Board in the performance of their
duties; and

work with the Chair of the Board, other directors and

shareholders to resolve significant issues and to maintain
Board and Company stability in periods of stress.

Independent Non-Executive Director’s responsibilities

provision of an independent perspective;

ensuring constructive challenge of management;
considering the effectiveness of the impiementation of the
strategy within the risk appetite; and

contribution of diversity of experience and backgrounds to
Board deliberations.

General Gounsel and Gompany Secretary’s
responsibilities

trusted adviser 1o the Board on corporate governanca
matters;

support for the Chair of the Board and non-executive
directors;

ensuring that the Board and committees have the
appropriate type and quality of information they need
to make sound business decisions; and

ensuring that the corporate governance framewark
and practices remain fit for purpose.
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Time commitment and attendance

The Nominations Committee has considered the commitment
shown by the non-executive directors to the Company and is
satisfied that all directors devote appropriate time to their roles.
There were a number of ad hoc Board meetings and additional
informal update calls during 2020/21. These were convened
due to the challenging external circumstances created by the
Covid-19 pandemic. All directors made themselves available to
attend all these unscheduled calls and update calls including
those that had to be arranged at short notice. The Nominations
Committee considers the external appointments of each of the
directors on at least an annual basis. It was concluded again for
2020/21 that none of the directors had external commitments
that would hinder their ability to devote sufficient time to
discharging their Board role. Details of the directors’ attendance
at the Board meetings that took place during the year can be
found on pages 68 and 9.

Board meetings and information

The Chair of the Board is responsible for ensuring that all
directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board
meetings and that thay have full and timely access to relevant
information. A comprehensive relling agenda is in place for
the Board and each committee to ensure that all regular
updates and approvals can be considered in sufficient detail

whilst leaving appropriate space on meeting agendas for the
consideration of current issues. The Company uses an electronic
board paper systemn which enables the safe and secure
dissemination of quality information to the Board. Templates and
guidance are provided to ensure that directors are provided with
the information they need to be able to discharge their duties.
Formal minutes of the Board and committee meetings are
prepared by the General Counsel and Company Secretary,

or their nominee, and are approved by the Board or committee
at the next meeting.

The Chair of the Board maintains regular communications

with the non-executive directors in between mestings. Time is
provided before and after every Board meeting for the non-
executive directors to meet without the executives present. Pricr
to the Covid-19 pandemic, Board dinners were held periodically
on an evening prior t0 a Board meeting to provide the opportunity
to discuss corporate strategy, business performance and other
matters in an informal setting.

Board mestings are usually held at the Company's head office
and have been held by videoconference since the Covid-19
pandemic. The Board usually holds meetings at other Group
locations from time to time. This enables directors to visit stores
and operational centres throughout the Group and gain a deeper
understanding of the business.



COMPOSITION, SUCCESSION
AND EVALUATION

Board composition and independence

At year end, the Board comprised eight members: the Ghair

of the Board, two executive directors and five non-executive
directors, each of whom is determined by the Board to be
indepandent in character and judgement and who provide
effective challenge to the Board and the business. The
Nominations Committee considers the criteria set out in the
Code when considering independence, as well as contributions
made during Board deliberations. These independent non-
executive directors are Teny DeNunzio, Eileen Burbidge. Andrea
Gisle Joosen, Fiona McBain and Gerry Murphy. More than half
of the Board {(excluding the Chair of the Board, Lord Livingston
of Parkhead) is considered to be independent in accordance
with the Code. Every year the Board, supported by the
Nominations Committee, considers the collective skills,
experience and the composition of the Board and assesses
whether or not the Board membership enables the effective
delivery of the Company’s strategy.

There have not been any changes to the composition of the
Board during 2020/21 althcugh Jonny Mason. Group Chief
Financial Officer will step down from the Board on 9 July

2021 and will be replaced by Bruce Marsh. The Board, with

the support of the Nominations Committee. considered the
composition of the Board and its committees during the year.
The Chair of the Board keeps Board compaosition under regular
review and addressed this specifically with each director as part
of the one to cne meetings held during the Board effectiveness
review process. Overall, the Board is satisfied that the current
composition is appropriate given the needs of the business,

in accorciance with the Code, all directors other than Jonny
Mascn will stand for re-election at the Company’s Annual
General Meeting {AGM’). Biographical infermation, committee
membership and the Board meeting attendance of each of the
directors submitting themselves for re-election is shown on
pages 68 and 69.

Board Succession and changes to the Board

The current average director tenure is four years, eight months.
Two directors have been on the Board since the formation of
the Company in 2014 and both the Group Chisf Executive and
the current Group Chief Financial Officer joined the Board in
2018. However, the Board, with the support of the Nominations
Committee, continues to view the need for robust succession
plans as a priority. During 2020721 the Nominations Committee
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considered the skills and expertise of the Beard and concluded
that the existing compaosition is appropriate to meet the current
leadership needs of the business. However, the Nominations
Committee agreed that the appointment of an additional cne

or two non-executive directors would be prudent in order to
manage succession planning for key Board roles. The Chair

of the Beard discussed the future Board succession planning
needs and the role descriptions for these additional roles during
individual meetings with each director held during Agril and
May 2021,

In respect of senior management succession planning, tha
Executive Committee completed a detailed talent review of
GLT members during the year and the Board received a report
on the procass and outcomes during March 2021.

Annual Board Evaluation

2019/20 process outcomes

The 2018/20 Board performance evaluation was conducted
by way of the circulation of guestionnaires and individual
interviews between the Chair of the Board and each director.
The cutcomes of this process are summarised below.

The directors provided positive feedback on the:

+ increased time allocated for Board meetings;

* use of the Reading Room area of the Board papers portal
for detailed information and appendices;

¢ use of Board dinners to provide updates on colleague,
culture and succession planning items;

+ weekly update Board videoconferences held during 2020
to help the Board oversee the Company’s response 1o
Covid-19; and

* majority of Board meeting time being allocated to key
business and strategic topics.

The process identified some opportunities to enhance Board
effectiveness:

* scheduling additional videoconference update calls where
there are significant gaps in between Board meetings;

+ routine updates to be taken as read and not presented
unless there are material updates that need to be brought
to the attention of the Board and discussed; and

* increasing the amount of Board agenda time allocated to
colleague and environment, social and gevernance topics.

Each of these follow up actions has been successiully
implemented.

i)
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2020/21 process

An internal Board evaluation process was undertaken in 2020/21
by way of questionnaires and individual interviews with the Chair
of the Board.

The process addressed all matters relating to the performance
of the Board and included the roles of the executive and non-
executive diractors, the Board, committees, the effectiveness
of each director and the Chair of the Board, leadership, culture,
strategy and corporate governance. A report summarising

the findings of the review was tabled at the Board meeting on
27 April 2021. Overall, the directors provided positive feedback
in particular:

+ that the Board members work together effectively and
constructively to promote the long-term sustainable
success of the Company;

* that the executive team have shown excellent leadership
during the Covid-19 pandemic;

¢ that the new colleague listening forums have been effective;

+ that there is a consistent focus on strategic issues at every
Board meeting;

¢ that Board agendas have improved during the year to
enable increased quality of discussions on kay topics;

+ that there is significant Board discussion and challenge
on the impact that decisions made will have on the
Company's stakeholders; and

+ that the talent review updates the Board received during
the year had provided & good view of the talent pipeline
and a framework for exacutive team succession planning.

The process identified somea further actions to help enhance
effectiveness:

* ihe Boeard to receive additional training on topics relevant to
the Group for example, trends in technology evolution and
the impact of climate change goals on the business and its
products and services;

* the Board to seek opportunities to enhance diversity — there
is a good diversity of skills, experience and gendar on the
Board but social and ethnic diversity should be enhanced;

¢ one or two additional non-executive directors should be

recruited to support succession planning for key Beard roles;

* the Board to receive more frequent updates on the resuits of
colleague surveys and feedback;

* the quality of Board papers had improved during the
year but there was an opportunity to further improve
consistency; and

+ the Board 1o consider the appropriate balance of meetings
that should be held in person or by videcconference
once it was safe to resume travel and business meetings
in person.

An extarnally facilitated Board effectiveness review will be
completed for 2021/22.

Chair of the Board performance

The Senicr Independent Director collated feedback from the
Board on the performance of the Chair of the Board and carried
out his annual performance review. The directors provided
positive feedback on the Chair of the Board's leadership during
the year. The Board is of the opinion that the Chair of the Board
had no other commitments during the year that adversely
affected his performance, that his effectiveness in leading the
Board was not impaired and that he cultivated an atmosphere
that enabled challenging and constructive debate.,

Individual Director performance

Following the results of the evaluation, the Board confirms that
all directors, including the Chair of the Board, continue to be
effective and demonstrate commitment to the role, including
having time to attend all necessary meetings and to carry out
other appropriate duties.

Board diversity

The Board composition review takes account of all forms of
diversity, including gender, social and ethnic backgrounds,
cognitive and personal strengths.

At year end, the Board had three female directors (37.5% of the
Board), one of whom is based outside the UK, one director that
meets the ethnic mincrity criteria as set out in the Parker review
and the majority of the directors have substantial international
business experience. 22.2% of the Executive Committee
members are famale.

The review this year again concluded that the Board possessed
the necessary personal attributes, skills and experience 1o
discharge its duties fully and to challenge management effectively.

The Company is committed to developing a diverse workforce
and equal cppertunities for all, The Board recognises that
enhancing diversity in all its forms is a critical part of having an
effective and engaged workforce which in turn supports the
long-term sustainable success of the business. YWhilst the
Board is strongly supportive of enhancing all forms of diversity
across the Board and workforce as a matter of priority, the
Board doss not currently set spegcific targets on gender balance
or ethnicity. The Committee and the Board continue to be

very mindful of the benefits of greater diversity of gender, social
and ethnic backgrounds, and cognitive and perscnal strengths,
in all appointments.

in accordance with DTR 7.2.84, the Committee confirms that
the Board has adopted the Group Diversity Policy and this

is applicable 1o all colleague. senior management and Board
roles. This policy was last reviewed in November 2020.
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Board induction and training

New directors appointed to the Beard receive a personal
induction programme, together with guidance and training
appropriate 1o their level of previous experience. Each director
is given the opportunity 1o meet with senior management and
store colleagues and to visit the Group's key sites. This enables
familiarization with the busincssos, operations, systems and
markets in which the Group operates. New directors also meet
with the Group's auditor and advisors. An example of a typical

induction programme is included in the table below. The Chair of
the Board will meet with a new director on appointment 1o agree

any appropriate changes to be made before the start of the

induction. Directors are provided with a comprehensive induction

pack on appointment and in addition, group information and
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policies are maintained within the electronic board paper portal

to ensure diractors have access to current resources. There were

no new appointments to the Board during the 2020/21 financial
year although Bruce March will join as Group Chief Financial
Officer during July 2021 and receive an induction during 2021,

The directors are invited to nominate topics that they would
like to receive training on and briclings are arrangoed from time
to time on governance, compliance and company knowledge
as reguested. During the year, the directors received a briefing
from Deloitte on bast practice for the non-financial disclosures
in annual reports. Directors arrange individual meetings with
Executive Committee members as required when they require
additional information cr context on a topic.

Standard induction programme briefings and information
Induction plans are customised for each incoming director depending on their individual reguirements but will usually cover the

following key areas. meetings and locations:

BUSINESS AND STRATEGY = business model and strategy
markets and competitive landscape
overview of each business area

market cpportunities

FINANGE AND AUDIT « finance, treasury and tax overviews

¢ current financial position and future projections

* budget
* accounting issues

INVESTOR RELATIONS

audit report and findings
risk and internal controls

shareholder base and communications

¢ analyst coverage and perspectives

» communication policies

GOVERNANCE » overview of commitiess

» UK Corporate Governance Code and best practice guidance

« UK listed company requirements including Market Abuse Regime
* Companies Act and Directors’ duties

» Company articles and the role of the Board

PEOPLE 70 MEET » Directors

= committeg chairs

s General Counsel and Company Secretary

* members of the Executive Committee

* senior management, including the Group Director of Internal Audit
* members of the external audit team

= store and distribution centre colleagues

SITES TO VISIT » different format stores that are convenient for new director to visit:
* the Newark distribution centre; and
* the store colleague training centre The Academy@FortDunlop.

81
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AUDIT, RISK
AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Audit Committee report is avallable on pages 87 to 85 and
this covers ail the reporting included in this section of the Code.

Risk management and internal control

The Board has overall responsibility for Group’s system of

risk management and internal control and for reviewing its
effectiveness. The Board is supported by the Audit Committee,
the Group Risk and Compliance Committes, the Regulatory
Compliance Committee, business unit risk committees and the
Risk team in delivering on this responsibility.

The Group operates a process of continuous identification and
review of business risks. This includes the monitoring of principal
risks, undertaking herizan scanning to identify emerging risks,
evaluating how risks may affect the achievermnent of business
objectives and, by taking into account risk appetite, reviewing
management's treatment of the risks.

GROUP RISK
MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE

The main business units, locations and functions are responsible
for preparing and maintaining risk registers and operating risk
rmanagement processes for their areas of responsibility. Risk
registers and the risk procasses are undertaken in accerdance
with a consistent Group Risk Managament methodology, toolkit
and process.

The Group Risk and Compliance Committee meets at least four
times annually. The work of the Group Risk and Compliance
Cormmitteg includes: assessing and challenging the consclidated
risk profile, agreeing and monitering the Group’s principal risks;
determining the pricritisation of mitigating actions; reviewing the
Company's horizon-scanning processes and its emerging risks;
providing reports and recommendations to the Audit Committee
and Board including to assist with the setting of risk appetite with
regard to the principal risks.

Our approach to risk management continues to evolve as part
of our organigational focus on transformation and how we
continue in optimal decision making in an increasingly fast-
moving environment. The Group Risk team has continued to
facilitate the evaluation of the principal risks facing the Group.

Board

Responsible for risk management and internal control
Defines Dixons Carphone risk appetite
Reviews and approves the business risk profile

AN\

A N\

Audit Gommittee
¢ Reviews the sffectiveness of

internal control
¢ Approves the annual internal <

and external audit plans

Committee
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In addition to the Group’s principal risks, the business faces
emerging threats which have been identified through horizon
scanning that may potentially impact the business in the longer-
term. The Group Risk and Compliance Committes evaluates
the appropriateness of management planning to address

such emerging risks. In some areas. there may be insufficient
information to understand the scale, impact or velocity of these
risks. Emerging risks continue to be monitered as part of the
ongoing risk management process in order to snsure that action
is taken at the right time.

The Directors confirm that they have carried out a robust
assessment of the principal and emerging risks facing the
Group, including those that would threaten its business model,
future performance, sclvency or liquidity. A description of these
risks, together with details of how they are managed or mitigated,
is set out on pages 46 to 52.

The system of risk management and internal control can anly
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
errors, losses, fraud or breaches of laws and regulations.

The Board also monitors the Company's system of risk
management and internal control and conducts a review of its
effectiveness at least once a year. This year’s review covered
all material controls during the year and up to the date of
approval of the ARA 2020/21, which were approved by the
Audit Committee and the Board.

The diagram opposite shows the governance structure in place
over the Group's risk management activities, as at 29 June 2021,

Risk appetite

Dixons Carphone faces a broad range of risks reflecting the
business environment in which it operates. The risks arising from
the Dixons Carphone business environment and cperating model
can be significant. Successiul financial performance for the
business is achieved by managing these risks through intelligent
decision-making and an effective control environment that details
the processes and controls required to mitigate risk.

The Company's risk appetite is set by the Board and governs the
amount of acceptable risk within which we operate. Our Group
risk appetite is further disaggregated by principal risk and takes
intc consideration the acceptable level of risk across strategic,
operational, financial and regulatory risks faced by the business.
Reference to our appetite in business decisions provides
guidance for objective, risk-aware decision-making. A threg-point
scale is used to assess the risk appetite for each of our principal
risks. If excessive levels of risk are being taken, a series of actions
are identified to bring the risk back within an acceptable level.

Dixons Carphone's general risk appetite is a balanced one

that allows taking measured risk as the Company pursues its
strategic objectives, whilst aiming to manage and minimise risk
in its operations. Dixons Carphone recognises that it is not
possible or necessarily desirable to eliminate all of the risks
inherent in its activities. Acceptance of some rigk is inherent in
operations and necessary to foster innovation and growth within
its business practices.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Committed to effective risk management

The Board has overall responsibility for the system of internal
control and for reviewing its effectiveness. It relies on the Audit
and Risk Committees to assist in this process. In addition,
members of the Executive Committee, operating through the
Risk Committee, are accountable for identifying, mitigating and
managing risks in their area of responsibility. Management is
also responsible for implementing controls that are designed to
ensure regulatory compliance, financial and operational control
and to confirm that these operate effectively to protect the
business from loss,

The move to home working for Corperate and Contact Centre
colleagues as a result of Covid-18 restrictions required a number
of changes to financial, operational, people and technology
processes, Whilst the business needed to adapt its control
environment, the operation of effective control during this pericd
was not diminished.

The Board has conductaed a review over the effectiveness of the
process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant
risks faced by the Group and the operation of related controls.
The Audit Committee further reviewed aspects of the internat
contral envircnment as outlined in the Audit Committee Report
on page 92. The Beard has cansidered the controls findings
raised in the independent auditor's report on pages 131 to

142. No other significant failings or weaknesses wers identified
during the pericd ending 31 Aprit 2021. Where areas have been
identified that require improvement, plans are in place to ensure
that necessary actions are taken and that progress is monitored.
A report of the Principal Risks together with the Viability Staternent
can be found on pages 47 to 53.

Controls, by their very nature, are designed to manage rather
than eliminate risk and can only provide reasconable assurance
against material misstatement or 10ss.

83



84

Dixons Carphone plc Annual Report & Accounts 2020/21

CORPORATE GOVERNANGE
REPORT CONTINUED

OUR SYSTEM OF INTERNAL CONTROL

Qur system of internal control is built on the pillars of Governance, the Tone from the Top. risk management, control activities and
assurance. These are more fully described below:

GOVERNANCE

THE TONE FROM THE TOP

CONTROL ACTIVITIES

The Board has defined a risk appetite which ssts the boundaries within which nisk-based decision-
mahking cam occur and outlines the expectations for the operation of the control environment.
A Delegation of Authonties operates across the Group.

Business planning, annual budgeting process and the setting of personal business objectives
are aligned to ensure focus on delivery of activities to support the delivery of strategic objectives.
Policies and procedures are in place ocutlining the requirements for the control in finance,
operational, technology. regulatory and people areas. These include detailed standards for the
cperation of Infosec, PCl and Data compliance.

Central functions: Finance, HR, Legal Governance and Risk, Health and Safety, Technical
Standards, Technology (which includes Infosec and Data Management) have responsibility

to manage and improve standards of control in their respective areas of responsibility.

The Tone from the Top communicates a clear commitment to do the right thing for customers,
colleagues and shareholders. Colleague behaviours are outlined in the Code of Business Conduct.

The organisation demonstrates its commitment to ethical values through its range of ESG
initiatives and programmes,

The business is committad to maintaining an ethical supply chain and undertakes activities to
ensure that our suppliers satisfy our Besponsible Sourcing policy.

All senior managers are required to complete an annual Ethical Conduct declaration.
The operation of a 24/7 whistleblowing hotline to enable the reporting ¢f breaches of ethical or

policy reguirements.

All major capital and change programmes are evaluated by an Investco process. This includes
consideration of the risk involved to achievement of successtul delivery and the achievement of
projected benefits.

A Transformation Management Office operates to oversee delivery of our major Perform and
Transform change initiatives.

Control activitias operate to manage risk associated with our Technology and Information Security.
These continue to evolve in line with the deployment of new systerns and to meet the challenges
posed by external threats.

A Minimum Controls Framework is in place defining the key financial controls that are expected

to operate across the businesses core processes and activities.

A Conduct Risk and Centrol Framework identifies control objectives for activities that underpin

the delivery of Good Customer Outcomes in our Financial Services regulated activities.

Training and development is provided to colleagues to cover their responsibilities for risk
management. compliance, and their operational obligations.

Our performance management process holds colleagues accountable for their rasponsibilities.
Fraud and loss prevention processes operate across our cmnichannel and Supply Chain activities.
Continuous improvement takes place throughout the organisation to improve the operation of
processes and controls. This informed by actions identified through Internal Audit and Compliance
Monitoring reviews as well as customer feedback, the results of Quality Assurance and through

the Complaints Management process.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

ASSURANGE

A risk identification process operates in accordance with the Group Risk Management
methodology. This ensure that risk management takes place consistently across the Group to
identify and evaluate the significant risks faced by the Group.

The Group risk register covers the principal risks faced by the business, their potential impact
and likelihood of occurrence and the key controls or actions astablished to mitigate these risks.
The risk management framework operates across the business with key business units
undertaking risk assessment and risk management activities,

The Group Risk team undertakes horizon scanning reviews to identify emerging risks and
opportunities that may impact the business.

The Group Risk and Compliance Committee meets at teast four times a year 1o review the
management of risk arising out of the Group’s activities and to moniter the status or risk and
actions at the Group and business unit level.

The Board carries out an assessment of the principal risks, emerging risks together with

matters that would threaten the business model, future performance, solvency and liquidty.

The Audit Committes approves the annual internal audit programme, which ensures that
the significant areas of risk identified through the Group's risk management processes are
monitored and reviewed. The progress of the plan and the results of the audits are reviewed
throughout the year.

A Compliance Monitoring function reviews operatian of financial Services regulated activities.

Annual evaluations are undertaken by business managament against the Minimum Centrol
framework in order {0 ensure that the contral envircnment operates as intended. Any deficiencies
identified are subject to remedial action.

A broad range of assurance activities are undertaken across the business by functional
management to review the management of key risks.

The Group communicates with external stakeholders, including industry bodies and regulators
on the management of risks and issues.
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Internal audit

The Group has an internal audit department which conducts
audits of selected business processes and functions. The
Group's internal audit plan sets out the internal audit programme
for the year and is usually agreed at the April Audit Committee
meeting for the year anead, The internal audit plans are prepared
taking intc account the principal risks across the Group with
input from management and the Audit Committee. The internal
audit plan is designed each year to test the robustness of
financial and operational controls and to determine whether
operating procedures are designed and operating effectively.
The Audit Committee considers the alignment of the internal
audit plan with the principal risks faced by the Group as part

of its approval process. The Audit Committee approved the
2021/22 internal audit plan in Aprit 2021, having considered

the impacts of Covid-1S and the revised audit priorities.

The Audit Committee Chair receives and reviews all reports from
the internal audit department detailing its material findings from
testing performed and any recommendations for improvement.
The Audit Committee receives each audit report with a summary
at each meeting. The internal audit team tracks and reports

on the pregress against the audit plan and the implementation
of action plans agreed with management. Once closed, the
action plans agreed with management can be reviewed to
determine whether any new controls and procedures have been
implemented effectively.

The Audit Committee considered the effectiveness of the

internal audit department y considering; scope, resources and
access to information as laid out in the internal audit charter; the
reporting line of internal audit; the annual internal audit work plan;
and the results of the work of internal audit. The Audit Committee
concluded that the internal audit function operated effectively
during the year.

REMUNERATION

The Remuneration Committee report is available on pages 100
0 129 and covers all the reporting in this section of the Code.

Capital and constitutional disclosures

Information on the Company’s share capital and constitution
required to be included in this Corporate Governance statement
is contained in the Directors’ Report on pages 70 to 72. Such
information is incorporated into this Gorporate Governance
statement by reference and is deemed to be part of it.

The AGM provides an opportunity for the Company 10 engage
with shareholders and for the Board to provide an account of
the progress made by the business during the vear, along with
a synopsis of current issyas facing the business.

For the 2021 AGM, we encourage all shareholders to submit
their questions and votes in advance of the meeting due to
Covid-19. Shareholders can submit any guestions to the
Board via the General Counsel and Company Secratary at
cosec@dixonscarphone.com. We lock forward to receiving
your feedback and questions.

Further financial and business information is available on
the Group’s corporate website, www.dixonscarphone.com.

Lord Livingston of Parkhead
Chair of the Board
29 June 2021
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“Completing the tender process for the
external Auditor has been a significant
project for the Committee this year.”

Gerry Murphy
Acting Chair of the Audit Committee

COMMITTEE Meeting NUMBER OF AUDIT COMMITTEE
MEMBERS Attendance MEETINGS TOPICS COVERAGE 2020/21
Fiona McBain (Chair) 6/70 Bribery and corruption: 1 Internal controls: 2
Eileen Burhidge 77 7 Data protection: 3 IT General Gontrols: 2
Gerry Murphy 7/7® Compliance: 5 Ris?( Review:_ 2
Information and cyber security: 3 Whistleblowing: 5
2020/21 Chair's statement
HIGHLIGHTS | am pleased to present the Audit Committee {the ‘Committee’) Report for the year

*  Completed tender process
for external Auditor

*  Consideration of accounting
and management judgements

* Business deep dives including
IT General controls, information
security, supply chain, payroll
and fraud and loss pravention

* (Ongoing considerations of
the continuing challenge and
implications of the Covid-19
pandemic

FURTHER
INFORMATION

[

www.dixonscarphone.com

21 January 2021 and available on
www.dixonscarphone.com

>

Committee Terms of Reference last approved:

The biographical details for each Committee
member are available on pages 68 and 69.

ended 1 May 2021. This report describes how the Committea has carried out its dutias
to provide independent scrutiny of the Group’s financial reporting, risk managerment
and internal control systems during the year, in order to determine whether these
remain effective and appropriate.

Unfortunately Fiona McBain was taken ill during March 2021 and has taken a
temporary leave of absence from duties. We wish her all the best for her recovery and
look forward to welcoming her back later in 2021. Fiona was present for afl meetings
other than one during the financial year and | have agreed to chair the Committee
meetings until her return.

In addition to the scheduled Committes mestings, the Committee Chair met regularly
with the Group Chief Financial Cfficer, the Chief Information Security Cfficer, the Group
Director of Internal Audit and the external Auditor in the absence of management to
discuss their reports as well as any relevant issues. The other Committee members
also frequently contact members of management directly when they have questions on
Committee papers received. The Committee Chair regularly meets with members of the
Delcitte LLP audit team as part of the ongoing review of their effectiveness. | have met
with Deloitte LLP’'s Head of Audit Quality and Risk, UK to discuss Deloitte’s approach
to audit quality and assurance in connection with the audit of the Group.

A significant area of focus for the Committee during the year was the management of
the tender to appeoint a new external Auditer for the financial year ending in April 2023.
A thorough process was completed by the Committee with the support of several
members of the management team. A description of this process and the outcomes
is included later in the report.

The Committee also considered the continuing implications of the Covid-13 cutbreak
during 2020/21, taking account of external guidance as appropriate as the situation
has evolved. Detalled impact assessments were conducted on the control environment
and on the ‘three lines of defence’ — business operations, risk and compliance and
internal audit.

{1} Flona McBain was albsent from one Committee mesting during the year due Lo iiness.
{2) Gerry Murphy was appointed as Acting Char during the year in Fiona McBain's absence

a7



Dixons Carphone plc Annual Report & Accounts 2020/21

AUDIT
COMMITTEE REPORT CONTINUED

During the year, the Committee considered the accounting
implications of the new Future Mobile Offer in the UK. Information
security, [T infrastructure, data management and regulatory
compliance continue to be important areas of Committee

focus in addition to accounting matters and other duties. The
Committee continues to have oversight across the international
footprint of the Group.

There have nct been any significant changss to the
responsibilities and role of the Committee during this financial
year. The Committee continues to monitor with interest the
external market reforms designad to enhance the quality of
audits and anticipates that there will be an evolution of the
duties of audit committees. The Committee updated its Terms
of Reference during the year to reflect the wider external
reporting requirements including those relating to Environment,
Social and Governance issues.

The Committee considered the requirements arising from the
Companies {(Miscellaneous Reporting) Regulations 2018 and

the 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code as part of the process
1o review the non-financial information included in this Annual
Report, including in particular the section 172(1) statement on
pages 28 to 31.

Meetings and membership

The Committee met seven times during the period under review.
There were six scheduled meetings. One additional Committee
meeting was arranged with management during the year to
enable an additional detailed discussion on the accounting
judgements for the Annual Report. Since the year end, there
has been two further Committee meetings. The Chair of the
Board, Group Chief Executive, Group Chief Financial Officer,
Group Financial Controller, Group Director of Internal Audit,
General Counsel and Company Secretary and representatives
from Deloitte LLP have a standing invite from the Committee
Chair to join all Committee meetings. Other members of senior
management attend Committee meetings by invitation, when
appropriate, including members of the senior leadership

team with responsibility for Information Security and Data
Management and the Director of Group Risk and Insurance.

There have nct been any changes to the membership of

the Committee during the financial year. In compliance with
the Code, the Committee continues to consist exclusively of
independent non-executive directors. The Board continues

to be satisfied that the Chair of the Committee, a member of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales,
and Gerry Murphy, also a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales, meet the requirement for
recent and relevant financial experience. The Committee, as
a whole, has competence relevant to the sector in which the
Company cperates. The Company Secretary, or his nomings,
acts as Secretary to the Committee and attends all meetings.
The Committee’s deliberations are reported by its Chair at the
subseguent Board meeting and the minutes of each meeting
are circulated to all members of the Board following approval.

The Committee members meet without management present

before and after each Committee meeting. The Group Director
of Internal Audit and representatives of Deloitte LLP are invited

to these private discussions periodically to allow discussion of

matters which the external Auditor or Group Director of Internal
Audit may wish to raise in the absence of management.

In undertaking its duties, the Committee has access 1o the
services of the Group Director of Internal Audit, the Group Chief
Financial Officer, the Company Secretary and their respective
teams, as well as external professional advice as necessary.
The Board makes funds available to the Committee to enable

it to take indepenclent legal, accounting or other advice when
the Committee believes it necessary to do so.

Looking ahead

Some aspects of the business transformation of the Group wera
delayed by the impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic. The Covid-1S
pandemic has also had extensive impact on the Group’s
operations with store cicsures and resulted in fundamental
changes to current, and most likely future, customer behaviours
and the risks to which companies are exposed. The Committee
will continue to keep those considerations and risks that fall within
the Committee's remit under review. The Committee will continue
10 support the business transformation work by reviewing and
challenging the governance, risk and control environments
relating to these key strategic plans. The Committee will continue
1o receive presentations from management on the challenges
faced by the business and the operation of internal controls.

The Committee will alsc continue to monitor the operation of the
‘three lines of defence’, as well as the evolving enterprise risk
landscape and regulatory environment.

Responsibilities

The Committee assists the Board in fulfiling its oversight
responsibilities by acting independently from the Executive
directers. There is an annual schedule of items which are
allccated to the meetings during the year to monitor that the
Committee covers fully those items within its Terms of Reference.
These items are supplemented throughout the year as key
matters arise.

Key matters considered
The principal activities of the Committee during 2026/21 included:

s completing a tender process for the appointment of a new
external Auditor for the 2022/23 financial year;

* considering significant accounting and reporting judgements,
the appropriateness of taxation disclosures and the
appropriateness of the Group's going concern position and
longer-term viability statement;

» considering and recommending that the Annual Report and
Accounts (ARAY) 2020/21, when taken as a whole, are fair,
balanced and understandable;

s reviewing the interim results in December 2020;

s considering the presentation, faimess, and balance of
the Group's afternative performance measures (APMs');



reviewing all correspondence from and to the Financial
Reporting Council {'FRC') following a reguest for further
information on certain aspects of the ARA 2018/19. Further
information can be found later in the report on page 8G;

considering the findings for the FRC's Audit Quality Review
team's review of the external audit for 2018/20:

considering the accounting implications of the closure of
Dixons Travel arnd the Carphiune Warshouse Ireland stores
and the Future Mobile Offer;

considering the implications of the Covid-19 cutbreak
relevant to the remit of the Committee;

reviewing the Group Risk Register and considering the
effectiveness of the risk management system and internal
controls, operated by management;

considering updates on IT General Controls, Information
Security, IT infrastructure and Data Management;

providing oversight of the businesses regulated by the
Financial Conduct Authority (FCA'} and receiving reports
frorn the Head of Compliance;

approving the internal audit annual plan, considering internal
audit reports and management actions, and monitoring

the effectiveness cof internal audit in line with the approved
internal audit charter,

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS INVESTOR INFORMATION

+ considering the external audit plan, audit reports and
updates from Deloitte LLP;

+ considering the effectiveness of the external Auditor and the
reappointment of the external Auditor; and

* receiving presentations and challenging management on
matters such as system access controls, data management,
payment processes, supplier funding, regulatory
compliance-related customer claims, minimum control
standards assessments, whistleblowing, procedures in place
to prevent bribery and corruption, steck loss and fraud theft,
Supply Chain and Repairs and colleagus payroll.

Accounting and financial reporting matters

The Committee is responsible for considering reports from the
external Auditor on its work and findings and meonitoring the
integrity of the interim statement and annual report and accounts
in conjunction with senior management. During the year ended

1 May 2021, consideration was given to the suitability and
application of the Group's accounting pclicies and practices,
including areas where significant levels of judgement have

been applied or significant items have been discussed with

the external Auditor.

PRINCIPAL DUTIES OF THE COMMITTEE

Accounting and financial reporting matters

monitoring the integrity of the interim statement and annual
report and accounts, and any formal announcements
relating to the Group’s financial perforrmance;

reviewing significant financial reporting judgements and
accounting palicies,

advising the Board on whether, as a whale, the

annual report and accounts are fair, balanced and
understandable;

considering the going concern statement;

considering and reviewing the statement of the Group’s
viability over a specified period;

having regard to the applicable legal, regulatory and
best practice requirements and standards for reporting
including the UK Corporate Governance Code, the

UK Financial Reporting Council, the FCAs Disclosure
and Transparency Rules and Listing Rules and the
recommendations of the Taskforce on Climate-related
Financial Disclosure;

Risk management and internal control

reviewing the Group's financial controls and internal
control effectiveness and maturity,

reviewing the Group's risk management systems
and risk appetite;

considering whistleblowing arrangements by which
colleagues may raise concems about possible
improprieties in financial reporting or other matters;

Internal audit

* approving the appointment of the Group Director of
internal Audit;

« monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of the Group's
internal audit function;

* approving the internal audit plan;

* considering the reports of work performed by internal
audit and reviewing the actions taken by management
to implement the recommendations of internal audit:

« ¢onsidering the major findings of internal investigations;

External audit

* considering recommendation ¢of the external Auditor’s
appointment to the shareholders in general meeting and
approving their remuneration,

* raviewing the results and conclusions of work performed
by the external Auditor;

* raviewing and monitoring the relationship with the
external Auditor, including their independence. objectivity.
effectiveness and terms of engagement;

General matters

* any specific topics as defined by the Board; and

* referring matters to the Board which, in its opinion,
should be addressed at a meeting of the Board.
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AGCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
REPORTING MATTERS

Going concern and
viahility statements

MATTERS CONSIDERED AND HOW THE COMMITTEE DISCHARGED ITS DUTIES

The Committee reviewed the processes and assumptions underlying both the going concern and longer-term
viability statements made on page 53 of the ARA 2020/21.

In particular, the Committee considered:

* theimpact in respect of the Covid-18 pandamic situation;

* management’s assessment of the Group's prospects including its current position, assessment of principal
business risks and its current business model. future cash forecasts. historical cash flow forecasting
accuracy, profit projections, available financing facilities, faciity headroom and banking covenants;

the appropriateness of the three-year time pericd under assessment, noting the period is covered by the
Group’s detailed strategic plan, as well as the shorter-term nature of the retail market in which the Group
operates; and

» the robustness and severity of the stress-test scenarios with reference to the Group's risk register, those
principal nsks and mitigating actions as described on pagas 46 to 52 of the ARA 2020/21, ihe latest Board-
approved budgets, strategic plans, and indicative headroom under the current facilities available — examples
of which included the impact of regulatory, taxation or information security incidents, and reduced forecast
profitability and cash flow as a result of a significant change in mobile phone consumer behavicur,

The Committee concurred with management's conclusions that the viability statement, including the
three-year period of assessment, disclosed on page 53 of the ARA 2020/21 is appropriate. The Board
was advised accordingly.

Fair, balanced and
understandable

In ensuring that the Group's reporting is fair, balanced and understandable, the Committee reviewed the
classification of items batween adjusting and non-adjusting itemns including consideration of the £123 million
pre-tax adjusting items disclosed in note AS in the glossary and definitions section of the ARA 2020/21,

and the tax impact thereon. The assessment considered whether items fell within the Group's definition

of adjusting items as well ag the consistency of treatment of such items year on year,

The Committee gave due consideration to the integrity and sufficiency of information disclosed in the ARA
2020/21 to ensure that they explain the Group's position, performance, business model and strategy. An
assessment of narrative reporting was included to ensure consistency with the financial reporting section,
including appropriate disclosure of material adjusting items, and appropriate balance and prominence

of statutory and non-statutory performance measures. In response to the guidelines on Alternative
Performance Measures (APMSs') issued by the European Securities and Markets Authority {ESMA),

the Committes considered the use of such measures and the additional informaticn on those APMs

used by the Group is provided in the glossary on pages 216 to 231,

The Committee concluded that the ARA 2020721, taken as a whole, are fair, balanced and understandabie,
and that the measures used and disclosures made are appropriate to provide users of the ARA 2020/21
with a meaningful assessment of the performance of the underlying operations of the Group; the Board
was advised of the conclusion.

Financial Reporting
Council (‘FRG’)

In March 2020 the Group received a letter from the FRC requesting further information following a review by the
FRC of the annual report and accounts 2018/19. The guestions raised principally related to revenue recognition
associated with network commissions, alternative performance measures, tax provisioning, impairment, and
liguidity risk disclosures.

The Audit Committee reviewed and approved the Group’s responses to the FRC. Within the current financial
year. the Groug's correspondence with the FRC closed satisfactorily with agreement on enhanced disclosures.
The Group initially included the enhanced disclosures within the annual report and accounts 28319/20 whilst the
constructive correspondence was in the final stages.

The enhanced disciosure predominantly related to revenue recognition associated with network commissions
and is included within note 15 in thig year's Annual Beport and Accounts.

The Committee also considered the findings of the FRC's Audit Quality Review team's review of the 2019/20 audit.

Giosure of Carphone
Warehouse Ireland and
Dixons Travel

During the year. the Company announced the closure of its Carphone Warehouse stores in Ireland and its Dixons
Travel stores. The Committee carefully considered the impact of this announcement an the financial statements
2020/21. In particular, the Committee considered the impact of the store closures on the impairment of assets
including the IFRS 16 right-of-use lease assets, the restructuring provisions recognised, and the assessment of
the existence of any onercus contracts as a result of the decision. The Committee also considered the treatrment
of store Closure related costs as adjusting items when censidering if the ARA as a whole are far, balanced. and
understandable.

Following detailed review, the Committee agreed with management's conclusions that the judgements and
estimates and accounting treatment applisd are appropriate.
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MATTERS OF SIGNIFICANCE
AND AREAS OF JUDGEMENT

Matters of significance
and areas of judgement

MATTERS CONSIDERED AND HOW THE COMMITTEE DISGHARGED ITS DUTIES

The Committee received reports and recommendations from management and the external Auditor setting out
the significant accounting issues and judgements applicable to the following key areas. These were discussed
and challenged, where appropriate, by the Committee. Following debate, the Committee concurred with
management’s conciusions.

Revenue recognition

The Group discloses revenue recognition in relation to network commissions as a 'key source of estimation
uncertainty” as set cut in note 1t to the Group financial statements.

The Committee reviewed management's assessment of these policies with reference to contractual terms, the
Group's historical experience of customer behaviour, refiability of information received from MNOs, legislative
changes, future expectation of consumer behaviour and changes in the trends within the mobile industry.
Particular attention was paid to the consistency of application of the undertying assumptions used, significant
changes in inputs to the valuation model. historical forecasting accuracy. and the network commission contract
assets and receivables disclosures included in note 15 to the Group financial statements. The carrying value

of ongoing network commission contract assets and receivables at the balance shaet date was £239 million
(2019/20: £6818 million}.

Supplier funding

A number of arrangements exist relating to supplier funding across the Group, including promaotional support
and volume rebates. The Committee has continued to challenge and debate with management its approach
to its recognition and accounting treatment of supplier funding. In addition, the Committee continues to
rmonitor the effectiveness of the controls in place to mitigate the risk of material misstaternent of supplier
funding recognition. Further information in relation to suppler funding can be found in note 1d to the Group
financial statements.

Impairment testing

of goodwill, intangible
assets and store-based
assets

The Group has significant goodwill, intangible assets and store-based assets which are reviewed for
impairment annually, or where there is an indicator of impairment. The Committee reviewed apprepriateness
and accuracy of cash flow forecasts, discount rates and long-term growth rates used in the Impairment review
performed at both the interim and year end dates. Specific attention was paid to cash flow forecasts in ight

of the Covid-18 pandemic. and the level of sensitivities applied by management in determining reasonably
possible changes to cash flows. As part of the review of the store-based asset imparmant assessmeant,
whereby a material impairment was recognised within the period, particular attention was given to the key
assumpticns of how customers will behave in the future, in terms of shopping in store and/or online and the
implications on the impairment modeling.

As a result of a strategic change, a multiyear ERP solution that was recorded within capitalised development
costs is being replaced with a new set of cloud hosted solutions to support the Group’s omnichannel strategy.
Consequently, a significant impairment charge and onerous contract costs were recognised as adjusting
items. The Committee reviewed the strategic decision made and the appropriateness of the impairment and
onerous contract accounting treatment and disclosure. Further informaticn can be found in note 9 to the Group
financial statements.

Taxation

The Group operates across multiple tax jurisdictions. The complex nature of tax legislation in certan
jurisdictions can necessitate the use of jJudgement.

The Committee reviewed the judgements and assumptions concerning any significant tax exposures. including
progress made on matters being discussed with tax authorities and, where applicable. advice provided by

external advisors. The total provisions recognised at the balance sheet date amounted to £65m (2019/20: £83m).

The Committee also reviewed the appropriateness of the disclosures made around tax provisions, and the
disclosure of refated contingent liabilities.

Review by the FRC's Audit Quality Review team (the "Review team')

The FRC's Audit Quality Review (AQR) team monitors the quality of audit work of certain UK audit firms through annual inspections
of a sample of audits and related procedures at individual audit firms. During the year. the FRC's Audit Quality Review Team (AQRT)
reviewed Deloitte’s audit of the Group’s financial statements for the year ended 2 May 2020 as part of its annual inspection of audit
firms. The Audit Committee received and reviewed the final report from the AQRT which indicated that there were no significant

areas of concemn.
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Risk management and internal control

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the Group’s risk management and internal control systems. Details of the overall
risk management and governance palicies and procedures are given in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 73 to 86 of this
ARA 2020/21. The Committee reviewed management’s assessment of risk and internal contrel, results of work performed by

the second lines of defence and internal audit, and the results and contrcls observations arising from the interim review procedures
and the annual audit performed by the external Auditor. The Committee also ensured that all Risk topics were covered, as defined
by its Terms of Reference. with detailed reviews of risk topics scheduled throughout the year monitering potential areas of concern.

Specific matters considered by the Committee to discharge its duties are detaited below:

RISK MANAGEMENT AND

INTERNAL CONTROL MATTERS CONSIDERED AND HOW THE COMMITTEE DISCHARGED ITS DUTIES

Bribery and corruption * The Committee reviewed the arrangements put in place to satisfy reguirernents to comply with
requlation for anti-bribery and corruption,

Data protection * The Committee reviewed data protection compliance throughout the Group, particularly in relation to
the embedding of policies, procedures and processes implementsd to comply with the requirements
of EU General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR").

Compliance + The Committee reviewed the nature of tinancial services regulated activities across the Group's

business operations and the governance and oversight arrangements for the operation of an effective
FCA compliance regime in the business. The Committee considered compliance and regulatory
reports prepared by the Regulatory Compliance Gommittee {BCC'y and monitored key developments
and ongoing activities for the compliance team in areas of governance, pelicy and compliance
manitoring.

Information security and =
IT controls framework

The Committee regularly reviews the progress of the ongoing security improvement programme and
periodically considers and reviews the IT general controls ('1TGC") framework and related improvement
initiatives progressed by the management team, in arder to monitor that appropriate actions are taken.

The Company is currently undergoing a large transformation programme across many areas of the
business including its IT infrastructura. All transformation programmes are managed in {fine with

the Group risk management methodology to manage the nsk appropriately in order to provide
reasonakble reassurance against material losses. This control framework is intended to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of fallure and oversight of the security programme 1s provided by the Audit
Committee that, along with the Board. receives regular updates on the progress and maturity of our
control environment.

During the year, the Committee received a report highlighting a material weakness resulting from

a number of deficiencies in controls for Access Management and other areas such as segregation

of duties due to the limited progress made against the improvement plan agreed with the Board.

This was due to the unforeseen and critical IT demand and impact from the Covid-19 pandemic
response which directly affected operational resource. The Committes has actively ensured that the
improvement plan was appropriate and this has resulted in a revised programme of remediation to
re-establish and enhance controls in this area. Reporting of progress against these plans wil continue
at Executive and Audit Committee level.

Internal controls .

As per the obligations placed on the Committee under the Code, the Committee formally considerad
a review of the system of risk management and internal control. The Committee noted developments
in the system of risk management and internal control, management plans for 2020/21 and agreed the
statements contained in the ARA 2020/21. The Committee continues to review the results of Internal
Audit reviews and Minimum Controls Standards assessments.

Whistleblowing .

The Committee reviews a summary at every meeting of all whistlebiowing calls recelved by the Group,
both through the independently operated hotling and other channels. The Cammittee confirmed that
the calls had been appropriately dealt with {both individually and in aggregate) in accordance with the
Group’s whistleblowing policy.
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Internal audit

internal audit is an independent, objective assurance function that impartially appraises the Group's control activities. Internal audit
works with management to help improve the overall control environment and assist Group management, the Audit Committee and
the Board in discharging their respective duties relating to maintaining an adequate and effective system of internal control and risk
management, and safeguarding the assets, activities and interests of the Group.

INTERNAL AUDIT MATTERS CONSIDERED AND HOW THE COMMITTEE DISCHARGED ITS DUTIES

Audit reviews of
significant risk areas

The Committee considered the alignment of the annual internal audit plan with the key risks of
the business.

During the period, internal audits included coverage of the following significant risk areas of
the business:

— information security and data protection;

— business transformation;

— [T rasilience, integrity and disaster recovery:

— relationships with major suppliers:

- health and safety;

— business continuity;

- product safety; and

— financial services regulatory compliance.

The Committee considered the key trends and material findings arising from internal audit’s work
and the adequacy of the agreed management actions in relation to those findings.

Assurance programme

The Committee approved the annual internal audit plan and received an update relating to the
execution of the annual plan at each Committee meeting.

The Committee also considered how the internal audit plan was realigned in light of the Covd-19
pandemic.

As part of the rolling assurance programme, audits were performed over the following processes
to provide assurance to the Committee that controls were operating within these areas:

- general business contrals relating to UK and Ireland aperations including the Senior Managers
Certification regime readiness, HR transformation programme, Identity and Access management,
major change programimes, customer experience and complaints reporting, Hong Keng sourcing,
supplier funding and finangial ragulation adherance;

- Nordics programme assurance, franchisee management, data protection, stock, returns and goods
not for resale processes and controls;

- Greek health and safety and franchisee management; and

- risk management effectiveness.

The Gommittee considered the actions taken by management in relation to the audit findings.

The Committee considered the results from these audits during its assessment of the effectiveness
of the system of internal control operated by management. The Committee concluded that the system
of internal control was appropriately monitored and managed.

Effectiveness of internal
audit and adequacy of
its resources

The Committee approved the internal audit charter, concluding the role and mandate were appropriate
to tha current needs of the organisation.

The Committee monitored the work of internal audit and formally reviewed the effectiveness of internal
audit and the adequacy of its resources, considenng:

— scope, resources and access to information as laid out in the internal audit charter;

— the reporting line of internal audit;

— the annual internal audit work plan; and

the results of the work of internal audit.

The Committee concluded that the internal audit department had in all respects been effective

during the period under review and performed its duties in accordance with its agreed charter.
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External audit

The external Auditor is appointed by shareholders to provide an opinion on the annual report and accounts and certain disclosures
prepared by Group managemeant. Deloitte LLP acted as the external Auditor to the Group throughout the year. The Committee is
responsiole for oversight of the external Auditor. including approving the annual audit plan and all associated audit fees. The key
matters in relation tc external audit that were considered by the Committee were:

EXTERNAL AUDIT MATTERS CONSIDERED AND HOW THE COMMITTEE DISCHARGED ITS DUTIES

Effectiveness of the * The Committee reviewed and agreed the annual audit plan. specifically considering the
external Auditor appropriateness of the key nsks identified and proposed audit work, the scope of the audit and
matenality levels applied which are detailed in the Independent Auditor's report on pages 131 to 142,

* Ag part of the reporting of the half year and full year results, the Committes reviewed the reports
presented by Deloitte LLP in assessing the Group's significant accounting judgements and estimates,
and considered the audit work undertaken, level of challenge and quality of reporting.

* Following the 2018/20 year end, feedback on the effectivenass of the audit process in addressing
areas of key audit risk was obtained from members of the Committee and regular attendees,
members of the finance team and senior management within the businesses via a specifically
designed questionnaire. The responses were then considered by the Committee in conjunction with
the outputs received and responsivenass of the Auditor during the audit process. The results showed
a favourable view of the audit process and of Delcitte LLP as the external Auditor, specifically in
relation to the consistent performance noted for guality of audit delivery, level of challenge, integrity
and service of the team, the constructive relationship and the effectiveness of the communication.

Foliowing due consideration of the above, the Committae continues to be satisfied with the quality
and effectiveness of the external audit.

Auditor independence * The Committee considered the external Auditor’s assessment of and declaration of independsnce
presented in the annual audit plan and final audit report, and the safeguards in place to make such
declarations.

¢ The Committee considered the annual audit fee and fees for non-audit services, with due regard
to the balance between audit and non-audit fees and the nature of non-audit fees undertaken in
accordance with the policy as set out below.

s The Committee reviewed and approved the Group policy on the employment of former employees
of the external Auditor in March 2021.

Policy on provision of non-audit services provided by the external Auditor
Under the Group's policy on Auditor independence, the Auditor may only provide services which include:

{a) audit services comprising issuing audit opinions on the Group's consclidated financial statements and on the statutory financial
statements of subsidiaries and joint ventures;

by audit-related services comprising review of the Group’s consolidated interim financial statements. and opinions / audit reports on
information provided by the Group upon requast from a third party such as prospectuses, comfort fetters and rent certificates,
etc; and

(¢} services otherwise required of the Auditor by local law or regulation.

Any exceptions are subject to pre-approval by the Group Chief Financial Officer, and such permission is only granted in exceptional
circumstances. Where the non-audit assignmeant is expected to generate fees of over £100,000, prior approval must be obtained
from the Committee.

During the period under review, the non-audit services performed by the external Auditor primarily arose from the interim financial
review procedures and the requirement in Greek law for the external Auditor of the Company to provide tax compliance services.
The Committee has reviewed the services performed by the extarnal Auditor during the year and is satisfied that these services
did not prejudice the external Auditor's independence and that it was appropriate for them to perform these services,

The level of non-audit fees paid to the external Auditor, which was approved by the Committee, is set out in note 3 1o the Group
financial statements and amounted to £0.5m (2019/20: £0.5m) compared with £1.6m (2019/20: £1.5m) of audit fees. The non-audit
fees as a percentage of audit fees were 31.3% (2019/20: 33.3%), which reflects the restrictive policy governing the use of Deloitte
LLP for non-audit services.



2020/21 external Auditor tender process

Deloitte LLP has been the Company’s external Auditor since
the Company was formed on 7 August 2014 by the marger

of Carphone Warehouse and Dixons Retail. Deloitte LLP was
the external Auditor of both Carphone Warehouse and Dixons
Retail prior to 2014,

In accordance with the Competition and Markets Authority
('CMAY) Statutory Audit Services Order, which is designed to
align with provisions of the EU Regulations on external audit
tender and rotation, and current guidance, the last period that
Deloitte LLP can remain as Auditor is the 2022/23 financial vear.

In accordance with the Auditing Practices Board Ethical
Standards, there is a five-year rotation of the lead audit partner.
Stephen Griggs, the current lead audit partner, was appointed
for the 2016/17 audit and is therefore required to rotate following
completion of the 2020/21 audit. David Griffin, currently Key
Audit Partner for UK and Groug, will move into the role of lead
audit partner for the 2021/22 financiat year.

During the year, the Committee led a comprehensive tender
process to select a new external Auditor for the 2022/23 financial
year. Five firms were approached, including two ‘middle tier’
firms. A formal RFP document was then issued to three firms
and two firms participated in the full process. The Committes
agreed a clear set of evaluation criteria and critical success
factors having considered the suggested criteria in the FRC
guidance. The two firms submitted two lead partner CVs for
consideration and comprehensive tender documents. Both
firms attended meetings with a number of colleagues from
senior management teams and presented to a selection panel
comprised of the Audit Committes members and colleagues
from the Finance and Procurement teams. Each firm provided
four referees for the proposed Lead Audit Partners.

Both firms submitted high guality proposals and the scores
against the evaluation criteria were very close. The Board
considered the report of the Audit Committee on the process
and concurred with the chaoice of the preferred audit firm.
KPMG LLF will be appointed as the Auditor of the Company
for the financial year 2022/28 subject to shareholder approval
to be sought at the Company’s AGM expected to be held in
September 2022

Where necessary, any non-audit services provided by KPMG to
the Company ceased by 1 May 2021 in order to meet specificd
‘cooling-in' requirements in the year before appointment.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS INVESTOR INFORMATION

Consideration of external Auditor appointment
and independence

The Committee considers the appropriateness of the
reappaintment of the external Auditor each year, including
the rotation of the audit partner.

In accordance with FRC’s International Standards on Auditing
(UK and Ircland) 260 and Ethical Standard 1 issued by the
Accounting Practices Board, and as a matter of best practice,
at year end Deloitte LLP formally confirmed to the Board its
independence as Auditor of the Company.

In determining whether to recommend the Auditor for
reappointment this year, the Committee considered the Audit
firm'’s internal control procedures, the most recent audit
effectiveness review and the tenure of the current lead audit
partner, and thereby affirmed that the audit processes are
effective and that the appropriate independence continues to
be met. Accordingly, the Company confirms that it complied
with the provisions of the CMA Statutory Audit Services Crder
for the financial year under review and the Committee concluded
that it was in the best interests of the Company’s shareholders
to reappoint Deloitte LLF as the independent Auditor of the
Company. The Committee’s recommendation, that a resclution
to reappoint Deloitte LLP be proposed at this year's AGM, was
accepted and endorsed by the Board.

Gerry Murphy
Acting Chair of the Audit Committee
29 June 2021
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COMMITTEE Meeting NUMBER OF
MEMBERS Altendance MEETINGS
Jonny Mason (Chair} 77

Alex Baldock 7 7

Nigel Paterson w7

Alternate members:

lan Livingsten, Chair of the Board and
Tony DeNunzio, Senior Independent Director

2020/21
HIGHLIGHTS

Preliminary results for the financial year ended 2 May 2020
Interim results for the half year ended 31 October 2020
Trading updates

Assessment of whether trading performance reguired the
release of a trading update

Chair’s statement

| am pleased to present the Disclosure Committee (the
‘Committee’) Report for the year ended 1 May 2021. The
principal role of the Committee is to ensure that adeguate
procedures, systems and controls are maintained to enable
the Company to fully meet its legal and regulatory obligations
regarding the timely and accurate identification and disclosure
of all price sensitive information.

The Committee is comprised of the Group Chief Financial Officer

(Committee Chair}, the Group Chief Executive and the General
Counse! and Company Secretary. The Chair of the Beard and
the Senicr Independent Director receive notices and papers for

all meetings and are able to act as 'alternates’ to the Committee

members in the event that the guorum of three cannot be met,
This has not been necessary during the year and all Committee
members have been able to attend all meetings. The Company

Secretary, or their nominee, acts as Secretary to the Committee.

The Committee’s deliberations are reported by its Chair at
the naxt Board meeting and the minutes of each meeting are
circulated to all members of the Board.

The Committee was considered as part of the internal board
and commitiee effectiveness review that was carried out this
year and this review concluded that the Committee discharges
its duties effectively.

Meetings

There were seven Committee meetings during 2020/21. Since
the financial year end, there has been one further meeting.
Committee meetings are scheduled in advance of preliminary
and interim results announcements and in advance of trading

updates. Meetings are convened as requested by any Commitiee

member at other times as required, The Committee receives
input as appropriate from the other directors, the Company's
rokers and senior management. The Committee invites the
Group Strategy and Corporate Affairs Director 1o attend all

meetings and he attended all meetings held during 2020/21.

Responsibilities
The principal duties of the Disclosure Committee are to:

¢ establish and maintain adequate procedures, policies,
systems and controls to enable the Company to fully
comply with its legal and regulatory obligations regarding
the timely and accurate identification and disclosure of all
price sensitive information;

determine whether information is inside information and
if it requires immediate disclosurg;

keep under review the adeqguacy of the Disclosure
and Communications Policies, implement and monitor
compliance;

monitor communications received from any regulatory
pody in relation to the conduct of the Group, and review
any proposed responses;

consider generally the requirement for announcements,
including in relation to the delayed disclosure of inside
information, substantive market rumours, and leaks of
inside information;

consider and give final approval for trading statements
and / or results to be released in order to mest legal and
regulatory requirements; and

review the content of all material regulatory announcements,
transactional shareholder circulars, prospectuses, and any
other documents issued by the Company, and ensure that
these comply with all applicable requirements.

Key matters considered
During the year ended 1 May 2021, the Committee met to
congider the following key matters:

the preliminary results for the financial year ended 2 May 2020,
the trading update for the 17 weeks ended 29 August 2020;
the interim results for the 26 weeks ended 31 October 2020,

the Peak trading update for the 10 weeks ended 9 January
2021;

the pre-year end update released on 28 April 2021; and

whether current performance constituted inside information
and required the issue of updated financial guidance.

Jonny Mason
Chair of the Disclosure Committee
29 June 2021



NOMINATIONS
COMMITTEE REPORT

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS INVESTOR INFORMATION

GCOMMITTEE Meeting NUMBER OF
MEMBERS Attendance MEETINGS
lan Livingston (Chair) 73

Tony De Nunzio 373 8

Andrea Gisle Joosen 73

2020721
HIGHLIGHTS

* Received an update on talent development in the
Leadership team

e Considerad Board succession planning
*  Appointed a new Group Chiet Financial Officer

Chair’s statement

| am pleased to present the Nominations Committee (the
‘Committeg’) Report for the year ended 1 May 2021, The
Committee has continued to oversee the structure, size and
composition of the Board during the ysar, having regard to

its collective skills, knowledge, experience and diversity in all
its forms. This report sets out the key responsibilities of the
Nominations Committee and describes how it has discharged
its duties.

The Committee received an update on the external governance
and best practice standards that relate to its remit in November
2020. The Committee concluded that the Board's size and
compaosition remained appropriate to meet the current leadership
needs of the business and cperational needs of the Company.

In reaching this conclusion, the Committee considered the

time commitments of each director, director independence,
director tenure. the diversity of the Board, the collective skills

and experience of the Board, directors’ external appointrments
and potential conflicts of interests.

The Board currently meets the voluntary diversity targets in both
the Hampton Alexander review and Parker review although it will
seek opportunities further 1G increase diversity in its membership.
The Committee welcomed the establishment of an Inclusion and
Diversity forum set up during the year to focus on increasing the
diversity of the workforce.

FURTHER
INFORMATION

[ ]

www.dixonscarphone.com

Committee Terms of Reference last
approved: 21 January 2021 and available
on www.dixonscarphone.com.

>

The biographical details for sach Committes
member are available on pages 68 and 69.

Although succession planning and the oversight of the
development of a diverse pipeting for succession fall within the
remit of the Committee, these discussions have also taken place
at Board meetings during 2020/21 in addition to Committee
meetings. The Board received a comprehensive update on
talent and succession planning for key roles during March 2021.
Enhancing diversity and overseeing the succession planning
process for key roles remains a priority for the whole Board. As
delivering the colleague agenda is a critical component of the
successful business transformation of the Group, this work has
been led by the Committee but has warranted further input from
all directors.

Meetings and membership

The Committee meets as and when required and at least twice
a year, The Committes held three scheduled meetings during
the financial year in addition 1o the virtual' Board dinner in
March 2021, The majority of the members of the Committes are
independent non-executive directors as required by the Code.
Cther members of the Board or senicr management can attend
meetings at the invitation of the Committee Chair. The Company
Secretary, or their nominee, acts as Secretary to the Committee.
The Committee's deliberations are reported by its Chair at

the next Beard mesting and the minutes of each meeting are
circulated to all members of the Board.

Responsibilities
The principal duties of the Nominations Committes are o

s revigw the structure, size and composition of the Board,
and recommend changes to the Board as necessary;

* give full consideration to orderly succession planning for both
the Board and senior management positions and oversee
the development of a diverse pipeline for succession;

* identify and nominate candidates to fill vacancies on the
Board when they arise;

s carry out a formal, rigorous and transparent setection
pracess of candidates, giving due regard to promating the
benefits of diversity on the Board and senior management
team, including gender, social and ethnic backgrounds,
and cognitive and personal strengths; and

* review all the recommendations from the annual board
effectiveness process that relate 1o Board compaosition,
diversity or how effectively board members work together.
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Key matters considered
The principal activities of the Committee during 2020/21
included the:

* consideration and recommendation to the Board of
the approval of the appointment of a new Group Chief
Financial Officer;

s avalualicn ol lhe size, composition and structure of the
Board and its committees;

* consideraticn of the independence and time commitments
of the directors;

* evaluation of director effectiveness during the year and
approval that each director be recommended for re-glaction
at the 2021 AGM other than Jonny Mascn who will step
down from the Board in July 2021,

* approval of the Company’s diversity policy taking account
of the recommendations of the Hampton-Alexander Review,
Parker Review, and McGraegor-Smith Review,

« approval of the director external appointments policy;
» approval of Committes’s Terms of Reference;

* approval of the role descriptions of the Chair of the
Board, Senior Independent Director and the Group
Chief Executive; and

« consideration of external corporate governance
developments relating to the remit of the Committee.

Board evaluation

Following an externally facilitatec Board effectiveness revisw in
2018/12, an internal evaluation of the Board was carried out by
way of questionnaires and individual interviews with the Chair of
the Board for 2020/21. The evaluation process concluded that
overall the Committee was operating effectively. Further detalls
on the outcomes of the Board effectiveness review are available
on page 79.

Appointments to the Board

The Committee has a formal, rigorous and transparent
procedure for the appeintment of new directors. Appointments
are made to the Board based on objective criteria and with due
regard to the benefits of diversity and the leadership needs of
the Company. External search consultancies are used when
recruiting directors.

The Committee uses a skills matrix tool when assessing the
skills and capabilities required in a new director, taking into
account the existing experience and expertise on the Board.
The Committee develops candidate profiles describing the
skills. knowledge and experience required for each new role.

DCuring the year, the Committee proposed that Bruce Marsh
be appointed as Group Chief Financial Officer 1o fill this
vacancy following Jonny Mason's decision to move on to
new axternal cpportunities.

The Committee members were involved in the search and
recruitment process for this role and recommended the approval
of Bruce Marsh to the Board for reascns including his strong
track record in delivering complex business transformations and
leading high-quality finance teams together with his extensive
retail experiance. including in the finance team of Dixons Retail.

Succession planning

The Group requiras a talented Board with appropriate
experience, expertise and diversity. The Committee considered
the size of the Board during the year. While the Committee

was satisfied that the current Board size of eight directors was
appropriate and effective, the Committee agreed that it would be
prudent to appoint a further one or two additional non-executive
directors during 2021/22 to manage the succession planning
nesds of key Board roles. Two non-executive directors will reach
anine-year tenure in August 2023 and the Chair of the Board
and Senior Independent Director both reach a nine-year tenure in
December 2024, The Committee have therefore prepared a role
profile that takes into account the skills and capabilities of the
current Board. The Chair of the Board discussed the draft role
profile with each Board director individually during the meetings
held for the Board sffectivenass review process to discuss

the Board succession planning needs and ensure that every
Board member was able to contribute, The Committee will

lead the recruitment search during the next year and propose
any suitable candidates to the Board for approval.

Curing the year, the Executive Committee carried out a detailed
talent review across every area of the business. Succession
plans are in place for every member of the Executive Committee.
The fuli Board including the Committee members received an
update from the People team on Talent and Succession planning
during the 'virtual' Board dinner in March 2021. The Chair of

the Board who is also the Committee Chair receives regular
updates during the yaar directly from the People team on key
appointments and initiatives. The Committee, together with the
Board, is focused on ensuring that credible succession plans
are maintained and that there is a talent pipeline for future
business leaders.

Diversity

The Company is committed to developing a diverse workforce
and equal opportunities for all. The Board recognises that
enhancing diversity in all its forms is a critical part of having

an effective and engaged warkforce which in turn supports
the long-term sustainable success of the business.

The Board meets the voluntary targsts recommended by the
Hampton-Alexander Review and the Parker Review. At the
end of the financial year 37.5% of the Board, and 22% of the
Executive Committee, are female. One member of the Board
meets the criteria as set out in the Parker Review. Whilst the
Board is strongly supportive of enhancing all forms of diversity
across the Board and wider workforce as a matter of priority,
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the Board does not currently set specific targets on gender
balance or ethnicity. The Committee and the Board continue

to be very mindful of the benefits of greater diversity of gender,
sccial and ethnic backgreunds, and cognitive and persongal
strengths, in all appointments. The Board will actively seek to
enhance diversity on the Board dunng 2021/22 by taking steps
to increase the number of diverse candidates to be included in
any appcintment precess. An Inclusion and Diversity Farum was
established during 2020721 to seek to enhance diversity across
the workforce.

In accordance with DTR 7.2.84A, the Committee confirms that a
Diversity Policy is in place and was last reviewed and approved
by the Committee in November 2020. The Board no longer has

a separate policy that cnly applies to the Board but has approved
the adoption of the Group policy to include all Board and senior
management appointments. The policy does not include any
quotas and emphasises the need for appointments to be made
on the basis of merit.

In performing its annual review, the Board alsc looked at other
aspects of diversity relevant to the Group. With a significant
proportion of the businass in the Nordics, we have a Swedish
non-executive director on the Board to enhance the Board's
knowledge of these international markets. This non-executive
director also attends the International colleague farum to support
colleague listening and engagement. In addition, the current
Group Chief Financial Officer also has wide-ranging financial
experience, both in the UK and the Nordics.

Election and re-election

At the forthcoming AGM, all directors as listed on pages 68

and 69 will present themselves for re-election other than Jonny
Mason who will step down from the Board in July 2021. Bruce
Marsh wilt join the Board as Group Chief Financial Officer during
July 2021 and will present himsslf for slection at the AGM in
September 2021, Biographical details for Bruce Marsh have
been includad in the Company's Notice of AGM. Each of the
directors is being unanimously recommended by the other
members of the Board due 1o their experience, knowledge, wider
management and industry experience, continued effectiveness
and commitment to thelr role. More information on the individual
contributions of each director is available within their biographies
on pages 68 and 69.

Lord Livingston of Parkhead
Chair of the Board
29 dune 2021
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“In determining the Executive Directors’ remuneration outcomes
for the year, the Committee had a clear focus on ensuring
alignment of pay with performance but was equally attentive
to the need to take into consideration the experience of all
our key stakeholders throughout this extraordinary year.”

Tony DeNunzio CBE
Chair of the Remuneration Committee

Introduction

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the 2020/21
Directors’ Remuneration Report and the report of the
Remuneraticn Committee {the ‘Committee’) for the financial year
ending 1 May 2021. This report includes & ‘Remuneration at a
glance’ section on page 103 and a copy of the Remuneration
Policy on pages 104 to 112. The Report will be subject to an
advisory shareholder vote at the 2021 AGM.

2020/21 was an extraordinary year. As required by the
government, the Company closed all stores across the UK,
Ireland and Greece for several substantial periods during the
financial year. However, our online operations in these countries
were able to continue, and online trading went from strength

to strength, recovering a significant part of the lost store sales.
In addition. most, but nct all, of our stores in the Nordics have
been able to continue to trade throughout the year.

In determining the Executive Directors’ remuneration outcomes,
the Committee had a clear focus on ensuring alignment of pay
with performance but was equally attentive to the need 1o take
intc consideration the experience of all our key stakeholders
throughout this extraordinary year.

We have outlined below the key drivers of our remuneration
decisions in the context of a very challenging year.

Remuneration in context
Corporate performance

The executive team successfully navigated the uncertainties of
the pandemic. Despite the significant and cngaoing uncertainties,
the team remained focused on its core purpose of helping
everyone enjoy amazing technology. The Company prioritised
colleague safety, customer care and financial stability. However,
at the same time significant progress was made in the most
important strategic programmes whilst delivering robust
financial results. This overall outcome was substantially better
thar could have been expected at the beginning of the year

and substantially better than in 2018/20 as evidenced below.

Strategic priorities
Key strategic achievements include:

* Electricals online sales growth +103% to £4.70bn;
K& Electricals online sales grew +114% to £3.4bn

* (Gained market share in every channel that was open

Mobile transformation has been highly cash generative
in the year

+ Significant acceleration in omnichannel transformation:
Shoplive, our 24/7 live video shopping service launched
in the year generating over £100m sales in the UK; order
& collect is a growing proportion of sales

» Balance sheet position materially improved though strong
performance on sales, growth in profits and cash flow year
on year.

Financial performance
Our key financial highlights include:

* Strong trading in all markets: Electricals LFL +14%, despite UK,
Ireland and Greece stores being shut for substantial periods

*  Group adjusted profit before tax® £156m {2019/20: £116m).
Adjusted Group EBIT grew +22% to £262m

* Total free cash flow was £438m* compared to £108min the
prior year. This improved the year end net cash position to
£169m against net debt of {£204m) at the end of 2019/20.

© Al profit and cash flow rumbers are reported after rembursement of government
suppart for the £73m of furlough paid to UK&I colleagues dunng the year

Stakeholder experience
Our colleagues

As a result of the pandemic, over 16,500 colleagues were placed
on furlough during 2020/21 and we suspended some of our
transformation activities, to focus on keeping our calleagues
aafe, whilst managing costs and resources. We have spent £14m
to implement extensive hygiene and social distancing measures
at our facilities and stores to ensure our sites are Covid-secure.
We were also one of the first companies in the UK to roil out
rapid workforce testing. This has enabled cur colleagues to
safely continue delivering vital technology to customers. In the
UK and Ireland, we provided full pay or enhanced company sick
pay to our vuirerable colleagues in customer-facing roles and

1 colleagues who were over 28 weeks’ pregnant so they could
shield at home. We also provided full sick pay and support to our
colleagues who tested positive or were displaying symptoms for
Covid-19 and nesded to quarantine.



We are continuing to recognise the vital work ail our frontling
celieagues are doing, and in May we announced that we plan
1o pay all hourly paid UK colieagues the Real Living Wage from
t October 2021. This will result in an average increase of 9%
for almost 12,000 hourly paid colleagues in the UK. We are
also pleased to confirm that in contrast to last year, there will
be annual performance bonus payouts to all aligible colleagues
across the Group. We introduced a new recognition bonus for
our Supply Chain colleagues and continued with our colleague
share awards to ensure all colleagues are shareholders and
invested in our future success. We now have over 31.000
coleagues across our international markets who are members
of our Colleague Shareholder Award scheme.

Alongside our commitment to increase the minimum hourly

pay rate for aur frontling UK colleaguas. we are making a series
of investments in skills, wellbeing and reward programmes,
totalling nearly £25m over two years, We invested in ¢olleague
wellbeing, providing training and accreditation for 450 Mental
Health First Aiders and training for a further 315 colleagues to
hecome Mantal Health Champions. The necessary changes in
our business model created opportunities for our colleagues to
be redeployed across the business tc areas where there was
the greatest need. This enabled them to learn new skills and
benefit from new experiences. We redeployed 700 colleagues to
support contact centres and increased the number of colleagues
trained to be Shoplive enabled from 20 in April 2020 to 2,800
by January 2021, We also provided almost 600,000 hours

of learning during the year and upskilled over 6,000 front line
colleagues in our néew selling framework LIFE.

The above investments have contributed to a double digit
increase in the UK&I engagement scores, and an industry
leading overall engagement score for the Group.

Our customers

Despite our UK stores being shut, we continued to help our
custormers with the technology they needed by moving from
being a business with 25% online penetration to 100% overnight.
This significant change in operation did lead to some customer
challenges, which were identified and resolved over time. We
invested in training and resourcing, which meant by year end
service levels were significantly better. There is more to do, but
innovations such as zero contact order & collect and ShopLive
have been welcomed by our customers and are a significant part
of our omnichannel future.

Government support

We are grateful for government support received during the
pandemic. This was used to successfully preserve jobs during
lock down and we did nct make any Covid-related redundancies
in the year. Given our strong financial position at year end, we
reimbursed all of the £73m received in furlough support in the
year in respect of our UK&I colleaguss and made the early
payment of £144m of VAT deferred by the UK Government.

Our shareholders

Our share price has recovered since the depth of the crisis
and we believe we remain on track for 2 much more valuable
business for sharsholders in the longer term, albeit some

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS INVESTOR INFORMATION

elements of the transformation have been delayed 6 to 12
months by the crisis. We've closed the year with a significantly
strengthened balance sheet, new debt facilities and remain

on track for ocur medium-term guidance of more than Z1bon of
cumulative free cash flow over 2019/20 to 2023/24. As we look
forward with optimism the Board has decided to restart a full
dividend of 3.0p for the full year 2020/21.

Our communities

Our purpaese, to help everyone enjoy amazing technology, goes
beyond ensuring customers can choose, afford and enjoy the
right technology. During the year, we pledged C1m to help close
the digital poverty gap and tackled isolation among older people
whilst committing to further reducing our environmental impact.

We launched our first ‘Go Greener’ marketing campaign and
have collaborated with The British Retail Consortium on a
Climate Action Roadmap to achieve Net Zero by 2040 - a target
also set for the Group. We've introduced our first electric vans as
we move to electric vehicles by 2030 as part of Climate Group
EV100. We have maintained aur FTSE4AGood status, scored

in the top decile of 1ISS’s ESG Environment rating and set cut
our first disclosures against the Taskforce for Climate-related
Financial Disclosures Framework.

Our colleagues have a vital role to play here, and we have
introduced two new environmental metrics inte our annual
bonus scorecard from 2021/22 to align our ESG goals with
our reward framework.

2020/21 remuneration
Base salary

Due to the impact of Covid-19, all members of the Board agreed
to a temporary 20% reduction in base pay and fees during the
period April to June 2020,

Annual performance bonus

Annual performance bonus in respect of 2020/21 was based
on achievernent of stretching targets against four metrics of
EBIT (50%), average net debt {20%j), net promoter score (15%)
and employee engagement {15%). Bonus arrangements also
included a potential clawback facility in relation to “Treating
Customers Fairly’.

The formulaic cutcome given the above performance was 88%
of maximum for the Executive Directors, Full details on the
targets set and performance against them can be found on
page 117. The Committee considered whether or not to

adjust the formulaic outcome and decided it was satisfied

that the outcome is both fair and appropriate given the

financial performance defivered in a difficult year and the wider
stakeholder experience outlined above. The Committee were
also mindful that no 2018/20 bonuses were paid to the Executive
Directors. despite the fact that bonus targets were on track
prior to the negative impact of the first lockdown in March 2020.
Therefore, for the avoidance of doubt no Committee discretion
was exercised in respect of the formulaic outcome for 2020/21.

One third of bonus payments to Executive Directors will be
deferred into shares for a pericd of two years.
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LTIP

The 2018 LTIP award was subject tc relative TSR (50%)

and cumulative free cash flow (50%) targets measured over
three years. Based on the achieved level of parformance,

the threshold required for vesting for the TSR element was not
met but the free cash flow achieved a vesting percentage of
100%. The cumulative cash flow achieved was £698m against
a target of £574m. Overall LTIP vesting was therefore 50%.

Again, the Committee considered whether or not to make

an adjustment to the formulaic cutcome. In the course of its
deliberations the Committee noted that the positive impact of
government Covid support was more than counterbalanced by
the negative impact of Covid store closures. Overall therefore,
it decided that it was satisfied that the cutcome is both fair and
appropriate given the cash flow performance delivered and the
wider stakeholder experience outiined above.

Vested shares will be subject to a further two-year holding period.

Full detaits on the targets set and performance against them can
be found on pages 119 and 120.

2021/22 remuneration
Base salary

The Committee reviewed Alex Baldock's salary as at 1 May 2021
and, in the light of his leadership through the pandemic and the
two years since he last received an upilift, applied an increase of
1.5% to £880,000, effective 1 August 2021. This level of increase
is below the leval of increase applied to the wider workforce. The
average increase for the UK&l Corporate Head Office population
is circa 2%, effective 1 August 2021 and 2.7% for the Nordics,
effective 1 April 2021. The move to Real Living wage payments
in October 2021 will give an average increase of 9% for our
hourly paid UK colleagues.

Pension

Bruce Marsh will receive a 3% pension allowance on joining

the Company, in line with the wider workforce. Alex will continue
fo receive a 10% pension allowance for 2021/22, howevear the
Committee confirms that this allowance will be aligned with the
majority of the wider workiorce by the end of 2022,

Annual performance bonus — metrics, weightings and
reasons for change against the prior financial year

As in previous years, the annual performances bonus will

be subject to the achieverment of stretching adjusted EBIT,
average net debt, customer net promoter score and empioyee
engagement targets, and a potential clawback facility in relation
to "Treating Customers Fairly'.

In addition to these measures, the Committee has decided to
introduce an additional environmental focus, based on recycling
by increasing e-waste Take Back and reducing our Scope 1 and
2 Carbon Emissions. These measures are reflected and deeply
embedded in our strategy, are the right thing to do - and mest
the growing expectation from our calleagues, customers and
shareholders to focus on the climate agenda. ESG measures
{including customer net promoter score and employee engagsment)
will now represent 40% of the annual bonus weighting.

LTIP

As in prior years, 2021/22 LTIP awards will be subject to two
aqually weighted performance conditions. Half of the awards
will be subject to the achievement of a refative TSR performance
condition, measured against a bespoke comparator group
comprised of 21 European Special Lines Retailers, The
remaining half of the awards will be subject to the achievernent
of a cumulative free cash flow target. This year, we plan to set
the targets and make the awards after we have announced our
annual results, to ensure that we have targets in place that are
both stretching for participants and also fully reflective of how
shareholders and the market view the long-term performance
of the business. We will fully disclose the award details and
targets at the time of the grant anncuncement and also include
them in next year's Remuneration Report.

Executive director changes

As announced in January, Bruce Marsh wilf be appointed as
Group Chief Financial Officer with effect from 12 July 2021.
Bruce's remuneration arrangements will be in line with our
sharsholder-approved Remuneration Policy. Further detalil
{including the award to be made in compensation for incentives
forfeited at his previous employer) are set out on page 128.

Jonny Masen, current Group Chief Financial Officer, will remain
in his existing rcle to ensure a seamless and orderly transition
during July. His termination arrangements are in line with the
shareholder-approved Remuneration Policy. His contractual
notice period is 12 months from the date of notice (20 January
2021). After termination, payment in lisu of notice will be paid

in instalments until the end of his notice period or i earlier, the
date on which alternative employment is secured or alternative
engagements with the same or higher salary / fee is received.
Jonny will receive payment of the 2020/21 bonus, with two thirds
in cash and one third deferred into shares for two years. The
Committee has determined that Jonny will receive good ieaver
status in respect of his outstanding Buy-cut, LTIP and Deferred
Share Bonus Plan awards taking account of his significant
contribution to the strong profit and cash flow performance in the
year and ongeing efforts supporting a successfiul transition to the
new CFQ. The Buy-out and LTIP awards will be pro-rated for his
period of employment and the LTIPs will retain their performance
conditions. For the avoidance of doubt Jonny will not be eligible
for a 2021/22 bonus or LTIP grant.

I hope you find that this report clearly explains the remuneration
approach we have taken and how we willimplement the Policy
in 2021/22, We have sought to ensure that a balanced approach
has teen taken for all stakeholders based on their experiences
during the year. As always, we would weicome any feedback or
comments on this Report. We look forward to your continued
engagement and thank you for the feedback provided to date.

Tony DeNunzio CBE
Chair of the Remuneration Committee
29 June 2021
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REMUNERATION AT A GLANCGE

2020/21 2021/22 proposed
» CEO (Alex Baldock) — £867,000 * CEC (Alex Baldock) — £880,000
o CFO {Jonny Mason) - £479,400 e CFO (Bruce Marsh) - £415,000
BASE SALARY Nole, Due lu the Covid-18 impagct, the
Executive Directors agreed to a 20%
reduction from the above salaries with
effect from 5 April 2020 to 28 June 2020
Maximum * 150% of base salary * 150% of base salary
rtunit ¢ One third deferred into shares ¢ One third deferred into shares
opportunity for a period of two years for a period of two years
e EBIT (50%) * EBIT 45%)
» Average net debt (20%;) * Average net debt (156%)
ANNUAL . £SG (30%) o ESG (40%)
PERFORMANGE Performance — Net Promoter Score (15%) - Net Promoter Score (15%)
BONUS metrics - Employee engagement (15%) - Employee engagement (15%)
o EBIT undaroi d “Treat — Emvironmental (10%)
i hting) IT undarpin and “Treating o
(weig Custorners Fairly” clawback — E-waste Take Back volumes (5%); and
— Progress to Net Zera (5%)
* EBIT underpin and “Treating Customers
Fairly” clawback
» 200% of base salary * 250% of base salary
Ma)umun] Note: Scaled back by 20% from 250%
opportunity maximum, in recegnition of share price
LTIP movements and shareholder expeneance
Performance + TSH relative to a bespoke group * [SK relative to a bespoke group of UK
metrics of UK and European retailers (50%) and European retailers (5096)
(weighting) * Cumulative free cash flow (50%,) * Cumulative free cash flow (50%)
* 200% of salary to be achieved « 200% of salary to be achieved within five
within five years of appeintment vears of appaintment
SHARE OWNERSHIP * For new appontments, shares to the * For new appointments (Bruce Marsh),
GUIDELINES value of 200% of salary must be retained shares to the value of 200% of salary
for the first year post-cessation and must be retained for the first year post-
100% for the second year cessation and 100% for the second year

TOTAL REMUNERATION EARNED IN THE YEAR

The chart below reflects the on-target and actual remunearation outcomes for 2020/21, and includes the performance related
2018 LTIP awards made on recruitment.

£4.000

£3.000

£2,000 4

£1.000

o -

On Target Actual
Alex Baldock

On Target Actual

Jonny Mason

£1,678

. Fixed pay
D Annual bonus
lme

" LTIP - Recruitment
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INTRODUCTION

The purpose of this Report is to inform shareholders of the
Company's Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 1 May
2021 and the Remuneration Palicy for subsequent years.

This report Is divided into two sections:
¢ the Remuneration Policy; and

* the Annual Remuneration Report.

The current Remuneration Policy was approved by
shareholders at the Annual General Meating on 5 September

2019 and is effective from that date. The Annual Remuneration

Report will be put tc an advisory vote at the Annual
General Meeting.

The next Directors’ Remuneration Policy will be put to
shareholders at the AGM, expectad to be held during
Septemibder 2022,

The role of the Committee is to determine on behalf of the
Board a remuneration policy for Executive Directors and
senior management which promotes the long-term success

of the business through the attraction and retention of
Executives who have the ability, experience and dedication
to deliver outstanding returns for our shareholders.

The Committee has adopted the principles of good governance
relating to Directors’ remuneration as enshrined in section & of
the Code and has paid close regard to the principles of clarity,
transparency, risk management, proportionality and alignment
to culture and strategy. The Committee has complied with
those principles in the year under review.

These reports have been prepared by the Committee on
behalf of the Board in accordance with the Companies Act
2006, Schedule 8 to the Large and Medium-sized Companies
and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008

{as amended) and the Listing Rules of the Financial Conduct
Authority. The Remuneration Policy {which is not subject

to audit) details the role of the Commitiee, the principles of
remuneration and other matters. The Annual Remuneration
Report {elements of which are audited) details the Directors’
and former Directors’ fixed and variable pay, share awards,
share options and pension arrangements,

REMUNERATION POLICY

The policy set out here is the version approved by shareholders
other than minor updates to certain sections such as the
Remuneration Committee objectives. ilustration of remuneration

policy, shareholder and employee consultation and dilution limits.

The actual version which was approved by shareholders can be
found in the annual report and accounts 2018/19.

In August 2019, notwithstanding the Policy flexibility to pay up to
10% of base salary as a pension contribution (gor cash allowance
in lieu of a pension), the Committee announced that the pension
contributions for any new Executive Directors would be aligned
to pension contributions of the wider workforce.

Remuneration strategy

Put simply, our aim is to generate superior returns for our
sharehclders and the key to achieving this is our colleagues.
Our remuneration strategy is therefore designed to motivate
high-performing colleagues o deliver our business strategy.
The objectives of our remuneration strategy are to:

* attract, motivate and retain high quality talent;

* betransparent and align the interests of senior management
and Executive Directors with those of shareholders, by
encouraging management to have a significant personal
stake in the long-term success of the businass;

= weight remuneration to variable pay so that it incentivises
outperformance particularly over the long term whilst
discouraging inappropriate risk-taking;

* ensure that supericr rewards are only paid for exceptional
performance against challenging targets;

* apply policies consistently across the Group to promote
alignment and teamwork;

* recognise the importance of delivering across a balanced set
of metrics to ensure the right behavicurs are adopted and the
long-term health of the business is protected; and

s avoid rewarding failure.

In developing its policy, the Committee has regard to:

e the perfarmance, roles and responsibilities of each Executive
Director or member of senior management;

s the remuneration arrangements and policy which apply
below senior management levels, including average base
salary increases across the workforce;

+ information and surveys from internal and ingependent
SOUrces;

+ the economic environment and financial performance of the
Company; and

* good corporate governance praclice.
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Guidelines on responsible investment disclosure

In line with the Investmeant Asscciation Guidelines on responsible
investment disclosure, the Committee is satisfied that the
incentive structure and targets for Executive Directors do

not raise any envirgnmental, social or governance risks by
inadvertently motivating irresponsible or reckless behaviour.

INVESTOR INFORMATION
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Tha Committee considers that no element of the remuneration
package will encourage inappropriate risk-taking by any member
of senior management.

Remuneration Policy table
The individual elements of the remuneration packages oftered

BASE SALARY (FIXED PAY)

to Executive Directors are summarised in the following table:

Purpose and link to strategy

To aid the recruitment, retention and motivation of high-performing colleagues.
To reflect their skills, experience and importance to the business.

Operation

Naormally reviewed annually.

The review reflects a range of factors including merit levels. internal relativity, external market data
and cost. Our overall policy, having due regard 1o the factors noted, is normally to target salaries
at market level taking into consideration FTSES1-150 and retailers of a similar size.

Salaries for new appontments as Executive Directors will be set in accordance with the Recruitment
Policy set out on pages 110 and 111.

The Committee takes into consideration the impact of base salary increases on the package as a
whole. as other elements of pay (such as pension contriputions) are generally based on a percentage
of salary.

Maximum opportunity

Ordinarily, increases for Executive Directors will be in line with increases across the Group. Increases
beyond those granted across the Group may be awarded in certain circumstances, such as changes
in responsibilities, progression in the role and significant increases in the size, complexity or value of
the Group.

Salary levels for current Directors are shown in the Annual Remuneration Report.

Performance
assessment / targets

BENEFITS (FIXED PAY)

Salaries are normally reviewed annuaily by the Committee at the appropriate meeting having
due regard 1o the indivdual’s experience. performance and added value to the business.

Purpose and link to strategy

In line with the Company's strategy to keep remuneration weighted to variable pay that incentivises
outperformance, a modest range of benefits is provided.

Benefits may vary based on the personal choices of the Director.

Provision of relocation or cther related assistance may be provided to suppaert the appointment
or relocation of a Director.

Operation

Exocutive Directors are entitled t¢ a combination of bengfits which include, but are not limited to:
* car allowance or the use of a driver for company business,

* private medical cover;

s |ife assurance;

* holiday and sick pay, and

= arange of voluntary bengfits including the purchase of additional holiday.

Executive Directors will be eligible for other benefits which are introduced for the wider workforce
on broadly similar terms.

Any reascnable business-related expenses (including the tax thereon) can be reimbursed if
determined to be a taxable benefit.

Should an Executive Director be recruited from, or be based in. a non-UK location, benefits may
be determined by those typically provided in the normal country of residence and / or reflect local
market legislation.

Relocation or other related assistance could include, but is not limited to. removal and other
relocation costs, tax equalisation, tax advice and accommodation Gosts.

Maximum opportunity

The cost to the Group of providing such benefits will vary from year to year in accordance with the
cost of providing such benefits, which is kept under regular review.

Performance
assessment / targets

Not applicable.
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PENSION (FIXED PAY}

Purpose and link to strategy

A pension is provided which is consistent with that provided to other Corperate employees in the
UK and in line with our strategy to keep remuneration weighted to variable pay that incentivises
outperformance.

Operation

Defined contribution plans are offered to all emptoyees. A defined benefit pension plan continues
in operation for Dixons' longer-serving employees. which is now closed to new participants and
future accrual.

Executive Directors may choose to receive a cash allowance in lieu of pension contributions.

Maximum opportunity

Current Exscutive Directors will receive normal Company pension contribution of up to 10% of base
salary, which can be taken in whole or in part as a cash allowance in lieu of pension, Any Executive
Director appointed after 5 September 2019 will receive a pension contribution in line with the level
paid to the majority of the UK workforce across the Group. up to 10% of base safary, which can be
taker in whole or in part as a cash allowance in lieu of pension.

Performance
assessment / targets

Not applicable

ANNUAL PERFORMANGE BONUS (VARIABLE PAY)

Purpose and link to strategy

Annual performance bonuses are in place to incentivise the delivery of stretching. near-term business
targets based on our business strategy.

These bonuseas provide a strong link between reward and performance and drive the creation of
further sharsholder value.

The principles and approach are consistently applied acress the Group ensunng alignment to &
common vision and strategy.

They are based on a halanced approach ensuring appropriate behaviours are adopted and
encouraging & longer-term focus.

Operation

Bonus payments are determined after the year end and subject to a minimum profit threshaold
being achieved before payment is due.

For threshold level of performance, a bonus of up to 20% of the maximum potential award is
payable. A sliding scale determines payment between the minimum and maximum benus payable.

The annual bonus is typically determined in June based on the audited performance over the
previous financial year.

One third of any bonus earned will be deferred into shares for a period of two years, with the
remaining two-thirds paid in cash. Any bonus earmed 1s nen-pensionable. Yhere any bonus
is deferred dividends (or eguivalents) may accrue.

Parformance is raviewed by the Committee using its judgement where necessary to assess
the achievement cof targets. The Committee retains the discretion to adjust downwards bonus
payments where achievernent of targets would result in a payment of a bonus at a level which
would not be consistent with the interests of the Company and its shareholders.

Recovery and withholding provisions apply for material misstatement, misconduct, calculation
arror, reputational damage and corporate failure, enabling performance adjustments and / or
recovery of sums already paid. These provisions will apply for up to three years after payment.

Maximum opportunity

Maximum annual bonus potential for all Executive Directors is 150% of base salary.

No bonus is payable if the minimum profit thresheid is not achieved.

Performance
assessment / targets

All measures and targets are reviewed and set by the Committee at the beginning of the financial
year with a view 10 supporting the achievement of the Group strategy.

The bonus scheme has targets based on a balanced scorecard. The balanced scorecard may
include both financial and non-financial measures. such as employee, customer and strategic
measures. The weighting of measures will be determined by the Committee each year. Financial
measures (such as profit and cash) will represent the majority of the bonus opportunity. with other
measures representing the balance.
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LONG-TERM INCENTIVE SGHMEME (VARIABLE PAY): LONG TERM INCENTIVE PLAN (‘LTIP')

Purpose and link to strategy

Long-term incentive schemes are transparent and demonstrably aligned with the interests of
shareholders over the long-term.

The LTIR is designed to reward and retain Executives aver the longer-term, whilst ahigning an
individual's interests with those of shareholders and in turn delivering significant shareholder value.

Operation

Discretionary awards of nil-pnived oplions or conditional share awards are granted over Dixons
Garphone shares.

Awards will be granted annually and will usually vest after three years subject to continued service
and the achievement of performance conditions.

The level of vesting is dependent on achievement of performance targets, usually over a three-year
period. No more than 25% of the maximum will be payable for threshold level of performance.

The post-tax number of share awards vesting will be subject to a further two-year holding period, during
which they cannot be sold, unless in exceptional circumstances and with the Committeg’s permission.

Dividend equivalents may be accrued on the shares earned from any award.

Awards will be subject to recaovery and withholding provisions for material misstaternent, misconduct,
calculation error, reputational damage and corporate failure, enabling performance adjustmants
and / or recovery of sums already paid. These provisions will apply for up to three years after vesting.

If employment ceases during the vesting period. awards will ordinartly lapse in full, unless the
Committee exercises its discretion.

The Committee has the discretion in certain circumstances to grant and / or settle an award in cash.
Far the Executive Directors this would only be used in exceptional circumstances.

In the event of a change of control, any unvested awards will vest immediately, subject to satisfaction
of performance conditions and reduction on a time-apportioned basis.

Maximum opportunity

Grants under the LTIP arg subject to overall dilution limits,

The normal maximum grant per participant in any financial year will be a market value of 250% of base
salary, with up to 375% in exceptional circumstances, e.g. recruitment.

More detaiis on the proposed award ieveis for Executive Directors in 2021/22 are set out in the
Annual Remuneration Report on page 128 and full details will be disciosed at grant.

Performance
assessment / targets

Performance targets are reviewed by the Committee prior to each grant and are set to reflect the key
priorities of the business at that time.

The Committee determines the mietnies from a range of measures, including but not imited to,
market-based performance measures such as TSR and financial metrics such as free cash flow.

The Committee retains the flexibility to intreduce new measures in the future it considered appropriate
given the business context, although TSR and free cash flow will each not be weighted any less than
30% of the total award. Matenai changes will be subject to consultation with major shareholders.

The actual metrics applying for each award will be set out in the Annual Remuneration Report and any
changes in the metrics will be explained.

ALL EMPLOYEE SHARE PLANS

Purpose and link to strategy

Encourages employees to make a leng-term investment in the Company’'s shares and therefore be
aligned to the long-term success of the Company.

Operation

Executive Directors are eligible to participate in the Group all-employee share schemes, but not the
Colleague Shareholder Scheme. on the same terms as other eligible employees.

Maximum opportunity

The same limits apply to Executive Directors as to alt other participants in the schemes and are in line
with the appropriate regulations.

The Committee reserves the right to increase the savings imits for future schemes in accordance with
the statutory limits in place from time te time.

Performance

assessment / targets

Nene of the schemes are subject to any performance conditions.
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SHARE OWNERSHIP GUIDELINES

Purpose and link to strategy  Provides close alignment between the longer-term interests of Executive Directors and sharehoiders
in terms of the Company’s long-term success.

Operation The Company requires Executive Directors to retain a certain percentage of base salary in the
Company's shares, with a five-year pericd in which to reach these limits. Executive Directors
are also required to retain a proportion of these shares post the cessation of employment.

The shares which counl luwards Lhis reguirement are beneticially owned shares (both directly
and indirectly).

Maximum opportunity Not applicable.
Performance The Company requires ali Executive Directors to retain 200% of base salary in the Company’s
assessment / targets shares during employment. Any Executive Director appointed after 5 September 2019 will also

be required to retain shares equivalent to 200% of their base salary on leaving for a period of
12 months and then 100% of their base salary for a further period of 12 months.

Details of the Directors’ shareholdings are shown in the table on page 126

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND CHAIR OF THE BOARD / DEPUTY CHAIR FEES

Purpose and link to strategy  To provide a competitive fee for the performance of non-executive director duties, sufficient to attract
high calibre individuals to the role.

Operation The fees are set to align with the duties undertaken, taking into account market rates, and are
normally reviewad on an annual basis. Factors taken into consideration include the expected time
commitment and specific experience,

Additional fees are payable for acting as the Senior Independent Director or as Charr of any Board
committee, and for membership of a Board Commitiee.

Non-executive directors do not participate in the annual performance bonus or the long-term
incentive plans or pension arrangements

Any reasonaple business-related expenses {including the tax therson) can be reimbursed if
determined to be a taxable benefit.

For material, unexpected increases in time commitments, the Board may pay extrafees on a
pro-rated basis to reflect addtional workload.

Maximum opportunity Aggregate annual limit of £2,000,000 imposed by the Articles of Association for Directors’ fees
{not including fees in relation to any executive office or Charr of the Board, Deputy Chair, Senior
Independent Director or Committee Chair feas).

Performance Not applicable.
assessment / targets

111 The Committee ntends to honour all commitiments previously provided to Executive Directors and current employees.
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Selection of Performance Metrics
The policy provides flexibility for the Committee to determine the measures to be used in the Annual Performance Bonus and the
LTIP. The measures used currently, and their purposes are set cut betow.

Measure Where used Purpose

EBIT Annual Performance Bonus  Key measure of annual financial delivery

Avelaye nel debl Annual Pertormance Benus  Focus on the business's cash position

MNet promoter score Annual Performance Bonus  Captures the overall perception of our business in the eyes of our customers

Employee engagement Annual Performance Bonus  Reflects how well we engage our colleagues — a factor which we know to be a
key driver of retention and performance

Cumulative free cash flow  LTIP A principal measure of the financial health of the business including the
management of working capital, captured over a multivear period

Relative TSR LTIP Seeks to measure the growth in shareholders' investment in Dixons Carphone
(share price movements plus dividends paid) relative to other similar companies

llustration of Remuneration Palicy
The Remuneration Policy scenario chart below ilustrates the level and mix of potential total remuneration the ongoing Executive
Diractors could receive under the Remuneration Policy at three levels of performance: minimum, target and maximum.

Remuneration Policy scenario chart

. Fixed pay
£6,000 — £5,622
D Annual bonus
& £5,000 £4,522 : : T . .
2 e : 1. Long-term incentives
o £4,000 : I ;
5 £3,004 : . !
s E3000H e H o H £2,619
3 : Pl L S
§ 12,000 4 :
g ................
c £1,000
e 100%
Minimum Target Maximurm  Maximum +50% Minimum Target Maximum  Maximum +50%
share price growth share price growth
Alex Baldock Bruce Marsh

{1+ Fixed pay1s based on the base salary payable at 1 August 2021, taxable benefits and pension contributions.

2y Annual variable pay represents the annual performance bonus entitlement. No bonus 1s assumed at the mirsmum performance level.
Targst performance assumes a paymeant of 90% of salary (i.e. 60% of maximun) and ar maximum performance a payment of 150% of base salary.

(3] Long-term incentives relate to the LTIP. No awards vest at the minmmum performance level Target performance assumes a vesting of 137.5% of salary
{1e 55% of maximum award} and maximum performance vesting of 250% of salary.

i1 The chart above does not take inte accour the impact of share price appraciation. other than the fourth bar. which assumes a growth in the share price
of 50% over the vesting period for LTIP awards

Remuneration Committee discretions

The Committee cperates the annual performance bonus plan, LTIP and all-employee plans in accordance with their respective rules,
the Listing Rules and HMRC rules (or overseas equivalent) where relevant. The Committee retaing discretion. consistent with market
practice, over a number of areas relating to the operation and administration of these plans. These include but are not limited to:

* ontitlement to participate in the plan;

* when awards or payments are to be made;

* size of award and / or payment (within the rules of the plans and the approved policy):

» determination of a good leaver for incentive plan purposes and the appropriate treatment based on the rules of each plan;

* discretion as to the measurement of performance conditions and pro-rating in the event of a change of control;

* any adjustment to awards or performance conditions for significant events or excepticnal circumstances; and

* the application of recovery ang withholding provisions.
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Shareholder and employee consultation

The Committee has a policy to consult with its major
shareholders when making any significant changes to the
Remuneration Policy of the Company. Any feedback received

is taken into consideration when determining future policy. The
Committee also takes into consideration remuneration guidance
issued by leading investor bodies. in addition to the principles

of gnod governance relating to dircctors’ remuneration as set
out in the Code,

Whilst employees are not formally consulted on executive
remuneration, a numéber of them are shareholders and as such
are able to exercise thelr influence. In addition, the International
Colleague forum is in place 1o unify the country forums into a
single listening and engagement forum for colleagues. Tony
DeNunzio, the Deputy Chair and Senior Independent Director
attends the UK forum meetings with the Chief People Officer

and Andrea Gisle Joosen, Independent Non-Executive Director,
attends the Nordics colleague forum meetings. Attendance at
these forums provides a welcomed opportunity to directly engage
with the wider workforce and to bring colleagues’ views to both
the Committee and Board discussions. In 2020/21, the forums
were instrumental in supporting a number of critical business
initiatives, such as the implementation of a single payroll across
the UK&I business, and consultation on changes to key pay
policies, as well as influencing the agenda on issues that matter
most to our colleagues, such as wellbeing. In addition, we monitor
our employee discussion boards and employee forums to ensure
employee feadback in general is considered in all our strategy
execution, The Company also conducts regular employee surveys
throughout the business. The Committee is kept informed of
general employment conditions across the Group, including the
annual pay review ocutcomes.

Remuneration policy for the wider workforce

Dixons Carphone employs a large number of colleagues across
different countries, Qur reward framework is structured around
a set of common principles with adjustments made to suit

the needs of the different businesses and employee groups.
Reward packages differ for a variety of reasons including the
impact on the business, local practice, custom and legislation.

In determining salary increases to apply across the wider
workforce, the Company takes into consideration Company
performance and other market metrics as necessary. When
setting the palicy for Executive Directors, the Committee takes
into consideration salary increases throughout the Company
as a whole.

The Company actively encourages wide employee share
ownership, The Colleague Shareholder Scheme provides the
cpportunity for all colleagues, subject o eligibility criteria, to
become sharehoiders in the Gormpany and the Company has
put in place the structure and plan rules for a SIP. for introduction
at a future date. In addition, the Group’s UK & Irish employees,
who meet the eligibility criteria, are already invited to join the
Company's UK and Ireland approved SAYE.

Discrstionary share plans are also extended to both senior
management and other key members of the workforce, as the
Company feels that it is important to incentivise and retain these
employees over the longer-term in order for the Company to
continue to grow.

Recruitment or promotion policy

On appointment or promaotion, base salary levels will be

set taking into account a range of factors including market
levels, experience, internal relativities and cost. If an individual
is appeinted on a base salary below the desired market
positioning, the Committee retains the discretion to re-align the
base salary over one to three years, contingent on individual
performance, which may result in a higher rate of annualised
increase above ordinary levels, If the Commitiee intends to

rely on this cliscretion, it will be noted in the first Remuneration
Report following an individual's appointment. Other elements of
annual remuneration will be in line with the policy set out in the
Remuneration Policy table. As such, variable remuneration will
be capped as set out in the Palicy table.

The following exceptions will apply:

* inthe event that an internal appointment is made or an
Executive Director joins as a result of a transfer of an
undertaking, merger, recenstruction or similar reorganisation,
the Committee retains the discretion to continue with existing
remuneration provisions and the provision of bengfits, This
discration will not be used in respect of pensicn contributions
in excess of the Committee’s commitment to ensure that any
newly appointed Executive Director will receive a pension
contribution in line with the level paid to the majority of the
UK workforce across the Group:

e as deemed necessary and appropriate to secure an
appointment, the Committee retains the discration to
make additional payments linked to relocation (including
any tax thereon);

» for an overseas appointment, the Committee will have
discretion to offer cost-effective benefits and pension
provisions which reflect local market practice and relevant
legislation;

* the Committee may set alternative performance conditions
for the remainder of the initial annual bonus performance
period, taking into account the circumstances and timing
cf the appointment; and

+ the Committee retains the discretion to provide an immediate
interest in Company performance by making a long-term
incentive award on recruitment {or shortly thereafter if in
a prohibited period) in accordance with the Policy Table
under its existing long-term incentive schemes or such
future schemes as may be introduced by the Company
with the approval of its shareholders. The Committes will
determine, at the time of award, the level of the award, the
performance conditions and time horizon that would apply
to such awards, taking into account the strategy and
business circumstances of the Company.
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Service contracts will be entered into on terms similar to

those for the existing Executive Directors, summarised in the
recruitment table below. However, the Committee may authorise
the payment of a relocation and / or repatriation allowance, as
well ag other associated international mobility terms and benefits,
such as tax equaiisation and tax advice.

In addition to the annual remuneration elements noted above,
the Cormunilles tiay conslder buying out, on a like-for-like basis,
bonuses and / or incentive awards that an individual forfeits
from a previcus employer in accepting the appointment. The
Committee will have the authority to rely on Listing Rule 9.4.2(2)
or exceptional limits of awards of up to 375% of base salary
within the LTIP. If made, the Committee will be informed by

the structure, time horizons, value and performance targets
associated with any forfeited awards, while retaining the
discretion to make any payment or award deemed necessary

RECRUITMENT TABLE FOR EXECUTIVE DIREGTORS

FINANGIAL STATEMENTS INVESTOR INFORMATION

and appropriate. The Committee may alsc reguire the appoeintes
to purchase shares in the Company in accerdance with its
shareholding policy.

With respect to the appointment of a new Chair of the Board or
non-executive director, terms of appointment will be consistent
with those currently adopted. Variable pay will not be considered
and as such no maximum agplies. With respect to non-executive
directors, fees will be consistent with the policy at the time of
appointment. If necessary, 10 secure the appointment of a new
Chair of the Board not based in the UK, payments relating 1o
relocation and / or housing may be considered.

Elerments of remuneration on appointment are set out in the
Recruitment table below.

A timely announcement with respect to any director’s
appointment and remuneration will be made to the regulatory
news services and posted on the Company’s corporate website,

Area Feature Policy

Service contract = Notice period * Up to 12 months from either sice.

and incentive = Entitlernents on termination = As summarised in the Policy on loss of office.

plan provisions * Restrictive covenants * Provisions for mitigation and payment in lieu of notice.
« Variable elerments * (Gardening leave provisicns.

+ Ngn-compete, non-salicitation, non-dealing and confidentiality provisions.

* The Committee has the discretion to determine whether an individual shall
participate in any incentive in the year of appointment.

* The Committee shall have the discretion to determine appropriate bonus
performance targets if participating in the year of appointment.

Annuali
remuneration

Base Salary * To be determined on appeintment, taking into account factars including
market levels, experience, internal relativities and cost,

Salary progression

If appointed at below market lavels, salary may be re-aligned over the

subsequent cne to three years subject to performance in role. [n this
situation, the Committee resarves the discretion 1o make increases above
ordinary levels.

This initial market positioning and intention to increase pay above the

standard rate of increase in the Policy table {subject to performance) will be
disclosed in the first Remuneration Report foliowing appoirtment.

Benefits and allowances * The Committee retains the discretion to provide additional benefits as
reasanably reguired. These may include, but are not restricted to, relocation
payments. heusing aliowances and cost of living allowances {including any
tax thereon,).

Policy on loss of office
Service contracts contain neither liguidated damages nor a
change of control clause.

The Company shall have a right to make a payment in lisu of
notice in respect of base salary, benefits, including car allowance
and pension contributions, only for the director's contractual
pericd of notice or, if termination is part way through the notice
period, the amount relating t¢ any unexpired notice to the date

of termination. There is an obligation on directors to mitigate

any loss which they may suffer if the Company terminates

their service contract. The Committee will take such mitigation
obligation into account when determining the amount and timing
of any compensation payable to any departing director.

A director shall also be entitled to a payment in respect of
accrued but untaken holiday and any statutory entitiements on
termination. No compensation is paid for dismissal, save for
statutory entitlernents.

m
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A director shall be entitled to receive a redundancy payment in
circumstances where, in the judgemant of the Committee, they
satisfy the statutory tests governing redundancy payments.
Any redundancy payment shal be calculated by reference to
the redundancy payment policy in force for all employees in the
relevant country at the time of the redundancy and may include
modest cutplacement costs.

If a director's employment terminates prior to the relevant annual
performance bonus payment date, ordinarily no benus is payable
for that financial year. The Committee shall retain discretion to
make a pro-rated bonus payment in circumstances where it
would be appropriate to do so having regard to the contribution
of the Director during the financial year, the circumstances of the
departure and the best interests of the Company.

Any entitlernents under long-term incantive schemes operated
by the Company shall be determined based on the rules of the
relevant scheme. The default position of the Long Term Incentive
Plan is that awards will lapse on termination of employment,
except where certain good leaver circumstances exist (e.g.
death, ill-health, injury. disability, redundancy, transfer of an
undertaking outside of the Group or retirement or any other
circumstances at the Committee's discretion) whereby the
awards may vest on cessation. or the normai vesting date,

in both cases subject to performance and time pro-rating.
Although, the Committee can decide not to pro-rate an award
{or pro-rate to a lesser extent) if it regards it as appropriate to
do soin the particular circumstances.

The Committee shall be entitled to exercise its judgement with
regard to settlement of potential claims, including but not limited
to wrongful dismissal, unfair dismissal, breach of contract and
discrimination, where it is appropriate to do so in the interests
of the Company and its shareholders.

In the event that any payment is made in relation to termination
for an Executive Director, this will be fully disclosed in the
following Annual Remuneration Report.

Atimely announcement with respect to the termination of any
director's appointment will be made to the regulatory news
service and posted on the Company’s corporate website.

Service agreements

Service agreements for Executive Directors

Each of the Executive Directors’ service agreements provides for:

* the reimtursement of expenses incurred by the Executive
Director in performance of their duties;

* 25 days' paid holiday each year for Alex Baldock and
Jonny Mason;

*  sick pay; and

* notice periods whereby Alex Baldock has a notice period
of 12 months from either party and Jonny Mason has a
notice period of 12 months from the Company and six
months from him.

In situations where an Executive Director is dismissed. the
Committee reserves the right to make additional exit payments
whers such payments are made in good faith, such as:

* indischarge of a legal obligation; and

* by way of settlement or compromise of any claim arising
in connection with the termination of the Director's office
and employment.

Letters of appointment

Each of the non-executive directors has a letter of appointment.
The Company has no age limit for directors. Non-executive
directors derive no other benefit from their office, except that
the Committee retains the discretion to continue with existing
remuneration provisions, including pension contributions and
the provision of benefits, where an Executive Director becomes
a non-executive director. It is Company policy not to grant share
opticns or share awards to non-executive directors. The Chair of
the Board, Deputy Chair and the other non-executive directors
have a notice period of three months from either party.

Appointments are reviewed by the Nominations Committee
and recommendations made to the Board accordingly.

External appointments

The Board supports Executive Directors should they chose to
take non-executive directorships as a part of their continuing
development and agrees that the Executive Directors may retain
their fees from one such appointment. Currently neither of the
Executive Directors hold any non-executive directorships.

Dilution Limits

All the Company’s equity-based incentive plans incorporate

the current Investment Association Share Capital Management
Guidelines {{Guidelines’) on headroom which provide that overall
dilution under all plans should not exceed 10% over a ten-year
period in relaticn to the Company’s issued share capital {or
reissua of treasury shares). In addition, the LTIP operates with

a 5% in ten-year dilution limit {excluding historic discretionary
awards). The Company regularly monitors the position and pricr
to making any award the Company ensures that it will remain
within these limits. Any awards which will be satisfied by market
purchase shares are excluded from such calculations. As at

2% June 2021, the Company's dilution position, which remains
within the current Guidelines, was 4.7% for all plans {against

a limit of 10%}) and 2.7% for the LTIP {against a limit of 5%}.
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REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE REPORT

2020/21
HIGHLIGHTS

*  Approving a new Group reward
framework and pay review
process for the wider UK&I
workforce

+  Approving challenging targets for
the 2020/21 annual performance
bonus and long-term incentives
in light of the impacts of Covid-19
and a particularly challenging and
uncertain environment

*  Approving the inclusion of an
environmental measure in the
2021/22 annual performance
bonus design

*  Agreeing the leaving terms for
Jonny Mason and the joining
terms for Bruce Marsh

¢ (Completed a tender process
and appointed new executive
remuneration advisers

FURTHER
INFORMATION

[]

www.dixonscarphone.com

Committee Terms of Reference last approved:

21 January 2021.

>

The biographical details for each Committee
member are available on pages 68 and 69.

COMMITTEE Meeting NUMBER OF
MEMBERS Attendance MEETINGS
Tony DeNunzio {Chair) 8/8
Andrea Gisle Joosen 8/8 8
Gerry Murphy 8/8

{five scheduled

and three ad hoc)

Remuneration Committee purpose

The Board has delegated to the Committee responsibility for determining policy in relation
to the remuneration packages for Executive Directors, the Chair of the Board and other
senior management that promote the long-term sustainable success of the business
through the attraction and retention of executives who have the ability, experience and
dedication to deliver outstanding returns for cur shareholders. This delegation includes
their terms and conditions of employment in addition to the cperation of the Group's
share-based employee incentive schemes. The Committee also makes recommendations
and monitors the level and the overall reasonableness of the structure of remuneration
for the general workforce. The Committee approves the service agreements of each
Executive Director, including termination arrangements and considers the achievement
of the performance conditions under annual and long-term incentive arrangemeants.

Meetings

Only members of the Remuneration Committee are entitled to attend Committee
meetings. The Chair of the Board, Group Chief Executive, Group Chief Financial Officer,
General Counse! and Company Secretary, Chief People Officer, Group Reward Director,
Head of Executive Reward and Share Plans and other members of senior management,
and representatives from the Company’s remuneration advisor (Wiltis Towers Watson)
attended the relevant Committee meetings by invitation.

No directors participate in discussions about their own remuneration.

The Company Secratary, or his nominee, acts as Secretary to the Committee and
attends all meetings, The Committee’s deliberations are reported by its Chair at the
subseqguent Board meeting and the minutes of each meeting are circulated to all
members of the Board following approval.

The Committee meets as and when required and at least twice a year. The bicgraphical
details for each Committee member are available on pages 68 and 69.

The Committee has the following principal duties:

+ making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s framework of executive
remuneration;

¢ determining the feas of the Chair of the Board and Deputy Chair;

* considering and making recommendations to the Beard on the remuneration of
the Exscutive Directors and senior management relative to performance and
market data:

e approving contracts of employment which exceed defined thresholds of total
remuneration or have unusual terms or termination periods;

* considering and agreeing changes to the Remuneration Policy or mejor changes
to employee benefit structures;

* reviewing the reward and benefits structures acress the group for all levels of
coleagues; and

* approving and operating employee share-based incentive schemes and associated
performance conditions and targets.
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Activities during the year
The principal activities of the Committes during 2020/21 includsd:

*  reviewing and approving the Directors’ Remuneration Report;

* assessing the performance of Executive Directors against
pre-determined targets set for the 2019/20 annual
performance bonus;

* agreeing the design of the 2020/21 annual performance
bonus including performance measures and targets;

* agreeing the design of the 2020/21 share awards
including the performance measures and reviewing
the TSR peer group;

* reviewing the 2021/22 annual performance bonus
design, including the approval of the inclusion of an
envirorimental measure;

* agreeing new CFO and departing CFO remuneration
arrangements;

agreeing Executive Director pension alignment;

approving share awards 1o senior management and

SAYE and Colleague Shareholder for the wider workforce;
under the 2016 Long Term Incentive Plan;

assessing the performance of the CEO’s joining LTIP

and approving the vesting of his Buy-out Award;
undertaking a tender process and appointing Wiliis
Towers Watson as executive remuneration advisers

to the Committes;

approving a new framework for workforce reward and
anew pay review process;

maonitoring the developments in the corporate governance
environment and investor expectations; and

monitoring and ensuring alignment of remuneration
practices across the Group,
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REMUNERATION DETAILS
FOR 2020/21

The following sections set out how the Remuneration Policy was implemented during 2020/21 and how it will be imglemented for the

following year.

FINANGIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTOR INFORMATION

Single figure of Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 1 May 2021 (audited information)

Annual
Base perfor- Deferred
salary and Pension Taxahle Total fixed mance Share LYIP Total variable Total
tees't contributions® benefits® remuneration bonus Award payments’® remuneration remuneration
£000 £000 £°000 £'000 £°000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £°000
Executive
Alex Baldock® 843 85 34 262 753 381 871 2,015 2977
Jonny Mason® 466 47 13 526 422 211 519 1,152 1,878
1,308 132 47 1,488 1,185 592 1,390 3,167 4,655
Non-Executive
Eileen Burbidge™ 63 - - 63 - - - - 63
Tony DeNunzic™ 136 - - 136 - - - 136
Andrea
Gisle Joosen 68 - - 68 - - - - 68
lLord Livingston
of Parkhead:"" 202 - - 292 - - - - 292
Fiona McBain®' 73 - - 73 - - - - 3
Gerry Murphy'@ 68 - - 68 _ _ _ _ 68
700 0 0 700 8] 0 0 0 700
2,009 132 47 2,188 1,185 592 1,380 3,167 5,355

(1) Due to the impact of Cowid-19, all members of the Board agreed to a tamporary 20% reduction in base pay and fees from 5 April 20201 to 28 June 2020
Base pay amounts waved by Alex Baidock and Jonny Masan for the panod from 3 May 2020 to 28 June 2020 were 126,654 and £14.738. respectvely.

2] Gn & August 2020, in order to align all payroll dates acrass the UK business. all collsagues who wers paid on a monthly payroll moved onta & tour weekly payroll cycle,

Cn this basis, those Executive Dircctors and Non-Executive Directors previously on a monthly pay frequency also changed their pay frequency

(3} Pension contriutions comprise the Company's contribution or allowance inlleu The contribution ameunt was 10%: of salary for Alex Baldeck and Jonny Mason

4 Taxable benefits for Executive Directors include private medecal Insurance and car alflowance or driver banetit amounts, £30.708 for Alex Baldock relates to the
grossed-up element payahle to cover the tax liability for Fus car and driver, ansing from business activities considered taxable by HMRC. In addition, for Alex Baldock
the benefits also INcludes the gain resuiting from the 2020 Sharesave grant, in which he participates on the same basis as all elgible employees.

15) Share plans vesting represent the value of | TIP awards where the performance peried ends on 1 May 2021 and are based con a share price of £1.3065, being the
three-month average 1o 1 May 2021 and an estimalte of the accrued dvidend equivalent up ta 1 May 2021 using the same share price Jonny Mason's award has been
provated for service to his termination date, The proportion of the value of the LTIP that 15 attributabie to share price depreciabion the depreciation being the difference

between the face value at the date of award and the vested valus of the award) is 33%.

{6 lan | vingston has a deferred pension in the Dixons Retirement and Employee Security Scheme.
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Single figure of Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 2 May 2020 (audited information)

Basic salary Pension Taxable Total fixed  Annual LTIP  Total variable Total
and feest contributions® benefits® remuneration bonus payments remuneration remuneration
£'000 £:000 £'000 £’000 £°000 £000 2000 £°000
Executive
Alex Baldock 850 85 103 1,038 0 0 0 1.038
Jonny Mason 470 47 13 530 0 0 0 630
1,320 132 116 1,568 0 0 0 1,568
Non-Executive
Eileen Burbidge 64 o] 1 85 0 ¢ 0 65
Tony DeNunzio 138 o 2 140 o] 0 0 140
Andrea Gisle Joosen 70 0 5 75 0 0 0 75
Lord Livingston
of Parkhead™ 296 0 1 207 0 0 0 297
Fiona McBain 74 0 6 80 0 0 0 80
Gerry Murphy 69 0 O B89 0 0 0 69
71 0 15 726 0 0 ¢ 726
2,031 132 131 2,294 0 0 ] 2,294

{13 Due to the impact of Covid-18, all members of the Board agroed 1o a termporary 20% reduction in base pay and fees from 5 April 2020 10 28 June 2020,
Base pay amounts wared by Alex Baldook and Jonmy Mason for the ponod from 5 Apnl 2020 to 2 May 2020, were £12.480 and £6.900. respectively. Andrea
Gisle Joosen is paid on a lunar payroll cycle and therefore the impact of the 20% reduction on basic fees paid In the financial year is slightly different than for other
Non-Executives, who are on a monthly payroll eycle. The reduction was applied from 5 Apnl 2020 for all

(2) Pension contributions comprise the Company’s contribution or alowance i lew. The contribution amount was 10% of salary for Alex Baldock and Jonny Mason.

(3) Taxabile benefits for Executive Direclors nclude private meadical nsurance and car allowance or driver benefit amounta, £101.863 for Alex Baldock relates 10 the
grossed-up elemant payable to cover the tax liabibty for his car and drver. ansing from business activitics considered taxable by HMRC For non-Executive Directors
they nclude routine travel expenses relating 1o travel, accommodation and subsistence costs incurred in connection with attendance at Board meetings and other
Board business during the year, which are considered taxable by HMRC.

4} lan Livingston has a deferred pension in the Dixons Retiremeant and Emgloyee Securnty Scheme

Annual performance bonus for 2020/21 (audited information)

The maximum bonus opportunity for Executive Directors was 150% of base salary based on performance in the 12-month period
to the end of tha financial year. The base salary usad for the annual bonus calculation was the full annual base salary before the
20% voluntary reduction in pay. This is consistent with the approach taken for the wider workforce colleagues in a similar position.
The maximum is payable at the maximum level of performance, 20% of the maximum opportunity is payable on achievement of
threshold performance (30% of base salary) and 60% on achievement of target performance (90% of base salary). No bonus is
payable if the minimum EBIT threshold is not achieved.

The Committee determined at the beginning of the year that the disclosure of performance targets was commercially sensitive
and therefore these were not disclosed in last year's Directors’ Remuneration Report. This was because targets were set within
the context of a longer-term business plan and this disclosure could give information to competitors to the detriment of business
performance. The Committes has, however, disclosed in the table below the targets on a retrospective basis and the actual
performance against these. Although EBIT targets were calibrated somewhat lower than those for 2018/20, the Committee were
comfortable that the 2020/21 targets when set representad an appropriately stretching level of performance in the context of the
plan approved by the Board, market consensus and expectations, particularly taking into account the anticipated impact of Covid-
enforced store closures. The Committes has a robust process for considering and calibrating perfermance targets, taking into
account internal and external expectations, which ensures that they represent a significant stretch which corresponds to the
creation of value for sharehclders.
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Actual 2020/21 performance against the targets was substantially better than could have been expected at the beginning of the year
and substantially better than in 2019/20 as evidenced balow:

As a percentage of Potential

maximum bonus Bonus %

Measure opportunity Threshold Target Maximum Actual Achieved

Adjusted EBIT™ 50% £139m £158m £199m £213m 50%
{vs £184.4m 201920}

Average net (debty? 20% (£353m) (£303m) [£263m) £207m 20%
fvs (£418m) 2019/20)

Customer Net Promoter Score'® 15% 65 68 67 65 3%
(vs 67.9 2019/20)

Employee engagement score 15% 64.5 66.2 67.8 67.8 15%
{vs 62 2019/20)

Total 88%

Total Awarded 88%

{1) EBIT target and ranges werg set at the beginning of the financial year using figures excluding IFRS 16 The actual outcome s therefore shown on this basis alsa
{in comparison 1o elsewhere in the Annual Report and Accounts which disclose Adjusted EBIT after it has beenrestated for the impact of IFRS 16).

{21 Average nel debt has improved significantly compared to the bonus target set at the start of the year. The business forecasted a tnancial downturn as a resutt
of Cavid-18 however performance has been much stronger. The bonus cutcame would have been the same when excluding any impact of government support.
Average net debt targets and outcome includes 1AS 17 Finance leases

{3) The Groug Costorner NPS results for 2019/20 and 202021 are not direclly comparable because there was a change In both the UK&) channel and brand mix between
the two years.

» The UK&I brand mix between Curry's PC World and Carphone was updated from 70%/30% (P019/20) to 90%.,10%12020/21) due: Lo the closure of the Carphone
standalone stores

s Also. due to ciosure of stores during the pandemic the channel mix shrfted between instore to online and so the channel mix was changed from 70% instore and
30% onlne |2019/201 1o 45% nstore and 55% online (202(0/21).

The Committee iz comtortable that the 2020721 1argets were no less stratching than thase set for 2019:20. but a direct companison between the two sets of results

cannotl be made.

The Treating Customers Fairly (TCF) withholding condition applies to all Executive Directors. This states that the company must
perform at a rate of 90% or better on the “Must Do” assessment regarding regulated products. If this isn't met then 10% of the
bonus must be withheld. The TOF outceme for 2020/21 was 93.75%, and therefore, the 10% withholding has not been applied.

The Committee considered whether or not to adjust the formulaic cutcome of 88% of maximum and decided it was satisfied that
the outcome is both fair and appropriate given the strong financial performance delivered in a difficult year and the wider stakeholder
experience oullined in the Remuneration in context section on pages 100 and 101. The Commitiee wers also mindful that no
2019/20 bonuses were paid to the Executive Diractors, even though bonus targets were on track prior to the negative impact of

the first lockdown in March 2020. Therefore, for the avoidance of doubt no Committee discretion was exercised in respect of the
formulaic outcome autlined above.

LTIP and other share awards {audited information)
LTIP Awards made during 2020/21
Nil cost option awards of 200% of base salary were made 1o Executive Directors on 19 August 2020.

Ag described in the 2020 Directors’ Remuneration Report, the Committee determined it appropriate to scale back the number of
shares awarded to the Executive Directors from the maximurm award level of 250% of salary. This decision was taken in response to
shareholders’ feedback on this matter in the prior year and the previcus fall in the share price; however the Committee also took into
account the strong recovery in the share price since the 2019 award and prior 10 the onset of the pandemic. Based on this evidence,
the Committee determined that Executive Directors' awards should be scaled back by 20% (i.e. to 200% of salary).

17
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The CGommittee also chose to delay the setting of the targets for the awards and therefore the grant date of the awards o August
2020 in order to allow time for a clearer picture to emerge on the effect of the first lockdown and o gauge the market expectation
of the long-term performance of the business. In order to ensure that this delay did not result in an undue benefit or penalty to
participants, the Committee set the number of shares to be awarded under the LTIP using the share price on 10 July 202C (87.05p).
It re-confirmed this decision on the day prior to grant (being 18 August 2020) when targets were set, noting that the share price had
not moved significantly in the meantime, closing on that date at 87p.

Tha performance period for the awards is the three financial years up to the end of the 2022/23 financial year and they have two
equally weighted performance conditions. Half of the awards will be subject to the achievement cf a relative TSR performance
condition, measured against a bespoke comparator group comprised of 21 European Special Lines Retailers and other comparable
companies at the start of the performance period. The list of companies included in the group is provided below.

Tha refative TSR condition will be assessed over the three-year performance period, with vesting determined as follows:

Rank of Company TSR against Comparator Group TSR % of TSR element vesting

Below Median 0%

Median 25%

Between Median and Upper-Quartile Pro rata between 25% and 100% on a straight-line basis
Upper Quartile or above 100%

Comparator Group: AQ World, Ceconomy AG, Dufry AG, Dunelm Group, Fenix Qutdoor International AG, Fielmann AG, FNAC Darty
SA, Frasers ple, Grandvision NV, JD Sports Fashion, Kingfisher, Maisons Du Monds S.A., Marks & Spencer Group., Mobilezone
Holding AG, Pets At Home Group, SMCP S.A.S., Superdry, Valora Helding AG, WH Smith, XXL ASA, Zur Rose Group AG.

The free cash flow performance condition is measured cumulatively over the three-year performance period. The percentage of the
award vesting will be as follows:

Cumulative free cash flow up to the end of the 2022/23 financial year % of the free cash flow element vesting

Below £312m 0%

£312m 10%

Between £312m and £368m Pro rata between 10% and 25% on a straight-line basis
£368m 5%

Between £368m and £423m Pro rata between 25% and 100%

Above £423m 100%

The free cash flow targets were set taking into account a number of inputs including market consensus at the time of the award
and the external environment within which the Company is operating, including the anticipated impact of Covid-enforced store
closures. Although free cash flow targets were calisrated somewbat lower than those for the award in the previous year, the
Committee were comfortable that they represented appropriately stretching levels of performance given the anticipated impact

of Covid at the time the awards were made. As always, the Committee will consider the level of performance achieved at the end of
the performance period and would be prepared to exercise discration if the formulaic cutcome was not apprepriate or aligned with
the shareholder experience.

Calculations of the achievermnent against the targets will be independently performed and approved by the Committee. Free cash flow
is defined in the glossary on page 218; however the Committee retaing discretion to adjust for exceptional items which impact cash
flow during the performance period and will make full and clear disclosure of any such adjustments in the Directors’ Remuneration
Report, together with detaiis of the achieved levels of performance. as determined by the above definitions, at the end of the
performance period.



STRATEGIC REPORT

FINANGIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTOR INFORMATION

Awards will be subject to recovery and withholding provisions for material misstatement, misconduct, calculation error, reputational
damage and corporate failure, enabling performance adjustments and / or recovery of sums already paid. Thase provisions will apply

for up to three years after vesting.

The awards are subject to a two-year post vesting holding pericd, during which the Executive Director is not permitted to sell any
shares vesting, other than those reguired to settle any tax obligations.

The table below sets out the LTIP awards made tc the Executive Directors in 2020/21:

Share price at End of Minimum value at
Nil cost options date of award Face value®™ performance threshold vesting'¥
awarded £ period Vesting date £
Alex Baldock —
200% of salary® 1,991,859 0.875 1,742,964 1 May 2023 19 August 2023 305,019
Jonny Mason —
200% of salary" 1.101.436 0.875 963,757 1 May 2023 19 August 2023 168,658

(1) The face value is calculated based an the number of options awarded multiphed by the share price at the date of award on 19 August 2020, being 87 5p.

12) The minimum value at thresheld vesting 1s calculated on 50% of the award operating with a threshold vesting of 25% of maximum, and 50% with a threshold vesting

of 10% of maximum. Value calculated using the share price at the grant date of the award (37.5p).

(3 Nil cost option awards were made to Alex Baldock on 19 August 2020. The Committee set the number of shares to be awarded using the share price on 10 July 2020

(B705p]

4) Nil cost option awards were made to Jonny Mason on 19 August 2020, The Committee set the number of shares to be awarded usng the share price on 10 July 2020

187 05p)

Vesting of awards made under 2016 LTIP {audited information)

Nil cost option awards equivalent to 275% of base salary were made to Alex Baldock on 22 June 2018 and Jonny Mason on

13 August 2018. The performance period for the awards was the three financial years up to the end of the 2020/21 financial year
and there were two equally weighted performance conditions, Half of the awards were subject to the achievement of a relative
TSR performance condition. measured against the companies ranked FTSE 51-150 from the start of the performance period.
The remaining half of the awards was subject to the achievement of a cumulative free cash flow target.

The performance period for these awards ended on 1 May 2021.

The performance measures for the award and the outcomes are shown below.

TSR Target
Level of Performance Below Threshold Threshold Maximum Achieved
TSR Perfermance over performance period Below Median Median Upper Quartile Below Median
Vesting Level 0% 25% 100% 0%
Cumulative free cash flow
Level of Performance Below Threshold Threshold Target Maximum Achieved
Cumulative free cash flow
over the performance period Below £517m £517m £574m £689m £698m
Vesting % 0% 10% 25% 1009% 100%

Based on the achieved level of performance, the threshold required for vesting for the TSR element was not met but the free cash
flow achieved a vesting percentage of 100%. Overall vesting was therefore 50%. The Committee reviewed whether any discretion
should be applied to the vesting cutcomes and determined that it was satisfied that the outcome is both fair and appropriate given
the overall performance and the wider stakeholder experience outlined in the Remuneration in context section on pages 100 and
101. Cn this basis the Committee determined that the awards should be paid in accordance with the vesting outcome.
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All the awards are subject to a two-year post vesting holding pericd, during which the Executive Director is not permitted to sell any
shares vesting, other than those required to settle any tax obligations.

Nil Cost Options Overall Overall vesting Vesting

awarded vesting % awards Date

Alex Baldock 1,197182 50% 598,51 19 July 2021
Jonny Mason'" 34,583 50% 356,243 13 Augusl 2021

{1} Jonny Mason's award has been prorated for service to his termination date.

In addition, awards of 100% of base salary were made to Alex Baldeck and Jonny Mason on 3 April 2018 and 13 August 2018
respectively, relating to their recruitment. These awards were subject only to the achievement of the relative TSR performance
condition, measured against the companies ranked FTSE 51-150 over the applicable performance pericd. The performance
period for Alex’s award was for the three-year period to 3 April 2021, and for the three financial years ending on 1 May 2021
for Jonny’s award.

Based on the achieved level of performance, the threshold required for vesting for both awards has not been met. The Committee
decided whether any discretion should be applied to the vesting outcomes and determined that the awards lapse on reaching their
vesting date.

TSR Target

Level of Performance Below Threshold Threshold Maximurm Achieved
TSR Performance over performance period Below Median Median Upper Quartile Below Median
Vesting Level 0% 25% 100% 0%

Vesting of Buy-out award granted in accordance with the Listing Rule 9.4.2(2) of the Listing Rules
(audited infarmation)

On 3 April 2018, the Company granted Alex Baldock a buy-out award to facilitate his recruitment and compensate for awards lost

from his previous employer. The award was granted under a one-off award agreement in accerdance with Listing Rule §.4.2(2) of
the Listing Rules.

The award comprised of a nil cost option over 889,078 shares in the Company and vested three years from the grant date (the
“vesting date"), subject to continued service and that neither party has served notfice to terminate employment prior to such time.
On thig basis the Committee determined that the award vested on the 6 April 2021. Following vesting the award then ordinarily
becomes exercisable in three tranches as set out below:

As from an exercise period commencing No. of related vested shares exercisable
6 April 2021 329.692 (Tranche 1)
3 April 2022 329,693 (Tranche 2)
3 Aprit 2023 329,693 (Tranche 3)

Alex exercised Tranche 1 of the award on 7 April 2021, An additional 37,586 shares were added to the tranche on exercise as
accrued dividend eguivalents, caiculated by reference to the value of dividends that would have been payable between the grant
of the award and the start of the exercise period.

Alex exercised a total of 367.288 options, made up of 329,692 options and 37,598 accrued dividend equivalents, and sold 173,233
shares to cover the tax liability arising on the transaction. The remaining 194,065 shares were retained.

Fult details relating 1o the award were disclosad in the 2017/18 Remuneration Report.
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Performance graph
The graph below shows the value, by 1 May 2021, of £100 invested in Dixons Carphene on 31 March 2011, compared with the value
of £100 invested in the FTSE 350 Index on the same date. The cther points plotted are the values at intervening financial year ends.

Total Shareholder Return (March 2011 - April 2021)
Total Shareholder Return Value of £100 investment over 10 years
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The FTSE 350 has been used as it is a broad market which includes the Ccmpany and a number of its competitors.

Group Chief Executive pay

The following table shows, over the same ten-year period as the performance graph, the Group Chief Executive's single total figure
of remuneration, the amount of bonus earned as a percentage of the maximum remuneration possible, and the vesting of long-term
awards as a percentage of the maximum number of shares that could have vested, where applicable.

CED single figure Annual bonus payout Long-term incentive vesting rates

of remuneration'” against maximum against maximum opportunity
Year £°000 % %
2020/21 Alex Baldock™ 2977 88% 50%
2019/20 Alex Baldock™® 1,038 0 n/a
2018/19 Alex Baldock 1,619 58% n/a
201718 Alex Baldock 1,946+ 0% n/a
201718 Sebastian James 2,716% 0% n/a
201617 Sebastian James 1.795 83% n/a
2015416 Sebastian James 1,616 68% n/a
2014/15 Sebastian James 1,687 100% n/a
2014415 Andrew Harriscn 420 100% n/a
2013714 Andrew Harrison 879 54% nsa
201314 Roger Taylor 159 n/a n/a
201213 Roger Taylor 258 56% n/a
201112 Roger Taylor 474 %" n/a

(1) Excludes remuneration received from long-term incentive schemes estabiished by Old Carphone Warehouse prior to the demerger from TalkTalk because that compary
15 not part of the current Group. Datalls of remuneration associated with Old Carphone Warehouse incentive schemes were provided in that company's annual report for
the year ended 31 March 2012 Future reparts will nclude long-term sncentives operated by the current Group when they have vested

121 As a result of Covid-18, Alex Baldock voluntarily agreed to a temporary 20% base pay reductions with effect from 5 April 2020 to 28 Juneg 2020.
13} Alex Baldock voluntarily deferred 100% of his annual performance bonus into a share award. vasting two-years from grant.

{4) The single figure has been restated to include the value of the Buy-out award. of 983.078 nil cost options, which was granted on 3 April 2018, The face value ot the
award at the gate of grant was £1.871.336, using the share price on the date of grant of £1.8920 As there were no performance eonditions attached 1o this award other
than conbinued employment the value of the award at grant should have been Included in the 2017/18 CEO single figure. Full details of the award were detalod m the
2017718 Remuneration Report.

{5] The single figure includas the taxable berefit ralating to the warving of the Ioan from the Dixans Share Plan award
{61 Roger Tayior waned a bonus of 5% maxamurm potential and nstead chose for it to be paid directly to chanty.
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Annual percentage change in remuneration
The table below provides the percentage change in the annual remuneration of Directors and the average UK colleague from
2020/21 onwards.

As the parent company only employs a small number of the workforce, the average UK colleague was deemed to be the most
appropriate comparator group, as the UK has the largest employee base and the Committee considers remuneration levels in the
UK when sstting salaries and fees for the Executive and Non-Executive Directors and the Group Chief Executive is based in the UK.

Salary Taxable Annual
and fees!” benefits'® bonuses®
Executive Directors
Group Chief Executive — Alex Baldock -0.84% &7% 100%
Group Chief Financial Officer — Jonny Mason -0.84% -0.86% 100%
Non-Executive Directors
Eileen Burbidge -1.31% -100% N/A
Tony DeNunzio -1.31% -100% N/A
Andrea Gisle Joosen™ -3.18% -100% N/A
Lord Livingston of Parkhead -1.31% -100% NAA
Fiona McBain -1.31% 100% NAA
Gerry Murphy -1.31% 0% N/A
Employees -B.5%" 0% N/AS

(1] No pay Increases weare applied tor 2020/21 for the Group Chief Executive. Group Chief Financiat Officer and Non-Execulive Directors, however they voluntarily agreed
to atemporary 20% base pay reductions with effect frorm 5 Apnl 2020 to 28 June 2020.

2] Andrea Gisle Jocsen 1s paid on a four weekly payroll cvole and therefore the impact of the 20% reduction on basic fees paid was diferent than for the other
Non-Cxecutves, who were paid on a monthly payroll eycle up to 10 July 2020, From 11 July 2020 all Non Executives moved to a four weekly payroll cycle
The same reduction of 20% was applied far all across the same period.

(3) The average employece percentage change has been calculated using the median pay data cellated for CEQ Pay Ratio reporting purposes. The calculation includes
data for LK eolleagues who were furtoughed and had Covid-18 related salary reductions n 202021,

(4) The percentage change in taxable benefits for the UK workforce 1s considered {o be (% since there have been no matenal changes in UK benafis,

5 No annual performance bonus was paid out for 2019020 for UK or Group, due 1o the EBIT performance threshold not being met by the business areas, s¢ a 100%
ncrease has been apphed for 2020021, as an annual performance bonus has been paid for 2020021,

6) The median UK colleague 15 not elaible tor an annual performancs bonus.

Relative importance of spend on pay

The following table sets out both the total cost of remuneration for the Group compared with adjusted EBIT and profits distributed
for 2020/21 and the prior year. Adjusted EBIT was chosen by the Committes as it is the most appropriate measure of the Group's
performance. Adjusted EBIT is defined in the glossary on page 217.

2020/21 2019/20

£million £million Change %
Dividends paid*" Nil 78 100%
Adjusted EBIT™ 262 214 22.43%
Total staff costs - continuing operations® 1,075 1123 -4, 27%

Number Number Change %
Average employee numbers - continuing operations® 36,087 42,209 -14.60%

1) Extracted fram note 24 1o the Group financial statements
{(2) Extracted from note A2 N Investor Information Adjusted EBIT for 2019720 has heen restated to exclude the mpact of IFRS 16 from adjusting items.
{3) Fxtracted from note 4 to the Group financial statcments,

14} Thare were no share buyhacks in 2019720 ar 2020:21.
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CEO Pay Ratio
The legislation requires the publishing of the ratio of total remuneration of the Group Chief Executive ta the 25th, 50th ana 75th
equivalent percentile of full-time eqguivalent colleagues.

The ratio is shown in the table below:

P25 P50 P75
Financial Year Methodology {Lower Quartile) (Median) (Upper Quartile}
2020021 Option A 17341 146:1 1111
2015/20 Option A 54:1 48:1 371
201819 Option A 79:1 6511 50:1

Of the three calculation approaches available in the regulations, we have chosen Methodclogy A because we believe it to be the
most appropriate and robust way for the Company to calculate the ratio.

In determining the figures, the following should be noted:

* The single total figure of remuneration of our UK colleagues was calculated as at 1 May 2021 and ranked using 2020/21 P80
and P11D data, employer pension contributions and payments under the Company share schemes, in line with the reporting
regulations. P60 data was used as it also includes the value of any overtime payments made in the year.

* The calculation includes data for UK colleagues who were furloughed and bad Covid-19 related salary reductions in 2020/21.
+ Part time colleagues’ earnings have been annualised on a full-time equivalent basis.
e Joiners and leavers were excluded from the ranking.

« The 25th, 50th and 75th percentile colleagues' single total figure of remuneration was then identified and compared to the CEO
pay, as shown in the single total figure of remuneration table on pags 115.

The following table provides base salary and total remuneration information in respect of the 25th. 50th and 75th percentile
colleagues, on afull-time equivalent basis.

Group Chief P25 P50 P75

Financial Year Remuneration Executive {Lower Quartile) {Median) {Upper Quartile}
2020421 Base salary 843348 16.007 18.896 22,882
Total remuneration 2977303 17.254 20,327 26,865

The Committee has confirmed that the ratio is consistent with the Company's wider pclicies on colleague pay and reward, taking into
account a range of factors including market practice, experience and National Living Wage requirements.

The pay ratio has increased since last year primarily because a 2020/21 bonus was received by the CEQ and 2018 LTIP award
vested, whereas in prior years there was no LTIP vesting and no bonus was paid for last year. Additionally, the calculations reflect
the reduced total pay levels for employees during the furlough period.

Given the nuances of reduced pay levels due to furlough in 2020/21, and larger portions of the CEC's remuneration linked to business
performance than the wider workforce, a base salary only ratio is shown below. This allows us to look at the CEO vs. the wider
workforce on the one remuneration component that is consistent across both groups. These figures are based on looking at the
full-time equivalent salary of colleagues as at 30 April 2021. When we do this, we can see that the ratios and values at the 25th, 50th
and 75th percentiles are significantly lower than the CEQ pay ratio noted above. In addition, they are consistent betwesn 2019/20 and
2020/21 and much more closely aligned to the CEQ ratios in 2019/20 and 2018/19 where nuances such as furlough were limited to a
short timeframe or non-existent and the CEO hadn'’t earned as much in remuneration linked to business performance.

Group Chief P25 P50 P75

Financial Year Remuneration Executive {Lower Quartile) {Median) {Upper Quartile}
2020721 Base salary £867,000 £18,151 £18,1561 £23,460
CEO Pay Ratio - 1:48 1:48 1:37

Group Chief P25 P50 P75

Financial Year Remuneration Executive {Lower Quartile} {Median) {Upper Quartile}
2019/20 Base salary £867.000 £17.745 £18,200 £22,500

CEOQ Pay Ratio - 1:49 1:48 1:38
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The ratio of the CEQ's pay to that of all colleagues is likely to be a volatile number, mainly resulting from the CEO having a larger
proportion of his total remuneration linked to business performance than other colleagues in the UK workforce and therefore it
does not necessarily shed any light an the alignment or otherwise with regard to pay, reward and progression for the UK workforce.
This alignment ig, however, something that the Committee considers as part of its overall responsibilities.

The Company continues to take its responsibilities to all stakeholders seriously. Our achievements this year and renewed financial
strength has allowed us to invest in our colleaguses and announce substantial pay increases for our hourly paid colieagues, in line
with the rates set by the Real Living Wage from October 2021, This will factor in next year’s calculations. We have also invested in
the customer experience, returned £73m of government furlough, repaid £144m of VAT early and recommenced our dividend.

Service agreements
Service contracts
The following table summarises key terms of the service contracts in place with the Executive Directors:

Date of contract

Alex Baldock 3 Apr18
Jonny Mason 13 Aug 18

More details are set out in the Service agreements section of the report on page 112.

Letter of appointment

Non-Executive Directors are normally appointed for three-year terms, subject to annual re-election at the annual general meetings,
although appointments may vary depending on length of service and succession planning considerations. Appeointments are
reviewed annually by the Nominations Committee and recommendations made to the Board accordingly. The contracts in respect
of the Chair of the Board's, Deputy Chair's and Non-Executive Directors’ services can be terminated by either party. the Company
or the Director, giving not less than three months' notice.

The date of the letters of appointment are shown below:

Letters of appointment

Eileen Burbidge 1Jan 19
Tony DeNunzio 16 Dec 15
Andrea Gisle Joosen 6 Aug 14
Lord Livingston of Parkhead 16 Dec 15
Fiena McBain 1 Mar 17
Gerry Murphy 6 Aug 14

External Directorships

The policy relating to external Directorshins is outlined in the Remuneration Policy. No Executive Director held external Directorships
during 2020/21.

Leavers and joiners {(audited information)

No changes took place in 2020/21 and no payments were made. Information relating to leavers and joiners in 2021/22 are set out on
pages 128 and 129.

Payments to Past Directors (audited information)

No payments were made to past Directors during 2020/21.
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Lapsed or Exercised Date from Expiry of
At 3 May Awarded forfeited in inthe which first the exercise Exercise
Date of grant 2020 in the year the year year At1 May 2021 exercisable period Price (p)
Alex Baldock
2018 LTIP 19 Aug 2020 - 1,891,959 - - 1,991,959 19 Aug 2023 19 Aug 2030 -
2016 LTIP 25 July 2019 1,737,530 - - - 1,737,530 25 July 2022 25 July 2029 -
2018/18 DSBP 25 July 2019 506,490 - - - 506,490 25 July 2021 25 July 2029 -
2016 LTIP 22 Jun 2018 1,197,182 - - - 1,197,182 19 July 2021 22 Jun 2028 -
2016 LTIP 3 Apr 2018 455,641 - 455,641 - 0 3 Apr 2021 3 Apr 2028 -
Section 9.4.2 3 Apr 2018 989,078 - - 329,692 659,386 3 Apr 2021 3 Apr 2028 -
Total {with performance
conditions) 4,926,671
Total (without performance
conditions) 1,165,876
Lapsed or Exercised Date from Expiry of
At3May Awarded forfeited in in the which first  the exercise Exercise
Date of grant 2020 in the year the year year At1 May 2021 exercisable period Price (p)
Jonny Mason
2016 LTIP 18 August 2020 - 1,101,436 - - 1,101,436 19 Aug 2023 18 Aug 2030 -
2016 LTIP 25 July 2019 960,752 - - - 960,752 25 July 2022 25 July 2029 -
201819 DSBP 25 July 2019 199,494 - - - 189,494 25 July 2021 25 July 2029 -
2016 LTIP 13 Aug 2018 734,583 - - - 734,583 13 Aug 2021 13 Aug 2028 -
2016 LTIP 13 Aug 2018 267121 - - - 267,121 13 Aug 2021 13 Aug 2028 -
Section 9.4.2 13 Aug 2018 81,435 - - - 81,435 13 Aug 2021 13 Aug 2028 -
Total (with performance
conditions) 3,063,882
Total fwithout performance
conditions) 280,929
Directors’ interests in Sharesave (audited information)
Lapsed or Exercised Date from Expiry of
Exercise At 3 May Awarded cancelled inthe At1May which first the exercise
Date of grant price (p) 2020 inthe year in the year year 2021 exercisable period
Alex Baldock
Sharesave 28 Aug 2020 86.64 - 86,662 - - 6,662 10ctz025 1 Apr2026
Sharesave 10 Sept 2019 97.28 13.939 - - - 13,939 1 0ct 2024 1 Apr 2025
Total 13,932 6,662 - - 20,601
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Directors’ shareholding (audited information)
The Company share ownership guidelines are designed to encourage shareholding in the Company for Executive Directors.

The level of sharehelding requirement for Executive Directors is 200% of base salary to be achieved five years from their
appointment date.

Beneficially owned shares (including any interests held by connected persons e.g. spouse} count towards the guidelines,
together with:

* unvested awards, on a ‘net-of-tax’ basis, granted under any deferred bonus arrangement or other plan / arrangement with
no post-grant performance conditions; and

* shares subject to an unexpired holding period {including any shares held under a vested but unexercised option), cn a
‘net-of-tax’ basis and provided that no further performance targsts must be met.

Details of Directors’ interests in shares of the Company as at 1 May 2021 ara shown in the following table:

Scheme interests

Beneficially owned Shares Shares Total beneficial
shares {including subject to without interests under Total beneficial
any interests held by performance  performance share ownership share interests
connected persens conditions conditions guidelines™ as a % of salary®
Executive Directors
Alex Baldock 569,588 4,926,671 1,186,477 1,204,023 194%
Jonny Mason 175,000 3,063,892 280,929 322,909 94%
Non-Executive Directors
Eileen Burbidge 4,200 - - 4,200 N/A
Tony DeNunzio 200,000 - - 200,000 N/A
Andrea Gisle Joosen 24,976 - - 24,976 N/A
Lord Livingston of Parkhead 205,631 - - 205,631 N/A
Gerry Murphy 100,000 - - 100,000 N/A
Fiona McBain 29,129 - - 29,129 N/A

(1) This figure is calculated on a 'net of tax and commission basis|, as appropriate.
{2) The percentage is based on base salary as at 1 May 2021 and an average share price ovaer the month to 1 May 2021 of £1,396<
{3} Executive Diractors have five years from their appointment date o reach their shareholding requirement of 200%.

There were no changes in the Directors’ share interests between 1 May 2021 and the date of this Report.

Non-Executive Directors’ and Chair of the Board’s fees

The fees for the independent Non-Executive Directors, including the Deputy Chalr, are determined by the Board (excluding
Non-Executive Directors) after considering external market research and are reviewed on an annual basis. Factors taken into
consideration include the required time commitment, specific experience and / or gualifications. A base fee is payable and additional
fees are paid for chairing and membership of committees. The Chair of the Board is not involved in the setting of his own salary,
which is dealt with by the Bemuneration Committee annually. Non-Executive Directors receive no variable pay and receive no
additional benefits, except in situations whare an Executive Director becomes a Nan-Executive Director, and benefit and pension
arrangements continue.

The fees were reviswed during 2020/21 and remain unchanged. The Chair of the Board and Deputy Chair receive all-inclusive fees
reflecting their duties. Other independsnt Non-Executive Directors received a basic fee of £60,000 and additional fees as set out in
the table below for chairing or membership of committees.
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2020/21 2019/208

£000 £'000

Chair of the Boarad™" 300 300
Deputy Chair* 140 140
Chair of Audit Committee" 15 14
Member of Audil Cormrnillee 5 5]
Member of Nominations Committee 5 3]
Member of Remuneration Committee 5 5

1] The Char of the Board's fee includes Chairship of the Nominations Committee.

{
(2) The Deputy Char's f2e ncludes the Senior Independeant Diroctar, Gharship of the Remuneration Committes. and membership of the Nomnatons Committes feas

(3) The Char of the Audit Commistter tee includes tees for attending the board meetings of the two main operating subsicharies.

4] Due to the impact of Cowid-19, all Non-Exacutive Directors agreed to a temporary 20% reduction in fees with effect from 5 April 2020 to 28 June 2020,
The figures represcnted do not reflect this 20% reduction, as 1t 1s temporary in nature,

How the Remuneration Policy will be applied in 2021/22
Executive Directors

i) Base Salary

The following salaries will apply during the 2021/22 financial year:

Salary at 1 May 2021 % Increase in Salary at 1 August 2021
£°000 salary in 2621/22 £'000

Current Directors
Alex Baldock 867 1.5% 880
Jonny Mason 479 - 479
Bruce Marsh™ 115 _ 415

(1} Salary is effective from date of appaintment.

ity Pension Contributions

Company pension contributions or allowance in lieu of 10% of base salary will be paid to Alex Baldock and Jonny Mason.
Bruce Marsh will receive a 3% pension allowance on joining the Gompany, in line with the wider workforce, The Committes
also confirms that Alex Baldock's pension allowance will be aligned with the majority of the wider workforce by the end of 2022,

iii} Annual performance bonus

The maximum annual performance bonus for 2021/22 will be 150% of base salary. Measures are selected to reflect the Group's

key objectives and for 2021/22 the bonus will include a clawback fagility in order to demonstrate the Company’s objective to
reinforce a culture of ‘Treating Customers Fairly'. A minimum EBIT threshold must be achieved before any bonus is paid out. One-
third of any bonus earned will be deferred into shares for two years after payment. The annual performance bonus for 2021/22

will include additicnal environmental measures. These measures are reflected and deeply embedded in cur strategy. is the right
thing to do — and meets the growing expectation from our colleagues, customers and shareholders to focus on the environmental
agenda. These measures are in addition to the strong emphasis on ESG already in our annual performance bonus plan through our
Customer, Employee Engagement and Treating Customers Fairly measures. The Committee feels that specific targets relating to the
2021/22 bonus schema are commercially sensitive and as such will not be disclosed. Retrospective disclosurs of the targets and
performance against them will be provided in next year's Remuneration Report.
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The performance metrics and their weightings for 2021/22 are shown in the table below:

Weighting (as a percentage of
maximum bhonus opportunity)

Adjusted EBIT™ 459,
Average net debt 15%
ESG Metrics (40%):

Custormer Net Promoter Score 15%
Employee engagement 15%
Environmental to include:

- Focusing on recycling by increasing e-waste Take Back ?:;Z

- Reducing Scope 1 and 2 Carbon Emissions

11) Note thal the Company has implemented the IFRS 16 accounting standard and the Adjusted EBIT targets in respect of 2021/22 take this into account.
The target figures wall therefore not be direcily comparabile with those for 2020,21 and prior years, though in the opinion of the Committee are no less challenging.

Recovery and withholding provisions apply for material misstatement, miscenduct, calculation error, reputational damage and
corporate failure, enabling performance adjustments and / or recovery of sums already paid. These provisions will apply for up
to three years after payment,

iv} LTIP

In ling with the Policy approved by shareholders in 2019, the Committee intends to make an award of 250% of base salary to Alex
Baldock and Bruce Marsh shortly after the announcement of the results for the 2020/21 financial year, As in prior years, the awards
will be subject to two equally weighted performance conditions. Half of the awards will be subject to the achievement of a relative
TSR performanca condition. measured against a bespoke comparator group comprised of 21 European Special Lines Retailers,
The remaining half of the awards will be subject to the achievement of a cumulative free cash flow target. This year, we plan to set
the targets and make the awards after we have announcad our annual results, to ensure that we have targats in place that are

both stretching for participants and also fully reflective of how shareholders and the market view the long-term performance of the
business. We will fully disclose the award details and targets at the time of the grant anncuncement and also include them in next
year's Remuneration Report.

These awards will vest after three years based on continued service and will be subject to a further two-year post vesting holding
period, during which the Executive Director is not permitted to sell any shares vesting, other than those required to settle any tax
obligations.

Awards will be subject to recovery and withholding provisions for material misstaternent, misconduct, calculation error, reputational
damage and corporate failure, enabling performance adjustments and / or recovery of sums already paid. These provisions will apply
for up to three years after vesting. Any shares vesting as a result of these awards. net of tax and national insurance, will be required
to be held for a further two years post vesting.

v) Joiners and leavers
Bruce Marsh

In January 2021, the Board announced the appointment of Bruce Marsh as Group Chief Financial Officer, with effect from 12 July
2021, Bruce had been Finance Diractor, UK and Ireland. at Tesco plc since 2015. Before that he was at Kingfisher plc, where he was
Managing Director of Kingfisher Future Homes and Group Strategy Director, and previously held a numier of senior finance roles at
Dixons Retall plc.

His salary from the date of appointment will be £415,000. In line with policy, he is eligible to receive a pension allowance of 3% of
base salary and a maximum bonus of 150% of base salary, with one third deferred into shares for two years. His normal LTIP will
be 250% of base salary per annum. Bruce is on a 12-month notice period from the Company and a six months’ notice period from
the Executive.

Upon joining, Bruce will recaive 250% of base salary under the 2016 LTIP for the financial year 2021/22. In addition, he will receive

a buy-out award and cash payment to compensate for bonus and awards lost from his pravious empicyer. The cash payment of
£271,448 wilt be paid on joining. The buy-out award of Dixons Carphone ple shares will be granted in October 2021 with a face value
of ¢.£454,938. The actual value of the award will be confirmed on grant and wil be based on Tesco share price on relevant dates

in July and Qcteber 2021, The buy-out award will be granted under the Listing Rule 9.4.2 (2), and full details of the award will be
disclosed at grant.
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The payment and award are consistent with our Remuneration Policy and, we believe, represent an excelient investment in securing
a leader with Bruce's experience and capabilities.

Jonny Mason

The Committee considered the appropriate termination terms for Jonny on his departure. His termination arrangements were in line
with the approved Remuneration Policy.

Jonny is on a 12-month notice period to be given by the Company, and notice was given on 20 January 2021. After termination,
payment in lieu of notice will be paid in instalments until the end of hig notice pericd or if earlier, the date on which alternative
employment is secured or alternative engagements with the same or higher salary / fee is received.

Jonny will receive payment of the 2020/21 bonus, which was assessed on the same performance criteria as other participants at the
year end. Two thirds of the bonus will be paid in cash and one third in deferred shares vesting in two years. He will not be eligible for
a 2021/22 bonus or LTIP grant.

The Committee has determined that Jonny will receive good leaver status in respect of his cutstanding Buy-out, LTIP and Deferred
Share Bonus Plan awards, taking account of his significant contribution to the strong profit and cash flow performance in the year
and ongoing efforts supporting a successful transition to the new CFO. The Buy-out and LTIP awards will be pro-rated for his period
of employment.

Statement of voting at shareholder meetings

The Compary is committed to ongoing shareholder dialogue in respect of Directors” remuneration and takes an active interest in
voting outcomes. Where there are supstantial votes against resolutions. explanatory reascons will be sought. and any actions in
response will be communicated to shareholders,

The following table sets out the voting results in relation to the approval of the remuneration policy when it was last put to
shareholders at the annual general mesting 2019:

Resolution Votes for % Votes against % Withheld

Approval of Directors' remuneration policy 831,610,451 89.26 100,031,252 10.74 33,572,688

The following table sets out the voting results in relation to the resolutions put to the Annual General Meeting 2020:

Resolution Votes for % Votes against % Withheld
Approval of annual remuneration report 866,889,321 93.65 58,771,953 6.35 2170977
Advice

At the end of the last financial year, the Committee agreed that a review of the executive remuneration advisers should be carrisd out
and a full tender process commenced in 2020/21. Willis Towers Watson were appointed as new advisers from 9 September 2020
following the completion of the tender process.

Prior to Willis Towers Watson's appointment, both AON and PWC advised the Committee. All advisers listed are members of the
Remuneration Consultants Group and operate under its code of conduct in relation to the provision of executive remuneration advice
in the UK and have confirmed that they achered to the Code during 2020/21 for all remuneration services provided to the Group.
Aon Hewitt received fees of £12,575 (2019/20: £75,255) in relation to the provision of those services, PWC received fees of £63,725
and WTW received fees of £74,745. Fees are charged on a time and expenses basis. During the year. PWC and WTW also provided
other ad hoc remuneration services outside the scope of the Committee to the Company.

Compliance
As required by the Regulations, resolutions to approve this Remuneration Report will be proposed at the 2021 Annual General Meeting.

Tony DeNunzio CBE
Chair of the Remuneration Committee
29 June 2021
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STATEMENT OF
DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and the financial statements in

accordance with applicable law and regulations.

The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report
and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors
are required to prepare the consolidated financial statements

in accordance with international accounting standards in
conformity with the reguirements of the Companies Act 2006
and IFRS adopted pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002
as it applies in the European Union. The consclidated financial
statements are also prepared in accorgdance with IFRS as issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board. The directors
have also elected to prepare the Company financial statements
in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework. Under company law the directors must
not approve the accounts unless they are satisfied that they give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the
Group and of the profit or loss of the Company and the Group for
that period.

In preparing the Company financial statements, the directors
are reqguired to:

» select suitable accounting policies and then apply thern
consistently;

* make judgements and accounting estimates that are
reasonable and prudent;

* state whether Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced
Disclosure Framework” has been followed, subject to any
material departures disclosed and explained in the financial
staterments; and

* prepare the financial staterments on the going concern basis
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will
continue in business.

In preparing the consclidated financial statements, IAS 1
‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ requires that directors:

* properly select and apply accounting policies;

* present information, including accounting palicies, ina
manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable information;

s provide additional disclosures when compliance with the
specific reguirements in IFRS are insufficient to enable
users to understand the impact of particular transactions,
othar events and conditions on the Group’s financial
position and financial performance; and

* make an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time
the financial position of the Compary and the Group and enable
themn to ensure that the financial statements comply with the
Companies Act 2008. They are also responsible for safeguarding
the assets of the Company and the Group and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
cther irregularities,

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity
of the corporate and financial information included on the
Group's website. Legistation in the United Kingdom governing
the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may
differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Responsibility statement
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge:

* the financial statements, prepared in accerdance with the
relevant financial reporting framewcrk, give a true and fair
view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or
loss of the Company and the undertakings included in the
consclidation taken as a whole;

* the Strategic Report includes a fair review of the
development and performance of the business and the
position of the Company and the undertakings included
in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties that
they face; and

* the Annual Report and financial statements, taken as a
whole, are fair, balanced and understandable and provide
the information necessary for shareholders to assess the
Group and the Company's performance, business model
and strategy.

By Order of the Board

Alex Baldock Jonny Mason
Group Chief Executive Group Chief Financial Officer
29 June 2021 29 June 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Report on the audit of the financial statements
1. Opinion
In aur opinion:

+ the financial statements of Dixons Carphone plc {the ‘Company” or the ‘parent compary’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’} give
a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the parent company's affairs as at 1 May 2021 and of the Group's profit for
the year then ended;

+ the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with international accounting standards in conformity
with the reqguirements of the Companias Act 2006 and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the
European Union;

* the parent company financial statements have beean properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework'; and

+ the financial staternents have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2008,

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:

* the consolidated income statement;

+ the consolidated statement of comprehensive income;

* the consolidated and parent company balance sheets;

* the consolidated and parent company statements of changes in equity;

+ the consolidated cash flow statement; and

* therelated notes 1 to 34 of the Group financial statements and notes C1 1o C10 of the parsnt company financial statements

The financial reporting framewoerk that has been applied in the preparation of the Group financial statements is applicable law,
internaticnal accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and IFRSs as adopted by
the European Union. The financial reperting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial
statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 101 'Reduced Disclosure Framework’
(United Kingdem Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

2. Basis for opinion

We conducted cur audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK} and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor’s responsiiilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report.

We are independent of the Group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s {the 'FRC’s’) Ethical Standard as applied to listed
public interest entities, and we have fulfiled cur other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. The non-audit
sarvices provided to the Group and Company for the year are disclosed in note 3 to the financial statsments. We confirm that the
non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard were not provided to the Group or the Company.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

3
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT CONTINUED

3. Summary of our audit approach

Key audit matters The key audit matters that we 1dentfied in the current year were:

* Revenue recognition - valuation of UK network receivables;
¢ |mpairment of UK & lrelfand Electricals goodwill and store assets; and
* Impairment of UK & treland Electricals assets in the course of construction.

Materiality The matenality that we used for the Group financial statements was £10.5m. Consistenl with the prior year, this

was determined on the basis of considering a number of different metrics used by investors and other users of
the financial statements. These included adjusted profit bofore tax, net assets and revenue.

For further detalls refer to section & of this report.

Scoping Our full scope audit procedures provided coverage at the Group's key locations, being the retail operations in

the UK and Nordics. representing 94% of the Group's revenue.

Significant changes Last year we included key audit matters in respect of Carphone Warehousse UK restructuring, going concern
in our approach basis of accounting and tax provisioning, which are not considered to be key audit matters for this year.

Carphone Warehouse UK restructuring was a one off event during 2019/20 and thus has no impact in 2020421
and has been excluded from the key audit matters.

Gaoing concern was considered as a key audit matter in the previous year due to the increase in the lavel

of audit effort, judgerment and complexity as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic. The improved trading
performance, despite Covid-19 restrictions in place for a sustained period, and the refinancing activities
undertaken in April 2021, reduced the level of judgement in the current period. As such. going concern is ne
longer considered a key audit matter.

There have been no significant developments during the period in respect of tax provisioning for the two
largest exposures in the UK, and as such the extent of our audit procedures in respeact of this audit matter has
reduced compared to the pravious period. We therefore have not identified this as a key audit matter in the
current period.

We have refined our mpairment key audit matter to no longer include Company investments and central
assets. Whilst there remains potential exposure, as indicated by the premium of net assets above market
capitalisation, there is a significant level of headroom available at the combined cash generating unit level
based on management's forecasts. We included a new key audit matter in respect of impairment of UK assets
inthe course of construction. This reflects the increased level of management judgement required as a result
of recent changes in business strategy in light of the Covid-18 pandemic.

4. Conclusions relating {o going concern

In auditing the financia! statements, we have concluded that the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparaticn of the financial statements is appropriate.

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the Group's and parent company’s ability to centinue to adopt the geing concern
basis of accounting included:

L

Consideration of the nature of the Group, its business model and related risks including where relevant the impact of both
the Covid-19 pandemic and Brexit, the requirements of the applicable financial reporting framework and the system of
internal control;

Evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, including challenging the underlying
data and key assumptions used, such as forecast revenue and operating costs, against historical and forward looking data;

Evaluation of the directors’ plans for future actions in relation to their going concern assessment;

Evaluation of mitigations in place and further mitigations available to the Group beyond those included within the forecast.
This included challenging the extent to which these mitigations are within the control of management in the context of historical
performance and costs included in management’s underlying forecasts;

Agsessment of the Group's financing agreements, covenant calculations and forecast covenant compliance over the relevant
outlook period; and

Assessment of the appropriateness of the going concern disclosures in the financial statements.
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Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that,
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and parent company’s ability to continue as a going concern
for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

In relation to the reporting on how the Group has applied the UK Corporate Governance Code, we have nothing material to add
or draw attention to in relation to the directors’ statement in the financial statements about whether the directors considered it
appropriate to adept the geing concern basis of accounting.

Our responsibilities and the responsibiities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of
this report.

5. Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial
statements of the current period and include the maost significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to
fraud) that we identified. These matters included those which had the greatest effect on the overall audit strategy, the allocation of
resources in the audit and directing the efforts of the engagement team.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion ¢n these matters.

5.1. Revenue recognition — Valuation of UK network receivables

Key audit matter The Group sells mobile phone contracts on behalf of mobile operators. The valuation of gross network commission

description receivable and contract assets of £405m (2 May 2020: £1,008m), being commission for which there is a contractual
entitiement based on mobile phone connecticns already made, and for which there are no ongoing performance
obligations, is subject to significant management judgement.

Included within the gross value are contract assets of £207m {2 May 2020 £546m). These are recoghised where the
performance obligations have been met but the guantum of consideration from the customer is variable due to factors
other than the passage of tme. The valuation is based on management’s estimate of the extent to which it is highly
probable that recognised revenue will not be subject to a material reversal in the future.

As describad innote 15, the valuation of the expected receivable Is determined by four key assumptions:

* the expected lavel of customer spend in excess of their current contracted amount {(known as ‘out of bundle’ spend):
* the forecast customer default rate within the contract period:

+ the forecast rate of customer renewals with the same network provider; and

* the expected customer behaviour beyond the initial contract period (the propensity of custormers to ‘sleep’).

We have focused our risk related to the valuation of contract assets on the determination of these four key
assumptions. Due to the level of judgement involved, we have determined that there is potential for manipulation of this
balance by management.

The value of these assumptions influences the level of netwark commission revenue that the Group recognises. A
change in these assumptions can also lead to the adjustment of revenue that has been recognised In prior pariods.

In determining these assumptions the Group considers historical activity by customers and operators and makes an
assessment as 1o how this activity will change in the future, taking into account other factors such as new regulations.
These future variations can be influenced by external factors, including custemer behaviour, operator behaviour and
changes to market regulations.

The current year reflects an out of perod revaluation gain of £14m (2018/20: loss of £(47)m). During the financial year
the contract with one of the network operators ended in September 2020 and in March 2021 the full debtor was
settled. The Group also settled an ongoing contractual dispute with a counterparty and upon settiernent recognised
a gain of £28m, which has been recognised as other operating ncome.

As described in note 1e to the Group financial statements, remeasurement of prior period assumptions due to changes
in consumer behaviour, or where more recent information becomes available, are recognised as revenue in the income
statement. Any changes in prior period assumptions. and their conseguential impact on revenue. are eliminated from
the Group's adjusted profit before tax which is an alternative performance measure, which can be found in Appendix
A5 on page 221. The key judgements and estimates involved are described in more detail in the Audit Committee
report on page 91, i the key sources of estimation uncertainty disclosed in note 1t and in note 15 to the Group
financial statements.
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How the scope
of our audit
responded

to the key audit
matter

We obtained an understanding of the senior management review control of the key assumptions used to determing
the UK network receivables balance.

We assessed the valuation of revenue recognised through review of the contractual agreements, comparison of
data used by management to data submitted by the mobile operators. and performing procedures to assess the
reasonableness of the four key assumptions. We challenged:

* the forecast customer spend assumptions by comparison 1o actual customer spend data trends from the network
vperalors and with reterence to external market data and trends;

the forecast customer default rate by comparison to the actual rates of default seen in the latest data from
the networks and with reference to the external economic environment and defauft rates observed in external
market data;

the forecast rate of customer renewals with the same network provider by comparison to the latest renewals data
from the network operators and with reference to other axternal market data; and

the expected customer behaviour beyond the initial contract period by comparison to actual rates of customears
continuing their contract after their fixed contract term and with reference to external market data and analysis.

In considering the assumptions, we analysed existing and forthcoming changes in regulation and wider macro-
economic environment. We considered whether these could lead to behavicural changas which would impact the
amount of revenues recognised in the current yaar. Such changes could also risk the reversal of revenue recognised in
previous accounting pericds and the recoverability of the receivable on the balance sheet. Specifically. we considered
expected behavioural changes relating to the events described in note 15(v) and challenged the quantum of constraint
applied to the contract asset recognised at the year end. We considered whether management’s assumptions in
respect of the impact of possible behavioural changes and the resulting impact on the valuation of the UK natwork
receivables balance were reasonable.

YWe assessad managament's judgement that the settiement of an ongoing dispute with one of the network operators
should be recognised in other operating income. We reviewad the settlement agreement and challenged management
on whether there was any contradictory avidence to demonstrate that the settlement should instead be recognised
within revenue. In order to confirm the settlements we inspected the receipt on the bank statements and reviewed the
contracts.

We assessed the changes in assumptions in relation to the revenue recognised for current year connections between
consumers and operators, and in reiation to revenue recognised in pravious accounting periods. In doing so we
assessed whether the amount of revenue recognised in each circumstance is consistent with the disclosure in note
15. We assessed the disclosures relating to the treatment of out of pericd revaluations as an adjusting item in the
recongiliation of adjusted profit before tax, a key alternative performance measure.

Key
observations

We consider the treatment adopted in refation to the valuation of the UK network commission receivable and the
related assumptions applied by management to be appropriate.

We consider the recognition of the gain arising upon settlement of an ongeing dispute with one of the network
operators to be appropriately recognised within other operating income.

We agree that the disclosures relating to network commissions, summarissd in note 15, provide an appropriate
understancing of the estimates taken by management and how changes in these estimates have influenced the
total revenue recognised from network commissions in the year.
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5.2. Impairment of UK & Ireland Electricals goodwill and store assets

Key audit matter in light of the impact of Covid-19, there is a heightened risk of impairment in respect of the UK & Ireland Electricals

description

goodwill of £1,840m (2019/20: £1,840m) and UK store and right-of-use assets of £505m (2019/20: £546m).

£1,840m of goodwill is reviewed by management for impairment within the UK & Ireland Electricals group of cash
genarating units {CGUs). As set out in note 8b to the Group financial statements. management assesses the
recoverable amount of the group of CGUs by calculating its value in use using projections covering a five-year period.
Following their impairment review, management did not identify any impairment of goodwill being required.

There is judgement reguired by management in determining forecast cash flows, partcularly in respect of the later and
terminal years of their five-year period projections.

As disclosed in note 8 we note that a reasonably possible change in management's forecast annual operating profit
throughout their Stratagic Plan forecasts would result in headroom of the UK & Ireland combined groups of CGUs
being eroded to nil. We note there is uncertainty in the assumptions underlying these forecasts, particularly in respect
of forecast operating profit and the future EBIT margin that the Group will generate. Management has included a key
source of estimation uncertainty in note 1t, and provided associated sensitivity disclosures in respect of the long term
operating profit of the UK & Ireland Electricals group of CGUs as set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

Management has compieted a full impairment review of UK store assets, consisting of £442m of right-of-use assets
and £63m of store assets, by comparing the value in use indicated by management’s store level forecasts to the
carrying value of fixed assets of that store, As a result of this review, an impairment of £15m was recognised as
described in note 3 to the financial statements. There is an inherent key assurmption in management’s forecasts as to
how customers will behave in the future, in particular the proportion of customers that will shop in store or online. As

a result, management has identified that a reasconably possible change in consumer behaviour could resultin a further
material impairment. and have included a key source of estimation uncertainty in note 1t to the financial statements.

Further information in this area is discussed in the Audit Committee report on page 91 and in note 8 to the Group
financial statements.

How the scope
of our audit
responded

to the key audit
matter

We have completed the following procedures inrespect of goodwill and store impairment:

* obtained an understanding of relevant controls relating to the review and approval of the impairment reviews,

» tosted the mechanical accuracy of the valug in use models and cash flow forecasts and assessed whether the
methodology used in determining the recoverable amount is consistent with IAS 38: Impairment of Assets’,

» challengad the key assumptions used by management in the impairment reviews through compariscn to
historical performance and external evidence. In particular. we challenged management in respect of the forecast
improvement in operating profit. We assessed this by:

— challenging managament on the key reconciling items that bridge between the EBIT margin generated in the
current and prior periods to the EBIT margin that is forecast over the term of the strategic plan and into perpetuity;

— caonsidering the reasonableness of management's short term cash flow forecasts. including cost savings related
to the transformation of the go to markst strategy for one of the Group’s main sales categories that the Group
expects to achieve, which forms a key part of managerment’s value in use model used to derive the recoverable
amount of the group of CGUs. We assessed whether the Group was committed to these plans to the extent that
the cost savings can be included in an impairment assessment under 1AS 36,

— challenging management on the forecast proportion of customers that wilt shop in store or online by comparison
to the historical proportion before the impact of Covid-19, the actual proportion experienced during the period and
cansidering forward looking analysis, and reviswing the associated sensflivity disclosures; and

- svaluating management's assessment of the sensitivity to forecast operating profit margin required ta indicate
an impairment. We compared the breakeven operating profit margin to the marging achieved by comparator
companies.

s challenged management's rationale for the premium of the net assets of the Group above the market capitalisation
of the Group by evaluating the reconciling amounts in management’s analysis;

« assessed the completenass of assats being included in the asset base and the appropriateness of any lability
balances included by management:

* pvaluated management’s assessment of assets which cannot be allocated on a reascnable and consistent basis to
the UK & Ireland Electricals group of CGUs; and

» assessed the completeness and accuracy of disciosures against the requiremenits of IAS 1 and IAS 36 respectivaly.

Key
observations

We considered that the related disciosures appropriately summarise the uncertainties associated with management's
impairment reviews. Ye concur with management’s conclusion that no impairment of goodwill is required and that the
impairment of storg assets recognised is appropriate.
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5.3. Impairment of UK & Ireland Electricals assets in the course of construction

Key audit matter description

The Group invasts significant amounts in both tangible and intangible assets in relation to strategic
change projects. These projects are typically multivear and therefore significant capitalised development
costs are classified as assets in the course of construction at key reporting dates. The total UK & freland
Electricals assets in the course of construction is £47m at 1 May 2021 (2018/20: £110m).

Within the year, and following a strategic change by the Group, a £55m impairment charge was
recognisad in relation to intangible assets, primanly rélated to software development costs, as
described in note 9 to the financial statements. Given the recent strategic changes in the business.
there remains a risk of impairment in respeact of the assets in the course of construction held at year
end, and whether there remains a viable business case for these assets. Where the business case
is no longer viable, then an impairment of the corresponding asset value is recorded.

Further information in this area is discussed in the Audit Committee report on page 91 and in note 9
to the Group financial statements.

How the scope of
our audit responded
to the key audit matter

We have completed the following procedures in respeact of agsets in the course of construction:

* obtained an understanding of relevant controls refating to the management review of the assets in the
course of construction ledger and associated business approval controls;
for a sample of the largest and most aged assets under construction, we have obtained the business
case plans prepared by management and assessed whether there continues to be a valid business
case by challenging the changes in strategic direction in the year against the original business case
plans;
challenged the impairment recognised in the period by comparison to the wider trading performance
of the UK trading business and assessing whether there is any indicator of management bias;
* made enquiries of management throughoul the crganisation 1o further understand the purpose of

the project and assess whether it is appropriate the asset remains in assets under construction; and

* where impairments have arisen in the year, we have understood why the project costs have been
written-off and challenged management on whether this censtitutes a prior penod error.

Key observations

We concur with management's conclusion that the impairment recognised in the year is appropriate.
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We define materiality as the magnitude of misstaternent in the financial statements that makes it probable that the economic
decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We use materiality both in planning the scope
of our audit work and in ewaluating the results of our work.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Consclidated financial statements

Company financial statements

Materiality

£10.5m (2019/20: £8.5m)

£8.9m (2018/20: £9.0m)

Basis for determining
materiality

We considered the following metrics:

» Adjusted profit before tax (see note AS);
+ Net assets; and
* Revenue.

Using professional judgement, we determined
materiality to be £10.5m (£9.5my).

Matteriality for the current year represents 8.6% of

adjusted profit before tax (2019/20: 7.5%), 0.15% of
total assets (2019/20: 0.12%) and 8.12% of revenue

{2019/20: 0.09%).

Company materiality is determined as a
percentage of net assets. Determined company
materiality equates to 0.36% (2019/20: 0.33%) of
net assets, which 1s capped at 95% (2019/20: 95%;
of group materiality.

Rationale for the
benchmark applied

In determining cur benchmark for materiality, we
considered a number of different metrics used
by investors and other users of the financial
statements.

Net assets was selected as an appropriate
benchmark for determining materiality, as
the Company acts as a holding company.

6.2. Performance materiality

We set performance materiality at a level lower than materiality to reduce the probability that, in aggregate, uncorrected and
undetected misstatements exceed the materiality for the financial statements as a whole.

Group financial statements

Parent company financial statements

Performance materiality

65% {2019/20: 70%) of group materiality

65% (2019/20: 70%) of parent
company materiality

Basis and rationale for
determining performance
materiality

Performance materiality as a percentage of materiality has reduced from 70% to 65% to reflect the
impact of a remote working environment and associated increase in risk of control falures and error.
In determining performance materiality. we also considerad the following factors:

a. theimpact of Covid-19 and industry wide pressure on the financial statements, the jJudgements taken
by management and the associated disclosures;

b. our risk assessment, including our assessment of the Group's overall control envircnment and our

reliance on controls N the Nordics, and

¢. our past experience of the audit, including the profit impacting misstatements identified in prior
periods and management’s wilingness to correct any misstatements idantified.

6.3. Error reporting threshold

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the Committee all audit differences in excess of £0.5m (2019/20: £0.5m),
as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view. warranted reporting on qualitative grounds. We also report to the Audit
Committee on disclosura matters that we identified when assessing the overall presentation of the financial statements.
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7. An overview of the scope of our audit

7.1. Identification and scoping of components

Our group audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Group and its environment, including group-wide controls, and
assessing the risks of material misstaternent at the Group ievel. Based on that assessment, we focused our group audit scope
primarily on the audit work of the significant components, being the retail operations in the UK and the Nordics, which is consistent
with the previous year. Each of these components requires a local statutory audit.

These significant components represent the principal business units and account for approximately 84% of the Group's revenue
from continuing operations (2019/20: 94%). Each location was selected to provide an appropriate basis for undertaking audit work
to address the risks of material misstatement identified above. QOur audit work at these locations was executed at levels of materiality
applicable to each individual entity which were lower than group materiality and ranged from £5.3m to £8.9m {2019/20: £5./m to
£9.0m).

At the Dixons Carphone plc Group level we also tested the consolidation process and carried out analytical procedures to confirm
our conclusion that there were no significant risks of material misstatement of the aggregated financial information of the remaining
components not subject to audit or audit of specified account balances.

7.2. Our consideration of the control environment

Dixons Carphone plc is reliant on the effectiveness of a number of 1T applications and controls to ensure that financial transactions
are processed and recorded completely and accurately.

UK control environment

We involved our [T specialists to obtain an understanding of the relevant general IT controls. Due to the IT deficiencies identified in

prior years, we did not plan to rely on the relevant controls over a number of operating cycles as these rely on automated controis.

The revenue earned from extended warranty service agreements with customers relies upon a single financial reporting system,
the general IT controls of which we relied on in the past but were unakie to rely on the relevant controls this year due to deficiencies
identified in our assessment of these controls.,

We planned to rely on the relevant controls associated with the Dixons supplier funding operating cycle, as certain aspects of this
process do nat rely upon automated controls, but were unable to as a result of immaterial errors identified in our substantive testing,
which indicated a failure in the implementation of controls.

As aresult of the IT deficiencies identified in the prior and current years, we completed additional substantive proceduras. Whilst, for
audit purposeas, the additional procedures performed mitigated the risk presented by the deficiencies, management is in the course
of performing further stabilisation activities associated with the Group's T infrastructure.

General IT controls continue to be a focus area for managament and the Audit Committee. Further information is set outin the risk
management and internal contral section of the Audit Committee report on page 92.
Nordics control environment

In the Nordics, we relied upon controls across the following operating cycles: inventery, supplier funding, cash. property, plant and
equipment, trade payables, revenue and cost of goods sold. We tested and relied upon the refevant controis of two finance systems
for our testing of these operating cycles.

7.3. Working with other auditors
The same audit team is responsible for both the Group and UK component audit work.

The Group audit team engaged a component audit team fram Deloitte Norway to perform an audit of the Nordics sub-consolidation.
The Group audit team held regular communication with the component auditor ahead of and during the year end audit process.
Oversight of the component audit team included reviewing the audit work of the compenent audit team via video conferencing.
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8. Other information

The other information comprigses the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and cur auditor's
report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the annual report. Cur opinion on the financial
statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing se, consider whather the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatemnents, we are reguired to determine whether this gives rise
to a material misstaternent in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstaterment of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

9. Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

in preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group's and the parent company’s ability
to continue as a going concarn, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do sc.

10. Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable agsurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but it is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with [SAs (UK} will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered materialt if, individually or
in the aggregate. they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.

Afurther description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's website at:
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of cur auditor’'s report.
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11. Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which
our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below.

11.1. identifying and assessing potential risks related to irregularities

In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect of irregularities. including fraud and nen-compliance with laws

and regulations, we considered the following:

+ the nature of the industry and sector, control environment and business performance including the design of the Group
remuneration policies, key drivers for directors’ remuneration, bonus levels and performance targets;

+ results of our enquiries of management, internal audit and the audit committee about their own identification and assessment
of the risks of irregularities;

+ any matters we identified having obtained and reviewed the Group's documentation of their policies and procedures relating to:

- identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and regulations and whether they were aware of any instances of non-
compliance;
- detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud;

- the internal controls established to mitigate risks of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations; and

e the matters discussed among the audit engagement team including significant component audit teams and relevant internal
specialists, including tax, valuations, pensions, IT, and industry specialists regarding how and where fraud might ocour in the
financial statements and any potential indicators of fraud.

As a result of these procedures, we considered the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the organisation for fraud and
identified the greatest potential for fraud in the following areas: valuation of UK network receivables and supplier funding. In common
with all audits under 154s (UK), we are aiso required te perform specific procedures to respond to the risk of management override.

We also obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that the Group operates in. focusing on provisions
of those laws and regulations that had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The key laws and regulations we considered in this context included the UK Companies Act, Listing Rules, pension
legislaticns, tax legislations and FCA regulations.

In addition, we considered provisions of other laws and regulations that do not have a direct effect on the financial statements but
compliance with which may be fundamental to the Group's ability to operate or to avoid a material penalty. These included the
Group's health and safety, insurance selling and environmental regulations.

11.2. Audit response to risks identified

As a result of performing the above, we identified the valuation of UK network receivables as a key audit matter related to the
potential risk of fraud. The key audit matters section of our report explains the matter in more detail and also describes the specific
procedures we performed in response to this key audit matter.

In addition to the above, our procedures 1o respond to risks identified included the following:
* reviawing the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentaticn to assess compliance with provisions of
refevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial statements;

+ considering any indicators of management bias across the key judgements and estimates in the financial statements, In particular
whether any of the judgements and estimates indicated systematic or consistent directional bias;

*  enguiring of management, the audit committee and external legal counsel cencerning actual and potential litigation and claims;

« performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of material
misstatement due to fraud;

¢ reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance, reviewing internal audit reports and reviewing correspondence
with HMRC;

* assessing the valuation of UK & Ireland Electricals supplier funding related accruals that require the most significant level of
management judgment by confirming a sample of accruals directly with the supplier; and

* inaddressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, testing the appropriateness of journal entries and other
adjustments; assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and
evaluating the business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or cutside the normal course of business.
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We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement team members including
internal specialists and significant component audit teams, and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with
laws and regulaticns throughout the audit.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

12. Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with tha

Companies Act 2006.

In cur opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

e the information given in the strategic report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are
prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

e the strategic report and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the parent company and their environment obtained in the course
of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic report or the Directors’ Report.

13. Corporate Governance Statement

The Listing Rules require us to review the directors’ statement in relation to going concern, longer-term viability and that part of the
Corporate Governance Statement relating to the Group’s compliance with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code
specified for our review.

Based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we have concluded that each of the following elements of the Corporate
Governance Statement is materiaily consistent with the financial statements and our knowledge obtained during the audit:

e the directors’ statement with regards to the appropriateness of adopting the going concern basis of accounting and any material
uncertainties identified set out on page 53;

* the directors’ explanation as to its assessment of the Group's prospects, the period this assassment covers and why the period
is appropriate set cut on page 53;

* the directors’ statement on fair. balanced and understandable set out on page 130;
* the Board's confirmation that it has carried out a robust assessment of the emerging and principal risks set out on page 53;

« the section of the annual report that describes the review of effectivenass of risk management and internal control systems set
aut on page 48; and

* the section describing the work of the audit committee set out on page 87,

14. Matters on which we are required to report by exception
14.1. Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required 1o report to you if, in our opinion:

* we have not received all the information and explanations we reguire for our audit; or

*  adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adeguate for cur audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or

+ the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

14.2. Directors’ remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to report if in our opinion certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration have
not been made or the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited is not in agreement with the accounting records
and returns.

We have nothing 1o report in respect of these matters.
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15. Other matters which we are required to address

15.1. Auditor tenure

Fallowing the recommendation of the Audit Committes, we were appointed by the Board on 31 July 2003 to audit the financial
statements of the Group for the year ending 29 March 2003 and subsequent financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted
engagement as the Group auditors, including previous renewais and reappeintments of the firm is 18 years, covering the years
ending 28 March 2003 to 1 May 2021, The period of engagement as the Company’s auditor, following a group restructuring, since
being incorporated in 2009, is 11 yoars, covering the years ending 26 March 2011 10 1 May 2021. As set out in the Audit Committes
report on page 95, 2021/22 will be the final year of our audit tenure.

15.2. Consistency of the audit report with the additional report to the audit committee

Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report 1o the audit committee we are required to provide in accordance with
ISAs (UK).

16. Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act
20086. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we ars required to
state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpese. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a ody. for our audit work, for this report, or for
the cpinions we have formed.

Stephen Griggs
Senior Statutory Auditor

for and on behalf of Delcitte LLP
Statutory Auditor
London, United Kingdom

29 June 2021
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Year ended Year ended
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
Note £m £m
Continuing operations
Revenue 2.3 10,344 10,170
Profit / (loss) before interest and tax 2.3 147 (28
Finance income 6 10
Finance costs (120) (122)
Net finance costs 5 (114) {112)
Profit / (loss) before tax 33 (140)
Income tax expense 5] {33} (21)
Profit / [loss) after tax - continuing operaticns - (187)
Profit / (loss) after tax — discontinued operations 25 12 (2)
Profit / (loss) after tax for the period 12 (163)
Earnings / {loss) per share {pence) 7
Basic — continuing operations -p (13.9p
Diluted — continuing operations -p (13.9p
Basic - total 1.0p {14.1p
Diluted - total 1.0p {1410
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Total comprehensive income / (expense) for the period 69 (215

Year ended ‘Year ended
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
Note £m £m
Profit / {loss) after tax for the period 12 (163)
ftemns that may be reciassified to the income statement in subsequent years:
Cash flow hedges 23
Fair value movements recognised in other comprehensive income (51) 26
Reclassified and reported in income statement " 12
Exchange gain / (loss} ansing on translation of foraign operations 46 (39
B {1}
ftems that wilf not be reclassified to the income statement in subsequent years:
Actuarial gains / (losses) on defined benefit pensicn schemes - UK 22 30 {(3)
- Overseas 22 - {1)
Far value through other comprehensive income financial assets 13
Gains / {losses) arising during the period 8 3)
Tax on movements on defined benefit pension schemes §] 13 (39)
51 (51)
Qther comprehensive income / {expense} for the period (taken to equity) 57 (52)
}
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1 May 2 May
2021 2020
Note £m £m
Non-current assets
Goodwill 8 2,851 2,803
Intangible assets g 426 468
Property. plant and equipment 10 184 240
Right-of-use assets ih 1,051 17114
Lease recevable 12 3 4
Investments 13 - 10
Trade and other receivables 15 138 294
Deforred tax assets 6 262 259
4,915 5193
Current assets
inventory 14 1,178 Q70
Lease receivable 12 1 1
Trade and cther receivables 15 587 831
Derivative assets 26 24 76
Cash and cash equivalents 16 175 660
1,965 2,538
Total assets 6,880 7731
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 17 (2,233} {2,017)
Derivative liabilities 26 (42) (52)
Contingent consideration 18 2 {1
Income tax payable {64) (78)
Loans and other berrowings 19 6) (584)
Lease labilities 20 (216) 258)
Provisions 21 (58) (114}
(2,621) (3.104)
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 17 (97) {131}
Contingent consideration 18 - (2)
Loans and cther borrowings 19 - {280)
Lease liabilities 20 {1,110) {1.186)
Retirement benefit obligations 22 (482) (550)
Defarred tax liabilities 6 (162) 162}
Provisions 21 (27) (36}
(1,878) (2.347)
Total liabilities {4,499) {5,451
Net assets 2,381 2,280
Capital and reserves 23
Share capital 1 1
Share premium reserve 2,263 2,263
Other reserves (764) {775}
Accumulated profits 881 791
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company 2,381 2,280

The financial statements were approved by the directors on 29 June 2021 and signed on their behalf by:

Alex Baldock
Group Chief Executive

Company registration number: 7105905

Jonny Mason

Group Chief Financial Officer
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Share
Share premium Other Accumulated
capital reserve reserves* profits Total equity

Note £m £m £m £m £m
At 27 April 2019 1 2,263 {713) 1.089 2,640
Adjustment on initial apphcation of IFRS 16 - - - {45} {45)
Taxation on IFRS 16 transition adjustment - - 8 8
Adjusted balance at 27 April 2019 1 2,263 (713) 1,052 2,603
Loss for the period - - - {163) 163)
Other comprehensive income and expense
recognised directly in equity - - @} (43) {52)
Total comprehensive expense for the period - - 9 (206) (215)
Amounts transferred to the carrying value of
inventory purchased during the year - - (41) - @)
Equity dividends 24 - - - (78) (78}
Net movement in relation to share schemes - - 23 23
Purchase of own shares - - 12) - (12)
At 2 May 2020 1 2,263 {(775) 791 2,280
Profit for the period - - - 12 12
Other comprehensive income and expense
recognised directly in equity - - 14 43 &7
Total comprehensive income for the period - - 14 55 69
Amounts transferred 1o the carrying value
of inventory purchased during the year - - 24 - 24
Net movement in relation to share schemes - - 4 17 21
Amounts transferred from investments
revaluation reserve - - (18) 18 -
Purchase of own shares - - (13) - (13)
At 1 May 2021 1 2,263 (764) 881 2,381

* A detailed reconciliation of these reserves is provided in note 23b.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Year ended Year ended
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
Note £m £m

Operating activities
Cash generated from operations 27 926 649
Contributions to defined benefit pension scheme 47) (46)
Income tax paid (35) 20)
Net cash flows from operating activities 844 583

Investing activities

Net cash outflow arising from acquisitions n {3)
Proceeds from sale of financial assets at FVTOCI 18 -
Proceeds on sale of business 2 2
Acquisition of property, plant and squipiment anid other intangitbies {122} a1
Net cash flows from investing activities (103} {192}

Financing activities
Interest paid (101} (106}
Capital repayment of lease liabilities (232) (219
Furchase of ordinary shares 13) (12
Equity dividends paid - (78)
{Repayment) / drawdown of borrowings (326) 36
Facility arrangement fees paid - {4)
Net cash flows from financing activities (672) {383)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents and bank overdrafts 69 8
Cash and cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at the beginning of the period 120 106
Currency translation differences (20) ¢}

Cash and cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at the end of the period 27 169 120
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 Accounting policies
a) Basis of preparation

Dixons Carphone plc {the Company) is a public company imited by shares incorporated in the United Kingdom, which is registered
in England and Wales under the Companies Act 2006.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with international accounting
standards in conformity with the reguirements of the Companies Act 2006 and IFRS adopted pursuant to Regulation (EC) Mo 1606 /
2002 as it applies in lhe European Union and IFRS as issued by the Intemational Accounting Standards Board.

The financial statements have been presented in Pound Sterling, based on the Group's primary economic environment, and on the
historical cost basis except for the revaluation of certain financial instruments and defined benefit pension obligations, as explained
below. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest £1m, unless otherwise stated.

Alternative performance measures (APMs)

In addition to IFRS measures, the Group uses certain alternative parformance measures that are considéered 1o be additional
informative measures of ongoing trading performance of the Group and are consistent with how performance is measured internally.
The alternative performance measures used by the Group in addition to IFRS measures are included within the glossary and
definitions section of the Annual Report on page 216. This includes further information on the definitions, purpose, and reconciliation
to IFRS measures of those alternative performance measures that are used for internal reporting and presented to the Group’s Chief
Operating Decision Maker (CODM}). The CODM has been determined to be the Board.

Going concern

Going congcern is the basis of preparation of the financial statements that assumes an entity will remain in operation for a period
of at least 12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements. The Group and Company's business activities, factors
likely to affect future develooment, performance, and position, as well as the principal risks are set out in the Strategic Report on
pages 1 to 67. The Group and Company’s funding arrangements and processes for managing its exposure to liquidity risk are set
out in notes 19 and 26.

In their consideration of going concern, the directors have reviewed the Group’s future cash forecasts and profit projections, which
are based on market data and past experience. The directors are of the opinion that the Group's forecasts and projections, which
take into account reasonably possible changes in trading performance, including the potentially prolonged impact of Covid-19.
show that the Group is able to operate within its current facilities and comply with its banking covenants for the foreseeable future.
In arriving at their conclusion that the Group has adequate financial resources, the directors considered the level of borrowings and
facilities as set out in note 19 to the Group financial staterments and that the Group has a robust policy towards liquidity and cash
flow management.

As a result of the uncertainties surrounding the forecasts due to the Covid-19 pandemic. the Group has also modelled a reverse
stress test scenario. The reverse stress test models the decling in sales that the Group would be able to absorb before requiring
additional sources of financing in excess of those that are committed. Such a scenario, and the sequence of events which coula
lead to it, is considered to be remote.

As a result, the Board believes that the Group is well placed to manage its financing and cther significant risks satisfactorily and
that the Group will be able 1o operate within the level of its facilities for the foreseeable future. For this reason, the Board considers it
appropriate for the Group to adopt the going concern basis in preparing its financial statements. The long-term impact of Covid-18
is uncertain and should the impacts of the pandemic on trading conditions be more prolonged or severg than what the directors
consider to be reascnably possible, the Group would need to implement additional cperaticnal or financial measures.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

b) Accounting convention and basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
(its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company has the power over the investee; is exposed. or has rights, to variable
return from its involvement with the investee; and has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The results of subsidiarles and joint ventures acquired or sold during the year are included in the consolidated income statement
from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal as appropriate, which is the date from which the power to
control passes. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting poiicies
used into line with those used by the Group. All intercompany transactions and balances are efiminated on congsolidation.
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1 Accounting policies continued
¢) Foreign currency translation and transactions

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the Group’s presentational currency using the exchange rate at the
date of the transaction. The Group uses foreign exchange (FX') forward contracts to hedge material transactions cgenominated in
foreign currencies, as outlined in note 1q.

Material monstary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are hedged, mainly using forward foreign exchango
conlracls lo create matching liabilities and assets, and are translated at the rates prevailing at the balance sheet date.

The results of foreign operations are translated each month at the monthly rate, and their balance sheets are translated at the rates
prevailing at the balance sheet date. Goodwill and acguisition intangible assets are held in the currency of the operation to which
they relate. Exchange differences arising on the translation of net assets, gocdwill and results of foreign operations are recognised
in the translation reserve.

All other exchange differences are included in profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Where a foreign operation is disposed of, the gain or loss on disposal recognised in profit or loss is determined after taking into
account the cumuiative currency translation differences that are attributable to the operation.

The principal exchange rates against Pound Sterling used in these financial statements are as follows:

Average Closing

2021 2020 2021 2020

Euro 112 114 1.15 114
Norwegian Krone 11.90 11.71 11.50 12.93
Swedish Krona 11.56 1218 11.69 12.31
US Dallar 1.33 1.26 1.38 1.25

d) Revenue and supplier income

Revenue

Revenue primarily comprises sales of goods and services excluding sales taxes. Revenue is measured based on the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in a contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
The Group recognises revenue when it transfers control of a product or service to a customer. The following accounting policies are
appiied to the principal revenue generating activities in which the Group is engaged:

* network commission revenue is recognised at a point in time on completion of the performance cbligation under the individual
contract with the Motbile Network Operator (MNO), as outlined in note 1g;

+ revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point of sale or, where later, upen delivery 1o the customer. Where
consideration is received, or receivable, in advance of the customer obtaining control and the perfarmance obligations being
satisfied, a contract liability is recognised,

* rovenue carned from the sale of customer support agreements is recognised in full as the stand-ready performance obligations
are satisfied under the contracts with the customer. Where consideration is received in advance of the performance of the
obligations being satisfied, a contract liability is recognised. Due to the cancellation options and customer refund clauses,
contract terms have been assessed to either be monthly or a series of day to day contracts with revenue recognised respectively
in the month to which payment relates, or on a ‘straight-line’ basis;

* revenus arising on services (including delivery and installation, product repairs and product support) is recognised when the
cbligation to the customer is fuffiled; and

e insurance revenue relates to the sale of third-party insurance products. Sales commission received from third parties is
recognised when the insurance policies to which it relates are sold. Although there are no ongoing performance cobligations,
future commission receivable can vary due to consumer behaviour however it is only recognised to the extent that it is highly
probable that there will not be a significant reversal of revenue. The Group recognises a contract asset in relation to this revenue.
Any amount previously recognised as a contract asset is reclassified to trade receivables at the paint in which it becomes
billable and is no longer conditioned on something other than the passage of time. Revenue from the provision of insurance
administration services is recognised over the life of the relevant policies when the Group's performance obligations are satisfied.
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1 Accounting policies continued

d) Revenue and supplier income continued

It is Group policy to grant customers the right to return their products within a defined period of time. As this does not represent a
separate performance obligation, the Group only recognises revenue to which it expects to be entitled. The Group uses the most
likely amount method to estimate the expected value of goods to be returned by customers exercising their rights in line with the
Group’s refund policy based on the prior period return rates.

A refund liability is recognised as a component of trade and other payables for the amount of variable consideration that the Group

does not expect to be entitled. A separate right to return asset is recognised within inventory 1o represent the right 1o recover goods
from customers on settlement of the refund liability, This is measured by reference to the former carrying amount of the goods sold

less any recoverability costs and decrease in value.

Income received from suppliers such as volume rebates

The Group’s agreements with suppliers contain a price for units purchased as well as other rebates and discounts which are
summarised below:

Volume Rebates: This income is linked to purchases made from suppliers and is reccgnised as a reduction to cost of goods sold as
inventory is sold, Rebates that relate to inventory not sold are recognised within the value of inventory at the period end. Whare an
agreement spang period ends, estimation is required regarding amounts to be recegnised. Forecasts are used as wall as historical
data in the estimation of the level of income recognised. Amounts are only recognised where the Group has a clear entitlement to
the receipt of the rebate and a reliable estimate can be made.

Customer discount support: This income is received from suppliers on a price per unit basis. The level of estimation is minimal
as amounts are recognised as a reduction to cost of goods sold based on the agreement terms and only once the itern is sold.

Marketing income: This income is received in relation to marketing activities that are performed on behalf of suppliers. Marketing
income is recognised over the period as set out in the specific supplier agreements and is recognised as a reduction to cost of sales.

Supplier funding amounts that have been recognised and not inveoiced are shown within accrued income on the balance sheet.
Cash inflows for supplier funding received are classified as operating cash flows.

e) Network commissions

The Group operates under contracts with a number of Mobile Network Operators { MNOs’). Over the life of these contracts the
service provided by the Group to each MNO i the procurement of connections to the MNOs’ networks. Each connection made to
an MNO's network relates to an individual consumer. The consumer enters into a contract with the MNO for the MNO to supply the
ongoing airtime over that contract period.

The Group earns a commission for the service provided to each MNO (‘network commission’). Revenue is recognised at the point the
individual consumer signs a contract with the MNO. Consideration from the MNO becomes receivable over the course of the contract
batween the MNQ and the consumer. A judgement associated with this recognition is the unit of account used in measurement. As
there is a large population of homogeneous items. in measuring the amount of revenue to recognise the Group has determined that
the number and value of consumers provided to each MNO in any given menth {a ‘cohort’) represents the best unit of account.

The level of network commission earned is based on a share of the monthly payments made by the consumer to the MNG, including
contractual monthly line rental payments together with a share of ‘out-of-bundle’ spend, spend after the contractual term, and amounts
due from customer upgrades performed directly by the network, The total consideration receivable is datermined by consumer
behaviour after the point of recognition. The fransaction price includeas elements of variability and is therefore an area of estimation.

The method of measuring the value of the revenue and contract asset in the month of connection is to estimate all future cash flows
that will be received from the network and discount these based on the expected timing of receipt.

A constrained estimate of the determined commission is recognised in full in the month of connection of the consumer to the MNO
as this is the paint at which we have completed the service abligation relating to the consumer connection.

Transaction price is estimated based on extensive historical evidence cbtained from the networks and an adjustment is made for expected
and possitle changes in consumer behaviour including as a result of regulatory changes impacting the sector, The consideration for
acohort of consumers is estimated by modelling the expected value of the portfclio of individual sales. Revenue is only recognised to

the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of revenue recognised will not occur. Management makes a
quarterly, and the directors a twice-yearly, assessment of this data. This is based on the best estimate of expected future frends.
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e) Network commissions continued

Network commission revenue recognised on fulfilment of the service obiigation results in a contract asset as the amount that will
ultimately be collected is variable based on consumer behaviour. Over time, and dependent on the future behavicur of the consumer,
amounts initially recognised as contract assets become payable by the network to the Group and are ransferred to trade receivables.

Contract assets are measured at present value. Assumptions are therefore required, particularly in relation to levels of consumor
default within the contract peariud, expected levels of consumer spend, and consumer behaviour beyond the initial contract period.

In addition to remeasurement due to changes in consumer behaviour, changes 1o revenue may also be made where, for example,
mare recent information becomes available enabling the recognition of previously unrecognised commission. Any such changes
are recognised as revenue in the income statement.

In contracts in which the consideration for the transfer of services to customers ig conditional on something other than the passage
of time. these amounts are accounted for as a contract asset within ‘trade and other receivables’ in the statement of financial
position. Amounts receivable that are no longer conditicnal on something other than the passage of time are accounted for as
trade receivables.

f) Discontinued operations and assets and liabilities held for sale

A discontinued operation is a compenent of the Group which represents a significant separate line of business, either through its
activity or geographical area of operation, which has been seld, is held for sale or has been closed.,

Where the sale of a component of the Group is considered highly probable at the balance sheet date and the business is available
for immediate sale in its prasent condition, it is classified as held for sale. Such classification assumes the expectation that the sale
will complete within one year from the date of classification. Assets and fiabilities held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying
amount and fair value iess costs to sell. Once classified as held for sale, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment are no
longer amortised or depreciated.

g) Share-based payments

Equity seftled share-based payments are measured at fair value at the date of grant and expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on an estimate of the number of shares that will eventually vest. A Monte Carlo model is used to measure
fair value.

For all schemes. the number of options expected to vest is recalculated at each balance sheet date, based on expectations of
lsavers prior to vesting. For schemes with internal performance criteria such as free cash flow, the number of options expected
to vest is also adjusted based on expectations of perfermance against target. No adjustment is made for expected performance
against external performance criteria such as TSR, because the likelihood that the performance criteria will be met is taken into
account when estimating the fair value of the award on the grant date. The movement in cumulative expense since the previous
balance sheet date is recognised in the income statement. with a corresponding entry in reserves.

h) Retirement benefit obligations

Company contributions to defined contribution pension schemes and contributions made to state pension schemes for certain
overseas employees are charged to the income statement on an accruals basis when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

For defined benefit pension schemes, the difference batween the market value of the assets and the present value of the accrued
pension liabilities is shown as an asset or liability in the consolidated balance sheet. The calculation of the present value is
determined using the projected unit credit method.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in actuarial assumptions together with experience adjustments and actual returm on
assets are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and expensed as they arise. Such amounts are not
reclassified to the income statement in subsequent years.

Defined benefit costs recognised in the income statement comprise mainly of net interest expense or income with such interest being
recognised within finance costs. Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit iiability or asset
taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit obligation during the year as a result of contribution or benefit cayments.
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1 Accounting policies continued

i) Leases

A lease is classified as a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as a lessor

The Group is a lessor predominantly when subleasing retail store properties that are no longer open for trading. Leases for which the
Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership tc the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Inttial direct costs
incurred in negctiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on
a straight-line basis over the lease tarm.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group’s net investment in the
leases. Finance lease income s allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net
investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head lease and the sublease as two separate contracts. The sublease
is classified as a finance or operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease.
The Group as a lessee

The Group’s leasing activities predominantly relate to retail store properties and distribution properties as well as distribution vehicle
fleet. The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term
leases {defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets (which comprise [T equipment and
small items of office furniture). For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease with no corresponding right-of use asset.

Lease liabilities
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date,
discounted by using the incremental borrowing rate and subsequently held at amortised cost in accordance with IFRS 9.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease llability comprise:

¢ Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable,

s Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the commeancement date;
* The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

* The exercise price of purchase options, if the lesses is reascnably certain to exercise the options; and

»  Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease.

The Group remeasures the igase liability (and makes a corrasponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

* The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting in a change in the assessment
of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using
a revised discount rate.

* The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a changs in expected payrment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using an unchanged
discount rate {unless the lease paymsnts change is due to a change in & floating interest rate, in which case a revisad discount
rate is used).

* Alease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease. in which case the lease liability
is remaasured based on the isase term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount
rate at the effective date of the modification.
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i) Leases continued

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets camprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before the

commencement date, any initiat direct costs and any dilapidation costs less any lease incentives received. They are subsequently
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment fosses.

Right-nf-use assots arc deprecialed over the shorter period of leagse term and useful life of the underlying asset.

Right-of-use assets are assessed on an ongoeing basis to determine whether circumstances exist that could lead to the conclusion
that the net book value is not supportable as further described in note 1Tm.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liakility and the right-cf-use
asset. The relatad payments are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or condition that triggers those
payments occurs.

i) Taxation
Current tax

Current tax is provided at amounts expected to be paid or recovered using the prevailing tax rates and laws that have besn enacted
or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and adjusted for any tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences between the carrying amount of an asset or liability in the balance
sheet and the tax base value and represent tax payable in future periods. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductitle temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax lizbilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future. No provision is made for tax that would have been payable on the distribution of retained profits of overseas
subsidiaries or associated undertakings where it has been determined that these profits will not ke distributed in the foreseeable
future.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in the income statement except where it relates to an iterm recognised directly in other
comprehensive income or reserves, in which case it is recognised directly in other comprehensive income or reserves as
appropriate.

Deferred tax is measured at the average tax rates that are expected to apply in the years in which the timing differences are
expectad to reverse, based on tax rates and laws that have beaen enactad, or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset against each other when they relate to Income taxes levied by the same tax jurisdiction
and when the Group intends to setile its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. Deferred tax balances are not discounted.

k) Goodwill

On acquisition of a subsidiary or associate, the fair value of the consideration is allocated between the identifiable net tangible and
intangible assets and liabilities on a fair value basis, with any excess consideration representing goodwil. At the acguisition date,
goodwill is allocated to each group of Cash Generating Units {CGUs") expected to benefit from the combination and held in the
currency of the operations to which the goodwill relates.

Gocdwill is nat amortised, but is assessed annually for impairment, or more frequently where there is an indication that gocdwilt
may be impaired. Impairment is assessed by measuring the future cash flows of the group of CGUs to which the goodwill relates,
at the level at which this is monitored by management. Where the future discounted cash flows or recoverable amount is less than
the carrying value of goodwill, an impairment charge is recognised in the income statement.

On disposal of subsidiary undertakings and businesses. the relevant goodwill is included in the calculation of the profit or loss
on disposal.
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1} Intangible assets

Acquisition intangibles

Acquisition intangibles comprise brand names and customer relaticnships purchased as part of acquisitions of businesses and are

capitalised and amortised over their useful economic lives on a straight-line basis. These intangible assets are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and, where appropriate, provision for impairment in value or estimated loss on disposal.

Amartisation is provided to write off the cost of assets on a straight-line basis as follows:

Brands 7% — 13.3% per annum

Customer relationships 13.3% per annum

This amertisation is included in the income statement as an administrative expense and, as further described in note AS on page 221
of the glossary, this is recognised as an adjusting item.

Software and licences

Software and licences include costs incurred to acquire the assets as well as internal infrastructure and design costs incurred in the
development of scftware in order to bring the assets into use.

Internally generated software is recognised as an intangible asset only if it can be separalely identified. it is probable that the asset
will generate future economic benefits which exceed one year. and the development cost can be measured reliably. Where these
conditions are not met, development expenditure is recognised as an expense in the year in which it is incurred. Costs associated
with maintaining computer software are recognised as an expense as incurred unless they increase the future economic benefits of
the asset, in which case they are capitalised.

The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materiais, direct labour and an apgropriate proportion of overneads. Subsequent
expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates.

Software is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and, where appropriate, provision for impairment in value or estimated
loss on disposal. Amgrtisation is provided to write off the cost of assets cn a straight-line basis between three and ten years, and
is recorded in administrative expenses.

Intangible assets are assessed on an ongoing basis to determine whether circumstances exist that could fead to the conclusion

that the net book value is not supportable. Where assets are to be taken out of use, an impairment charge is levied. Where the
intangible assets form part of a separate GGU. such as a store or business unit, and business indicators exist which could lead to
the conclusions that the net book value is not supportable, the recoverable amount of the CGU is determined by calculating its value
in use. The value in use is calculated by applying discounted cash flow modelling to management’s projection of future profitability
and any impairment is determined by comparing the net book value with the value in use.

m) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumuiated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

With the exception of land, depreciation is provided to write off the cost of the assets over their expected useful lives from the date
the asset was brought into use or capable of being used on a straight-line basis.

Rates applied to different classes of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Land and buidings 1.79% — 4% per annum

Fixtures, fittings and equipment 10% — 33.3% per annum

Property, plant and equipment are assessed on an engoing basis to determine whether circumstances exist that could lead to the
conclusion that the net book value is not supportable. Where assets are o be taken out of use, an impairment charge is levied.
Where the property, plant and equipment form part of a separate CGU, such as a store. and business indicaters exist which could
lead to the conclusions that the net book valug is not supportable. the recoverable amount of the CGU is determined by calculating
its value in use. The valug in use is calculated by applying discounted cash flow modelling to management’s projection of future
profitability and any impairment is determined by comparing the net book value with the value in use.
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n} Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value, and on a weighted average cost basis. Cost comprises direct
purchase cost and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition
less any attributable discounts and bonuses received from suppliers in respect of that inventory. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling price, less further costs expected to be incurred to disposal. Provision is made for obsolete, slow moving

or defective items where appropriate.

Certain purchases of inventories may be subject to cash flow hedges to address foreign exchange risk. Where this is the case a
basis adjustment is made; the initial cost of hedged inventory is adjusted by the associated gain or loss transferred from the cash
flow hedge reserve.

0) Non-derivative financial assets

Financial assets are recognised in the Group's balance sheet when the Group becomeas party to the contractual provisions of the
investment. The Group’s financial assets comprise cash and cash eguivalents, receivablas which involve a contractual right to
receive cash from external parties, and financial assets designated as at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI).
Financial assets comprise all items shown in notes 12, 13, 15 and 16 with the exception of prepayments and contract assets.

When the Group recognises a financial asset, it classifies it in accordance with IFRS 9 depending on the Group's intention with
regard to the collection, or sale. of contractual cash flows and whether the financial asset's cash fiows relate sclely to the payment
of principal and interest on principal cutstanding. All of the Group’s assets measured at amortised cost are subject to impairments
driven by the expected credit loss (ECL} model as further stipulated in notes 15 and 26.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows expire or the Group has transferred the financial
asset in a way that qualifies for derecognition in accordance with IFRS 9.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are initially measured at their transaction price. Where there is a significant financing componenit, trade and

other receivables are discounted at contract inception using a discount rate that is at an arm’s length basis and such that would

be reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group and the customer. Other receivables are initially measured at fair
value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset. Subsequently, trade and
other receivables are measured at amortised cost.

Investment in listed shares

The Group elected to classify investments in listed shares as FVTOCI, recognising the movement in investment's falr vaiue in
other comprehensive income. These were long-term equity investments that were not held for trading, but for long-term strategic
purposes, the Group therefore considered this classification to be more relevant.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are classified as held at amortised cost, comprising cash at bank and in hand, bank overdrafts and short
term highly liquid deposits which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank overdrafts, which form part of cash and
cash equivalents for the purpose of the cash flow statement, are shown under current liabilities.

Cash and cash equivalents include restricted cash which predominantly comprises funds held by the Group’s insurance businesses
to cover regulatory reserve reguirements.

p) Non-derivative financial liabilities

The Group's financial liabilities are those which involve a contractual cbligation to deliver cash to external parties at a future date.
Financial liabillties comprise all items shown in netes 17 to 20. Financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s balance sheet
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial liabilties (or a part of a financial liability)
are derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. In the event that the terms in
which the Group are contractually obliged ars substantially madified, the financial liability to which it relates is derecognised and
subsequently re-recognised on the modified terms.

Where the Group has the right and intention to offset in relation to financial assets and liabilities under 1AS 32, these are presented
on a net basis, See note 26 for a descripticn of the financial assets and liabilities presented on a net basis.
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p) Non-derivative financial liabilities continued
Barrowings

Baorrowings in the Group’s balance sheet represent bank loans drawn under committed and uncommitted facilities. Borrowings are
initially recorded at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Transaction fees such as bank fees and legal costs associated with
the securing of financing are capitalised and amortised through the income statement over the term of the relevant facility. All other
borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement in the period in which they wre incurred.

Subseguent to initial recognition, borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any difference between cost and redemption vaiug
being recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings on an effective interest basis.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially recorded at fair value and subseguently measured at amortised cost.

Contingent consideration

On initial recognition, contingent consideration is measured at fair value using the income approach. Contingent consideration that
does not gualify as a measurement period adjustment is subsequently remeasured to fair value at each reporting date with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

q} Derivative financial instruments and hedging activity

The Group uses derivatives to manage its exposures to fluctuating interest and foreign exchange rates, These instruments are initially
recognised at fair value on the date the contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured 1o falr value at each prevailing
balance sheet date and are recorded within assets or liabilities as appropriate. The treatment of the resulting gain or loss depends
on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. Derivatives that
qualify for hedge accounting are treated as a hedge of a highly probable forecast transaction {cash flow hedge) in the case of foreign
exchange hedging, and a hedge of the exposure arising from changes in the cash flows of a financial liability due to interest rate risk
on a floating rate debt instrument in the case of interest rate hedging.

Cash flow hedge accounting

At inception the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item is documented, as well as an assessment of
the effectiveness of the derivative instrument used in the hedging transaction in offsetting changes in the cash flow of the hedged
itern. This effectiveness assessment is repeated on an ongoing basis during the life of the hedging instrument to ensure that the
instrument remaing an effective hedge of the transaction.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the cash flow
hedge reserve. Any gain or loss relating to the ineffactive partion is recognised immediately in the income statement within finance
costs. Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve are recycled to the
income statement, in the same line as the recognised hedged item, in the pericd when the hedged item will affect profit or loss. If

the hedging instrument exgires or is sold, or no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing

in other comprehensive income at that time remains in cther comprehensive income and is recognised when the forecast transaction
is ultimately recognised in the income statement. If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to cccur, the cumulative gain or
loss in other comprehensive income is immediately transferred to the income statement and recognised within finance costs.

Where hedged forecast transactions result in the recognition of a non-financial asset or liability, the gains and losses previously
recognised and accumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve are subsequently removed and included in the initial cost of the
non-financial asset or liability. Such transfers will not affect other comprehensive income.

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are classified at fair value through profit or loss. All changes in fair valug of derivative
instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in the income statement within finance costs.
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1 Accounting policies continued
r) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when a legal or constructive abligation exists as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow
of resources will be required to settle the cbligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
Provisions are discounted whare the time value of money is considered to be material.

Provisions for onerous contracts are recognised when the Group believes that the unavoidable costs of mesating or exiting the
contract exceed the suonurniic benefits expected to be received under the contract. Where the Group has assets dedicated
to the fulfiment of a contract that cannot be redirectad, an impairment loss is recognised before a separate provision for an
onerous contract.

A restructuring provision is recognised when the Group has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring, and has raised
a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main
features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from tha
restructuring, which are those amounts that are oth necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with the ongoing
activities of the entity.

All provisions are assessed by reference to the best available information at the balance sheet date.

s) Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reascnable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received,

Government granis are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises expenses
as related costs which the grants are intended to compensate. Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already Incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial suppert to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

1) Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

Critical accounting judgements and estimates used in the preparation of the financial statements are continually reviewed and
revised as neceassary.

Whilst every effort is made to ensure that such judgements and estimates are reascnabie, by their nature they are uncertain,
and as such changes may have a material impact.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Defined benefit pension schemes

The surplus or deficit in the UK defined benefit pension scheme that is recognised through the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income and expense is subject 1o a number of assumptions and uncertainties. The calculated liabilties of the
scheme are based on assumptions regarding inflation rates, discount rates and member longevity. Such assumptions are based
on actuarial advice and are benchmarked against similar pension schermes. Refer to note 22 for further information.

Revenue recognition — network commissions

For certain transactions with MNGs, the guantum of commission receivable on mobile phone connections depends on consumer
behaviour after the point of sale. This leads to a judgement over the unit of account for measurement of the amounts arising from
the MNO and an estimate over the fransaction price due to the variability of revenue. A level of constraint is applied to the revenue
recognition 10 ensure revenue is only recognised when it is highly probable there will not be a significant reversal. By the nature

of this constraint, applied in line with IFRS 15: ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’, it is possible that additional revenue will

be recognised in future periods from performance obligations satisfied in prior periods. For example, the network commission
receivables are routinely increased each year in line with RPI, however as part of the variable revenue constraint, the Group does not
include this RPI estimate in the revenue recognised at point of sale. For the year ended 1 May 2021, the revenue recognised includes
avalue of £6m {2019/20: £14m) relating to the application of RPI increases on end consumer contracts by the respective MNOs
relating to performance obligations satisfied in prior periods. As a result of the revenue constraints applied, it is reascnably possible
that additional revenue may be recognised in future periods from performance obligations satisfied in prior pericds of between nil
and £15m.

Further details of the estimations involved with network commissions can be found in note 1e and a reconciliation of the movements
in the network commission receivables within the year is included within notg 15.
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1 Accounting policies continued

t) Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty continusd
Key sources of estimation uncertainty continued

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group tests whether goodwil has suffered any impairment on an annual basis based on the value of the discounted future cash
flows allocated to the group of CGUs to which it is allocated. The methodology and key assumptions used in assessing the carrying
value of goodwill are set cut nirwle 8. The key assumptions made for long term projections, sales and costs growth rates, discount
rate and the petential long term impact of Covid-19 all include an element of estimation that may give rise to a difference between
the value ascribed and the actual outcomes. Due to the current Covid-19 global pandemic. there is an increased level of risk and
therefore a key source of estimation uncertainty with the sales and cost growth assumptions that drive the operating profit forecasts.
It is reasonably possible that a change in these assumptions could lead to a material change in the carrying value of goodwill
specifically within the UK & Ireland Electricals operating segment, where £1.840m of goodwill is allocated, within the next financial
year. Further details of the key assumptions used and the sensitivity analysis in respect of the recoverable amount of UK & Ireland
Electricals goodwill is disclosed in note 8.

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, and other non-current assets are reviewed for impairment if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or cash generating unit is not recoverable. A cash generating unit is
an individual store. The recoverable amount is the greater of the fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. In calculating the value
in use of each store CGU, order & collect sales (and associated costs) have been included, however e-commerce sales that have
been delivered directly to the consumer {rather than ordered in store or collected in store) are not atinbuted to the stores. Due to the
current Covid-19 global pandemic, there is an inherent key assumption as to how customers will behave in the future, in particular
the proportion of customers that will shop in store or online. As a result, there is an increased level of risk associated with the
forecast split of operating profit contribution genarated by the stores and online sales channels. Therefore a key source of estimation
uncertainty associated with the sales and cost growth assumptions that drive the operating profit forecasts attributable directly to the
stors portfolio has been identified. It is considered reasonably possible that a change in these operating profit forecast assumptions
could lead to & material change in the carrying vaiue of assets specifically attricuted to the UK stores, within the next financial year. If
the operating profit generated by the store portfolio including order & collect reduces by a reasonably possible 20% from FY2021/22
onwards. this would result in a further impairment of store assets by £18m. The directors do not consider that the relevant change

in this assumption would have a congequential effect on other key assumptions.

Critical accounting judgements
Taxation

The Group is subject to income taxas in a number of different jurisdictions and judgement is required in determining the appropriate
provision for transactions where the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group recognises a provision when it is probable
that an obligation to pay tax will crystallise as a result of a past event. The guantum of provision recognised is based on the best
information available and has been assessed by in-house tax specialists. and where appropriate third-party taxation and legal
advisers, and represents the Group’s best estimate of the most likely outcome. Where the final cutcome of such matters differs
from the amounts initially recorded, any differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the year to which such
determination is made. Tax laws that apply to the Group's businesses may be amended by the relevant authorities, for example as a
result of changes in fiscal circumstances or priorities. Such potential amendments and their application to the Group are monitored
reguiarly and the requirement for recognition of any liabilities (or changes in existing provisions) assessed whera necessary.

The Group has recognised provisions in relation to uncertain tax positions of £65m at 1 May 2021 (2018/20: £83m). Due to the
nature of the provisions recorded, the timing of the settlement of these amounts remains uncertain.

Furthermore, the Group is currently cooperating with HMRC in relaticn to open tax enquiries arising from pre-merger legacy
corporate transactions in the Carphone Warehouse Group. One of the underlying pre-merger transactions under enqguiry is
censidered to have a2 'more likely than not' chance of resulting in settlement. The Group therefore determined, due to this level of
risk, that a provision was appropriate and this was recognised in the 2018/19 financial statements. This enguiry is still open and the
treatment as a provision continues to be deemad appropriate, with £41m (2019/20: £39m) {comprising both the amount of tax due
on settlement together with interest up to 1 May 2021) included within the uncertain tax provisions balance explained above as at

1 May 2021. This enauiry is linked to another pre-merger tax risk that has a ‘more likely than not’ chance of resulting in settlement
and has therefore been fully provided for at £17m (2019/20: £17m) ([comprising both the amount of tax due together with interest)
where discussions with HMRC are held in abeyance pending finafisation of the original enquiry. This provision is included within the
uncertain tax provisions balance explained above as at 1 May 2021,
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1 Accounting policies continued
1) Gritical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty continued
Critical accounting judgements continued

In addition, the Group has a further open tax enguiry arfsing from a separate pre-merger legacy corporate transaction. Based on
the strength of third-party legal advice it is considered ‘more likely than not’ that this enguiry will not result in an economic outflow
to the Group and therefore no provision has been made. The potential range of tax exposures relating to this enquiry is estimatad 10
be approximately £nil — £214m oxcluding interest and penallies. Interest on the upper end of tha range is approximately £56m up to
1 May 2021. Penalties could range from nil to 30% of the principal amount of any tax. This potential cutflow has been disclosed as
a contingent liakility within note 33.

u) Recent accounting developments

in the current year, the Group has applied a number of amendments to IFRS Standards and Interpretations issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board {ASB) that are effective for the financial year beginning 3 May 2020. Their adoption has
not had any material impact on the disclosures or on the amounts reported in these financial statements. The Group has considered
the following standards whose impact is not desmed to be material.

s Amendments to IFRS 9: ‘Financial Instruments’, IAS 39: ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”’ and IFRS 7:
‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ on Phase 1 of interest rate benchmark reform

»  Amendments to 1AS 1 and IAS 8 Definition of material

*  Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a business

s Conceptual Framework Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards

* Amendment to IFRS 16 Covid-19 Related Rent Concessicns.

Certain other new accounting standards, amendments to existing accounting standards and interpretations which are in issue
but not yet effective, either do not apply to the Group or are not expected to have any material impact on the Group's net results
or nat assets:

s |FRS 17 "Insurance Contracts'

* |FRS 10 and 1AS 28 (amendments) Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

*  Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

»  Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

»  Amendments to IAS 16 Property. Plant and Equicment — Proceeds before Intended Use

*  Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfiling a Contract

*  Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 Cycle: Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards, IFRS ¢ Financial Instruments. IFRS 16 Leases, and IAS 41 Agriculture

+«  Amendments to IFRS 9: ‘Financial instruments’, IAS 39: ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’, IFRS 7; 'Financial
Instruments: Disclosures’, IFRS 4: ‘Insurance Contracts’” and IFRS 16: 'Leases’ on Phase 2 of interest rate benchmark reform.

2 Segmental analysis

The Group's operating segments reflect the segments routinely reviewed by the CODM and which are used to manage performance
and allocate resources. This information is predominantly based on geographical areas which are either managed separately or have
similar trading characteristics such that they can be aggregated together into one segment.

The Group's operating and reportable segments have therefore been identified as follows:

* UK & Ireland Electricals comprises the operations of Currys PCWorld and the Dixons Travel business
s UK & lreland Mobile comprises the Carphone Warehouse, iD Mobile and B2B operations

* Nordics operates in Norway, Sweden. Finland, Denmark and Iceland

*  Greece, consisting of our ongeing operations in Greece,

UK & Ireland Electricals, UK & Ireland Mobile, Nordics and Greece are involved in the sale of consumer electronics and mobile
technology products and services, primarily through stores or online channels.

Transactions between segments are on an arm'’s length basis.
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2 Segmental analysis continued

In accordance with IFRS 5, discontinued operations are disclosed separately as a single amount within the Group's consolidated
income statement after profit after tax for continuing operations. Discontinued operations are therefore excluded from the segmental
analysis. Further information on the Group's operations classified as discontinued is outlined in note 25,

a) Segmental results

Year ended 1 May 2021

UK &
Ireland UK & Ireland

Electricals Mobile Nordics Greece Eliminations Total

£m £m £m £m Em £m

External revenue 4,921 721 4,186 516 - 10,344
Inter-segmentat revenue 66 128 - - (194) -
Total revenue 4,987 849 4,186 516 (194) 10,344
Profit / (loss) before interest and tax 78 (89) 139 19 - 147
Year ended 2 May 2020

UK &
Ireland UK & Ireland

Electricals Mobile Nordics Greece Eliminations Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m

External revenue 4,538 1,589 3,573 470 - 10,170
Inter-segmental revenue 86 28 - - (184) -
Total revenue 4,624 1,687 3,573 470 (184 10,170
Profit / (loss) before interest and tax 119 {282) 115 20 - (28)
Year ended Year ended

1 May 2 May

20214 2020

fm £m

UK & Ireland Electricals 78 118
UK & Ireland Mobile (89) (282)
Nordics 139 15
Gresce 19 20
Profit / (loss) before interast and tax 147 (28)
Finance income 6 10
Finance costs (120) {122)
Profit / (loss) before tax 33 {140)

No individual customer represented more than 10% of the Group's revenue within the current or preceding period.
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Year ended 2 May 2020

UK Norway Sweden Other Total UK Norway Sweden Other Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Revenue 5,352 1,269 1,375 2,348 10,344 5,865 1,119 1,121 2,085 10,170
Non-current
assets 2,886 581 461 684 4,612 3,184 519 463 729 4,885
Capital
expenditure 60 36 7 19 122 111 43 13 24 191
3 Revenue and profit / (loss) before interest and taxation
Year ended Year ended
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £m
Revenue 10,344 10,170
Cost of sales (8,592) (8,318)
Gross profit 1,752 1,852
Operating expenses (1,605) (1,880)
Profit / {loss) before interest and tax 147 28)

The Group's disaggregated revenues recognised under '‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers” in accordance with IFRS 15
relates to the following operating segments and revenue streams:

Year ended 1 May 2021

UK & Ireland UK & Ireland
Electricals Maobile Nordics Greece Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Sale of goods 4,561 190 3,797 491 9,039
Commission revenug 6 463 252 1 722
Support services revenue 260 - 60 17 337
Other services revenue a9 68 77 7 241
Other revenue 5 - - - 5
Total revenue 4,921 Il 4,186 516 10,344
Year ended 2 May 2020

UK & Ireland UK & Iretand
Electricals Mobile Nordics Greece Total
£m Em £m £m £m
Sale of goods 4147 397 3,218 446 8,208
Commission revenue 5 1.090 268 1 1,364
Support services tavenue 285 - 30 17 332
Other services revenue a7 102 57 G 262
Other revenua 4 - - - 4
Total revenue 45638 1,589 3.673 470 10,170

Revenue from support services relates predominantly to customer support agreements, while other services revenue comprises
delivery and installation, product repairs and product support.
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3 Revenue and profit / (loss) before interest and taxation continued

Profit / (loss) before interest and taxation for continuing operations is stated after charging / (crediting) the following:

Year ended Year ended
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £m
Depreciation of proporty, plant and equipment 79 81
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 5 5
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 200 217
Impairment of right-of-use assets 15 50
Amortisation of acquisition intangibles 26 25
Impairment of acquisition intangibles 8 -
Amertisation of other intangibles 57 44
Impairment of other intangibles 47 9
Impairment of inventory 80 Q2
Net impairmant on financial assets {see note 15} - 1
Cost of Inventory recognised as an expense 8,175 7,789
Cash flow hedge amounts reclassified and reported in income statement 1 12
Government grant income (6) (20)
Net foreign exchange gains 2) 2
Share-based payments expense 21 23
Cther employee costs {(see note 4) 1,054 1,100
Restructuring costs” 54 56
Other exceptional income® (31) -
Regulatery (income) / costs” {7) 30
Restructuring costs, other exceptional income and regulatery (income} / costs are further detaled within note Ab of the glossary.
Auditor's remuneration comprises the following:
Year ended Year ended
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £m
Fees payable to the Company's auditor for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts 0 0.2
Fees payable to the Company's auditor and its associates for their audit of the Company's subsidiaries 1.5 1.3
Total audit fees 1.6 15
Audit-related assurance services:
Review of interim statement 0.2 0.3
Other assurance services 0.2 01
Total audit and audit-related assurance services 2.0 19
Tax compliance services 01 01
Total audit and non-audit fees 2.1 2.0
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4 Employee costs and share-based payments
a) Employee costs

The aggregate remuneration recognised in the income statement for continuing operations is as follows:

Year ended Year ended
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £m
Salaries and performance bonuses 14 949
Social security costs 19 117
Cther pension costs 34 34
1,054 1,100
Share-based payments 21 23
1,075 1,123
The average number of smployees for continuing operations is:

Year ended Year ended
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
number number
UK & Ireland Electricals 18,5N 20,808
UK & Ireland Mobile 4,434 8,585
Nordics 10,399 10,113
Greece 2,663 2,603
36,087 42,209

Compensation earnad by key management, comprising the Board of Directors and senior Executives, is as follows:
Year ended Year ended
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
Em £m
Short-term employee benefits 10 &
Share-based payments 4 3
14 9

Further information about individual directors’ remuneration, share interests. share options. pensions and other entitlements, which

form part of these financial statements, is provided in the Remuneration Report.
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4 Employee costs and share-based payments continued
b} Share-based payments
i) Share option schemes

The Group offers discrationary awards of nil-priced opticns under the Long Term Incentive Plan {LTIP} to senior employees,
Awards are granted annually and will usually vest after three years subject to continued service, Some awards are also subject

to the achieverment of performance conditions.

For awards granted during the years ended 27 April 2019 and 2 May 2020, awards granted to Executive Directors and key
management are subject to performance conditions. For awards issuad to other senior management, awards are not subject
to performance conditions. For awards granted during the year ended 1 May 2021, awards issued to other senior management

are also subject to performance conditions.

For awards granted during the year ended 27 April 2019, performance conditions are based on a combination of relative TSR
performance against the constituents of the FTSE 51-150 at the beginning of the performance period and cumulative free cash flow.
For awards granted during the years ended 2 May 2020 and 1 May 2021, perfoermance cenditions are based on a combination

of relative TSR performance against a bespoks comparator group of 22 European Special Line Retailers and other comparable

companies and cumulative free cash flow.

In February 2019, the Group launched the Colleague Sharehoider Award which granted every permanent colleague with 12 months
service at least £1,000 of options which will vest after three years. These awards are not subject to performance conditions.

The following table summarises the number and weighted average exercise price (WAEF) of share options for these schemes:

Year ended 1 May 2021 Year ended 2 May 2020

Number WAEP Number WAEP

m £ m £

Outstanding at the beginning of the period 63 - 55 -
Granted during the period 32 - 26 -
Forfeited during the period (12) - (16 -
Exercised during the period (5) - 2) -
Outstanding at the end of the period 78 - 63 -
Exercisable at the end of the period - - - -
Year ended Year ended

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

Weighted average market price of options exercised in the penod £1.01 $£1.08
Weighted average remaining contractual life of awards outstanding 8.5 yrs 8.8yrs
Exercise price for options outstanding Enil nil
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4 Employee costs and share-hased payments continued
b) Share-based payments continued
ii) SAYE scheme

The Group has SAYE schemes which allow participants te save up to £500 per month for either three or five years. At the end
of the savings period, participants can purchase shares in the Company based on a discountad share price dstermined at the
commencement of the scheme.

The following table summarises the number and WAEP of share options for these schemes:

Year ended 1 May 2021 Year ended 2 May 2020

Number WAEP Number WAEP

m £ m £

Outstanding at the beginning of the period 15 1.19 12 1.90
Granted during the pericd 14 0.67 14 0.97
Exercised during the period - 0.86 - 0.97
Forfeited during perod (10) 116 (1) 1.71
Outstanding at the end of the period 19 0.82 15 119
Exercisable at the end of the period 1 1.53 1 1.88
Year ended Year ended

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

Weighted average market price of options exercised in the period £1.36 L0777
Weighted average remaining contractual life of awards outstanding 2.7 yrs 27 yrs
Range of exercise prices for oplions outstanding £0.67 -£3.77 £0.97 -L3.77

iil) Fair value model
The fair value of options was estimated at the date of grant using a Monte Carlo model. The model combines the market price of
a share at the date of grant with the probability of meeting performance criteria, basad on the historical performance of the Group.

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the period was £0.56 (2019/20: £0.75). The following table lists the inputs
to the model:

Year ended Year ended

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

Exercise price £nil - £0.67 £nil - £0.97
Dividend yield 0% - 3.8% 0% - 5.7%
Historical and expected volatility A% 31% - 37%
Expected option life 4-10yrs 4—-10yrs
Weighted average share price £0.91 £1.24

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends.

iv) Charge to the income statement and entries in reserves

During the year ended 1 May 2021, the Group recognised a non-cash accounting charge to profit and loss of £21m (2019/20: £23m)
in respect of eguity settled share-basad payments, with a correspending credit through reserves.
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4 Empleyee costs and share-based payments continued
¢} Employee Benefit Trust (‘EBT’)

1 May 2021 2 May 2020
Market Nominal Market Nominal
value value Number value value Number
£m £m m £m £m m
Investment In cwn shares 28 - 20.5 8 - 10.1
Maxirmum number of shares held during the perod 28 - 20.5 12 - 10.4

The number of shares held by the EBT, which are shown in the table above, remain held for potential awards under outstanding
plans. The costs of administering the EBT are charged to the income statement in the year to which they relate. Investment in own
shares are recorded at cost and are recognised directly in equity within cther reserves.

The EBT acquired 4.1m of the Gompany’s shares during the year ended 1 May 2021 at nominal value and 11.6m via market
purchases for cash consideration of £13.2m. For the comparative period 2.1m shares werea acquired at norminal value and 9.8m
via market purchases for £11.8m.

The EBT has waived rights to receive dividends and agrees to abstain from exercising their right to vote. The shares have not been
allocated to spscific schemes as further disclosed in the Directors’ Report. At 1 May 2021, the EBT held 1.8% (2020: 0.9%) of the
issued share capital of the Company.

b Net finance costs

Year ended Year ended

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m £fm

Unwind of discounts on trade and other receivables 6 10
Finance income 6 10
Interest on bank overdrafts, loans and borrowings 8 {15)
Interest expense on lease liabiites 70 (80)
Net interest on defined benefit pension obligations 8 14)
Amortisation of facility fees” (1) (2)
Other interest expense (16) {11
Finance costs (120) (122)
Total net finance costs (114) (112

T IncApnl 2021, the Group refinanced its existing debt vath two new Revolving Credit Facilitics, which expire in Apnil 2025, As such, all olher facilites were cancalled as part
of the refinancing and the fees relating to these facilities were subsequently imparred.

All finance costs in the above table represent interest costs of financial liahilities and assets, other than amortisation of facility fees which
represent non-financial assets and net interest on defined benefit pension obligations which represent the net defined bensfit liabilties,
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6 Tax
a) Tax expense
The corporation tax charge comprises:

Year ended Year ended
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
£m m
Current tax
UK corporation tax at 19% (2012/20: 19%) 7 9
Ovarseas tax 26 24
43 33
Adjustments made in respect of prior years®;
UK corporation tax (12) (9)
Overseas tax m 1
(13) (4
Total current tax 30 28
Deferred tax
UK tax 5 (3)
Overseas fax 6) 3
U] -
Adjustrments in respect of prior years:
LK corporation tax 5 (4
Cverseas tax (1) 4)
4 (8
Total deferred tax 3 (8}
Total tax charge 33 3

This is further disclosed in note B{kb)"

Tax related to discontinued operations is included in the figures set out in note 25.

b) Reconciliation of standard to actual (effective) tax rate

The principal differences between the total tax charge shown above and the amount calculated by applying the standard rate of UK
corporation tax to profit / {loss) before taxation are as follows:

Year ended Year ended

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m £m

Prefit /7 (|loss) before taxation 33 (140)

Tax at UK statutory rate of 19% (2019/20: 19%) 6 [27)
ltems attracting no tax relef or liability” 12 7
Movement in unprovided deferred tax® 16 52

Effect of change in statutory tax rate 1 {2
Differences in effective overseas tax rates 6 3
Increase in prowisions 1 -

Adjustments in respect of prior years — provisions™ (13) {17)
Adjustments in respect of prior years — other™ 4 5
Total tax charge 33 21

[ Hems attracting no tax relief or hability relate manly to non deductible depreciation and share based payments in the UK business

[il Deferrad tax assets relating principally 1o tax losses in the UK business have not been recognised due to uncertainty over the Group's ability 1o utiise the losses i the future.

[iy] Provision releases are predomirantly whare the window for recovery has now closed in relation to pre-merger uncertain tax positions.

{v) Other adjustments in respect of pror years are mainly due to lower tax relief on fixed assets through caprtal allowances in subnttacd tax returns.
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6 Tax continued
¢) Deferred tax

Accelerated Retirement Losses Other
capital benefit carried temporary

allowances obligations forward differences Total

£fm £m £m £m £m

At 27 April 2018 (39 g7 A 63 126

Taxrativrt on IFRS 16 transition adjustment - - - 6 6

Adjusted balance at 27 April 2019 (39) 97 5 69 132

{Charged) / credited directly to income statement 12) - 34 (13) 9

Charged to equity - {44) - - 44)

At 2 May 2020 (51) 53 39 56 a7

{Charged) / credited directly to income statement 1) - (13) 1 (3)

Credited to equity - 6 - - 6

At 1 May 2021 (52) 59 26 67 100
Deferred tax comprises the following balances:

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m £m

Deferred tax assets 262 259

Deferred tax liabilities (162) (162)

100 97

Analysis of deferred tax relating to items credited / (charged to equity in the period:

Year ended Year ended

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m £m

Defined benefit pension schemes <] {44
6 44

The Group has total unrecognised deferred tax assets relating to gross tax losses of £1,491m (2019/20: £1,257m) of which £1,459m
relates to the UK (2019/20: £1,242my). £1,052m (2019/20: £1,052m) of these losses relate to carried forward capital losses in the
legacy Dixons Group. The balance of the losses relates to carried forward trading losses, principally due to the losses realised in the
Carphone Warehouse business in the UK in the current perfod and in the prior period.

A deferred tax asset has not been recognised in respect of the losses for the period {£274m), other deductible temporary differences
{£100m) and pension contributions (£170m) expected to reverse after the period of the Group's 5-year plan which is used o
determine the availability of future taxable profits,

There were no temporary differences associated with nen-distributable earnings of subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities had
not been recognised at the end of the current period or the prior period.

The Group has a current tax credit of £7m (2019/20: £5m) recogniged through equity in relation to pensions.

On 24 May 2021 the Finance Bill 2021 passed through all stages in the House of Commons and became substantively enacted,
which included a legislative change to increase the rate of corporation tax to 25% with effect from 1 April 2023, As the Bill was not
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, its effects are not included in these financial statements. However, it is likely that the
overall effect of the change, had it been substantively enacted by the balance sheet date, would be to increase the deferred tax asset
to £120m.
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Year ended Year ended
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £m
Total profit / (loss)
Continuing operations - (161)
Discontinued cperations 12 @
Total 12 (163)
Millicn Million
Weighted average number of shares
Average shares in issue 1,166 1162
Less average holding by Group EBT (14) {5
For basic earnings / {oss) per share 1,152 1,157
Dilutive effect of share options and other incentive schemes 42 25
For diluted earnings / (loss) per share 1,194 1,182
Pence Pence
Basic earnings / (loss) per share
Total (continuing and discontinued operations) 1.0 {(14.1)
Adjustment in respect of discontinued operations (1.0} 0.2
Continuing cperations - (13.9)
Diluted earnings / {loss) per share
Total {continuing and discontinued operations) 1.0 {14.1
Adjustment in respect of discontinued operations (1.0 0.2
Centinuing operations - {13.9)

Basic and diluted earnings / (losses) per share are based on the profit / {loss) for the period attributable to equity shareholders.
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8 Goodwill
Cost £m
Asat 27 April 2018 3,065
loreign exchange (37)
As at 2 May 2020 3,028
Foreign Fxchange 48
As at 1 May 2021 3,076
Accumulated impairment £m
As at 27 April 2018 and 2 May 2020 {225)
Impairment -
As at 1 May 2021 (225}
Carrying amount £m
As at 27 April 2018 2,840
As at 2 May 2020 2,803
As at 1 May 2021 2,851

a) Carrying value of goodwill
The components of goodwill comprise the following businesses:

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m £m

UK & Ireland Electricals 1,840 1.840
Nordics 1,011 a63
2,851 2,803

No impairment charge has been recognised over goodwill in the current or prior period.

b) Goodwill impairment testing
As required by IAS 36, goodwill is subject to annual impairment reviews. These reviews are carried out using the following criteria

+ business acquisitions generate an attributed amount of goodwill;

s the manner in which these businesses are run and managed is used to determine the CGU grouping as defined in 1AS 36:
Impairment of Assets’

* the recoverable amount of each CGU Group is determined based on calculating its value in use {'VIU'):
« the VIUis calculated by applying discounted cash flow modelling to management’s own projections covering a five-year period;

* cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a long-term growth rate equivalent to long-term forecasts of Gross
Domestic Product (‘GDP') growth rates for the reievant market: and

* the ViU is then compared to the carrying amount in order to determine whether impairment has occurred.

The key assumptions used in calculating value in use are:

*  management’s projections;
+ the growth rate beyond five years; and
* the pre-tax discount rate.
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8 Goodwill continued
b) Goodwill impairment testing continued

The long term projections are based on Board aporoved budgets for 2021/22 together with the Board approved five-year strategic
plan. These projections have regard to the relative performance of competitors and knowledge of the current market together

with managemsnt’s views on the future achievable growth in market share and impact of the committed initiatives as well as any
lenger term impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. The cash flows which derive from these five-year projections include ongoing capital
expenditure required to develop and upgrade the store network in order to maintain and operate the businessas and to compete

in their markets. In forming the five-year projections. management draws on past experience as a measure to forecast future
performance.

Key assumptions used in determining the five-year projections comgrise the growth in sales and costs over this period. The compound
annual growth rate in sales and costs can rise as well as fall year-on-year depending not only on the year five targets, but also on the
current financial year base. These targets, when combined, accordingly drive the resulting profit margins and the profit in year five

of the projections which is in turn used to calculate the terminal value in the VIU calculation. Historical amounts for the businesses
under impalrment review as well as from other parts of the Group are used to generate the values attributed to these assumptions.

The value attributed to these assumptions for the most significant components of gocdwill are as follows:

1 May 2021 2 May 2020
Compaund Compound Growth Compound Compound
annual annual rate Pre-tax annual annual Growth rate Pre-tax
growth in growthin beyond five discount growth in growthin beyond five discount
sales costs years rate sales costs years rate
UK & Ireland Electricals (1.8)% (2.0)% 1.4% 8.7% 4.2% 4.0% 1.4% 7.8%
Nordics 3.2% 3.1% 1.8% 7.8% 3.2% 3.1% 1.8% 7.6%

Growth rates used were determined based on third-party long-term growth rate forecasts and are based on the GDP growth rate for
the territories in which the businesses operate. The pre-tax discount rates applied to the forecast cash flows reflect current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGUs.

Within the Group’s UK & Ireland Electricals operating segment and the UK & Ireland Mobile cperating segment there are corporate
assets that are not allocable to these separate groups of CGUs on a reasonable and consistent basis. Accordingly, the Group tests
such assets for impairment by comparing the combined recoverable amount of the UK & Ireland Electricals and UK & Ireland Mobile
group of CGUs with the combined carrying value of assets of these respective groups of CGUs including the corporate assets.

c) Goodwill impairment sensitivity analysis

Infine with the assumptions noted above and highlighted in note 1t, the Group undertook an impairment review of the UK & Ireland
Electricals group of CGUs, where £1,840m of goodwill is allocated. These impairment tests are prepared using the methodology
required by IAS 36. The recoverable amount, ased on value in use, shows headroom of £501m above the carrying amount of UK
& Ireland Electricals CGU. Within the value in use model growth in sales and growth in costs assumptions drive the operating profit
forecasts in line with the Group's strategic plan. The key assumption within the value in use moadel is therefore the operating profit
forecast in the strategic plan which is underpinned by the recovery from the impact of Covid-19 and the successful delivery of a
number of key strategic initiatives that are currently underway within the business.

I accordance with 1AS 36, the Group performed sensitivity analysis on the estimates of recoverable amounts and found that the
axcess of recoverable amount over the carrying amount of the UK & Ireland Electricals CGU would be reduced to nil as a result of a
reasonably possible change in the key assumption. The recoverable amount would equal the carrying value if operating profit were
reduced by 21% within the value in use model, and then extrapofated for the remainder of the forecast period including the period
beyond the strategic plan. The directors do not consider that the relevant change in this assumption would have a consequential
effect on other key assumptions.

For the Nordics group of CGUs, whare £1,011m of goodwill is allocated, the directors do net consider that any reascnably possible
changes to the key assumptions would reduce the recoverable amount to its carrying value,
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9 Intangible assets

Acquisition intangibles

Gustomer Software and
Brands relationships Sub-total licences Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Balance at 3 May 2020 218 2 220 249 469
Additions - - - 84 84
Amortisation (24 2) (26} {57) 83)
Impairment 8 - 8 (47) {55)
Disposals - - - (1) M
Foreign exchange 5 - 5 7 12
Balance at 1 May 2029 191 - 191 235 426
Cost 372 73 445 a02 1,247
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses (181) (73) (254) (567) (821)
Balance at 1 May 2021 191 - 191 235 426
Included in net book value as at 1 May 2021
Assets in the course of construction - - - 50 50
Acquisition intangibles
Customer Software and
Brands relationships Sub-total licences Total
£m £m Em £m £m
Balance at 28 April 2019 246 3 248 215 464
Additions - - - a0 a0
Reclassffication from property, plant and equipment - - - 3 3
Amortisation {(24) {1} (25) 44 {69)
Impairment - - - (9) (9)
Foreign exchange ] - 4 {6) {10
Balance at 2 May 2020 218 2 220 249 4569
Cost 367 73 440 2 1,152
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses (149) {71) {220) {463) {683)
Balance at 2 May 2020 218 2 220 249 462
Included in net book value as at 2 May 2020
Assets in the course of construction - - - 75 75

Following the unprecedented effects of the Covid-19 pandemic and the enforced store closures througheut the year ended 1 May
2021, the Group accelerated the operational roll out of its long term strategic plan in moving towards a full omnichannel offering.
This resulted i an impairment charge of £47m being recognised over software development costs and IT related assets, within

the UK & Ireland Electricals operating segment, that could not be repurposed following the fransition to cloud based solutions.

A further £8m impairment was recognised over acquisition intangibles, that arose on the Dixons Retail Merger, following the decision

to close the Dixons Travel business.

Further information on the imgairments recognised in the year is disclosed in note AS.

In the year ended 2 May 2020, an impairment of £9m was recognised in the UK & Ireland Mobile operating segment following the
announcement tc close the Carphone Warehouse standalone stores within the United Kingdom.



STRATEGIC REPORT ‘

GOVERNANGE

9 Intangible assets continued
Individually material intangible assets

FINANGIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTOR INFORMATION

Customer relationships and brands include intangible assets which are considered individually material to the financial statements.
The primary intangible assets, thair nat book values and remaining amortisation periods arg as follows:

1 May 2021 2 May 2020
Remaining Remaining
Net book amortisation Net book amortisation
value period value period
£m Years £m Years
Currys PCWorld 94 9 106 10
Elgiganten 43 9 A7 10
Elkjap 31 9 3t 10
Gigantti 22 9 25 10
10 Property, plant and equipment
Land and Fixtures, fittings and
buildings other equipment Total
m £m £m
Balance at 3 May 2020 25 215 240
Additions 9 17 26
Depreciation (6} (73) (79}
Disposals - (2) (2}
Impairment - (5) (5}
Foreign exchange - 4 4
Balance as at 1 May 2021 28 156 184
Cost 81 702 763
Accumulated depreciation {33) (546) (579
Balance as at 1 May 2021 28 156 184
Included in net hook value as at 1 May 2021
Assets In the course of construction - 15 15
Land and Fixtures, fittings and
buildings other equipment Total
£m £m £m
Balance at 28 April 2019 68 207 276
Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 16* 41) 1)
Additions 7 o1 a8
Reclagsification to intangible assets - {3} (3
Depreciation {7 (74} (81)
Disposals - 2} 12)
Impairment 3 (2} {5)
Foreign exchange - 2) 2)
Balance as at 2 May 2020 25 215 240
Cost 52 6893 745
Accumulated depreciation 27 478) (509)
Balance as at 2 May 2020 25 215 240
Included in net book value as at 2 May 2020
Assets in the course of construction - 35 35

© The Group adopted IFRS 16! "Leasss for the first tme during the pror period. As at 28 April 2018, those assets previcusly held under finance leases n accordance with

IA5 17 were removed from property, plant and equipment (cost PE7m net of £26m accumulated depraciation) and subseguently recogrised as nght-of-use assets as

further disclosed in note 11.
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11 Right-of-use assets

1 May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £m
Land and buildings 1,026 1.084
Vehicles, equiprment and other 25 30
1,051 1114
Addiitions to the right-cf-use assets for the pericd were C137m (2018/20: £229m).
The total cash outflow for leases amounts to £310m (2019/20: £300m;.
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
Amounts recognised in profit and loss £m £m
Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets:
Land and buildings 191 207
Vehicles, equipment and other 9 10
Total depreciation on right-of-use assets 200 217
Impairment of right-of-use assets 15 50
Intarest expense on lease liahilities 77 80
Expense relating 1o short-term leases 10 21
Expense relating to leases of iow value assets 1 1
Expense relating to variable lease payments not included in the measurement of the lease liability 5 18
Income from subleasing right-of-use assets (3) (1)

12 Lease receivables

Under IFRS 16, an intermediate lessor accounts for the head lease and sublease as two separate contracts. The intermediate lessor
is required to classify the sublease as a finance or operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease.

The Group’s finance lease arrangements do not include variable payments.

1 May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £m

Net investment in the lease analysed as:
Recoverable after 12 months 3 4
Recoverable within 12 months 1 1
4 5

The Group applies the simplified model in accordance with IFRS 3 to recognise Iifetime expected credit losses on lease receivables.

The value of the expected credit l0ss on lease receivables is immaterial,
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12 Lease receivables continued
The Group is not exposad to foreign currency risk as a result of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in functional
currency.

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m £m

Undiscounted amounts receivable under finance leases:

Year 1 1 1
Year 2 1 1
Year 3 1 1
Year 4 1 1
Year 5 1 1
Onwards - 2
Undiscounted amounts receivable 5 7

Less: unearned finance income m 2
Net investment in the leage 4 4

13 Interests in investments

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m £m

Financial assets designated as at FVYTOCI - 10

During the year ended 1 May 2021 the Group disposed of its equity investment in Unieurc S.p.A. an Italian retailer of consumer
electronics and household appliances listed on the Bersa Italiana, for consideration of £18m.

At 2 May 2020, given a readily determinable fair value was available based on the market price of the listed shares, the investrment
was valued at £10m.

These investments in equity instruments were not held for trading and instead were held for long-term strategic purposes. Accordingly,
the Group had elected to designate these investments in equity instruments as at FVTCCI with the movement in investment value
being recognised in other comprehansive income. However, the investment was sold within the year as it no longer aligned to the
Group's long-term strategic direction.

The fair valuation technigues used are outlined in note 26,
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14 Inventory

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m £m

Finished goods and goods for resale 1,178 a70

15 Trade and other reccivables

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m £m

Trade receivables 347 396

Less expected credit loss allowances (21) 26)
326 370

Contract assets 220 565
Prepayments 55 a0
Other receivables &0 71
Accrued income 64 69
725 1125

Non-currert 138 294
Current 587 831
725 11256

The majority of trade and other receivables are non-interest bearing. Non-current receivables mainly comprise commission
receivable on sales. as described below. Where there is a significant financing component, trade and other receivables are
discounted at contract inception using a discount rate that is at an arm’s length basis and which would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction between the Group and the customer.

Included within other receivables is £3m of government grants receivable (2019/20: £20m). This relates to compensation for expenses
already incurred by the Group that have been pledged by national governments in light of the Covid-19 pandemic. This is further
disclosed in note 30.

As set out in the table below, adjustments are made in the trade receivables balance for expected credit loss aliowances. Management
also consider the counter party risk relating to its accrued income balance, which comprise amounts where the Group has fulfiled

its performance obligations but not yet invoiced, primarily due from large multi-nationals and blue chip companies. As such, the
allowances made are not material.

1 May 2021 2 May 2020
Expected Expected
Gross trade credit loss Net trade Gross trade credit {oss Net trade
receivables allowances receivabtes receivables allowances receivables
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Ageing of gross trade receivables and
expected credit loss allowances:
Not yet due 308 (1} 307 312 3 309
Past due:
Under two months 13 (1) 12 35 {1 34
Two to four menths 5 (1} 4 13 (2 1
Over four months 21 {18} 3 36 (20} 16
39 (20} 19 g4 (23} a1

347 (21) 326 3906 (26} 370
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15 Trade and other receivables continued
Movernents in the expected credit loss allowances for trade receivabies is as follows:

1 May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £m
Opening balance (26) (17}
Charged to the income statement (3 (12)
Receivables written off as irrecoverable 4 2
Amounts recovered during the year 3 1
Disposal of busingss 1 _
Closing balance 21) (26)
Further details with regards to trade receivables credit risk are included in note 26.
Contract assets
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £m
Insurance commission contract assets 13 19
Network comrmission contract assets 207 546
220 565

The Group recognises contract assets where the performance obligations have been met but the right to consideration from the
customer is conditional on something other than the passage of time. This occurs on both insurance commission revenue and
network commission revenue as detailed in note 1d.

Upon the initial recognition of revenue from centracts with customers, the Group considers the risk profile for amounts due from
network and insurance customers based on historical experience and forward looking information in accordance with IFRS 15, As
such, credit risk is factored into the initial recognition of revenue, while contract assets are adjusted at each reporting date to reflect
the future expected value. Therefore, no further expectad credit loss is recognised as it is included within the initial measurement
of the Group's contract assets. Further information is disclosed in note 26, while additional informaticn on the measurement of
expected consideration is detailed below.

The significant changes in the contract asset balances within the year occurred within the network commission contract assets.
Further detail and a full reconciliation of movements within the financial year have therefore been provided below.

Network commission contract assets and receivables

As described in note 1e, the revenue earned by the Group for the acquisition of consumers on behalf of third-party network
operators is subject to variable consideration. Sorme consideration is paid by the MNOs at the time of connection with the remainder
paid over the duration of the consumer's contractual refationship with the MNO which is usually between one and five years. Whilst
the underlying contract with the consumer predominately constitutes a fixed monthly value, variability arises due 1o future expected
behaviour of such consumers after the point of connection.

Under IFRS 15: 'Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ the Group only recognises revenue to the extent that it is highly probable
that there will not be a significant reversal in the future. Determining the amount of revenue to recognise is judgemental and subject
to a degree of estimation uncertainty in particular due to the nature of the variable revenue constraint applied in line with IFRS 15

as described in note 1t. In previous periods, the Group has estimated such revenue with a high level of accuracy, as evidenced

and regularly monitored by the level of cash the Group receives from MNOs in the periods subsequent to acquiring consumers

on their behalf.

In determining the amount of revenue to recognise, the Group estimates the amount that it expects to receive in respect of each
consumer based on historical trends and anticipated changes in consumer bhehaviour. The Group alse discusses and analyses
emerging behavioural trends with the respective MNOs, considers external scurces of industry and market analysis and maodels
the impact of potential regulatory changes. if any are proposed.
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15 Trade and other receivables continued
Network commission contract assets and receivables continued

A discounted cash flow methedology is used to measure the expected consideration, by estimating all future cash flows that
will be received from the MNO and discounting these based on the timing of receipt. The key inputs 1o the model are:

L ]

revenue share percentage - the percantage of the consumer's spend {to the MNO) to which the Group is entitled,

minimum contract period — the length of contract entered into by the consumer;

out-of-bundle spend - additional spend by the consumer measured as a percentage of total spend;

consumer default rate — rate at which consumers disconnect from the MNO;

spend beyond the initial contract period — period of time the consumer remains connected to the MNO after the initial contract
term; and

upgrade propensity - the percentage of consumers initially connaected by the Group estimated to be subsequently uggraded
by an MNO.

Having estimated the expected consideration, the Group applies a constraint to reduce to a level where any future significant
reversal of revenue would be considered highly improbable. Management makas a regular assessment of historical amounts and
market data to ensure that the amounts recognised still meet the requirements of IFRS 15. In the current year ended 1 May 2021,
the net revaluation recognised from performance obligations satisfied in previous pericds was an increase of £3m (2019/20: £d9)m,
2018/19: £3)m).

Amounts recognised In the financial statements in respect of such variable consideration are summarised and reconciled from pricr

year below:

1 May 2 May
2021 2020
Note £m £m
Gross network commission receivable and contract asset: Opening balance (i) 1,005 1.294
Less: amounts received in advance from MNQs (389) 497)
Net network commission recevable and contract asset: Opening balance {ii} 616 797
Revenue recognised in respect of current year sales {iii} 388 Qa7
Revaluation of opening network commuission contract asset liv) 14 47y

Revenue reversed in respect of prior period sales not previously included in the estimation
of revenue recegnised v} (1) {2}
Revenue recognised / (reversed) in respect of prior period sales 3 {49}
Revenue recognised in the period 3 948
Cash received from network operators fuiy (774) (1,139}
Movements dua to the effect of discounting 6 10
Net network commission recevable and contract asset: closing balance {wii} 239 618

Comprising:

Net network commission receivable and contract asset in more than one year 100 259
Net network commission receivable and contract asset in less than one year 139 357
239 616
Less amount billed (network commission trade receivable) (i} (32) {70)

Net network commission contract asset {ix) 207 546
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15 Trade and other receivables continued
Network commission contract assets and receivables continued

vi.

Vil

Wil

Net of discounting for the time value of money. The unwind of this discounting is recognised as finance income in the relevant
period. The amount of related finance income within the year, as shown in the table above, was £6m (2019/20: £10m}.

Payment terms with the MNOs are based on a mix of cash received upon connection and future payments as the MNO receives
monthly instalments from end consurmers over the life of the consumer contract. This balance shows the net amounts receivable
from the MNOs. Further information is included below to explain the classification split of this balance between trade receivables
and contract assets.

This relates to revenue recognised from connections made in the current year. This revenue is recognised at point of sale as
explained within the accounting policies in note 1e. This figure includes in-year adjustments to the carrying value of revenue
recognised (net of constraints) where the estimated consideration has changed since point of recognition within the year.

The Group continues to monitor the level of this revaluation as an indicator of estimation uncertainty in respect of previously
recegnised variable consideration, The current year reflects a positive revaluation of the prior period contract asset and is what
the Group would expect as a result of the variable revenue constraint uncer iIFRS 15. In the prior year the reversal of revenue was
related to a number of events that were previcusly considered highly improbable in the recognition of varfable revenue. These
included the closure of all stancalone Carphane Warehouse stores in the UK, Covid-19 assessment due to expected consumer
behavicurs, and Ofcom regulation changes. This revaluation of £14m (2019/20: £{47)m) discussed above is the figure that has
historically been used by the Groug to monitor the accuracy of assumptions made in previous periods and is excluded from
measuring the performance of the UK & Ireland Mobile segment in our alternative performance measures as explained within
the glossary to the Annual Report. This amount is also presented as the Group has received feedback from certain stakeholders
that its separate presentation is helpful. in order to present more clearly the underlying performance in year.

These amounts were not previously recognised as revenue due to the application of the constraint (described above) and include
a value of £6m (2019/20: £14m) relating to the uplift in the profit share the Group receives associated with RPl on commission
receivable where the performance obligations were satisfied in pricr periods. These amounts also include other out of period
amounts settled with MNOs in respect of prior period transactions of £(17)m (2019/20: £{18)m). As the Group does not recognise
an estimate of these amounts within revenue at the point of sale, they are recognised in revenue within each financial year once
the amounts for that period are known. Therefore, the RPI uplift and the other out of period amounts sattled with MNOs are
included within the Group's alternative performance measures as explained within the glessary to the Annual Report,

Cash received in the pericd. This includes the cash settlement of £189m received from £E on 1 April 2021 to settle the
outstanding EE network debtor receivable. The majority of this payment was previously expected over the course of 2021/22
and 2022/23.

Gross network receivable and contract asset balance of £405m. offset by amounts received in advance of £166m. This 15 in ling
with the explanation in (i) above.

Amournts that have been invoiced to the network operators and are no longer conditional on something other than the passage
of time. These amounts are therefore classified as trade receivables.

This is the contract asset element of the network commissions receivable. This is variable based on future consumer behaviour
and hence conditional on something other than the passage of time therefore as per IFRS 15 this is classified as a contract asset.

16 Gash and cash equivalents

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m £m

Cash at bank and on deposit 175 660

Cash at bank and on deposit Includes short-term bank deposits which are available on demand. Within cash and cash equivalents,
£35m (2079/20: £32m) s restricted and predominantly comprises funds held by the Group’s insurance businesses to cover regulatory
reserve requirements. These funds are not available to offsst the Group's borrowings.
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17 Trade and other payables

1 May 2021 2 May 2020

Current Non-current Current Non-current

£m £m £m £m

Trade payables 1,420 - 1,249 -
Other taxes and social security 236 - 363 -
Other creditors 1 - 2 -
Contract labilities 203 92 184 92
Accruals 373 5 219 39
2,233 97 2,017 131

The carrying amount of frade and other payables approximates their fair value.

Included within trade and other payables for the prior year ended 2 May 2020 was £51m of amounts due where extended payment
terms had been agreed with the supplier using a supplier financing facility. These payment terms are customary in the industry and
in line with credit terms offered by cur other suppliers of similar products. These terms are made avallable and administered under
arrangements between the supplier and third-party banks selected by the supplier. No such facility was in use as at 1 May 2021.

Contract liabilities
Movements in the contract liabilities balance are as follows:

1 May 2May

2021 2020

£m £m

Opening balance 276 272
Revenue recognised in the period that was included in the opening balance (165) {147)
Increase in contract liabilities in the period not yet recognised in revenue 184 151
Closing balance 285 276

Contract ligbilities predominantly relate to the sale of customer support agreemants, Revenue is recognised in full as each
performance obligation is satisfied under the contracts with the customer. Where consideration is received in advance of the
performance of the obligations being satisfied. a contract liability is recognised. Due to the cancellation options and customer
refund clauses, contract terms have been assessed to either be monthly or a series of day o day contracts with revenue recognised
respectively in the month to which payment relates, or on a ‘straight-ling’ basis. The reduction in the contract liability balance due to
amounts recognised as revenue within the year that were included in the balance at the start of the year have been more than offset
by new sales made and consideration received in advance cof satisfying the performance abligations.
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1 May 2021 2 May 2020

Current Non-current Current Non-current

£m £m £m £m

Contingent consideration 2 - 1 2
1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m m

Opening balance 3 5
Settlements {1 2)
Closing balance 2 3

Earm-out consideration of up to £2m is payable in cash (2019/20: £3m} and is contingernt on the performance of the Epoq kitchen
business against earnings growth targets in the period following the balance sheet date. The fair value of contingent consideration
arrangements has been estimated by applying the income approach. A change in growth assumptions used in the fair value

methodology could result in the amount of contingent consideration payable decreasing to £nil.

19 Loans and other borrowings

1 May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £m
Current liabilities

Bank overdrafts 6 540
Loans and other borrowings - 44
6 584

Non-current liabilities
Loans and other borrowings - 280
6 864

Committed facilities as at 1 May 2021

In April 2021, the Group refinanced its existing debt with two new Revelving Credit Facilities totalling £551m, which expire in April
2025. All other facilities were cancelled as part of the refinancing. The Group's facilities available throughaut the current and prior

year are detailed below:

£200m Revolving Credit Facility

In April 2021, the Group signed a £200m Revolving Credit Fagility {RCF) with a number of relationship banks which expires in April
2025, The interest rate payable for drawings under this facility is at a margin over risk free rates {or other applicable interest basis)
for the relevant currency and for the appropriate period. The actual margin applicable to any drawing depends on the fixed charges

cover ratio calculated in respect of the most recent accounting period. A non-utilisation fee is payable in respect of amounts available

but undrawn under this facility and a utilisation fee is payable when aggregate drawings exceed certam tevels. This facility was

undrawn at 1 May 2021,
NOK 4,036m Revolving Credit Facility

In April 2021, the Group signed a NOK 4,036m (£351m) RCF with a number of relationship banks which expires in April 2025.

This is on broadly similar terms to the £200m facility. This facility was undrawn at 1 May 2021.
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19 Loans and other borrowings continued
Facilities previously available that have now lapsed or been cancelled
£800m Revolving Credit Facility

In October 2015, the Group signed a five-year £800m RCF with a number of relaticnship banks; this facility was extended in October
2016 and 2017 by an additional year and the facility was due to expire in October 2022. The interest rate payable for drawings under
this facility was at a margin over LIBOR {or other applicable interest basis} for the relevant currency and for the appropriate period.
The actual margin applicable to any drawing depended on the fixed charges cover ratio calculated in respect of the most recent
accounting period. A non-utilisation fee was payabile in respect of amounts available but undrawn under this facility and a utilisation
fee was payable when aggregate drawings exceeded certain levels. This facility was cancelled in April 2021. At 2 May 2020, the
Group had drawn down on this facility by £280m.

£250m Revolving Credit Facility

In Qctober 2016, the Group signed a four-year £250m RCF with a group of relationship banks; this facility was on broadly similar
terms to the £800m RCF; this facility was extended in February 2019 by an additional two years and the facility was due to expire
in October 2022. This facility was cancelled in April 2021, This facility was undrawn at 2 May 2020 and was cancelled in April 2021.
£266m Revolving Credit Facility

In April 2020, the Group signed a one-year £266m RCF to mitigate any potential impact of the Covid-19 pandemic with a group of
relationship banks; this facility was on broadty similar terms to the £800m and £250m RCF. The facility was due to expire in April
2021 and was cancelled in February 2021 with nc amounts having been drawn down.

€50m term loan

The Group had access to a £50m term loan with BBVA. The terms of this facility were broadly similar to the £800m and £250m
RCF and was fully drawn at 2 May 2020. This facility expired in October 2020,

Uncommitted facilities

The Group also has overdrafts and short-term money market lines from UK and European banks denominated in various currencies,
all of which are repayable on demand. Interest is charged at the market rates applicable in the countries concerned and these
facilities are used to assist in short-term liquidity management. Total available faciliies are £70m (2019/20: £57m).

All borrowings are unsecured.

20 Lease Liabilities

t May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £m
Analysed as:
Current 216 258
Non-current 1,110 1,186
1,326 1,444
Total undiscounted future committed payments due are as foliows:
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £m
Amounts due:
Year 1 271 308
Year 2 253 261
Year 3 227 237
Year 4 200 209
Year 5 162 179
Onward 534 589
1,647 1,781

The Group does not face a significant liquidity risk with regard to its lease liabilities. Lease liabilities are monitared within the Group's
Treasury function.
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21 Provisions
1 May 2021 2 May 2020
Reorganisation  Sales Property OQther Total Reorganisation  Sales Property Other Total
£m fm £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Af beginning of period 39 7 64 40 150 16 7 938 30 151
Adjustment on nitial
apphcalion of IFKS 16 - - - - - - - {47) - {47}
Additions 54 10 21 5 90 51 14 45 37 147
Released in the period (6) - {22) (19) 47) - - - (6} 5]
Utiised in the period (77) 11 (12) 9) (109) (28} (13) (32) {21} ©4)
Foreign exchange - 1 - - 1 - 1) - - (1
At end of period 10 7 51 17 85 39 7 g4 40 150
Analysed as:
Current 10 5 34 9 58 39 5 31 39 114
Non-current - 2 17 8 27 - 2 33 1 36
10 7 51 17 85 39 7 B4 40 150

Provisions held by the Group at the reporting date are detailed below while information on the Group's provision recognition and
measurement policies are further disclosed in note 1r.

Reorganisation

Reorganisation provisions of £8m relate to redundancy costs incurred following the anncuncement on 21 April 2021 that the Group
would be closing the Carphone Warehouse Ireland business while a further £2m has been provided for redundancy programmes
within central operations. Reorganisation provisions are only recognised when a detalled formal plan is in place and it has been
communicated to those affected. As at 1 May 2021, all employees affected still retained employee status and will be departing
between June - August 2021.

£8m of reorganisation provisions related to restructuring the legacy concession agreements were released following their

successfiul exit.

Sales

Sales provisions relate to 'cash-back’ and similar promotions and product and service warranties. The anticipated costs of these
are assessed by reference to historical trends and any other information that is considered relevant. Management estimates the
related provision for future related claims based on historical information, as well as recent trends that might suggest that past cost

information might differ from future claims.

Property

Following the previously announced store closure programmes, the Group has a number of present obligations related to its property
portfalio that are explicitly excluded from the measurement of lease liabilities in accordance with IFRS 16. As such, the Group has
onerous contracts for unaveoidable store closure costs including service fees, legal costs and dilapidations of £32m primarily relating
to the Currys PCWorld 3-in-1 programme and Carphone Warehcuse UK store closures at the reporting date.

Provisions for the costs described above are only recognised where there is a definitive business decision to exit a leased property,
it is believed the unavoidable cost of mesting or exiting the obligations exceed the expected benefit to be received and after any

impairment being recorded over right-of-use and store related assets in accordance with IAS 36,

The amounts of future expenditures for store ciosure costs ars reviswed throughout the year and are based on readily available
information at the reporting date as well as management’s historical experience of similar transactions.
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21 Provisions continued

Property continued

Of the £32m related to closure programmes anncunced in pricr periods, utilisation is to be incurred in conjunction with the profile of
the leases to which they relate. The longest lease will unwind over the next nine years. Where appropriate and in the interests of the
Group, management will proactively seek to exit any liabilities early. Where there is a substantive expectation that the unavoidable
costs provided for will be reduced as a result of exit negotiations, the provision will be remeasured based on the best available
information and an amounl released, as seen in the penod.

As a result of the announcement to close the Carphone Warehouse Ireland business, as disclosed above, additional property
provisions akin to those in the UK have baen recognised to the total of £6m. As with the Group's other onerous proparty related
contracts, utilisation is expected to be incurred in line with the lease liakilities, of which the longest will be over the next 15 years.

As further disclosed in note AL, management also made the decision to close the Dixons Travel business during the year encied
1 May 2021. The Group has calculated the least net unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under their property contracts
as being £13m, with £8m expected t¢ be utiised within the following 12 months and £5m within 12 months thereafter.

Dther
Other provisions predominantly relate to regulatery costs, data incident costs, and warranties in relation to discontinued operations.

In the year ended 27 April 2019 the Group reported that it was subject 1o a £29m fine imposed by the FCA following the conclusion
of an investigation into historical Geek Sguad mobile phone insurance selling processes for a period prior to June 2015, The Group
ran two voluntary customer redress programmes which lec to the refund of £1.5m paid in the year ended 2 May 2020.

The Group subsequently received claims from a number of customers who believe they were mis-sold Geek Sguad policies. All
customer claims are carefully considered by the Grougp on a case by case basis with the majority of claims received being invalid
and no new claims having been received during the period. Nevertheless, the volume and value of outstanding claims remains
uncertain with utilisation of the provision expected 1o be incurred over the next two years as the Group continues to co-operate with
the relative authorities. Management estimates the related provigion based on historical claims information and applying this against
any remaining potential claimants using an expected value approach. As at 1 May 2021, this particular provision had a carrying value
of £13m {2019/20: £25my), with a release of £8m recognised in the income statement during the period.

A further release was recognised during the year as the Group successfully settled a histerical warranty claim in relation to
operations classified as discontinued. Further information can be found in note 25,

In determining the amounts to be provided management have considered the utilisation profile and do not consider the time value
of money to be material.

22 Retirement and other post-employment benefit obligations

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m £Em

Retirement benefit obligations — UK 482 550
— Nordics - -

482 550

The Group operates a defined benefit and a number of defined contribution schemes. The principal scheme which cperates in

the UK includes a funded final salary defined benefit section whose assets are held in a separate trustese administered fund. The
scheme is valued by a qualified actuary at least every three years and contributions are assessed in accordance with the actuary’s
advice. Since 1 September 2002, the defined benefit section of the scheme has been closed to new entrants and on 30 April 2010
was closed to future accrual with automatic entry into the defined contribution section being offered to those active members of the
defined benefit section at that time. Membership of the defined contribution section is offered to eligible empioyees.

In the Nordics division, the Group operates small funded secured defined benefit pension schemes. which are also closed o new
entrants, with assets held by a life insurance company as well as an unsecured pension arrangement. In addition. contributions are
made to state pension schemes with defined benefit characteristics.

The defined benefit pension schemes expose the Group te actuarial risks such as longer than expected longevity of members, lower
than expected return on investments and higher than expected inflation, which may increase the liabilities or reduce the value of
assets of the plans.
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22 Retirement and other post-employment benefit obligations continued
a) Defined contribution pension schemes

The pension charge in respect of defined contribution schames was £34m (2019/20: £34m).

b) UK defined benefit pension scheme — actuarial valuation and assumptions

A full actuarial valuation of the scheme was carried out as at 31 March 2018 and showed a shortfall of assets compared with
liabilities of £845m. A ‘recovery plan’ based on this valuation was agreed with Lhe Trustees such that contributions in respect of the
scheme were £47m for the 2020/21 financial year, rising to £78m per year from the 2021/22 financial year until 2027/28, with a final
payment of £52m in 2028/29.

The principal actuarial assumytions as at 31 March 2019 were:

Rate per annum

Discount rate for accrued benefits’  — Equity portfolio 385%
— Muilti-asset credit portfolio 3.00%
- Matching portfoiio 1.50%
Rate of increase to pensions 0.00% — 3.80%
Inflation 3.40%

* The discount rate 15 based on a linear de-nsking methodology which assumes the Scheme’s investnient strategy switches nvesiments from growth assels (such as
equities] to matching assels (such as bonds) and mutt-assst credit over a period of eight years from 2026 to 2034 so that by 2034 the asset portfolio s projected to De
100% invested in matching asscts and mulli-asset credit

At 31 March 2018, the market value of the scheme’s investments was £1,210m and, based on the above assumpticons, the value of
the assets was sufficient to cover 85% of the benefits accrued to members with the liabilities amounting to £1,855m.

c) UK Defined benefit pension scheme - IAS 19

The folowing summarises the components of net defined benefit expense recognised in the consolidated income statement,

the funded status and amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet and other amounts recognised in the staterment of
comprehensive income. The methods set out in IAS 19 are different from those used by the scheme actuaries in determining funding
arrangemeants.

(i) Principal assumptions adopted

The assumptions used in calcutating the expenses and cbligations are set by the directors after consultation with the independent
actuaries.

1 May 2 May
2021 2020

Rates per annurm:
Discount rate 1.90% 1.60%
Rate of increase in pensions in payment / deferred pensions {pre / post April 2006 accrual) 3.20% / 2.20% 2.556% /£ 1.95%
Inflation 3.20% 2.55%

The Group uses demographic assumptions underlying the formal actuarial valuation of the scheme as at 31 March 2019. Post
retirement mortality has bean assumed to follow the standard mortality tables ‘'S3" All Pensioners tables published by the CMI,
based on the experience of Self-Administered Pension Schemes (SAPS) with multipliers of 108% for males and 104% for females.
In addition, an allowance has been made for future improvements in longevity by using the new CMI 2020 Core projections with

a long term rate of improvement of 1,5% per annum for men and 1.25% per annum for women. Applying such tables results in an
average expected longevity of between 86.5 years and 88.1 years for men and between 89.0 years and 90.4 years for women for
those reaching 65 over the next 20 years,
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22 Retirement and other post-employment benefit obligations continued
¢) UK Defined benefit pension scheme — 1AS 19 continued
(ii) Amounts recognised in consolidated income statement

Year ended Year ended

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m £m

Past service cost 1 -
Net interest expense on defined benefit obligation 8 14
Total expense recognised in the incore statement g 14

On 20 November 2020, the High Court issued a judgement in relation to historical transfer values impacted by Guaranteed Minimum
Pensicns (GMPs) equalisation in the Lioyds Banking Group's defined benefits pension schemes. This judgement is in addition to

an earlier judgement on unequal GMPs in October 2018. We estimate that this will increase the liability by £1m, and therefore have
recorded this as a past service cost in the current period.

{iii) Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income:

Year ended Year ended
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £m

Remeasurement of defined benefit obligation — actuarial gains / (losses} arising from:
Changes in demographic assumptions 4) 93
Changes in financial assumptions (70) 136}
Experience adjustments 17 48)

Remeasurement of scheme assets:

Actual return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest expense) a7 86
Cumulative actuarial gan / (loss) 30 3

For the year ended 2 May 2020, amounts recognised in other comprehensive income included amounts arising from changes in
demographic and membership modeiling estimates identified from the full actuarial valuation of the Scheme as at 31 March 2019.
Changes in demographic assumptions included gains of £97m arising from the update of pensicner longevity assumptions by using
the new CMI 2018 Core projections. Experience adjustments included losses of £59m to align moedelling of future liabilities with
updated membership data used for the actuarial valuation at 31 March 2019.

(iv) Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m £m

Present value of defined benefit obligations (1,885) {1.850)
Fair value of plan assets 1,403 1,300

Net obligation (482} {(550)
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c) UK Defined benefit pension scheme - IAS 19 continued

(iv) Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet continued

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation:

INVESTOR INFORMATICN

1 May 2 May

2023 2020

£m £m

Opening cbligation 1,850 1775

Past service cost 1 -

Interest cost 29 45
Remaasurements in other comprehensive income — actuarial (gains} / losses arising from changes in:

Demographic assumptions 4 {25)

Financial assumptions 70 136

Experience adjustments (17) 48

Benefits paid (52) (59)

Closing obligation 1,885 1,850

The weighted average maturity profite of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the year is 20 years (2018/20: 21 years),
comprising an average maturity of 25 vears (2019/20: 25 years) for deferred members ana 12 years (2019/20: 13 years) for pensioners.

Changes in the fair value of the scheme assets:

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m £m

Opening fair value 1,300 1,196
Interest income 21 31
Employer special contributions a7 46

Remeasurements in other comprehensive income:

Actual return on plan assets (excluding interest income) 87 86

Benefits paid (52) {59}
Closing fair value 1,403 1,300
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22 Retirement and other post-employment benefit obligations continued
¢) UK Defined benefit pension scheme - IAS 19 continued

(iv) Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet continued

Analysis of scheme assets:

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m £m

Multi-asset credit funds - Listed 125 133
- Unlisted 176 151

Private equity - Unlisted 18 1
Corporate bonds — Listed 110 108
Other credit linked funds* -l isted 345 358
- Uniisted M 8

Liability driven investments {'LDIs})* — Listed 104 855
- Uniisted (43) {302)
Synthetic equity” - Unlisted 499 (24)
Cash and cash instrumants - Listed - 1
- Unlisted 27 -

Other - Unlisted 1 1
1,403 1,300

- These assets are managed together as part of one investment portfolio,

The table above provides the market value of the Scheme's assets split into key categeories as at 1 May 2021. The Scheme's investment
strateqgy is to

+ gain economic exposure 1o equity markets equivalent to a third of its assets through derivatives,
* invest a third of its assets in credit markets; and
= use a third of its assets to hedge inflation and interest rate risk.

The Scheme invests part of its assets in a bespoke fund to achieve this strategy. The fund consists of a synthetic equity portfolig,
a credit portfolio and a liakility hedging portiolio. The synthetic equity pertfolio uses equity total return swaps and equity futures to
provide economic exposure to a range of equity markets while the credit portfolic provides economic exposure to short duration
global crediit. The objective of the liability hedging portfolio is to hedge the Scheme's liabilities against inflation and interest rate risk
up to the value of the Scheme's assets.

In the fair value higrarchy, listed investmants are categorised as leval 1. Unlisted investments (including unlisted LDlIs and synthetic
equity) relate to derivatives, which are categerised as level 2, and private credit and private equity funds which are categorised as
level 3. Private credit investments are valued by aggregating bid and offer guctes from brokers where this information is available.
If this information is not availabye, investments are valued at amortised cost, with provision for impairment where appropriate.
Private equity fund valuations are based on the last audited accounts of each investment plus any known movements including
distributions since the last audited accounts.

The investment strategy of the Scheme is determined by the independent Trustees through advice provided by an independent
investment consultant. The Trustee’s objective is to achieve an above average long term return on the Scheme's assets from a
mixture of capital growth and income, whilst managing investment risk and ensuring the strategy remains within the guidelines

set out in the Pensions Act 1995 and 2004 and the Scheme’s statement of investment principles. In setting the strategy, the nature
and duration of the Scheme’s liabiiities are taken intc account. ensuring that an integrated approach is taken to investment risk
and both short term and long term funding requirements. The Scheme invests in a diverse range of asset classes as set out above
with matching assets primarily comprising holdings in inflation linked gilts, corporate bonds and liability driven investments.
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22 Retirement and other post-employment benefit obligations continued

¢) UK Defined benefit pension scheme - 1AS 19 continued

{iv) Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet continued

To reduce volatility risk a liability driven investment (LDI) strategy forms part of the Trustee’s management of the UK defined enefit
scheme's assets. including government bonds, corporate bonds and derivatives. Repurchase agreements are enterad into with
counterparties to better offset the scheme’s exposure fo interest and inflation rates. whilst remaining invested in assate of a similar
rnsk prohle. Interest rate and inflation rate derivatives are also employed to complement the use of fixed and index-linked bonds in
matching the profite of the scheme's liabilities.

Actual return on the scheme assets was a gain of £87m (2019/20: gain of £86m).

{v) Sensitivities

The value of the UK defined benefit pension scheme assets is sensitive to market conditions. Changes in assumptions used for
determining retirement bensfit costs and liabllities may have a material impact on the 2020/21 income statement and the balance
sheet. The main assumptions are the discount rate, the rate of inflation and the assumed mortality rate. The following table provides

an estimate of the potential impacts of each of these variables if applied to the current year consolidated income statement and
balznce shest.

Net finance costs Net deficit
Year ended Year ended
1 May 2 May 1 May 2 May
2021 2020 2021 2020
£m £m £m £m
Positive / (negative) effect
Discount rate: 0.5% increase 1 3 179 184
Inflation rate: 0.5% increase’ (2} {4 (147) {151}
Mortality rate: 1 vear increase (1} {2 (75) (74)

* Theincreasa n scheme bencfits provided to members on retremeant 1s subject ta an inflalion cap.

The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of the actual change in the defined benefit obligation as it is
unlikely that the changes in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may be correlated.

d) Other post-employment benefits — 1AS 19
The Group offers other post-amployment benefits to employees in overseas territories, in particular in Greece. These benefits are

unfunded. At 1 May 2021 the net abligation in relation to these benefits was £5m {2019/20: £5m} which is included in trade and other

pavables.

23 Share capital, retained earnings and reserves
a) Share capital

1 May 2 May 1 May 2 May

2021 2020 2021 2020

million million £m £m

Authorised, allotted, called-up and fully paid ordinary shares of 0.1p 2ach 1,166 11682 1 1
1 May 2 May 1 May 2 May

2021 2020 2021 2020

million million £m fm

Ordinary shares of 0.1p each in issue at the beginning of the period 1,162 1,160 1 1
Issued during the period 4 2 - -
Ordinary shares of 0.1p each in issue at the end of the period 1,166 1162 1 1

During the year ended 1 May 2021, 4,098,442 (2019/20: 2,149,777) ordinary shares with nominal value of 0.1p each were issued for
consideration at nominal value (2018/20: at nominal valug) to satisfy awards under the Group's share option schemes,
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23 Share capital, retained earnings and reserves continued

b} Retained earnings and reserves

Movements in retained earnings and reserves during the reported periods are presented in the consolidated statement of changes

in equity.

Movements within the individual reserves arg as follows:

Investments Investment
Hedging revaluation in own share Translation Demerger
reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m
As at 27 April 2018 1 18 (1) 9 (750) (713
Other comprehensive income and
expense recognised directly in equity 38 8 - (39 - {9
Amounts transferred to the carrying value
of inventory purchased during the year {41} - - - - 41
Purchase of own shares - - (12) _ _ (12)
As at 2 May 2020 8 10 (13} {30) (750) (775}
Other comprehensive income and
expense recognised directly in squity (40) 8 - 46 - 14
Amounts transferred 1o the carrying value
of inventory purchased during the year 24 - - - - 24
Amounts transferred to accumulated profits - (18} 4 - - (14)
Purchase of own shares - - {13} - - {13)
As at 1 May 2021 (8) - {22} 16 (750) (764)

The hedging reserve is used to recognise the effective portion of gains or losses on derivatives that are designated and qualify
as cash flow hedges. Amounts are subsequently either transferred to the initial cost of inventory or reclassified to profit or loss

as appropriate.

The investments revaluation reserve represents changes in the fair value of investments in listed shares which the Group has elected
to classify as FVTOCI. These changes are accumulated within the investments revaluation reserve, and amounts are transferred

from this reserve 1o accumulated profits when the fisted shares are sold, As further disclosed in note 13, the Group disposed of

its investment in fisted shares during the period with the cumulative change in fair value being transferred to accumulated profits

following this disposal.

The investment in own shares reserve is used to recognise the cost of shares held by the EBT. When shares are issued by the EBT
to satisfy employee share awards, the cost of these shares is transferred to accumulated profits.

The translation reserve accumulates exchange differences arising en translation of foreign subsidiaries which are recognised in
cther comprehensive income. The cumulative amount is reclassified to accumulated profits when the related net investment is

disposed of.

The demerger reserve argse as part of the demerger of the Group from TalkTalk in 2010.



GOVERNANCE ‘ FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

STRATEGIC REPORT ‘ INVESTOR INFORMATION

24 Equity dividends
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £m
Amounts recognised as distributions to equity shareholders in the period
- on ordinary shares of 0.1p each
Finad dividend lor the year ended 2/ Apnl 2019 of 4,.50p per ordinary share - 52
Interim dividend for the year ended 2 May 2020 of 2.25p per ordinary share - 26
- 78

The following distribution is proposed but has not been sffected at 1 May 2021 and is subject to shareholders’ approvat at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting:

Final dlividend for the year ended 1 May 2021 of 3.00p per ordinary share 34

The payment of this dividend will not have any tax consequences for the Group.

25 Discontinued operations and assets held for sale

There have been no additional operations classified as discontinued during the year ended 1 May 2021. The following were classified

as discontinued In previous years and have continued to incur costs and cash flows in the current financial year:

honeybee
No profit or loss has been recognised in relation to the disposal of the honeybee operation in the current or comparative period.

Spain
On 29 September 2017, the Group completed the disposal of The Phone House Spain S.L.U., Connected World Services Europe

S.L. and Smarthouse Spain $.A., which together representad the trading cperations in Spain. For the vear ended 1 May 2021,
a £2m credit was recognised in relaticn to the reversal of previously held provisions no longer required.

Other

During the prior year, VAT assessments were issued for historical periods refating to the disposed Phanehouse Germany business.
These assessments fell under warranties given as part of the sale agreement and as such, the full amount was provided for with a
charge of £6m being racognised. The claim was subseguently settled within the year ended 1 May 2021 resulting in the release of
£25m, reducing the provision to nil.

As aresult of the settlement of the Phonehouse Germany set out above, the Group does not expect any further warranty claims in
respect of tax risks in territories within which the legacy Carphone group used to operate. As such, £5m has been reteased during
the year.

For the year ended 2 May 2020 an additional £4m credit was recognised following the releass of provisions relating to other legacy
European Carphone operations which are now in liquidation.
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25 Discontinued operations and assets held for sale continued

a) Profit / (loss) after tax from discontinued operations

Year ended 1 May 2021

honeybee Spain Other Total

£m fm £m £m

Revenue - - - -

Expenses - 2 5 7
Profit befare tax - 2
Income tax - -

- 2 10 12

Year ended 2 May 2020

honeybee Spain Other Total

£Em £m £m £m

Revenue - - _ _

Expenses - - ] ()

l.oss before tax - - ] (2)

Income tax _ _ _ _

- - {2) 2)

b) Cash flows from discontinued operations

The net cash flows incurred by the discontinued operation during the year are as follows.

consolidated cash flow statement:

These cash flows are included within the

Year ended 1 May 2021

honeybee Spain Other Total

£m £m £m £m

Operating actvities - - {3) (3
Investing activities 2 - - 2
2 - {3) n

Year ended 2 May 2020

haoneybee Spain Cther Total

£m fm £m £m

Operating activities - - (N (N
Investing activities 2 - - 2

- (1 1
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26 Financial risk management and derivative financial instruments

Financial instruments that are measured at fair value in the financial statements require disclosure of fair value measurements
by level based on the following fair value measurement hierarchy:

*»  level 1 — guoted prices {unadjustad) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities;

* Level 2 —inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly
fthat is, as prices) or indirectly {that is, derived from prices); and

* Level 3 —inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable mputs).

Listed investments held are categorised as level 1 in the fair value hierarchy and are valued based on quoted bid prices in an active
market.

Contingent consideratior is categorised as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy as the valuation reguires the use of significant
uncbservable inputs. An explanation of the valuation methodologies and the inputs to the valuation model is provided in note 18.
The impact of Covid-19 has had no material impact on the fair value of contingent consideration.

The significant inputs required to fair value the Group's remaining financial instruments that are measured at fair value on the
balance sheet, being derivative financial assets and liabilities, are observable and are classified as level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.
There have also been no transfers of asséts or liabilities between levels of the fair value hierarchy.

Fair values have been arrived at Dy discounting future cash flows {where the impact of discounting is material), assuming no early
redemption, or by revaluing forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps to period end market rales as appropriate to
the instrument.

The directors consider that the carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities recorded at amortised cost and their fair value are
not materially different.

The carrying amount of the Group's financial assets, liabilities and derivative financial instruments are as follows:

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m £m

Investments ™ - 10
Cash and cash equivalents™ 175 660
Trade and other recevables excluding derivative financial assets® 450 510
Derivative financial assets™ 24 6
Derivative financial lakiities a2) {52)
Trade and other payables- {1,799) {1,509}
Contingent consideration™ 2) (3}
Leans and other borrowings' 6) {8a4d)

(1} Held at far valua through other comprehensive income,
2} eld at amortised cost.
I

3) Held at far value through orofi or loss
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26 Financial risk management and derivative financial instruments continued

Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

The Group has forward foreign exchange contracts and cash that are subject to enforceable master netting arrangements and cash
pooling arrangements that do not meet the IAS 32 criteria for offset in balance sheet:

(i) Financial assets

1 May 2021
Gross amounts
of recognised Net amounts of Finangial
Gross amounts financial liabilities financial assets instruments not
of recognised set off in the presented in the set off in the
financial assets balance sheet balance sheet balance sheet Net amount
£m £m £m £m £m
Forward foreign exchange contracts* 24 - 24 (23) 1
Cash and cash equivalents 175 - 175 (6} 169
199 - 199 (22} 170
2 May 2020
Gross amounts
of recognised Net amounts of Financial
Gross amounts financial liabilities financial assets instruments not
of recognised set off in the presented in the set off in the
financial assets balance sheet balance sheet balance sheet Net amount
£m £m £m £m £m
Forward foreign exchange contracts® 76 76 {39 37
Cash and cash equivalents 660 660 (540) 120
736 - 736 579) 15¢
(i) Financial liabilities
1 May 2021
Gross amounts
of recognised Net amounts of Financial

Gross amounts
of recognised

financial liabilities

financial assets
set offin the
balance sheet

financial iabilities

presented in the
balance sheet

instruments not
set off in the
balance sheet

Net amount

£m £m £m £m £m
Forward foreign exchange contracts® {42) - {42) 23 (19}
Overdrafts 6) - (6) 6 -
(48) - {48) 29 (19}
2 May 2020
Gross amounts
of recognised Net amounts of Financial

Gross amounis
of recognised

financial liabilities

financial assets
set off in the
balance sheet

financial iabilities

presented in the
balance sheet

instruments not
set off in the
balance sheet

Net amount

£m £m £m £Em £m

Forward foreign exchange contracts™ (52) 52) 39 (13)
Cverdrafts {540) {540) 540 -
(592 - (592) 579 (13)

The forward foreign exchange contract assets and liabiltics are recognised within the statement of fnancial position as dervative assets and derivative labilities
respectively. The change in far value of the forward forsign exchangs contract assets 1s accounted for as a quahhying cash fiow hedge.
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26 Financial risk management and derivative financial instruments continued
a) Financial risk management policies

The Group's activities expose it to certain financial risks including market risk (such as foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk),
credit risk and liguidity rigk. The Group's treasury function, which operates under treasury policies approved by the Board, uses
certain financial instruments to mitigate potentially adverse effects on the Group's financial performance from these risks. These
financial instruments consist of bank loans and depasits, spot and forward foreign exchange contracts, foreign exchange swaps
and interast rate swaps.

Throughout the period under review, in accordance with Group policy, nc speculative use of derivatives, foreign exchange or other

nstruments was permitted, No contracts with embedded derivatives have been identified and, accordingly, no such derivatives have

been accountad for separately.

b) Foreign exchange risk

The Group undertakes Certain transactions that are denominated in foreign currencies and as a consequence has exposure to
exchange rate fluctuations. These exposures primarily arise from inventory purchases, with most of the Group's exposure being
to Euro and US Dollar fluctuations. The Group uses spot and forward currency contracts to mitigate these exposures, with such
contracts designed to cover exposures ranging from cne month to one year.

The translation risk on converting ovarseas currency profits or losses is not hedged and such prcfits or losses are converted into
Sterling at average exchange rates throughout the year. The Group's principal translation currency exposures are the Euro and
Norwegian Krone,

At 1 May 2021, the total notional principat amount of outstanding currency contracts was £2.872m (2019/20: £2,201m) and had a
net fair value of £18m liability (2019/20: £24m asset). Monetary assets and liabilities and foreign exchange contracts are sensitive to
movements in foreign exchange rates.

There is no impact from the movement in foreign exchange rates cn the Group's prefit and loss as all monetary assets and liabilities
in foreign currency are offset by non-hedged derivatives or offsetting monetary assets or liabilities.

This sensitivity can be analysed in comparison to year end rates {assuming all other variables remain constant) as follows:

Year ended 1 May 2021 Year ended 2 May 2020

Effect on profit Effect on Effect on profit Effect on

before tax total equity before tax total equity

£m £m £m £m

10% movement in the US dollar exchange rate - 13 - 13
10% movement in the Euro exchange rate - 60 - 62
10% movement in the Norwegian Krong exchange rate - 30 - 30
10% movement in the Swedish Krona exchange rate - 27 - 26
10% movemnent in the exchange rate Danish Krone - 17 - 17

10% movement in the Chinese Yuan Offshore exchange rate - 6 - 6
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26 Financial risk management and derivative financial instruments continued
c) Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily on cash, cash eguivalents and loans and other borrowings, all of which are at floating
rates of interast and which thersfore expase the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. These floating rates are linked to risk free rates
and other applicable interest rate bases as appropriate to the instrument and currency, Future cash flows arising from these financial
instruments depend on interest rates and periods agreed at the time of rollover. Group policy permits the use of long-term interest
rdle Uerivatives in managing the nsks associated with movements in interest rates.

The effect on the income statement and equity of 100 basis point movements in the interest rate for the currencies in which most
Group cash, cash equivalents, loans and other borrowings are denominated and on which the valuation of most derivative financial
instruments is based is as follows, assuming that the year end positions prevail throughout the year:

Year ended 1 May 2021 Year ended 2 May 2020

Effect on Effect on Effect on Effect on

profit before total equity profit befere total equity

tax increase / increase / tax increase / increase /

{decrease) (decrease) (decrease) (decrease}

£m £m £m £m

1% increase in the Sterling interest rate 2 - 1 &)

d) Liquidity risk

Liguidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are
settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group manages its exposure fo liquidity risk by reviewing regularly the long
term and short term cash flow projections for the business against the resources avallable to it. In response to Covid-19, the Group
entered into a one year facility of £266m in April 2029; this was cancelled in February 2021,

In order 1o ensure that sufficient funds are available for ongoing and future developments, the Group has committed bank facilities,
excluding overdrafts repayable on demand, totalling £551m (2019/20: £1.360m). The lower amount of facilities reflect strong cash
flow generation in financial year endsad 1 May 2021 and a lower requirement for debt geing forward. Further detalls of committed
borrowing facilities are shown in note 18

The table below analyses the Group's financial liabilities and derivative assets and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings. The
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, including both principal and interest flows, assuming
that intergst rates remain constant and that borrowings are paid in full in the year of maturity.

1 May 2021
In more than one
Within year but not more In more than
one year than five years five years Total
fm £m £m £m
L ease liabilities (271) (842) (534) {1,647}
Derivative financial instruments — gross cash outflows:

Forward foreign exchange contracts (2,872) - - (2,872}
Derivative financial ingtruments — gross cash inflows:

Forward foreign exchange contracls 2,854 - - 2,854
Loans and other borrowings {6) - - (6}
Deferred consideration (2) - - 2)
Trade and other payables (1,794) (5) - {1,799)

(2,091) {847) (534) (3.472)
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26 Financial risk management and derivative financial instruments continued
d) Liguidity risk continued

2 May 2020
In more than one
Within year but not more In more than
one year than five years five years Total
£fm £m £m £m
Lease liabilities (306} (886} {689) (1,781)
Dervative financial instruments — gross cash outflows:

Forward foreign exchange contracts 2,201 - - {(2.201)
Derivative financial instruments — gross cash inflows:

Forward foreign exchange contracts 2,225 - - 2,225
Loans and other borrowings (589) (287) - (876)
Deferrad consideration {1 2) - {3)
Trade and other payables (1.470) {39) - (1,509)

{2,342 {1,214 (580) {4,145)

e) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a counterparty fails to meet its contractual obligations and arises principally
from the Group’s receivables from consumers. The Group's expesure to credit risk is regularly monitored and the Group's policy
is updated as appropriate.

The credit risk associated with cash and cash equivalents and derivative financial instruments are closely monitored and credit
ratings are used in determining maximum counterparty credit risk.

Surplus cash is invested in investment grade institutions using only low risk, highly liquid instruments such as overnight deposits and
money market funds. For the purposes of short term operational reguirements in Greece, local banks which are below investment
grade are used o service short term liquidity needs, Any surplus cash in Greece is moved to an investment grade institution.

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

Counterparty credit rating £m £fm
AAAtc AA- 78 619
A+ 1o A- 81 36
BBB+ to BBB- 6 2
Cash held for short term operational requirements within Greece 10 3
175 660

All derivative assets are considered low risk financial instruments as they are held at banks that are investment grade.

The Group's contract assets of £220m (2019/20: £565m) are generally owed to the Group by major muiti-national enterprises with
whom the Group has well-established relationships and are conseguently not considered to add significantly to the Group's credit
risk exposure. In addition, credit risk is also inherently associated with the MNO end subscribers. Exposure to credit risk associated
with the MNO subscriber is managed through an extensive consumer credit checking process prior to connection with the network.,
The farge volume of MNO subscribers recluces the Group's exposure to concentration of credit risk, Further information for credit risk
associated to contract assets and the MNOs is disclosed within note 15.

For the Group's trade and other receivables in the UK and Nordics, it has adopted the simplified approach to calculating expected
credit losses allowed by IFRS 9. Historical cradit loss rates are applied consistently to groups of financial assets with similar risk
characteristics. These are then adjusted for known changes in. or any forward-looking impacts on creditworthiness. In Greece the
Group has adopted both the simplified approach for business to business and a debtor by debtor expected credit loss model based
on the probability of default.
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26 Financial risk management and derivative financial instruments continued
e) Credit risk continued

The Group reviews several factors when considering a significant increase in credit risk including but not limited to: credit rating
changes; adverse changes in general economic and / or market conditions; material changes in the operating results or financial
position of the debtor.

Indicators that an asset is credit-impaired would include observable data in relation to the financial health of the debtor; significant
fimancial difficulty of the issuer or the debitor; the debtor breaches contract; it is probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or
financial reorganisation.

Of the Group's £450m trade and cther recaivables that fall within the classification of financial assets (2019/10: £510m), £135m is
deemed by the Group to have a material leve! of credit risk (2019/20: £120m). Other amcunts within trade and other racsivables
are not considered to have a material level of credit risk because they primarily relaté to receivables with blue chip mutti-national
companies with no history of default and no particular concentration of credit risk to the Group. The Group applies the expected
credit loss model, as described above, to all financial assets. For the year ended 1 May 2021, management have censidered the
impact of Covid-19 by increasing the expected leve! of default however this has resuited in an immaterial increase in the Group’s
expected credit losses. The areas of risk and corresponding expected credit loss are as follows:

1 May 2021 2 May 2020
Gross carrying Expected Gross carrying Expected
amount credit loss amount credit foss
£m £m £m £m
UK - PC World Business (B2B) 13 3 8 3
UK - DSG Retail - Main Sales Ledger a9 4 31 3
UK - CPW Concessions 2 2 2 2
Nordics — Business to Business 24 3 20 -
Nordics — Franchise Debtors 30 1 29 2
Greece — Business to Business 4 - 4 1
Greece — Franchise Debtors 2 1 3 2
Greece — Consumer Cradit 15 1 20 1
Greece — Main Sales Ledger 6 1 3 1
135 16 120 15

Ageing of the areas of credit risk is set out in the tables below:;
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
Gross amounts of recognised financial assets £m £m
Not Yet Due 108 93
0-80 Days 13 12
91-180 Days 2z 3
180+ Days 12 12
135 120

The Group’s funding is reiiant on its £551m bank facilities, which are provided by eight banks; these institutions are adequately
capitalised to continue to mest their obligations under the facility.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, which is net of impairment losses, represants the
Group's maximum exposure to credit risk.

f) Capital risk

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities within the Group will be able to continue as a going concern, whilst maxirmising
the return to shareholders through a suitable mix of debt and equity. The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash
equivalents, loans and other barrowings and equity attributable to equity holders of the Company, comprising issuad capital.
reserves and accumulated profits. Except in relation to minimum capital reguirements in its insurance business, the Group is not
subject to any externally imposed capital requirements, The Group monitors its capital structure on an ongoing basis, including
assessing the risks associated with each class of capital.
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26 Financial risk management and derivative financial instruments continued
g) Derivatives

Derivative financial instruments comprise forward forsign exchange contracts, foreign exchange swaps and interest rate swaps.
The Group has designated financial instruments under IFRS 2 as follows:

Cash flow hedges
Foreign exchange

The objective of the Group's policy on foreign exchange hedging is to pretect the Group from adverse currency fluctuations and

1o gain greater certainty of earnings by protecting the Group from sudden currency movements. All hedging of foreign currency
exposures is managed centrally within the Group Treasury function. The Group analyses its exposure to FX rate movements without
assuming any correlations betwesn currency pairs and uses this analysis to hedge up to the level prescribed in its transactional
hedging policy (a target of up to 80% hedged a year in advance). The Group generally prefers to use vanilla forward FX contracts as
hedging instruments for hedges of forecasted transactions. The Group has a policy that all its FX rate derivatives must be eligible for
hedge accounting. The Group can use more complex derivatives including options whan management considers that they are more
appropriate, based on management's views on potential FX rate movements.

Any amendments to the Group's policies or strategy on managing forgign currency risk must be approved by the Group’s Tax and
Treasury Committee.

At 1 May 2021 the Group had forward and swap foreign exchange contracts in place with a notional value of £1,570m (2019/20:
£1,499m) and a net fair value of £17m liability (2019/20: £23m asset) that were designated and effective as cash flow hedges.
These contracts are expected to cover exposures ranging from one month to one year. The fair value of derivative foreign exchange
contracts and foreign exchange swaps not designated as cash flow hedges was £1m liability (2019/20: £1m asset).

Fossible sources of ineffectiveness are scenarios where future cash flows are delayed to a later period or brought forward to a prior
period. Ineffectiveness can also be caused by credit risk {ooth own risk and that of the counterparty). All hedges are expected to be
highly effective.

Covid-19 has had an impact on the timing and volume of foreign currency purchases into the UK business. However, all hedged
iterns are considered highly probable, therefore no material ineffectiveness has been recognised.

As of 1 May 2021, the Group holds the following levets of foreign exchange hedging derivatives (foreign exchange forwards) 1o hedge
its exposure to fluctuating foreign exchange rates of the next 12 months:

Year ended 1 May 2021 Year ended 2 May 2020

Maturing Maturing
hedges in Change in hedges in Change in
the next Weighted value during the next Weighted value during
12 months average the period 12 months average the period
£m hedge rate £m £m hedge rate £m
Hedging USD purchases into GBP (UK} 66 1.3704 (1) 51 1.2649 1
Hedging EUR purchases into GBP (UK) 24 11247 - 18 1.1401 -
Hedging CNY purchases into GBP (LK) 61 9.0489 - 85 9.0544 1
Hedging ELR purchases into NOK {(Nordics} 761 10.4977 (33) 733 10.6526 48
Hedging USD purchases into NOK {Nordics) 84 8.7562 (4} 88 9.3812 8
Hedging SEK sales into NOK (Nordics) 301 0.9787 12 285 1.0215 [ele}!
Hedging DKK sales into NOK {Nordics) 189 0.7100 8 190 0.7081 {15}
Hedging EUR purchases into GBP {Ireland) 84 0.8864 1 69 0.8755 -
1,570 (17) 1,499 23

The change in valug of hedged iterns ig a total of £(17)m (2018/20: £23m), this is used in assessing the economic relationship
between hedged items and hedging instruments.
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26 Financial risk management and derivative financial instruments continued
g) Derivatives continued

Cash flow hedges continued

Interest rate

The Group's interest raté risk management objective is to limit the amount of additional expense incurred if interest rates rise to
unexpected levels. To manage the interest rate exposure. the Group generally enters interest rate swaps to fix its floating rate borrowings,
in which the Group agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference betwsen fixed and variable rate interest amounts calculated
by reference to an agreed-upon notional principal amount. The Group menitors and manages its interest rate risk individually in each
currency and it does not make any assumptions about how interest rates in different currencies may move in tandem.

Any amendments to the Group’s pelicies or strategy on managing Interest rate risk must be approved by the Group's Tax and
Treasury Committee.

Whilst the Group’s policy and strategy on interest rate risk has not changed, £60m of interest rate hedges were discontinued in April
2021 because they no lenger fuMfilled the criteria for hedge accounting under IFRS 8. Due to strong cash flow during the financial
year, the Group no longer has a long-term core debit and therefore the economic relationship between underlying risk and hedging
iters no longer exists. As a result, mark-to-market on these trades which rounded to £nil was recognised in the Group income
statement.

The Group held interest rate swaps with a notional value of £nil {2019/20: £280m), and a fair value of £nil (2019/20: £nil), whereby
the Group receives a floating rate of interest based an LIBOR and pays a fixed interest rate. All interest rate swap contracts were
terminated in April 2021.

IBOR Reform

During the year, the Group adopted the ‘Interest Rate Benchmark Reform Phase 1" amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4
and IFRS 16. This allowed the Group to continue hedge accounting for its benchmark interest rate exposures during the period of
uncertainty from interest rate benchmark reforms.

In April 2021, the Group extinguished its instruments linked to IBOR in the period. This included the refinancing of the Group'’s
Revolving Credit Facilities which were replaced with new agreements finked to risk-free rate indices as set out in note 19. The Group
simultaneously cancelled all of its interest rate hedging as they no longer met with the requirements of IFRS 8. Significant cash
generation and a large one-off receipt from a network partner of £189m. meant that the relaticnship between underlying risk
{floating debt) and the hedged items had ceased to exist therefore the hedges were terminated.

The Group's interest rate risk management strategy and policies remain unchanged and if circumstances change, the Group’s
interest rate programme may be recommenced in future.

The Group has not early adopted ‘Interest Rate Benchmark Reform Phase 2° and considers the risk of transition to be low because
significant progression has been made during the financial year.

As of 1 May 2021, the Group holds the following levels of interest rate hedging derivatives (interest rate swaps) 1o hedge its exposure
to fluctuating interest rates over the next five yaars:

Year ended 1 May 2021 Year ended 2 May 2020

Notional value Weighted Average Notional value Weighted Average

of swaps fixed rate of swaps fixed rate

£m %o £m %

Financial year ending 2021 - - 220 0.68
Financial vear ending 2022 - - 10 0.71
Financial year ending 2023 - - 20 0.54
Financial year ending 2024 - - 20 0.52
Financial year ending 2025 - - 10 052

Financial year ending 2026 - - - _

A reconciliation of the Groug's hedging items included in the hedging reserve is set out in note 23b.
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Year ended Year ended
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £m
Cash at bank and on deposit 175 660
Bank overdrafts 6} (540)
Cash and cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at end of the period 169 120
b} Reconciliation of operating profit / {loss) to net cash inflow from operating activities
Year ended Year ended
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £m
Profit / {loss) before interest and tax — continuing operations 147 (28)
Prafit / {loss) before Interest and tax — discontinued cperations 7 (2
Depreciation and amortisation 362 367
Share-based payment charge 21 23
(Profit) / loss on disposal of fixed assets (6) 3
Impairments and other non-cash iterns 76 51
Opsrating cash flows before movemaents in working capital 8607 414
Movements in working capital:
{increase) / decrease I inventory (174) 1566
Decrease In receivables 404 284
Increase / (decrease) in payables 182 (248)
{Decrease) / increase in provisions (93} 43
319 235
Cash generated from operations 926 64¢
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27 Notes to the cash flow statement continued
¢) Ghanges in liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
consclidated cash flow staterment as cash flows from financing activities.

Lease
additions,
3 May Financing modifications Foreign 1 May
2020 cash flows anddisposals exchange Interest 2021
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Loans and other borrowings (note 19} 324) 348 - - (24) -
Lease liabilities (note 20" 1,444} 310 {96} 19) (77) (1,326)
Total liabilities from financing activities (1,768) 658 {96} 19 {101) (1,326)
Adjustment Lease
_oninitial Financing additions,
28 April  application of cash modifications Foreign 2 May
2019 IFRS 16™ flows anddisposals exchange Interest 2020
£m £fm £m £m £m £m £m
Loans and other borrowings (note 19)* (288) - (10 - - (28) (324}
Lease liabilities (note 20§ &3) (1,403 299 (194) 17 (80) (1,444)
Total liabilities from financing activities (371) {1,403 289 (194 17 (106) (1,768}

i} The Group used interest rate swaps and FX forward contracts to hedge borrowings. The farr value of these dervatives rounded to Snil (2019/20: £nil). There were no
materiat cash flows or changes in far value on these nstruments during the year,

fiy Lease liabilitics are secured over the Group's nght-of-use assets,
fiy The Group adopted IFRS 16 using the modiied retrospective approach in the year cnded 2 May 2020,

28 Related party transactions

Transactions between the Group's subsidiary undertakings, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation
and accordingly are not disclosed. See nate 4a for details of related party transactions with key management personnel.

The Group had the following transactions and balances with its associates and joint venture:

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m £m

Revenue from sale of goods and services 16 14

Amounts owed to the Group - 2
All transactions entered into with related parties were completed on an arm’s length basis.

29 Capital commitments

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m £m

Intangible assets 14 4

Property, plant and equipment 5 8

Contracted for but not provided for in the accounts 19 12
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30 Government support
During the year ended 1 May 2021, the Group received government support designed to mitigate the impact of Covid-19 in several
countries in which the Group operates.

In the United Kingdom the Group received government grants to cover the salaries for those employees who had been “furloughed’
through the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme. A similar subsidy was also received in Ireland through the Temporary Wage
Subsidy Scheme and subsequently the Employment Wage Subsidy Scheme. It was subseguently announced on 28 April 2021 that
the Group had repaid in full the grants received during the year ended | May 2021 in relation to the above schemes. As such, no
amounts have been recognised within the Group’s income statement {2 May 2020; £19m of income was recognised and recorded
against employee costs).

£6m (2019/20: £1m) of government grant income has bean recoegniged in relation to similar employment cost subsidy schemes
across the Nordics while the Group also benefited from £4m of reduced employment costs from government backed assistance
programmes across the international business.

The Group also benefited from govermnment backed Covid-19 related rent concessions for closed stores in Greece. The Group
elected to take the practical expedient related to rent concessions under IFRS 16, suibsequently recognising a £6m credit against
rental expense to reflect the variable element of the reduction and a corresponding adjustment to the lease liabiiity.

In March 2021, the UK government announced it would be extending the previously announced business rates tax holiday for the
retail, hospitality and leisure industry. This led to a £62m reduction in operating costs in the period (2019/20: £4m).

To help deal with the rapid onset of the Covid-18 pandemic, a number of governments across the territories in which the Group
operates offered tax, VAT and social security payment deferral schemes to help preserve and maintain liquidity. At the reporting
date, £2m of social security payments for the Group’s Danish operations had been deferred under the relevant government-backed
schemes, with the £88m deferred on the balance sheet as at 2 May 2020 being fully repaid during the vear.

Government grants are recognised in profit or 10ss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as
expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended fo compensate. There are no unfulfiled conditions or contingencies
attached to these grants.

31 Operating lease arrangements
The Group as a lessor

Under IFRS 16. an intermediate lessor is required to classify the sublease as a finance lease or an cperating lease by reference to the
right-of-use asset arising from the head lease. As such, operating leases in which the Group s a lessor relate to right-of-use assets
subleased to external third parties. A maturity analysis of undiscounted lease payments to be received relating to these operating
leases is shown below.

1 May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £m

Undiscounted amounts receivable under sub-leases classified as operating leases:
Year 1 1 1
Year 2 - 1
Year 3 - 1
Year 4 - -
Year & - -

Onwardls - 1
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32 Gontingent assets

The Group is currently seeking damages from an independent third party following their involvement in anti-competitive behaviour
that adversely impacted the Group. Following recent court judgements on similar claims, the Group expects to receive a material
amount in settlement. The value of the settlement is not disclosed as it could be prejudicial to the outcome.

33 Contingent liabilities

The Group continues to coeperate with HMRC in relation to open tax enguiries arising from pre-merger legacy corporate
transactions in the Carphone Warehouse group. There are two separate material underlying transactions where there are open
enguiries. These have been explained further within note 1t. One of the enquiries has resulted in a contingent liability being disclosed.
This determination is based on the strength of third-party legal advice on the matter and therefore the Group considers it ‘more likely
than not’ that these enquiries will not result in an economic outflow. The patential range of tax exposures relating to this enquiry is
estimated to be approximately £nil - C214m excluding interest and penalties, Interest on the upper end of the range is approximately
£56m up to 1 May 2021. Penalties could range from nil 1o 30% of the principal amount of any tax.

The Group has received notification in relation to a Spanish tax assessment connected to a business that was disposed of by the
legacy Carphone Warehouse Group in 2014 and is In the process of receiving the full facts and circumstances connected with this
case. The Group considers that it is not probable the claim will resuit in an economic outflow. The maximum potential exposure as a
result of the claim is £10m based on the Group’s current understanding of the matter. Given the stage of the enquiry it is not possible
to determine the timing of the resclution of this case.

34 Events after the balance sheet date
There were no material events after the balance sheet date.
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1 May 2 May
2021 2020
Note £m £m
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiares G4 2,670 26/0
Debtors chH - 4
2,670 2,674
Current assets
Cash and cash eguivalents 55 160
Debtors C5 3,583 2,803
Derivative assets c7 683 124
3,701 3.087
Current liabilities
Creditors Ch (3,578) (2,593
Loans pavable c8 - {44
Derivative labilities 7 (65) (124)
Net current assets 58 326
Total assets less current liabilites 2,728 3,000
Non-current liabilities
Loans payable C8 - (280)
Net assets 2,728 2,720
Capital and reserves
Share capital ca 1 1
Sharg premium reserve C9 2,263 2,263
Profit and loss account 464 456
2,728 2720

The Company's profit for the year was £20m (2019/20: £42m).

The financial statements of the Company weres approved by the Board on 29 June 2021 and signed on its behalf by:

Alex Baldock
Group Chief Executive

Jonny Mason

Group Chief Financial Officer

Company registration number: 71053905
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Share
premium Profit and loss

Share capital reserve account Total equity

em £m £m £Em

At 27 April 2019 1 2,263 504 2,768
Profit for the year - - 12 42
Tulal cumprehensive income for the year - - 42 42
Purchase of own shares - - (12 {12)
Equity dividends - - {78 (78}
Al 2 May 2020 1 2,263 456 2,720
Profit for the year - - 20 20
Other comprehensive income - - 1 1
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 21 21
Purchase of own shares - - {13) {13)
1 2,263 464 2,728

At 1 May 2021
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STRATEGIC REPORT ‘ INVESTOR INFORMATION

C1 Accounting policies
Basis of preparation

The Company is incorporated in the United Kingdom. The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis
{see note 1 to the Group financial statements).

The separate financial statements of the Company are presentad as required by the Companies Act 2006, The Company mests
the definition of a qualifying entity under FRS 100 (Financlal Reporting Standard 100} issuad by the Financial Reporting Council.
Accordingly, the financial statements have therefore been prepared in accordance with FRS 101 (Financial Reporting Standard
101) ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’ as issued by the Financial Reporting Council, incorporating the Amendments to FRS 101
as issued by the Financial Reporting Council.

As permitted by FRS 101, the Company has taken advantage of the disclosure exemptions available under that standard in relation
to share-based payments, financial instruments, capital management, presentation of comparative information in respect of certain
assets, presentation of a cash flow statement and certain related party transactions,

Where required, equivalent disclosures are given in the consolidated financial staterments.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the re-measurement of certain financial
instruments to fair value. The principal accounting policies adopted are the same as those set out in ncte 1 to the Group financial
statements except as noted below. The directors consider there are no critical accounting judgements or key sources of estimation
uncertainty which affect these financial statements.

Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less, where appropriate, provisions for impairment.

The Company had no employees during the year ended 1 May 2021 (2019/2C: nil). All directors were remunerated by other
group cormpanies.

C2 Profit and loss account

In accordance with the exemption permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the profit and loss account of the
Company is not presented separately. The profit recognised for the year ended 1 May 2021 was £20m (2019/20: £42m) and included
£1m of charitable donations (2019/20: ZniY). Information regarding the audit fees for the Group is provided in note 3 to the Group
financial statemeants.

G3 Equity dividends
Details of amounts recognised as distributions to shareholders in the period and those proposed are detailed in note 24 of the Group
financial statements.

C4 Investments in subsidiaries

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m £m

Opening balance 2,670 2676
Impairments - (B)
Closing balance 2,670 2.670
Cost 2,776 2,776
Accumulated impairments (106) {(108)
Net carrying amount 2,670 2670

Balances comprise investments in subsidiary undertakings and other minority investments. Details of the Company’s investments
in subsidiary undertakings are provided in note C10.

The directors acknowledged that as at 1 May 2021 the market capftalisation of Dixons Carphone plc was less than the net assets
of the company which primarily consists of investments in subsidiaries. This was considered to be an indicator of impairment and
an impairment test over the investment in subsidiaries was performed in accordance with 1AS 36. The recoverable amounts of the
investments have been determined based on value-in-use calculations where management have prepared discounted cash flows
based on the latest five year strategic plan and require the use of estimates.
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€4 Investments in subsidiaries continued

The recoverable amount, based on the value-in-use, shows a headroom of £3,884m above the carrying amount of the investments
in subsidiaries. As such, no impairment charge was recognised over investment in subsidiaries as a result of the impairment test
detailed above.

For the year ended 2 May 2020, an impairment of £8m was recognised over subsidiaries where trading has ceased during the
period. The Company received a dividend in the period from these entities which led ¢ an impairment being recognised as the
investment exceaded the net assets of the subsidiaries.

C5 Debtors
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £fm
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 3,582 2,798
Prepayments - 9
Other debtors 1 -
3,583 2,807

Ameounts owed by Group undertakings are unsecured, repayable on demand and any interest charged is at current market rates,

Receivable balances with other Group entities are reviewed for potential impairment based on the ability of the counterparty to meet
its obligations. The net current asset / liability position of the entity is considered and where the amaount due to the Comparny is not
covered, the estimated future cash flows of the counterparty and subsidiary companies with the ablility to distribute cash to it are
considered. No impainment (2018/20: £19m) was recognised in relation to amounts owed by Group undertakings.

All other amounts are due within one year. For the year ended 2 May 2020, £4m of prepayments were classified as non-current.

C6 Creditors

1 May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £m
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 3,576 2124
Overdrafts 2 468
Accruals and deferred income - 1
Amounts falling due within one year 3,578 2,593

C7 Derivatives
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £m
Fereign exchange contracts 63 124
Derivative assets 63 124
Foreign exchange contracts (65) (124)
Derivative liabilities (65) 124

This value is determined using forward exchange and interest rates derived from market sourced data at the balance shaet date. with
the resulting value discounted back to present value (level 2 classification). See note 26 for further details.

Included within the Company’s derivatives are £39m of assets (2019/20: £48m asset) and £23m of liabilities (2319/20: £72m liability)
refated to internal trades with Group undertakings.



STRATEGIC REPORT ‘

GOVERNANCE

C7 Derivatives continued

‘ FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTOR INFGRMATION

At 1 May 2021 the Company had external forward and swap foreign exchange contracts in place with a notionat value of £1,57Cm
(2019/20: £1,499m). The external derivative contracts are passed down to the hedging susidiary using an internal derivative and
designated as an effective cash flow hedge with a notional fair value of £1,570m (2019/20: £1,499m), resulting in a total net fair value
of £nil {2019/20: £nil). These contracts are expected to cover exposures ranging from one month to one year. The gross fair value

of derivative foreign exchange contracts and foreign exchange swaps passed down and not designated as cash flow hedges was
£3m asset and £5m liabilities (2019/20: £5m asset and £5m liapllities).

As of 1 May 2021, the Campany holds the following levels of foreign exchange hedging derivatives (foreign exchange forwards) to
hedge its exposure 1o fluctuating foreign exchange rates of the next 12 months:

Year ended 1 May 2021

Year ended 2 May 2020

Maturing Maturing
hedges in Change in hedges in Change in
the next Weighted wvalue during the next Weighted wvalue during
12 months average the period 12 months average the period
£m  hedge rate £m £m  hedge rate £m
External tracles:
Hedging USD purchases intc GBP {(UK) 66 1.3704 (1) &1 1.2649 1
Hedging EUR purchases into GBP (UK} 24 11247 - 18 11401 -
Hedging CNY purchases into GBP (UK) a1 9.0489 - 86 9.0544 1
Hedging EUR purchases into NOK (Nordics) 761 10.4977 (33) 733 10.6596 48
Hedging USD purchases into NOK {Nordics) 84 8.7562 4) 38 9.3812 8
Hedging SEK salas into NOK (Nordics) 301 0.9787 12 285 1.0215 (20}
Hedging DKK sales into NOK (Nordics) 189 0.7100 8 190 0.7081 {15)
Hedging EUR purchases into GBP (Ireland) 84 0.8864 1 69 0.8755 -
1,570 17) 1,499 23
Internal trades:
Hedging USD purchases into GBP (UK) 66 1.3704 1 51 12649 {n
Hedging EUR purchases into GBP (UK) 24 1.1247 - 18 1.1401 -
Hedging CNY purchases into GBP (UK} 61 9.0489 - 65 9.05644 1)
Hedging EUR purchases into NOK {Nordics) 761 10.4977 33 733 10.6596 48)
Hedging USD purchases inte NOK (Nordics) 84 8.7562 4 88 93812 8
Hedging SEK sales into NOK (Nordics) 301 0.9787 (12) 285 1.0215 20
Hedging DKK sales into NOK (Nordics) 189 0.7100 8) 190 0.7081 15
Hedging EUR purchases into GBP (lreland) 84 0.8864 )] 69 0.8755 -
1,570 17 1,499 23)

C8 Loans payable

Cetails of loans payable are provided in note 18 to the Group financial statements.

C9 Share capital and share premium

Details of movements in share capital and share premium are disclosed in note 23 to the Group financial statements.
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C10 Subsidiary undertakings
a) Principal subsidiaries as at 1 May 2021

The Company has investments in the following principal subsidiary undertakings. All holdings are in equity share capital and give the
Group an effective holding of 100% on consolidation.

Country of
incorporation Share Business
Name Registered office address or registration class{es) held % held activity
Carphone Warehouse 1 Portal Way, London, W3 BRS United Kingdom Aand B Ordinary 100 Holding
Eurcpe Limited company
CPW Technology 1 Portal Way, London, W3 6RS United Kingdom Ordinary 100 T
Services Limited
Dixons Carphone 1 Portal Way, London, W3 6R5 United Kingdom Ordinary 100* Holding
Holdings Limited Doferred 100" company
A Qrdinary 84.6™
B Ordinary 100
Dixons Retalt Group Limited 1 Portal Way, London, W3 6RS United Kingdom Ordinary 100 Holding
o
Deferred 100" company
Dixons South East 80 Marinou Antypa str., Gresce Ordinary 100 Retall
Europe A.EVE. Neo Irakleic, Athens 14121
DSG International 1 Portal Way, London, W3 6RS United Kingdom Ordinary 100 Halding
Holdings Limited company
DSG Retail Ireland Limited 3rd Floor Office Suite.Omni Park lrefand Ordinary 100 Retail
Shopping Centre., Santry, Dublin 8
DSG Retail Limited 1 Portal Way, London, W3 8BRS United Kingdom Irredeemable 100 Retail
Cumuiative
Preference and
Ordinary
Elgiganten Aktiebolag Box 1264, 164, 29 Kista, Stockholm  Sweden Ordinary 100 Retail
ElGiganten A/S Arne Jacobsens Allé 18, 2.sal Denmark Ordinary 100 Retail
Kabenhavn S, 2300 Copenhagen
Elkjop Nordic AS Nydalsveien 184, NO-0484 Osio Norway COrdinary 100 Retail
Elkjop Norge AS Solheimveien 10, NO-1473, Norway Crdinary 100 Retall
Larenskog
Gigantti Qy Taslénlahdenkatu 2, FI-00100, Finland Ordinary 100 Retail
Helsinki
The Carphone 1 Portal Way, London, W3 6RS United Kingdom Crdinary 100 Retail
Warehouse Limited
The Carphone 3rd Floor Office Suite, Ireland Crdinary 100 Retall

Warehouse Limited

Omni Park Shopping Centre.,
Santry, Dublin 9

Interest held directly by Dixons Carphone ple,

* This is the only interest of Dixons Carphana pic, directly or indrectly, n this ciass of shares
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b) Other subsidiary undertakings

The following are the other subsidiary undertakings of the Group, all of which are wholly owned unless otherwise indicated. All these
companies are either holding companies or provide general support to the principal subsidiaries listed on the previous page.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Country of
incorporation

INVESTOR INFORMATION

Share

Name Registered office address or registration classi{es) held % held

Alfas.rl. Via monte Napoleone n. 29, 20121 Milanc ltaly Ordinary 100

Carphone Warehaoyse Ireland 44 Fitzwilliam Place, Dublin 2 Ireland Ordmary 100

Mobile Limited {in liquidation)

CCC Nordic A/S Arneg Jacobsens Allé 15, 8., 2300 Kaebenhavn 8. Denmark Crdinary 100

Codic GmbH (in liquidation) Eschenheimer Anlage 1, 80316, Frankfurt Germany Ordinary 100

Connected World Services 1 Portal Way, London, W3 6RS United Kingdom Ordinary 100

Distributions Limited

Connected World Services LLC 2711 Centerville Road, United States Ordinary 100
Suite 400 Wilmington DE 19808

Connected World Services Watermanweg 96, 3067 GG, Rotterdam Netherlands Ordinary 100

Netherlands BY

Connected World Services SAS 26 rug de Cambacérés, 75008 Paris France Ordinary 100

(in liguidation)

CPW Acton Five Limited 1 Portal Way. London, W3 8RS United Kingdom Ordinary 100

CPW Brands 2 Limited 1 Portal Way, London, W3 6RS United Kingdom Qrdinary 1007

CPW CP Limited 1 Portal Way, London, W3 6RS United Kingdom Ordinary 100

CPW Tulketh Mill Limited 1 Portal Way, London, W3 6RS United Kingdom Ordinary 100*

Currys Limited'™ 1 Portal Way, London, W3 6RS United Kingdom Ordinary 100

Currys Retail Limiteg ™ 1 Portal Way, London, W3 6RS United Kingdom Ordinary 100

DISL 2 Limited 6th Floor, Victory House, Isle of Man Ordinary 100
Prospect Hill, Douglas, IM1 1EQ

DISL Limited 6th Floor, Victory House, Isle of Man Ordinary 100
Prospect Hill, Douglas, IM1 1EQ

Dixons Carphone CoFE s.r.o. Trnita, 491/5. 802 00 Bmo Czech Republic Business Shares 100

Dixons Deutschland GmbH i.L CttostraBe 21, 80333 Munich Germany Ordinary 100

{in liquidation)

Dixons Sourcing Limited 31/F, AXA Tower Landmark East, Hong Kong Ordinary 100
100 How Ming Street, Kwun Tong Kowloon

Dixons Stores Group Retad! Nydalsveien 18A. NO-0484 Oslo Norway Crdinary 100

Norway AS

Dixons Travel srl {in liguidation) Foro Buonaparte 70, 20121, Milan ltaty Ordinary 100

D5G Card Handling Services 1 Portal Way, London, W3 6RS United Kingdom Ordinary 100

Limited

DSG Corporate Services Limited 1 Portal Way. London, W3 6RS United Kingdom Ordinary 100

D&G European Investments Limited 1 Portal Way, London, W3 683 United Kingdorm Ordinary 100

D5G Hong Kong Sourcing Limited  31/F, AXA Tower Landmark East, Hong Kong Ordinary 100
100 How Ming Street, Kwun Tong Kowloon

DSG International Belgium BVBA  Havenlaan 86C, Box 204, B-1000 Brussels Belgium Ordinary 100

{in lquidation}
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C10 Subsidiary undertakings continued
b) Other subsidiary undertakings continued

Country of
incorporation

Share

Name Registered office address or registration class{es) held % held
DSG International Retall 1 Portal Way. London, W3 6RS United Kingdom Ordinary 100
Properties Limited
DSG Ireland Limited 1 Portal Way, London, W3 BRS United Kingdom Ordinary 100
DSG KHI Limited 1 Portal Way, London, W3 BRS United Kingdom Ordlinary 100
DSG Overseas 1 Portal Way, London, W3 B8RS United Kingdom Ordinary 100
Investments Limited
DSG Retail Irefand 40 Upper Mount Street, Dubiin 2, DO2 PR3 Ireland Ordinary 100
Pension Trust Limited
Elcare Workshop ASH Industrivegen, 53, 2212, Kongsvinger Norway Ordinary 100
Elcare Workshop Oy Silvastintie 1, 01510, Vantaa Finland Ordinary 100
Electrocare Nordic AB® Arabygatan 2, 35246 Vaxjé, Kronobergs lan Sweden Ordinary 100
El-Giganten Logistik AB Mobelvagen 51. 556 52 Jonkdping Sweden Crdinary 100
Elkkjop Holdco AS Nydalsveien 184, NC-0484 Qslo Norway Crdinary 100
Epoqg Logistic DC k.s. Evropska 868, 664 42 Modrice Czech Republic Crdinary 100
iD Mobile Limited 1 Portal Way, London, W3 8RS United Kingdom Qrdinary 100
Kungsgatan Concept Store AB Box 1284, 164, 29 Kista, Stockholm Sweden Ordinary 100
Mastercare Service 1 Portal Way, London, W3 8RS United Kingdom Ordinary 100
and Distritbution Limited
MTIS Limited Carphone Warehouse, Dixons Unit, Ireland Ordinary 100
301 Omni Park Shopping Centre,
Swords Read, Dublin 9@
New CPWM Limited 1 Portal Way, London, W3 6R5 United Kingdom Ordinary 100
PG City (France) SNC (in liquidation) 52 rue de la Victoire 75009 Paris Frarce Partnership 100
Petrus Insurance 2 Irish Town Gibraltar Ordinary 100
Company Limited
Simplify Digital Limited 1 Portal Way, London, W3 8RS United Kingdom Ordinary 100
TalkM Limited 1 Portal Way, London, W3 8RS United Kingdom Crdinary 100
Team Knowhow Limited 1 Portal Way. London, W3 6R5 United Kingdom Ordinary 100
The Carphone Warshouse 1 Portal Way, London, W3 6RS United Kingdom Ordinary 100
{Digital) Limited
The Carphone Warehouse 1 Portal Way. London, W3 6R3 United Kingdom Crdinary 100
UK Limited
The Phone House Holdings 1 Portal Way, Londeon, W3 BRS United Kingdom Ordinary 100

(UK Lirmited

" Interest held directly by Dixons Carphone pie,

1) Currys Limited was called Kereru L imited untl 13 May 2021,
?) Currys Retal Limited was called Maohua Limited until 13 May 2021,

13 Formerly named InfoCare Workshop AS.
4} Fermery named InfoCare Workshop Oy,

(5] Formerly named InfoCare CS AB.
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C10 Subsidiary undertakings continued
c) Other significant shargholdings

The following are the other significant shareholdings of the Company, all of which are held indirectly.

Country of

incorporation Business
Name Registered office address or registration Share class held % held activity
Elkjop Fjordane AS Fugleskjsergata 10, 68905 Florg Norway Ordinary 30 Retail

d) Subsidiary undertakings exempt from audit

The following subsidiaries, all of which are incorporated in England and Wales are exempt from the requirements of the Companies
Act 2006 relating to the audit of individual accounts by virtue of section 479A of that Act:

Name

Company registration number

Carphone Warshouse Europe Limited
Connected World Services Cistributions Limited
CPW Acton Five Limited

CPW Technology Services Limited

Currys Limited™

Currys Retail Limited™

Dixons Carphone Holdings Limited

Dixons Retail Group Limited

DSG Card Handling Services Limited

DSG European Investments Limited

DSG International Holdings Limited

DSG international Retall Properties Limited
DSG ireland Limited

DSG KHI Limited

DSG Overseas Investments Limited
Simplify Digital Lirnted

TalkM Limited

The Carphone Warehouse (Digitaly Limited
The Phone House Holdings (UK) Limited

06534088
01847568
05738735
02881162
05929750
05929753
07866062
03847921
04185110
03891149
03887870
00476440
00240821
09012752
02734677
08095563
04682207
03986947
03663563

(1] Currys Limited was called Kereru Lirmitad until 13 May 2021,
{2} Currys Retail Limied was called Mohua Limited until 13 May 2021,
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Income statement — Adjusted

2020/21 2019/20 2018/19 2017/18 2016/17
£m £m £m £m £m
Adjusted®
Revenue 10,330 10,217 10,474 10,555 10,221
Net profit after lax 123 78 269 327 370
Earmings per share
— Basic 10.7p 6.7p 23.2p 28.3p 32.1p
— Diluted 10.3p 6.6p 23.00 28.2p 32.0p
Adjusted results"
Revenue 10,330 10,217 10,474 10,555 10.221
EBIT 262 214 363 430G 485
Interest {106} (98) (24} (18} (16)
Profit before taxation 156 116 339 412 479

11 Adjusted results retlect the statutory results of the Group excludng items classibed as adjusting items. which are defined within the Glossary and definitions section on

page 221 and in nate A5,
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Dixons Carphone plc is listed on the main market of the
London Stock Exchange (stock symbol: DC) and is a
congtituent of the FTSE 250.

Company registration number
07105905

Registered office
1 Portal Way, London, W3 8RS, United Kingdom

Corporate website
www.dixonscarphone.com

The website includes information about the Group's vision

and strategy, business performance, corporate governancs,
sustainability, latest news and press releases. The Investors
section includes information on the latest trading performance.,
records of past financial results, share price information and
analyst covarags.

Share Registrar
Equiniti, Aspect House, Spencer Road, Lancing,
West Sussex, BN98 6DA, United Kingdom

https:equiniti com/uk/contact-us/shareholder-enquiries

0371 384 2089 (UK callers) or +44 (0121 415 7047
(International callers)

Telephone lines are open on UK business days between
8.30am and 5.30pm UK time.

Shareholder enquiries

Any gueries that shareholders have regarding their
shareholdings, such as a change of name or address,
transfer of shares or lost share certificates, should be
referred to the Registrar using the contact details above.

Managing shares online

Shareholders can manage their holdings online by registering
with an electronic communications service called Shareview at
www.shareview.co.uk. This ig a secyre online platform which
is provided by the Registrar. To register, you will need your
shareholder reference numnber, which can be found on your
share certificate, dividend confirmation or form of proxy.

Unauthorised brokers (boiler room scams)

Dixons Carphone plc is legally obliged to make its share
register available to the general public in certain circumnstances.
Consequently, some shareholders may receive unsolicited
phone calls or correspondance concerning investment matters
which may imply a connection to the company concerned.
These are typically from overseas-based ‘brokers’ who target
UK shareholders offering to buy their shares or sell them what
can turn out to be worthless or high-risk shares in US or UK
investmerts. These commurnications can be parsistent and
extremely persuasive. Share fraud includes scams where
investors are called out of the blue and offered shares that

often turn cut 1o be worthiess or non-existent, or an inflated
price for shares they own. These calls come from fraudsters
opsrating in ‘Boiler rcoms’ that are mostly based abroad.
While high profits are promised, those who buy or sell shares
in this way usually lose their money.

If you are approached about a share scam you should
tell the FCA using the share fraud reporting torm at
www.fca.org.uk/scams where you can find out about the
latest investment scams. You can also call the Consumer
Helpline on 0800 111 6768.

SharegGift

If you have a very small shareholding that is uneconomical

to sell, you may wish to consider donating it to ShareGift
(Registared charity no. 1052686), a charity that specialises

in the donation of small, unwanted shareholdings to good
causses. You can find more information by visiting sharegift.org
or by calling 0207 930 3737

Electronic communications

Shareholders will receive annual reports and other
documentation electronically, unless they tell our registrars

that they would like to continue to receive printed materials.
This is in line with best practice and underpins our commitment
to reduce waste. Sharehclders may view shareholder
communications online instead of receiving them in hard

copy. Shareholders may elect to receive notifications by

email whenever shargholder communications are added to the
website by visiting www.shareview.co.uk and registering online.

Auditor

Deloitte LLP,
1 New Street Square.
London, EC4A 3BZ

www.deloitte.com

Jaoint Stockbrokers

DCeutsche Bank AG,
1 Great Winchester Street,
London, EC2ZN 2DB

www.db.com

Citigroup Global Markets Limited,
33 Canada Square,

Canary Wharf,

London, E14 5LB

wWww.citigroup.com

Gompany Secretary
Nigel Paterson, General Counsel and Company Secretary
cosec@dixonscarphone.com

Investor relations

Dan Homan, Head of Investor Relations
ir@dixonscarphone . com
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Alternative performance measures (‘APMs’)

In the reporting of financial information, and as set cut in the Strategic Report, the Group uses certain measures that are not
required under IFRS. These are presented in accordance with the Guidelines on APMs issued by the European Securities and
Markets Authority ({ ESMA). We consider that these additional measures {commonly referred to as ‘alternative performance
measures) provide additional information on the performance of the business and trends to shareholdars. These measures

are consistent with those used internally, and are considered critical to understanding the financial performance and financial
health of the Group. APMs are also used to enhance the comparability of information between reporting periods, by adjusling
for nen-recurring or items considered to bea dislortive on trading performance which may affect IFRS measures, to aid the user
in understanding the Group’'s performance. These alternative performance measures may not be directly comparable with other
similarly titled measures or ‘acljusted’ revenue or profit measures used by other companiss, and are not intended to be a substitute
for, or superior to, IFRS measures.

Adjusting items

Included within our APMs we report adjusted revenue, adjusted PBT, adjusted EBIT, adjusted EBITDA, adjusted EBITDAR and
adjusted EPS. These measures exclude items which are significant in size or volatility or by nature are non-trading or highly
infrequant. Adjusted results are stated before the resufts of discontinued operaticns or exited / to be exited businesses, amortisation
of acquisition intangibles, acquisition related costs, any items considered so material that they distort underlying performance

(such as reorganisation costs, impairment charges and property rationalisation costs, out of period mobile network debtor
ravaluations and non-recurring charges), income from previously disposad operations, and net pension interest costs. There are

no adiustments made to exclude the impact of Covid-19. Businesses exited or to be exited are those which the Group has exited

or committed to or commenced to exit through disposal or closure but do not meet the definition of discontinued cperations as
stipulated by IFRS and are material to the results and / or cperations of the Group.

Impact of IFRS 16: ‘Leases’

The Group adopted IFRS 16: 'Leasas’ using the maodified retrospective method in the prior year, In order to aid comparability with
prior year measures, the impact of IFRS 16 was included within adjusting items and adjusted results were reported under I1AS 17,

Following the adoption, and ability 1o report comparatives under IFRS 16, the impact of such is no longer considered to be an
adjusting item. The adjusted results and adjusting items for the comparative reporting period ended 2 May 2020 have subsequently
been restated to reflect this.

Currency neutral

Some comparative performance measures are translated at constant exchange rates, called 'currency neutral’ measures.
This restates the prior period results at a common exchange rate to the current vear in order to provide appropriate year-on-year
movement measures without the impact of foreign exchange movements.

Definitions and reconciliations

In line with the Guidelines on Alternative Performance Measures issued by the European Securities and Markets Autherity {ESMAY),
we have provided additional information on the APMs used by the Group below, including full reconciliations back to the closest
equivalent statutory measure.
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Closest equivalent
GAAP measure

Note reference
showing
reconciliation

to IFRS measure

Definition and purpose

Revenue measures

Adjusted revenue

Revenue

See note Al

Adjusted revenues are adjusted to remove out of period
mobile network debtor revaluations and the revenues of
those operations which the Group classifies as exited or to
be exited but do not meet the definition of discontinued in
accordance with IFRS 5: ‘Non-Current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations’.

Like-for-like (LFL}
% change

No direct equivalent

Not applicable

Like-for-like revenue is calculated based on adjusted store and
online revenue {including order & collsct, Online In-Store and
Shoplive) using constant exchange rates consistent with the
currency neutral % change measure detailed below. New stores
are included where they have been open for a full financial year
both at the beginning and end of the financial period. Revenue
from franchise stores are excluded and closed stores (where
closed by the Group's decision and not where closed due to
government impesed restrictions related to the global Covid-19
pandemic) are excluded for any pericd of closure during either
pertod. Custormer support agreement, insurance and wholesale
revanues along with revenue from other non-retail businesses
are excluded from like-for-like calculations. We consider that LFL
revenue represents a useful measure of the trading performance
of our underlying and ongoing store and online portfolio.

Currency neutral
% change

Revenue compared

1o prior period
consolidated at a
censtant exchange rate

Not applicable

Reflects total revenues on a constant currency and period basis.
Provides a measure of performance excluding the impact of
foreign exchange rate movements.

Profit measures

Adjusted profit 7 {loss)
before tax, adjusted
EBIT and adjusted
profit / (loss) after tax

Profit / {loss) before
interest and tax,
Profit / (loss) after
interest and tax

See notes
AZ and AS

As discussed above, the Group uses adjusted profit measures
in order to provide a useful measure of the ongeing performance
of the Group. These are adjusted from total measures tc remove
adjusting items, the nature of which are disclosed above.

EBIT

Profit / {loss) before
nterest and tax

No recongciling items

Farnings before interest and tax (EBIT) is directly comparable to
profit / {loss) before tax. The terminology used is consistent with
that used historically and in external communications.

Adjusted EBITDA

Profit / (loss) before
interest and tax

See note A4

As discussed above, the Group uses adjusted profit measures
in order to provide a useful measure of the ongoing performance
of the Group. These are adjusted from total measures to remove
adjusting items, the nature of which are disclosed above.

EBITDA

Profit / (loss) before
interest and tax

See note A3

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation
(EBITDA). Provides a measure of profitability based on profit
/{loss) before tax, and after adding back depreciation and
arnortisation expense.

The terminology Used is consistent with that used histerically and
in external communicathons.

Adjusted EBITDAR

Profit / {loss) before
interast and tax

See note Ad

As discussed above, the Group uses adjusted profit measures
in order to provide a useful measure of the ongoing performance
of the Group. These are adjusted from total measures to remove
adjusting items, the nature of which are disclosed above.

EBITDAR

Prafit / (loss) before
interest and tax

See note A3

Earnings before interest. tax, depreciation, amortisation and
rental expense (EBITDAR). Provides a measure of profitability
based on profit / (loss) before tax, and after adding back
depreciation, amortisation and rental expenses outside the
scape of IFRS 16.
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Alternative
performance
measure

Note reference
showing
reconciliation

to IFRS measure

Closest equivalent
GAAP measure

Definition and purpose

Other earnings measures

Adjusted net Net finance cosls See note AB Adjusted net finance costs exclude certain adjusted finance

finance costs costs from total finance costs. The adjisting tems include the
finance charge of business 1o be exited, net pension interest
costs, finance income from previously disposed operations
not classified as discontinued, and other exceptional items
considered so one-off and material that they distort underlying
finance costs of the Group. Under IAS 19: ‘Employee Benefits”.
the net interest charge on defined benefit pension schemes 1s
calculated based on corporate bond yield rates at a specific
date, which, as can vary over time, creates volatility 1In the income
statement and is unrepresentative of the actual investment gains
or losses made on the liabilities. Therefore, this item has been
removed from our adjusted earnings measure in order to remove
this non-cash volatility.

Adjusted income tax Income tax expense /. See note A7 Adjusted income tax expense / (credit) represents the income tax

expense / {credit) {credit) on adjusted sarnings. Income tax expense / (credit) on adjusting
tems represents the tax on items classified as ‘adjusted’, either
in the current year, or the current year effect of prior year tax
adjustments on items previously classified as adjusted. We
consider the adjusted income tax measures represent a useful
maasure of the ongoing tax charge / credit of the Group.

Adjusted / Total No direct eguivalent See note A7 The effactive tax rate measures provide a useful indication of

effective tax rate the tax rate of the Group. Adjusted effective tax is the rate of tax
recognised on headline earnings, and total effective tax is the
rate of tax recognised on total earnings.

Earnings per share measures

Adjusted basic EPS - Statutory EPS See note A8 EPS measures are presented to reflect the mpact of adjusting

continuing operations,  figures items in order to show an adjusted EPS figure, which reflects

adjusted diluted EPS the adjusted earnings per share of the Group, We consider the

- continuing operations, adjusted EPS provides a useful measure of the ongoing earmnings

adjusted basic EPS - of the underlying Group.

total, adjusted diluted

EPS - total

Cash flow measures

Segmental working No direct equivalent See note A1 Segmental working capital comprises moverments in inventory,

capital trade recaeivables, trade payables and provisions and is adjusted
to remove movements artsing from adjusting items, the nature of
which are disclosed above.

Free cash flow Cash generated from See note A9 Fres cash flow comprises cash generated from / {Utilised by}

operations continuing operations including restructuring costs, but before

cash generated from / (utilised by} businesses exited / to be
exited. less net finance expense, less income tax paid. less net
capital expenditure and before any special pension contributions
and dividends. Free cash flow is derived from adjusted EBIT
which excludes adjusting items as described above.

Operating cash flow Cash generated from See page 57 Operating cash flow comprises cash generated from / {utilised

operations and note A9 by) continuing operations, but before cash generated from /

(utlised by) discontinued operations, adjusting Hems, the nature
of which are disclosed above, repayments of lease liabilities for
non-trading properties where closed by the Group's decision,
and movements in working capital.

Net debt Cash and cash See note A10
equivalents less loans

and other borrowings

Comprises cash and cash eguivalents and short-term deposits,
less borrowings. We consider that this provides a useful measurs
of the indebtedness of the Group.
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A1 Reconciliation from statutory to adjusted revenue

Year ended 1 May 2021

UK &
Ireland UK & Ireland

Electricals Mobile Nordics Greece Eliminations Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Statutory external revenue 4,921 721 4,186 516 - 10,344

Out of period mobile natwork
debtor revaluations - {(14) - - - (14)
Adjusted external revenue 4,921 707 4,186 516 - 10,330
Inter-segrmental revenue 66 128 - - (194) -
Total adjusted revenue 4,987 835 4,186 516 (194} 10,330
Year ended 2 May 2020

UK &
Ireland UK & Ireland

Electricals Mobile Nordics Greece Eliminations Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Statutory external revenue 4,538 1.589 3573 470 - 10,170

Out of peried meobile network
debtor revaluations - 47 - - - 47
Adjusted external revenue 4,538 1,636 3,673 470 - 10,217
Intar-segmental revenue 86 a8 - - 184) -
Total adjusted revenue 4,624 1,734 3573 470 184) 10,217

A2 Reconciliation from statutory profit / {loss) before interest and tax to adjusted EBIT and adjusted PBT

Year ended 1 May 2021

Mobile Acquisition Strategic Impairment
Total network / disposal change losses and Pension Adjusted
profit / debtor related progra- Regulatory onerous scheme profit /
(loss) revaluations items mmes costs contracts Other interest {loss}
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

UK & Ireland
Electricals 78 - 14 21 1 100 (5) - 209
UK & Ireland
Mobile {89) (14) - 20 8) - (26) - 17)
Nordics 139 - 12 - - - - — 151
Greece 19 - - - - - - - 19
EBIT 147 (14) 26 41 {7) 100 (31) - 262
Finance
income 6 - - - - - - - 6
Finance costs {120} - - - - - - 8 {12

Profit / {loss)
before tax 33 (14) 26 M (7) 100 {31) a 156
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A2 Reconciliation from statutory profit / (loss) before interest and tax to adjusted EBIT and adjusted PBT

continued
Year ended 2 May 2020
Mobile Acquisition Strategic Impairment Adjusted
network / disposal change losses and Pension profit
Total profit / debtor related progra- Regulatory anerous scheme / {loss)
{loss) revaluations items mmes costs contracts interest {restated)*
£m £m £m m £m £m £m £m
UK & treland Electricals 19 - 14 13 - 18 - 164
UK & freland Mobile 282 47 1 107 30 - - (97}
Nordics 15 - " - - - - 128
Greece 20 - - 1 - - - 21
EBIT (28) 47 26 127 30 18 - 214
Finance income 10 - - - - - - 10
Finance costs (122) - - - - - 14 (108
{Loss) / profit
before tax {140) 47 26 121 30 18 14 116

T Adjusted results for the year endead 2 May 2020 have been restated from those previously reported to exciude the impact of IFRS 16 from adjusting items.

A3 Reconciliation from statutory profit / (loss) before interest and tax to EBITDA and EBITDAR

Year ended Year ended

1 May 2 May

2021 2020

£m £2m

Profit / (loss) before interest and tax 147 (28)

Depreciation 279 288

Amortisation 83 89

EBITDA 509 339

Leasing costs in EBITDA 13 40

EBITDAR 522 379
A4 Reconciliation from adjusted EBIT to adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDAR

Year ended

Year ended 2 May

1 May 2020

2021 {restated)*

£m fm

Adjusted EBIT 262 214

Depreciation 279 298

Amortisation a7 44

Adjusted EBITDA 598 656

Leasing costs in EBITDA 13 40

Adjusted EBITDAR 611 596

T Adjusted results for the year ended 2 May 2020 have baon restated from those previously reported to exclude the impact of IFRS 16 from adjusting tems,
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A5 Further information on the adjusting items between statutory profit / (loss) to adjusted profit measures
noted abave

Year ended
Year ended 2 May
1 May 2020
2021 (restated)”
Note £m £m
Included in revenue
Mobile network debtor revaluation i) (14 47
(14) 47
Included in profit / (loss) before interest and tax
Mobile network debtor revaluation (i) (14} 47
Acquisition / disposal refated items (i) 26 26
Strategic change programmes {ii) M 121
Regulatory costs (i) (7} 30
Impairment losses and onerous contracts v 100 18
Other {vi} (31) -
115 242
Included in net finance costs
Net non-cash finance costs on defined benefit pension schemes {vii) 8 14
Total impact on profit / {loss) before tax — continuing operations 123 256
Tax regutatory matters {wvili) 1 (17}
Tax on other adjusting items (i) M -
Totalh impact on profit / {loss) after tax — cortinuing operations 123 239
Discontinuad operations 25 12 2
Total impact on profit / {loss) after tax m 241

" Adusted resuits for the vear ended 2 May 2020 have been restated from those previcusly reported to exclude the impact of IFRS 16 from adjusting items,

(i) Mobile network debtor revaluations

In the current period changes in consumer behaviour on previously recognised transactions have led to positive revaluations of
network receivables of £14m. For the comparative period, the Group recognised negative revaluations totalling £47m as legislative
impacts, changing consumer taste and the closure of the Carphone Warehouse standalone stores within the UK drove a reduction
in the expected value of variable revenue previously recognised.

Further information can be found in footnote (iv) of the network commission receivables and contract assets reconciliation table
within nate 15 to the Group financial statements.

{ii) Acquisition / disposal related items
A charge of £26m (2018/20: £26m) relates primarily to amortisation of acquisition intangibles arising on the Dixons Retail Merger.
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A5 Further information on the adjusting items between statutory profit / (loss) to adjusted profit measures

noted above continued

{iii) Strategic change programmes

During the current period, restructuring and reduncancy costs of £54m (2019/20: £56m) have been incurred as the Group continues

to deliver it's long term strategic plan by becoming clearer, simpler and faster in order to improve the overall customer experience

with an Omnichannel offering. The costs incurred relate to the following sivategic restructuring programmes:

« 24 for restructuring and redundancy costs across the UK & Ireland Electricals store team management structure;

*  £17m related to central operations;

»  £8m following the strategic decision to close the Carphone Warehouse Ireland business as the Group enters the next strategic
phase in returning Maobile to profitability; and

= £5m related to the previously announced Carphone Warehouse standalone store closure within the United Kingdom.

Property rationalisation:
Included within strategic change programmes is a credit of £19m that primarlly relates to the release of excess property provisions
following successful early exit negotiations on stores included within previcusly announced rationalisation and closure programmes.

The Group has alse incurred £9m of property costs following the announcement to close the Carphone Warehouse Ireland business,
£3m of which relates to non-cash impairments aver right-of-use assets and £6m for dilapidation and closure related costs,

For the year ended 2 May 2020, a further £71m of property costs was recognised following the closure of the Carphone Warehouse
standalone stores in the United Kingdoem while £6m of property provisions within the UK & Ireland Electricals segment were released.

(iv) Regulatory costs

in the year ended 2 May 2020, based on the information available, the Group provided £30m for redress related to the mis-selling of
Geek Squad mobile phone insurance policies following the FCA investigation for periods prior to June 2015, All customer claims are
carefully considered by the Group on a case by case basis with the majority of claims received being invalid.

While the volume and value of outstanding claims remains uncertain nc new claims have been received during the period. This has
led to the Group reducing the provision in relation to redress by £8m.

Costs of £1m have also been recognised in relation to past service costs for the Group's defined benefit pension scheme following
an additional judgerment on GMP egualisation. This is further disclosed in note 22.

(v) Impairment losses and onerous contracts
Following the unprecedented effects of the Covid-19 pandemic and the enforced store closures throughout the year ended 1 May

2021, the Group accelerated the operational roll out of its long term strategic plan in moving towards a full omnichanneat offering:
bringing stores and online together, giving customers the best of both worlds at scale.

This change, accelerated by the pandemic, has resulted in the identification of a material non-cash impairment charge over intangible
assets within the UK & Ireland Blectricals business, together with impairment of related assets to be recognised against individual
stores and additional onerous iT contracts. The breakdown of the impairment recorded in relation to the UK & Ireland Electricals
asset base Is as follows:

e £46m of intangible assets, primarily related to software devalopment costs, as the Group moves towards best in class cloud
based solutions to achieve operational efficiencies and improve the customer journey;

s £14m over right-of-use and store related assets following the deterioration in indlividual store forecast performance. This is further
disclosed in note 1t.

In addition, a £16m one off cash charge related to the early settlement of contracted IT service arrangements has been recognised.
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A5 Further information on the adjusting items hetween statutory profit / (loss) to adjusted profit measures
noted above continued

(v} Impairment losses and onerous contracts continuad

Following the continued impact of Covid-19 on the aviation and travel and tourism industry, coupled with the UK government's
decision to remove airside tax-free shopping, the Group announced the difficult decision on 28 April 2021 to close the Dixons Travel
business. This has led to recognition of:

¢ {lgm ot onerous contracts and store related assat impairments; and
* an £8m impairment of acquisition intangibles arising on the Dixons Retail Merger.

For the year ended 2 May 2020, an impairment indicator was identified following the initial government enforced store closure
across the United Kingdom. Management considered the future cash flow forecasts and adjusted for the negative impact of
Covid-19 using the best avallable knowledge at that time. This resulted in an impairment of £18m being recorded over right-of-use
assets in the UK & Ireland Electricals operating segment.

(vi) Other

In May 2021, the Group settled an ongoing legal matter failowing a contractual dispute with the Counterparty that caused damage to
the Group. As a result of the settlement confirming the Groug’s position, a credit of £28m has been recognised within the UK & Ireland
Mokbile operating segment for the year ended 1 May 2021 and ig included within trade and other receivables at the reporting date.

A further £5m was received in the year following the settlement of a legal case in relation to anti-competitive behaviour engaged by
the counterparty.

(vii) Net non-cash financing costs on defined benefit pension schemes

The net interest charge on defined benefit pension schemes represents the non-cash remesasurement calculated by applying the
corporate bond yield rates applicable on the last day of the previcus financial year to the net defined benefit obligation. As a non-
cash remeasurement cost which is unrepresentative of the actual investment gains or losses made or the liabllities paid and payable.
the accounting effect of this is excluded from adjusted earmnings.

(vili} Tax requlatory matters

Asg previously disclosed, the Group has been co-operating with HMRC in relation to the tax treatment arising due to pre-merger
legacy corporate transactions. The Group maintains the tax treatment was appropriate, however, the likelihood of litigation, and

therefore risk assocciated with this matter was such that a provision was recognised in the yvear ended 27 April 2013. There have
been no significant developments in the year, as such the principal has been retained as set out in note 8, while a further £1m of
interest accumulated throughout the last 12 months has been provided.

{ix) Tax on other adjusting items

The effective tax rate an adjusting items is nil. The rate of relief is lower than the UK statutory rate of 18% predominantly due to store
closure costs that do not attract tax relief and movements in unrecognised deferred tax assets in the UK where it is not considered
there are sufficient future taxable profits to recognise all of the deferred tax asset in respect of logses, pensions and other timing
differences.

A6 Reconciliation from statutory net finance costs to adjusted net finance costs

Year ended

Year ended 2 May

1 May 2020

2021 (restated)”

£m £m

Total net finance costs (114} {(112)
Net interest on defined benefit pension obligations 8 14
Adjusted total net finance costs (108) (28]

* Adjusted results for the year ended 2 May 2020 have been restated from those previously reported to exclude the impact of IFRS 16 from adjusting dems.
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A7 Adjusted tax expense
a) Tax expense
The corporation tax charge comprises:

Year ended
Year ended 2 May
1 May 2020
2021 {restated)”
£m £m
Current tax
UK corporation tax at 19% {2019/2C: 199%) - Adjusted 5 13
— Adjusting 2 4
Overseas tax - Adjusted 38 23
— Adjusting - 1
43 33
Adjustments made in respect of prior years:
UK corporation tax — Adjusted (12) 12
- Adjusting - {7
Overseas tax — Adjusted 1) 1
(13) 4
Total current tax 30 29
Deferred tax
UK tax - Adjusted 4 ©)
— Adjusting 1 6
Overseas tax — Adjusted (3} 6
- Adjusting 3 &)
M -
Adjustments in respect of prior years:
UK corporation tax - Adjusted 5 {4
Overseas tax — Adusted n {4
4 )]
Total deferred tax 3 8)
Total tax charge 33 21
Adjusted tax charge 33 38

Adjusted results for the year ended 2 May 2020 have been restated from thase previously reporied to exclude the impact of IFRS 16 from adjusting tems

Tax related to discontinued operations is included in the figures set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial staterments.
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A7 Adjusted tax expense continued
b} Reconciliation of standard to actual (effective) tax rate

The principal differences between the total tax charge shown above and the amount calculated by applying the standard rate of UK
corporation tax to profit / {loss) before taxation are as follows:

Year ended 1 May 2021 Year ended 2 May 2020 (restated)
Adjusting Adjusting

Adjusted items Statutory Adjusted* items* Statutory

£m £m £m fm £m £m
Profit / {loss) before taxation 156 {123} 33 16 (256) {140)
Tax at UK statutory rate of 19% (2019/20: 19%) 30 (24) 6 22 49) (27)
ltems attracting no tax relief or liability'* 4 8 12 3 4 7
Movement in unprovided deferred tax™ 1 15 16 B 46 52
Effect of change in statutory tax rate 1 - 1 (1) 1) (2}
Differences in effective overseas tax rates 6 - 3] 3 - 3
Increase in provisions 1 - 1 - - -
Adjustments in respect of prior yoars — provision: (14} 1 (13) - 17} (17}
Adjustments in respect of prior years — other 4 - 4 5 - 5
Total tax charge / (credit} 33 - 33 38 (17) 21

© Adjusted results for the year ended 2 May 2020 have been restated from those previously reportad to exclude the mpact of IFRS 16 from adjusting item.

The effective tax rate on adjusted earnings for the year ended 1 May 2021 is 21% (2019/20: 33%).
{iy Items attracting no tax relief or liability relate mainly to non-deductible depreciation and share-based payments in the UK business.

{ily Provision releases are predominantly where the window for recovery has now closed in relation to pre-merger uncertain
tax positions.

fiiy Other adjustments in respect of prior years are mainly due to lower tax relief on fixed assets through capital allowances in
submitted tax returns than originally estimated.

The effective tax rate on adjusting items is nil (2019/20: 7%).

(iv) Deferred tax assets refating principally to tax losses in the UK business have not been recognised due to uncertainty over the
Group's ability to utilise the losses in the future.

(v) ltems attracting no tax relief or liability relate mainly to non-deductible store closure costs.

The future effective tax rate is likely to be impacted by the geographical mix of profits and the Group’s abiiity to take advantage
of currently unrecognised deferred tax assets.
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A8 Adjusted earnings / {loss) per share

Year ended
Year ended 2 May
1 May 2020
2021 (restated)*
£m £m
Adjusted profit
wentinuing operations 123 78
Total profit / {loss)
Centinuing operations - {161}
Discontinued operations 12 2
Total profit / {loss) 12 {163}
Million Million
Weighted average number of shares
Average shares in issuge 1,166 1,162
Less average holding by Group ERT (14} (5)
For basic earnings per share 1,152 1157
Dilutive effect of share options and other incentive schemes 42 25
For diluted earnings per share 1,194 1182
Pence Pence
Basic earnings / (loss) per share
Total (continuing and discontinued operations) 1.0 4.1}
Adjustment in respect of discontinued operations (1.0) 0.2
Continuing operations - (13.9)
Adjustments — continuing operations (het of taxation} 10.7 20.6
Adjusted basic earnings per share 10.7 6.7
Diluted earnings / (loss) per share
Total {continuing and discontinued opearations) 1.0 {14.1)
Adjustment in respect of discontinued operations (1.0) 0.2
Continuing operations - (12.9)
Adjustments — continuing operations {net of taxation} 10.3 20.5
Adjusted diluted earnings per share 10.3 6.6

* Adjusted results for the vear ended 2 May 2020 have boen restated from those previously reported to exclude the impact of IFRS 16 from adjusting tems

Basic and diluted eamings per share are based on the profit for the period attributable to equity sharehclders. Adjusted sarnings per
share is presented in order to show the underlying performance of the Group. Adjustments used to determine adjusted earnings are
described further in note A5,
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A9 Reconciliations of cash inflow from operations and adjusted EBIT to free cash flow
Reconciliation of cash inflow from operations to free cash flow

Year ended Year ended
1 May 2 May
2021 2020
£m £m
Cash inflow from operations 926 649
Operating cash flows from discontinued operations” 3 1
Taxation (35) {20)
Interest, facility arrangement fees, dividends from investments and other (25} (31
Repayment of leases (309) {299)
Capital expenditure (122) {197)
Free cash flow 438 108
Operating cash flows from discontmued aperations are removead in lhe above reconcikation as free cash flow is presented on a continuing basis
Reconciliation of adjusted EBIT to free cash flow
Year ended
Year ended 2 May
1 May 2020
2021 (restated)*
£m £m
Adjusted EBIT {note A2) 262 214
Depreciation and amortisation {(ncte Ad) 336 342
Segmental working capital (note A11) 454 141
Share-based payments™ 21 23
Capital expenditure (122) (191
Taxation (35) (20}
Interest (24) 28}
Repayment of leases (275} 284)
Other* {6 4
Free cash flow before exceptional items 611 203
Exceptional costs (173) 194)
Free cash flow 438 109

© Adjusted results for the year ended 2 May 2020 have been restated from those previously reported to exclude the impact of IFRS 16 from adjusting items.
== {ther non-cash items in EBIT, as disclosed within the Perfermance Review. comprises sharc-based payments and cther iterms in the above reconciliation to free cash tlow.
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A10 Reconciliation from liabilities arising from financing activities to net cash / (debt)

2 May

1 May 2020

2021 (restated)*

£m £m

Loans and other borrowings (note 19) - (324}
Lease liabilities (note 20) (1,326} (1,444
Total liabilities from financing activities (note 27¢) (1,326} (1,768)
Cash and cash equivalents (note 16) 175 660
Overdrafts (note 19) (6) 1540)
Add back lease ligbilities 1,326 1,444
Net cash/ (debt) 169 (204

Net cash /idebt] as at 2 May 2020 has been restated from the amounts previously reported Lo reflect the new definition as discussed on page 65 n the

Ferformance Rovicw,

A11 Reconciliation of statutory working capital cash inflow to segmental working capital cash inflow

Within the performance review on page 57, a reconciliation of the adjusted EBIT to free cash flow is provided. Within this, the working
capital balance of T454m (2019/20; £141m) differs to the statutory working capital balance of £319m {2018/20: £235m) as cash flows

on adjusting items are separately disclosed. A reconciliation of the disclosed working capital balance is as folows:

Year ended

Year ended 2 May

1 May 2020

2021 ({restated)*

£m £m

Working capital cash inflow (note 27b) 319 236

Exceptional provisions 93 43)

Network debtor out of period revaluation 14 (47}
Exceptional recenvable - legal settlement (note AS(vi)) 28 -

Facility arrangemant fees - (4
Segmental working capital 454 141

* Adjusted resulls for the year endad 2 May 2020 have been restated from those previously reported 1o exciude the mpact of IFRS 16 from adjusting tems.
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A12 Summary of working capital presented within the performance review
Within the performance review on page 66, a summary balance sheet is provided which includes a working capital balance of
LBBHM (2019/20; £645)m). The below table provides a breakdown of how the summary working capital balance ties through to
the statutory balance sheet, Network commission receivables are excluded from the breakdown as they arg prasented separately.
Further inforrmation on network commission receivables can be found in note 15.

INVESTOR INFORMATION

2 May
1 May 2020
2021 (restated)”
Note £m £m
Non-current assets
Trade and other receivables™ 15 38 35
Current assets
Inventory 14 1,178 g70
Trade and other receivables™ 15 448 474
Derivative assets 26 24 78
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 17 (2,233) (2.017)
Dervative liabilities 26 42) 52)
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 17 {97) (131)
Working capital presented within the performance review (684) 645)

Working capitat presented wiahin the performance review as at 2 May 2020 has besn restated from the amounts previously reported 1o reflect the separate prosentation
of provision balances within the performance roview balance sheet summary.

= Trade and other recenvables excludaes network commission recevables and contract assets of £238m (PD120 £B16m) as these are presented separately within the
condansed balance sheet in the perfarmance review.
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GLOSSARY AND DEFINITIONS CONTINUED

Other definitions

The following definitions apply throughout this Annual Report and Accounits unless the context otherwise reguires:

Acquisition intangibles

Acquired intangible assets such as customer bases, brands and other intangible assets acquired
through a business combination capitaliised separately from goodwill. Where businesses have
grown organically rather than through acquisition, there is no amortisation of acquired intangibles
and therefore the non-cash amortisation charge Is removed from our adjusted earnings measures
in order to increase comparability between segments

Active credit customers

Customers with an open "Your Plan® account

ADRs American Depositary Recepts

ARPU Average monthly revenue per user
B28 Business to business

Board The Board of Directors of the Company

Businesses to be exited

Businesses axited or to be exited are those which the Group has exited or committed to or
commenced to exit through disposal or closure but do not meet the definition of discontinued
operations as stipulated by IFRS and are material to the results or operations of the Group.
Comparative results in the statement of comprehensive income and the notes are restated
accordingly for the impact of businesses exited or to be exited

Carphone, Carphone Warehouse
or Carphone Group

The Company or Group prior to the Merger on 6 August 2014

cGu

Cash Generating Lnit

CODM

Chief Operating Decision Maker

Colleague engagement

Measured using various collsague engagement surveys across the Group

Company or the Company

Dixons Carphone plc (incorporated in England and Wales under the Act, with registered number
07105905), whose registered office is at 1 Portal Way, London W3 8RS

CPW

The continuing business of the Carphone Group

CPW Europe

Best Buy Europe’s core continuing operations

CPW Europe Acquisition

The Campany's acquisition of Best Buy's interest in CPW Europe. which completed on
26 June 2013

Credit adoption Sales on Credit as a propoertion of total sales
CRM Customer Relationship Management
CWS The Connected World Services division of the Company

Dixons or Dixons Retail

Dixons Retail plc and its subsidiary companies

Dixons Carphone or Group

The Company. its subsidiaries, interests in joint ventures and other investments

Dixons Retail Merger or Merger

The all-share merger of Dixons Retail ple and Carphone Warehouse plc which cccurred on
B August 2014

EBT Employee benefit trust

Electricals Represents the combination of our UK & Ireland Electricals, Nordics. and Greece operating
segments

GfK Growth from Knowledge

HMRC Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs

honeybee honeybee was our propristary T software operation for which an asset sale was completed on
31 May 2018

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union

Market position

Ranking against competitors in the electrical and mobile retail market, measured by market share.
Market share is measured for each of the Group's markets by comparing data for revenue or
volume of units sold relative to similar metrics for competitors in the same market
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MNO Mabile network operator

Mobile Represents sales made from legacy Carphone brands, iD Maebile and SimplifyDigital

MVNO Mebile virtual network operator

NPS Net Promoter Score, a rating used by the Group to measure customers' likelihcod to recommend
its operations

Online Online sales and Online market share relate to all sales where the journey is completed via the

website or app. This includes online home delivered, order & collect, Online In-Store and ShoplLive

QOnline In-store

Cnline In-store is the term used for sales that are generated through in-store tablets for product
that is not stocked in the store

Order & collect

Crder & collect is the term used for sales whare the sale is made via the website or app and
collected in store

Peak / post peak Peak refers to the 10 week trading period ended on 9 January 2021 as reported in the Group’s
Christrnas Trading statement on 20 January 2021. Post peak refers to the trading period from
10 January 2021 to the Group's year end on 1 May 2021

RCF Revolving credit facility

Sharesave or SAYE

Save as you earn share scheme

ShoplLive The Group's own video shopping service where store colleagues can assist, advise and
demonstrate the use of products to customers online face-to-face

SIMO Sales of SIM-only contracts. without attached handset

SWAS Stores-within-a-store

TSR Total shareholder return

UK GAAP United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law

Virgin Mobile France

Omer Telecom Limited (incorporated in England and Wales) and its subsidiaries, operating
an MVYNQ in France as a joint venture between the Company, Bluebottle UK Limited and
Financom S.A.S.

WAEP

Weighted average exercise price
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